FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT

TIM HORTONS USA INC.
a Florida Corporation
5707 Blue Lagoon Drive
Miami, Florida 33126
Telephone: (305) 378-7128
Email: US_franchise_requests@timhortons.com
www.timhortons.com

You will operate a restaurant specializing in the sale of coffee and other non-alcoholic beverages,
baked goods, soups, sandwiches and related products, under Tim Hortons USA Inc.’s distinctive format
and operating system, including the TIM HORTONS® marks (the “Franchised Restaurant™).

We offer franchises for the establishment and operation of two types of restaurants that, under the
name Tim Hortons, sell coffee and other non-alcoholic beverages, baked goods, soups, sandwiches, and
related products, and that operate under Franchise Agreements. We also offer franchises for the operation
of fully equipped and fixed restaurants that, under the name Tim Hortons, sell coffee and other non-
alcoholic beverages, baked goods, soups, sandwiches, and related products, and that operate under Operator
Agreements. In addition, a limited number of restaurants, most of which will be existing Tim Hortons
franchisees, may be offered the opportunity to supplement their restaurant’s product mix by also selling
selected Cold Stone Creamery products in addition to their Tim Hortons product offerings (each a “Co-
Branded Restaurant”).

The total investment necessary to begin operation of a Tim Hortons franchise under a Franchise
Agreement (excluding real property) ranges from $246,500 to $2,162,500 for a Standard Shop. This
includes $112,000 to $492,500 for a Standard Shop that must be paid to the franchisor or an affiliate. The
total investment necessary to begin operation of a Tim Hortons franchise under a Franchise Agreement
(excluding real property) ranges from $94,000 to $270,800 for a Non-Standard Shop. This includes $47,000
to $109,500 for a Non-Standard Shop that must be paid to the franchisor or an affiliate.

The total investment necessary to begin operation of a Co-Branded Restaurant franchise under a
Franchise Agreement (excluding real property) ranges from $695,500 to $1,837,400 for a newly-built Co-
Branded Restaurant and from $135,300 to $253,600 for a Tim Hortons restaurant that is renovated to
become a Co-Branded Restaurant. This includes $466,000 to $696,500 for a newly-built Co-Branded
Restaurant and $5,500 to $211,600 for a Tim Hortons restaurant that is renovated to become a Co-Branded
Restaurant that must be paid to the franchisor or an affiliate.

The total investment necessary to begin operation of a Tim Hortons Shop under an Operator
Agreement ranges from $53,650 to $185,500. This includes $7,000 to $42,500 that must be paid to
franchisor or an affiliate.

The total investment necessary to begin operation of a Co-Branded Restaurant under an Operator
Agreement for a newly built Tim Hortons restaurant ranges from $59,900 to $148,400 and from $14,600
to $39,000 for a Tim Hortons restaurant that is renovated to become a Co-Branded Restaurant. This includes
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$11,500 to $42,000 for a newly-built Co-Branded Restaurant and $3,500 to $6,500 for a Tim Hortons
restaurant that is renovated to become a Co-Branded Restaurant that must be paid to the franchisor or an
affiliate.

The total investment necessary to begin operation of a Tim Hortons restaurant under the Area
Development Agreement is the same as the investment disclosed above, except that you will pay a portion
of the initial franchise fee in the amount of $25,000 multiplied by the number of restaurants you agree to
develop under the Area Development Agreement, which is credited toward payment of the initial franchise
fee for each restaurant to be opened under the Area Development Agreement, on a pro-rata basis.

This disclosure document summarizes certain provisions of your franchise agreement and Operator
Agreement and other information in plain English. Read this disclosure document and all accompanying
agreements carefully. You must receive this disclosure document at least 14 calendar-days before you sign
a binding agreement with, or make any payment to, the franchisor or an affiliate in connection with the
proposed franchise sale. Note, however, that no governmental agency has verified the information
contained in this document.

You may wish to receive your disclosure document in another format that is more convenient for
you. To discuss the availability of disclosures in different formats, you may contact THUSA Franchise
Contract Management at 5707 Blue Lagoon Drive, Miami, Florida 33126; telephone: (305) 378-7128, E-
mail: GBSRequest@rbi.com.

The terms of your contract will govern your franchise relationship. Don’t rely on the disclosure
document alone to understand your contract. Read your entire contract carefully. Show your contract and
this disclosure document to an advisor, like a lawyer or an accountant.

Buying a franchise is a complex investment. The information in this disclosure document can help
you make up your mind. More information on franchising, such as “A Consumer’s Guide to Buying a
Franchise,” which can help you understand how to use this disclosure document, is available from the
Federal Trade Commission. You can contact the FTC at 1-877-FTC-HELP or by writing to the FTC at 600
Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, D.C. 20580. You can also visit the FTC’s home page at
www.ftc.gov for additional information. Call your state agency or visit your public library for other sources
of information on franchising.

There may also be laws on franchising in your state. Ask your state agencies about them.

The issuance date of this Franchise Disclosure Document is March 14, 2022.
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How to Use This Franchise Disclosure Document

Here are some questions you may be asking about buying a franchise and tips on how to
find more information:

QUESTION WHERE TO FIND INFORMATION

How much can | earn? Item 19 may give you information about outlet
sales, costs, profits or losses. You should also try
to obtain this information from others, like current
and former franchisees. You can find their names
and contact information in Item 20 or Exhibits G
and H.

How much will I need to invest? | Items 5 and 6 list fees you will be paying to the
franchisor or at the franchisor’s direction. Item
7 lists the initial investment to open. Item 8
describes the suppliers you must use.

Does the franchisor have the Item 21 or Exhibit C includes financial

financial ability to provide statements. Review these statements carefully.

support to my business?

Is the franchise system stable, Item 20 summarizes the recent history of the

growing, or shrinking? number of company-owned and franchised outlets.

Will my business be the only Item 12 and the “territory” provisions in the

TIM HORTONS® business in | franchise agreement describe whether the

my area? franchisor and other franchisees can compete with
you.

Does the franchisor have a Items 3 and 4 tell you whether the franchisor or

troubled legal history? its management have been involved in material
litigation or bankruptcy proceedings.

What’s it like to be a TIM Item 20 or Exhibits G and H list current and

HORTONS® franchisee? former franchisees. You can contact them to

ask about their experiences.

What else should I know? These questions are only a few things you should
look for. Review all 23 Items and all Exhibits in
this disclosure document to better understand this
franchise opportunity. See the table of contents.
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What You Need To Know About Franchising Generally

Continuing responsibility to pay fees. You may have to pay royalties and other fees even
if you are losing money.

Business model can change. The franchise agreement may allow the franchisor to change
its manuals and business model without your consent. These changes may require you to
make additional investments in your franchise business or may harm your franchise
business.

Supplier restrictions. You may have to buy or lease items from the franchisor or a limited
group of suppliers the franchisor designates. These items may be more expensive than
similar items you could buy on your own.

Operating restrictions. The franchise agreement may prohibit you from operating a
similar business during the term of the franchise. There are usually other restrictions. Some
examples may include controlling your location, your access to customers, what you sell,
how you market, and your hours of operation.

Competition from franchisor. Even if the franchise agreement grants you a territory, the
franchisor may have the right to compete with you in your territory.

Renewal. Your franchise agreement may not permit you to renew. Even if it does, you may
have to sign a new agreement with different terms and conditions in order to continue to
operate your franchise business.

When your franchise ends. The franchise agreement may prohibit you from operating a
similar business after your franchise ends even if you still have obligations to your landlord
or other creditors.

Some States Require Registration

Your state may have a franchise law, or other law, that requires franchisors to
register before offering or selling franchises in the state. Registration does not mean that
the state recommends the franchise or has verified the information in this document. To
find out if your state has a registration requirement, or to contact your state, use the agency
information in Exhibit A.

Your state also may have laws that require special disclosures or amendments be
made to your franchise agreement. If so, you should check the State Specific Addenda. See
the Table of Contents for the location of the State Specific Addenda.
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Special Risk(s) to Consider About This Franchise

Certain states require that the following risk(s) be highlighted:

Out-of-State Dispute Resolution. The Franchise Agreement and Area
Development Agreement require you to resolve disputes with the franchisor by
litigation in Florida. Out-of-state litigation may force you to accept a less
favorable settlement for disputes. It may also cost more to litigate with the
franchisor in Florida than in your own state.

Certain states may require other risks to be highlighted. Check the “State Specific
Addenda” (if any) to see whether your state requires other risks to be highlighted.
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NOTICE MANDATED BY SECTION 8 OF
MICHIGAN’S FRANCHISE INVESTMENT ACT

The following is applicable to you if you are a Michigan resident or your franchise will be located in
Michigan.

The state of Michigan prohibits certain unfair provisions that are sometimes in franchise documents.
If any of the following provisions are in these franchise documents, the provisions are void and cannot
be enforced against you.

(a)
(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

(f)

(9)

A prohibition on the right of a franchisee to join an association of franchisees.

A requirement that a franchisee assent to a release, assignment, novation, waiver, or estoppel which
deprives a franchisee of rights and protections provided in this act. This shall not preclude a
franchisee, after entering into a franchise agreement, from settling any and all claims.

A provision that permits a franchisor to terminate a franchise prior to the expiration of its term
except for good cause. Good cause shall include the failure of the franchisee to comply with any
lawful provision of the franchise agreement and to cure such failure after being given written notice
thereof and a reasonable opportunity, which in no event need be more than 30 days, to cure such
failure.

A provision that permits a franchisor to refuse to renew a franchise without fairly compensating
the franchisee by repurchase or other means for the fair market value at the time of expiration of
the franchisee's inventory, supplies, equipment, fixtures, and furnishings. Personalized materials
which have no value to the franchisor and inventory, supplies, equipment, fixtures, and furnishings
not reasonably required in the conduct of the franchise business are not subject to compensation.
This subsection applies only if: (i) The term of the franchise is less than 5 years and (ii) the
franchisee is prohibited by the franchise or other agreement from continuing to conduct
substantially the same business under another trademark, service mark, trade name, logotype,
advertising, or other commercial symbol in the same area subsequent to the expiration of the
franchise or the franchisee does not receive at least 6 months advance notice of franchisor's intent
not to renew the franchise.

A provision that permits the franchisor to refuse to renew a franchise on terms generally available
to other franchisees of the same class or type under similar circumstances. This section does not
require a renewal provision.

A provision requiring that arbitration or litigation be conducted outside this state. This shall not
preclude the franchisee from entering into an agreement, at the time of arbitration, to conduct
arbitration at a location outside this state.

A provision which permits a franchisor to refuse to permit a transfer of ownership of a franchise,
except for good cause. This subdivision does not prevent a franchisor from exercising a right of
first refusal to purchase the franchise. Good cause shall include, but is not limited to:

(1) The failure of the proposed transferee to meet the franchisor’s then current reasonable
qualifications or standards.

(i) The fact that the proposed transferee is a competitor of the franchisor or subfranchisor.
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(h)

(i)

(iii)  The unwillingness of the proposed transferee to agree in writing to comply with all lawful
obligations.

(iv) The failure of the franchisee or proposed transferee to pay any sums owing to the franchisor
or to cure any default in the franchise agreement existing at the time of the proposed
transfer.

A provision that requires the franchisee to resell to the franchisor items that are not uniquely
identified with the franchisor. This subdivision does not prohibit a provision that grants to a
franchisor a right of first refusal to purchase the assets of a franchise on the same terms and
conditions as a bona fide third party willing and able to purchase those assets, nor does this
subdivision prohibit a provision that grants the franchisor the right to acquire the assets of a
franchise for the market or appraised value of such assets if the franchisee has breached the lawful
provisions of the franchise agreement and has failed to cure the breach in the manner provided in
subdivision (c).

A provision which permits the franchisor to directly or indirectly convey, assign, or otherwise
transfer its obligations to fulfill contractual obligations to the franchisee unless provision has been
made for providing the required contractual services.

The fact that there is a notice of this offering on file with the attorney general does not constitute
approval, recommendation, or endorsement by the attorney general.

If the franchisee has any questions regarding this notice, those questions should be directed to the Michigan
Department of Attorney General, Consumer Protection Division, Attn.: Franchise, 525 West Ottawa Street,
G. Mennen Williams Building, 1st Floor, Lansing, Michigan 48909, telephone: (517) 373-7117.
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ITEM1
THE FRANCHISOR, AND ANY PARENTS, PREDECESSORS AND AFFILIATES
In this disclosure document “Tim Hortons,” “we,” and “us,” and “our” refers to Tim Hortons USA
Inc. ("THUSA™). “You,” and “your” refers to the person or entity who becomes a franchisee or Operator,
or the developer under an “Area Development Agreement.” If the franchisee or Operator is not an
individual, “you” refers to the franchisee entity and not the individual, unless otherwise noted.

A business that operates under the Tim Hortons System and uses the Tim Hortons Trademarks is
referred to in this disclosure document as a “Tim Hortons Shop.” Unless we indicate otherwise, all
references in this disclosure document to a Tim Hortons Shop will refer to a Standard Shop or a Non-
Standard Shop (as described below in this Item 1). Each type of Tim Hortons Shop must be constructed
and operated in compliance with our requirements and standards, such as interior and exterior appearance,
specified equipment, equipment layout, interior and exterior accessories, identification schemes, products,
and management, marketing and operational specifications (“Tim Hortons System”), and use trademarks,
trade names, service marks, logos, emblems and indicia of origin, we own or license to you (“Tim Hortons
Trademarks”), such as the name Tim Hortons.

The Franchisor

THUSA was incorporated in Delaware in June 2007, and changed its state of incorporation to
Florida in December 2017. As of December 31, 2021, there were 5,291 Tim Hortons Shops worldwide, of
which 622 , excluding self-serve locations, were located in the United States. Our principal business address
is 5707 Blue Lagoon Drive, Miami, Florida 33126. We franchise Tim Hortons Shops that sell coffee and
other non-alcoholic beverages, baked goods, soup, sandwiches, and related products. Our predecessor
opened the first Tim Hortons Shop in the United States in 1984. Our predecessor offered franchises for a
brief period in the mid-1980s and, after discontinuing franchising activities for several years, it again began
offering franchises in 1993. We also began offering Tim Hortons franchises in Latin America in July 2020
and as of December 31, 2021 we had 42 franchised locations in Latin America. We do not conduct business
under any other name and have not previously offered franchises in any other type of business.

Our Parents and Predecessors

We are an indirect subsidiary of Restaurant Brands International Limited Partnership, a limited
partnership organized under the laws of the Province of Ontario (“RBILP”). The general partner of RBILP
is Restaurant Brands International Inc., a Canadian corporation (“RBI”). The principal place of business
of RBILP and RBI is 130 King Street West, Suite 300, Toronto, Ontario M5X 1K6, Canada.

3G Restaurant Brands Holdings LP, a Cayman Islands limited partnership (“3G Restaurant
Brands Holdings”) owns the largest percentage of the combined voting power of RBI (approximately
29%). 3G Restaurant Brands Holdings’ general partner is 3G Restaurant Brands Holdings General Partner
Ltd., a Cayman Islands exempted company (“3G Restaurant Brands Holdings GP”). 3G Restaurant
Brands Holdings and 3G Restaurant Brands Holdings GP are each located at ¢/o 3G Capital, Inc., 600 Third
Avenue, 37th Floor, New York, NY 10016.

Since July 1984, The THD Group LLC through its predecessors conducted franchise activities. On
June 30, 2007, The THD Group LLC merged with us, and since that time, we have conducted business
under the name Tim Hortons USA Inc., first as a Delaware corporation until December 2017 and then as a
Florida corporation from December 2017 to the present. None of these parties has offered franchises in
any other line of business.
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Our Affiliates

RBI also indirectly owns Burger King Corporation (“BKC”), Popeyes Louisiana Kitchen, Inc.
(“PLK™) and Firehouse of America, LLC (“FOA™). We are affiliates of all of these companies.

Since 1954, BKC has been operating and franchising the operation of Burger King® quick-service
hamburger restaurants in the United States. As of December 31, 2021, there were 19,247 total Burger
King® restaurants worldwide, of which 7,105 were located in the United States. Of the total number of
Burger King® restaurants in the United States, 51 were owned by BKC or an affiliate of BKC. Of BKC’s
affiliates, only Burger King Europe GmbH (“BK Europe”), BK AsiaPac, Pte. Ltd. (“BK APac”) and BK
Canada Service ULC (“BK Canada”) offer franchises in their respective countries or regions. BK Europe
and BK APac have operated and franchised the operation of Burger King® restaurants since April 2006
and BK Canada since April 2016. As of December 31, 2021, BK Europe had 6,055 franchised Burger
King® restaurants, BK APac had 3,574 franchised Burger King® restaurants and BK Canada had 328
Burger King restaurants.

Since 1992, PLK has been operating and franchising the operation of Popeyes® restaurants
(formerly Popeyes Chicken and Biscuits) in the United States. PLK’s affiliate, PLK APAC Pte, Ltd. (“PLK
APAC?”) has been operating and franchising the operation of Popeyes® restaurants in Asia since January
2018 and in Europe from January 2018 through July 2019. PLK’s affiliate, PLK Europe GmbH (“PLK
Europe”) has been operating and franchising the operation of Popeyes® restaurants in Europe since August
2019. As of December 31, 2021, there were 3,705 Popeyes® restaurants worldwide, of which 2,777 were
located in the United States, including the U.S. Territories of Guam and Puerto Rico. Of the total number
of Popeyes® restaurants in the U.S., 41 were owned by PLK. As of December 31, 2021, PLK APAC had
93 franchised Popeyes restaurants and PLK Europe had 371 franchised restaurants.

Since December 2004, FOA has been operating and franchising the operation of Firehouse Subs®
restaurants in the United States and before that its parent, FRG, LLC (formerly Firehouse Restaurant Group,
Inc.) operated and franchised the operation of Firehouse Subs® restaurants in the United States from February
1995 until December 2004. FOA also offers area development rights and offered area representative franchise
rights from April 2005 to November 2021. FOA'’s affiliate, Firehouse Subs of Canada ULC (“Firehouse
Canada™) has been offering and selling franchises in Canada since February 2014. As of December 31, 2021,
there were 1,213 Firehouse Subs® restaurants worldwide, of which 1,164 were located in the United States.
Of the total number of Firehouse Subs® restaurants in the U.S., 39 were owned by affiliates of FOA. As of
December 26, 2021, Firehouse Subs of Canada ULC had 49 franchised restaurants.

Our affiliate, The TDL Group Corp. (“TDL") sells various products to our franchisees. Please see
Item 8 for additional details. Since January 1965, TDL has sold franchises in Canada, which are similar to
the franchises being offered by us in the United States and Latin America. TDL does not offer franchises
in any other line of business. As of December 31, 2021, there were 3,949 Tim Hortons shops in Canada,
including both full service and kiosk shops. Of the total number of Tim Hortons shops in Canada, 4 were
owned by TDL or an affiliate of TDL.

Our affiliate, Tim Donut U.S. Limited, Inc. in many cases, either owns and leases, or will lease and
then sublease, the premises from which most of our franchisees will operate their Tim Hortons Shop. Our
affiliate, TimFox Properties, LLC, leases or subleases the properties for several Tim Hortons Shops in the
state of New York to New York franchisees. Neither of these affiliates has operated Tim Hortons Shops
nor have they offered franchises in any line of business.

Since 2016, our affiliate, Tim Hortons Restaurants International GmbH (“TH International”) has
been the franchisor for the Tim Hortons brand outside of the U.S. and Canada, and in July 2020 began
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focusing on the regions of Europe, the Middle East and Africa. As of December 31, 2021, TH International
had 236 franchised Tim Hortons Shops.

Since July 2020, Tim Hortons Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. (“TH APAC”) has been the franchisor for the
Tim Hortons brand in the Asia Pacific region other than China. As of December 31, 2021, TH APAC had
442 franchised Tim Hortons Shops.

Our affiliates’ principal places of business are: BKC, PLK, Tim Donut U.S. Limited, Inc. and
TimFox Properties, LLC: 5707 Blue Lagoon Drive, Miami, Florida 33126; TDL and BK Canada: 130 King
Street West, Suite 300, Toronto, Ontario M5X 1K6, Canada; BK Europe, PLK Europe, and TH
International: Dammstrasse 23, 6300, Zug, Switzerland; BK APac, PLK APAC and TH APAC: 5 Shenton
Way, #14-01/03 UIC Building, Singapore 068808; FOA: 12735 Gran Bay Parkway, Suite 150,
Jacksonville, Florida 32258; and Firehouse Canada: 2100 — 40 King Street West, Toronto, Ontario, Canada
M5H 3C2.

Our agents for service of process are listed in Exhibit A.

The Franchise Offered

This disclosure document describes franchises under our traditional franchise program for Tim
Hortons Shops operated by franchisees under a franchise agreement (“Franchise Agreement”), the form
of which is attached as Exhibit D.

We also offer franchises for Tim Hortons Shops to be operated under an operator agreement
(“Operator Agreement”). As of December 31, 2021, there were 33 Standard Shops operated by non-
employee independent operators (“Operators”) under an Operator Agreement, the form of which is
attached as Exhibit Q. In our sole judgement, we may offer to some current and future Operators the option
to acquire the assets of their Tim Hortons Shop from the Tim Hortons Shop owner (which, depending on
the specific Tim Hortons Shop may be us or one of our affiliates), and sign a Franchise Agreement with us
for the Tim Hortons Shop.

In the past we offered a Development [and Renovation] Agreement under which franchisees would
commit to develop Tim Hortons Shops in a market and perform other obligations in that market. Currently,
we offer an Area Development Agreement within a designated market area (a “Territory”), the form of
which is attached as Exhibit P (“Area Development Agreement”). Under the Area Development
Agreement, franchisees do not have exclusive rights to develop in the Territory and do not have the right
to sub franchise Tim Hortons Shops to third party franchisees. In addition, before actually developing a
Tim Hortons Shop, a franchisee that has signed an Area Development Agreement must sign the current
form of Franchise Agreement that we are using at the time we require you to sign the Franchise Agreement
for each Tim Hortons Shop opened under an Area Development Agreement. The terms of these agreements
may differ from the form attached to this Disclosure Document. Under an Area Development Agreement,
only Standard Shops count towards your development obligations.

If approved by us, you will be offered a Franchise Agreement or Operator Agreement granting you
the right to open one of the following two types of Tim Hortons Shops:

1. Standard Shop: A Standard Shop is the typical Tim Hortons Shop. It produces,
merchandises, and sells a variety of baked goods, such as donuts, cookies, muffins, tarts,
as well as coffee and other beverages. Most Standard Shops also offer a variety of soups,
chili, and sandwiches. The Standard Shop typically ranges in size from 1,000 to 2,300
square feet, contains a seating area for customers, and includes a drive-thru facility. The
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Standard Shop may also be a stand-alone, an in-line Shop, or a Shop within another facility.
Some Standard Shops are located within retail stores or retail centers, universities, hospitals
or airports. In select cases, a Standard Shop may also be drive thru only. The drive thru
only includes a drive thru pickup window and a walkup window. It offers abbreviated menu
offerings consisting of hot and cold beverages, baked goods and breakfast sandwiches.

2. Non-Standard Shop: The versatility of Non-Standard Shops allows them to be installed
in almost any type of location or area. There are generally 2 types of Non-Standard Shops:
(i) a built-in kiosk; and (ii) a full service cart. The built-in kiosk is designed to
accommodate any product format but is best suited for a full menu line, including coffee,
baked goods, and sandwiches. The dimensions of a built-in kiosk vary depending on the
proposed location. The full service cart is modular and can be modified to suit the size,
location and consumer demand of its location. It can accommodate one or more coffee
stations and/or a limited menu. In certain limited circumstances, kiosk owners must supply
kiosks with all necessary products and may be required to obtain their baked goods from a
local Tim Hortons franchisee.

Over the years we have offered multiple images for our Tim Hortons Shops. The current approved
image is the Welcome 2021 image. We refer to this image in this disclosure document as the “New Model”.

In most cases, you must secure control of the property where your Tim Hortons Shop will be located
by either leasing or subleasing the property or purchasing it. However, if you are purchasing a Tim Hortons
Shop from us and we control the property through a lease or sublease we will, in most situations, lease or
sublease the property to you. We have an arrangement with Kahala Franchising, L.L.C. (“Cold Stone”)
under which some franchised Tim Hortons Shops sell, in addition to Tim Hortons products, selected
products of Cold Stone. We no longer offer this type of arrangement for new Shops, but information about
this supplemental product offering appears in the Cold Stone Addendum attached at Exhibit J.

Finally, we may occasionally permit a prospective franchisee or Operator to attend our initial
training program in circumstances where neither we nor the prospective franchisee is obligated to sign a
Franchise Agreement or Operator Agreement..

Competition

The market for the goods and services offered by a Tim Hortons Shop is well developed. Tim
Hortons Shops will compete with a wide variety of national and local businesses, including fast food
restaurants, bakeries, grocery stores, coffee shops, and other similar types of stores.

Industry Specific Requlations

You must comply with all local, state, and federal laws that apply to your Franchised Restaurant.
A variety of laws govern the operation of a food service business. Examples include laws relating to labor
and employment, food safety, health and sanitation codes, laws, rules and regulations concerning “Truth in
Menu” (concerning menu item names and product labeling), laws requiring nutritional information on
menus and menu boards, laws concerning nutritional claims, the federal Americans with Disabilities Act
of 1990 (“ADA”), data protection (such as credit card protection under the U.S. Fair and Accurate Credit
Transactions Act) and privacy laws. There may be other laws applicable to your business and we urge you
to make further inquiries about these laws. In addition, laws that apply to businesses in general will affect
you. You must also comply with Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards. You must also comply
with all provisions of the USA Patriot Act and Executive Order 13224. Your business is subject to state
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and federal regulations that allow the government to restrict travel and/or require businesses to close or
limit operations during state or national emergencies.

Consult your lawyer about the laws that may affect your business.
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ITEM 2
BUSINESS EXPERIENCE

The Tim Hortons USA Board of Directors

Axel Schwan Mr. Schwan was named director of Tim Hortons in December 2019. He
has served as an Officer of RBI since January 2020. Mr. Schwan was also
named President, Tim Hortons (Americas) in December 2019, based in
Toronto, Ontario. From October 2019 to December 2019, he served as our
Regional President and the Regional President of TDL. From October
2017 to October 2019 he served as Tim Hortons (Global) Chief Marketing
Officer and from October 2013 to October 2017, he served as BKC’s
Global Chief Marketing Officer.

Jill Granat Ms. Granat was named director of Tim Hortons in September 2021. She
has served as a director of FRG since December 2021 and as a director of
PLK since March 2017. She has served as the Secretary of PLK since
October 2017 and as our Secretary since January 2015. Ms. Granat has
been General Counsel of RBI since December 2014. She has also served
as BKC’s General Counsel since February 2011, along with serving in
various legal positions in the BKC Legal Department since joining BKC
in 1998.

Matt Dunnigan Mr. Dunnigan was named director of Tim Hortons in September 2021. He
has served as a director of FRG since December 2021. He has been a
director and Vice President of PLK since March 2018. Mr. Dunnigan has
been Chief Financial Officer of RBI since January 2018. From October
2014 to January 2018, he served as Treasurer of RBI. Mr. Dunnigan has
served as a director of Carrols Restaurant Group, Inc., the parent company
of Carrols, LLC, a Burger King franchisee located in Syracuse, New York
since February 2018.

Chief Executive Officer of Restaurant Brands International Inc.: Jose Cil

In January 2019, Mr. Cil was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of RBI. Mr. Cil previously
served as director and President of BKC from December 2014 to January 2019.

Chief Marketing Officer, Tim Hortons: Hope Bagozzi

Ms. Bagozzi was named Chief Marketing Officer of Tim Hortons in January 2020. Before joining
Tim Hortons in January 2020, she served as Marketing Director and officer for McDonald’s Canada in
Toronto, Ontario from May 2018 to January 2020 and as Senior Director, National Marketing from January
2013 to May 2018.

Reqgional President: Ricardo Azevedo

Mr. Azevedo was appointed as our Regional President in July 2019. From May 2018 to July 2019,
he served as TDL’s Chief Sales Officer based in Toronto, Ontario and as General Manager, BK EMEA
South for Burger King Europe GmbH based in Zug, Switzerland from February 2017 to May 2018. Mr.
Azevedo also served as BKC’s Head of Marketing, North America from December 2015 to January 2017
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and as Vice President, Marketing Intelligence, Calendar and Innovation, North America from September
2013 to December 2015.

Head of Marketing, US: Jay Pritchett

Mr. Pritchett was named as our Head of Marketing, U.S. in November 2021. He previously served
as our Director, Calendar Planning & Performance Analytics from April 2020 to November 2021. Before
joining us he was a Principal at Oliver Wyman in Miami, Florida from January 2019 to March 2020 and he
served as Engagement Manager at Oliver Wyman in Boston, Massachusetts from January 2017 to
December 2018.

General Manager and Vice President, Operations: Jalila Bouchareb

Ms. Bouchareb was named as our General Manager and Vice President, Operations in December
2021. She previously served as our General Manager and Head of Operations from May 2020 to December
2021 and as our Head of Development and Operations from January 2019 to May 2020. From August 2017
to January 2019, she served as Lead, Training Platforms for RBI and as Senior Manager, Operations
Training for RBI from January 2017 to August 2017 in Miami, FL. Ms. Bouchareb also served as Senior
Manager, Global Learning for BKC from October 2015 to January 2017 and as Senior Manager, Market
Planning for BKC from June 2015 to October 2015.

Vice President, Franchising, Development and Finance: Nicholas Henrich

Mr. Henrich was named as our Vice President, Franchising, Development and Finance in August
2020. From March 2019 to July 2020 he served as RBI’s Head of Franchising, EMEA based in Baar,
Switzerland and as PLK’s Head of Finance from June 2017 to February 2019. Mr. Henrich also served as
RBI’s Head of Franchising, Americas from January 2016 to May 2017 and as BKC’s Head of Development,
Latin America from September 2013 to December 2015.

Head of Franchising: Timothy Arpin

Mr. Arpin was hamed as our Head of Franchising in October 2021. Before joining us he served as
Vice President, Franchise Recruitment for Scooters Coffee, LLC in Omaha, Nebraska from August 2019
to October 2021 and as Vice President, Franchise Development for Self Esteem Brands, LLC in Woodbury,
Minnesota from October 2008 to August 2019.
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ITEM3
LITIGATION

Pending litigation:

Show Me Hospitality, LLC v. Tim Hortons USA, Inc., (Case No: 17-8294 CA 01), Miami-Dade
County Circuit Court, filed on April 10, 2017; voluntarily dismissed July 18, 2017; refiled July 18, 2017
(Case No. 17-22679-CIV-MARTINEZ/OTAZO-REYES), U.S. District Court for the Southern District of
Florida (the “Federal Court Lawsuit”); Tim Hortons USA Inc. v. Show Me Hospitality, LLC and Eric D.
Sigurdson, (Case No. 17-24423-CIV-WILLIAMS/TORRES), U.S. District Court for the Southern District
of Florida, filed December 6, 2017 (the “THUSA Federal Court Lawsuit”™).

In the Federal Court Lawsuit, Plaintiff sued us for: (1) anticipatory breach of contract under an
Area Development Agreement between the Plaintiff and us (the “ADA™); (2) breach of contract and the
implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing under the ADA; (3) breach of contract and the implied
covenant of good faith and fair dealing under the Franchise Agreements; and (4) tortious interference with
business expectancy. Plaintiff’s claims stem from our alleged refusal to support the Plaintiff under the
ADA due to Plaintiff’s refusal to sign a new agreement committing to new development goals. On May 8,
2017, we moved to dismiss the state court lawsuit based on the venue provisions contained in the ADA and
Franchise Agreements requiring that any litigation be brought in federal court. We also asserted that the
court should dismiss the case because all of the claims fail to state a cause of action for various reasons.
On July 18, 2017, Plaintiff filed a voluntary dismissal without prejudice of the case in state court and filed
a substantially similar complaint in federal court. THUSA filed a motion to dismiss and motion to strike
the complaint filed in the federal court action on August 11, 2017. Plaintiff’s response was served on August
30, 2017, and the Court has yet to rule on the motion.

In the THUSA Federal Court Lawsuit, THUSA sued Show Me Hospitality, LLC and Eric D.
Sigurdson (collectively “Defendants™) for money damages for breaches of written agreements -- Franchise
Agreements, Guaranties and Area Development Agreement (collectively the “Agreements”) between
THUSA and Defendants, based on Defendants’ collective failure to pay amounts owed under the
Agreements. Defendants filed a motion to dismiss or consolidate with their earlier-filed federal court case.
THUSA filed a Notice of Pending, Refiled, Related or Similar Action in the THUSA Federal Court Lawsuit
and the Federal Court Lawsuit. On March 29, 2018, the Court entered an order on THUSA’s motion to
dismiss and motion to strike, dismissing Plaintiff’s tortious interference claim with prejudice and also
striking Plaintiff’s jury trial demand and claims for liquidated, consequential, indirect or special damages,
lost profits and/or lost opportunity costs.

The parties filed motions for summary judgment, which the Court denied on January 29, 2020. The
trial concluded on February 26, 2021. The parties submitted their proposed Findings of Fact and
Conclusions of Law on April 23, 2021, and are awaiting a ruling by the Court.

Tims 8 Mile LLC, etal. v. Tim Hortons USA, Inc., (Case No. 19-04488), United States Bankruptcy
Court, Eastern District of Michigan, Southern Division, Adversary Proceeding, filed on November 4, 2019.

Defendant companies filed voluntary petitions for chapter 11 bankruptcy protection in the
Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern District of Michigan on October 28, 2019. On November 4, 2019, the
debtors filed an Adversary Complaint against THUSA in the bankruptcy alleging: (1) violation of the
Michigan Franchise Investment Law (“MFIL”) for failing to timely disclose Debtors with THUSA’s FDD
prior to the execution of franchise documents; (2) declaratory judgment that THUSA enforced void and
unenforceable forum selection clauses in violation of the MFIL and that continued litigation in Florida
continues to violate Michigan law; (3) THUSA allegedly engaged in fraud and misleading statements in
violation of the MFIL when it orally promised debtors that their leases would be for one amount and then
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changed those terms in the written lease agreements with less than 10-business days’ notice; and (4)
violation of the MFIL for misrepresenting to the Court in Florida that venue was proper in that Court
pursuant to the venue clause. THUSA filed a motion to dismiss the adversary proceeding, or alternatively,
requested that the Court abstain from exercising jurisdiction over the adversary proceeding. The
Bankruptcy Court lifted the stay. On April 17, 2020, the Bankruptcy Court entered its order granting
THUSA’s motion to dismiss and dismissing the case with prejudice. On June 9, 2020, the Court entered an
Order dismissing the bankruptcy and all related appeals so long as the Defendants removed all of their
personal property from the remaining Tim Hortons restaurants.

Tim Donut U.S. Limited v. Tims Milner LLC, (Case No. 19347767), 36" District Court, Wayne
County, Michigan; Tim Donut U.S. Limited v. Tims Compuware LLC, (Case No. 19347766), 36" District
Court, Wayne County, Michigan; Tim Donut U.S. Limited v. Tims 8 Mile LLC, (Case No. 19-31643-LT),
32A District Court, Wayne County, Michigan; Tim Donut U.S. Limited v. Tims Five-Mile LLC, (Case No.
19-77058-LT), 17th District Court, Wayne County, Michigan; all removed to Wayne County Business
Court, (Case Nos. 19-01985-CB, 19-01983-CB, 19-01909-CB, and 19-01903-CB), filed on April 3, 2019.

Tim Donut U.S. Limited v. Tims 12 Mile LLC, (Case No. 19-1779), 46" District Court, Oakland
County, Michigan; Tim Donut U.S. Limited v. Tims Greenfield LLC, (Case No. 19-1778), 46" District
Court in and for Oakland County, Michigan; Tim Donut U.S. Limited v. Tims Evergreen LLC, (Case No.
LT 19-1780), 46" District Court, Oakland County, Michigan; counterclaims removed to Oakland County
Business Court, (Case Nos. 19-176118-CB, 176096-CB, and 19-176053-CB), filed on April 22, 2019.

In April 2019, Tim Donut U.S. Limited, Inc. initiated seven eviction proceedings in state district
courts in Wayne and Oakland Counties in Michigan (the “Evictions”). Each of the Evictions was filed
against one of the following entities: Tims Milner LLC, Tims 12 Mile LLC, Tims 8 Mile LLC, Tims Five-
Mile LLC, Tims Greenfield LLC, Tims Evergreen LLC, and Tims Compuware LLC, and sought possession
of the leased premises described in the lease and sublease agreements between each of those entities and
Tim Donut U.S. Limited. No money damages were sought. Defendants asserted affirmative defenses and
a counter- and third-party complaint in April and May 2019. The counterclaim added us as a defendant and
asserted claims of: (1) violation of the MFIL for terminating the franchise agreement without good cause;
(2) breach of sublease for withdrawing amounts not due from Defendants’ accounts; (3) fraud; and (4)
breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

In May and June 2019, we filed motions to remove the counterclaims to circuit court in the
Michigan state courts on the basis that the claimed damages exceeded the district court’s authority. In July
and August 2019, we filed motions for summary judgment and to dismiss the counterclaims. After
Defendants filed for bankruptcy, all circuit court actions were stayed. The possession claims in Oakland
County were already stayed pending a decision from the circuit court, and remain stayed.

Tim-Minn, Inc. v. Tim Hortons USA, Inc. and Restaurants Brands International Limited
Partnership, (Case No. 0:19-cv-00409), United States District Court for the District of Minnesota, filed
February 20, 2019; transferred to the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, (Case
No. 20-23481-KMW), filed September 10, 2020.

This action is brought by franchisee, Tim-Minn, Inc., against us and Restaurants Brands
International Limited Partnership (“RBILP”). Plaintiff alleges claims based on purported improprieties with
regard to financial performance representations made in the sale of an Area Representative and Development
Agreement (“ARDA") and Franchise Agreements as well as breaches of agreements with us and RBILP.
Plaintiffs assert that various actions of THUSA violated the Minnesota Franchise Act including the making
of allegedly improper financial representations, marking-up certain items required to be purchased by
franchisee and including a release purportedly with the ARDA. Plaintiff has also alleged breach of the
implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing for failing to allegedly provide accurate financial information
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and for allegedly preventing franchisees development by filing a lawsuit against it, that we intentionally
provided allegedly inaccurate information to franchisee, that we failed to exercise the requisite care in
providing financial information to the franchisee, that we breached a contract for purportedly charging
unreasonable mark-ups on products and supplies in violation of a provision in the FDD allegedly
incorporated into the franchise agreement, that we and RBILP have been unjustly enriched by receiving
money pursuant to the ARDA and that we and RBILP breached the ARDA by allegedly failing to provide
training, support and manuals to franchisee. Franchisee seeks damages against us and RBILP. On April 17,
2019, the Court dismissed the complaint on jurisdictional grounds and gave the Plaintiffs permission to file
a second amended complaint. Plaintiff filed a Second Amended Complaint on August 29, 2019, in which it
dropped RBILP as a defendant to preserve subject matter jurisdiction in federal court. THUSA filed its
motion to dismiss, motion to transfer and motion to strike on September 12, 2019. On August 19, 2020, the
Court granted THUSA’s Motion to Dismiss in part and dismissed with prejudice all 4 counts of the complaint
that were based on the Minnesota Franchise Act. The Court also granted THUSA’s motion to transfer venue
to the federal court in Florida.

On September 10, 2020, THUSA renewed and refiled in the Southern District of Florida its motion
to dismiss the remaining counts in the complaint. Plaintiff’s filed a motion for leave to file a second amended
complaint. The second amended complaint adds as Plaintiffs all of the operating company/franchisees, who
signed franchise agreements with THUSA. Plaintiffs dropped some of the prior causes of action under
Minnesota law and added other causes of action under Minnesota and Florida law, including: (1) a violation
of the Minnesota Franchise Act based on language in Item 8 regarding markups on goods franchisees are
required to purchase; (2) breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing with regard to the
Item 8 claims; (3) fraud; (4) negligent misrepresentation under Minnesota and Florida law; (5) breach of
franchise agreement based on Item 8 disclosures; (6) unjust enrichment based on the required purchases
allegations; (7) breach of the ARDA for failing to provide services; (8) breach of the implied covenant of
good faith and fair dealing by impairing Plaintiff’s ability to meet its development schedule when THUSA
filed a lawsuit in the Southern District of Florida; (9) violation of Florida’s Deceptive and Unfair Trade
Practices Act for failing to comply with the FTC Disclosure Rules; (10) breach of the ARDA for failing to
charge the correct royalty fee; and (11) unjust enrichment for failing to charge the correct royalty fee.
Plaintiffs are seeking compensatory, actual and statutory damages as well as attorneys’ fees and costs. On
October 20, 2020, the Court granted Plaintiffs’ motion to amend. The Court denied THUSA’s motion to
dismiss as moot and required that Plaintiffs file their third amended complaint.

On November 4, 2020, Plaintiffs filed their amended complaint. THUSA filed its motion to dismiss
the third amended complaint on November 30, 2020. On July 15, 2021, the district court judge referred the
motion to dismiss to the magistrate for a report and recommendation. On August 2, 2021 the magistrate
judge issued an order recommending that the Court deny THUSA’s motion to dismiss in part, and grant
THUSA’s motion in part specifically with respect to the claims for breach of the implied covenant of good
faith, violation of the Minnesota Franchise Act, breach of contract, and violation of the Florida Deceptive
and Unfair Trade Practices Act. In dismissing those claims, however, the Court granted plaintiffs permission
to amend their complaint to address the deficiencies in their complaint which resulted in their dismissal. On
August 16, 2021, THUSA filed its Objections to the Magistrate’s Report and Recommendation on the
Motion to Dismiss, and Plaintiffs filed their Opposition on September 14, 2021.

On, September 30, 2021, the Court adopted and affirmed the magistrate judge’s report and
recommendation. On October 14, 2021, Plaintiffs filed their Fourth Amended Complaint. Plaintiffs’ Fourth
Amended Complaint includes claims for (1) a violation of the Minnesota Franchise Act based on language
in Item 8 regarding markups on goods franchisees are required to purchase; (2) breach of the implied
covenant of good faith and fair dealing with regard to the Item 8 claims and Schedule As; (3) fraud; (4)
negligent misrepresentation under Minnesota and Florida law; (5) breach of franchise agreement based on
Item 8 disclosures and supplies; (6) unjust enrichment based on the required purchases allegations; (7) breach
of the ARDA for failing to provide services under it; (8) breach of the implied covenant of good faith and
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fair dealing by impairing plaintiff’s ability to meet its development schedule when THUSA filed a lawsuit
in the Southern District of Florida; (9) violation of Florida’s Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act for
failing to comply with the FTC Franchise Rule; (10) breach of the ARDA for failing to charge the correct
royalty fee; and (11) unjust enrichment for failing to charge the correct royalty fee. Plaintiffs are seeking
compensatory, actual and statutory damages in excess of $30 million as well as attorneys’ fees and costs.
THUSA’s answer was served on November 1, 2021. On January 31, 2022, THUSA filed a motion for
summary judgment with respect to all of Plaintiffs” claims. Plaintiffs’ responded on February 21, 2022.
THUSA filed its reply brief on March 7, 2022. The trial is scheduled to begin in April, 2022.

Himelda Mendez, et al. v. Tim Hortons USA, Inc., (Case No: Case No. 19-cv-09863-VEC), U.S.
District Court for the Southern District of New York, filed October 24, 2019.

Plaintiff filed a class action lawsuit on behalf of herself and a nationwide class of all blind individuals
in the United States, as well as a subclass of all blind individuals in New York State and City, for violations
of Title Il of the Americans with Disabilities Act (“Title 111" or “ADA”™), 42 U.S.C. § 12181, et seq., and
subclasses under the New York State Human Rights Law (“NYSHRL”), N.Y. Exec. Law § 290, et seq., and
the New York City Human Rights Law (“NYCHRL”), N.Y.C. Admin. Code 8§ 8-101, et seq. Plaintiff
alleges that we violated the ADA and the NYSHRL and NYCHRL by failing to provide gift cards in Braille
for low-vision and blind individuals.

Plaintiff filed an amended complaint on February 25, 2020. We filed a motion to dismiss the
amended complaint on March 6, 2020, and Plaintiff submitted her opposition to the motion on March 18,
2020. The motion to dismiss argues that the design and sale of a specialty good, such as a braille gift card
is not required by the ADA, per the controlling regulations promulgated by the Department of Justice in 28
C.F.R. §36.307(a). Additionally, the motion to dismiss argues that Plaintiff cannot state a claim under the
ADA because she never requested an auxiliary aid, and that she lacks standing to bring the claim given that
she has not suffered an injury-in-fact. We filed a reply brief in support of the motion to dismiss on April
10, 2020. On July 21, 2020, the Court ordered the case stayed pending the outcome of the Second Circuit
Court of Appeals’ decision in the appeal of Calcano v. Swarovski North America Ltd. (and four other
consolidated Braille gift-card cases) relating to the appeals of similar motions to dismiss.

Great White North Franchisee Association-USA, Inc. v. Tim Hortons USA, Inc. and Restaurant
Brands International, LP, The TDL Group Corp., The Coffee Co., Elias Diaz Sese, and John Does 1-20,
(Case No.: 1:20-cv-20878-BB), United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, filed on
February 27, 2020.

This action is brought by the Great White North Franchisee Association-USA, Inc. (“GWNFA?”),
which is a franchisee association purportedly consisting of roughly half of our franchisees in the United
States. GWNFA seeks, through associational standing, declaratory relief concerning Defendants’ business
practices with its franchisees, pursuant to the Franchise Disclosure Document and Franchise Agreements.
Specifically, GWNFA seeks declaratory relief regarding: (1) that we made too much profit through the sale
of certain items that are required to be purchased by franchisees; (2) that we imposed an unreasonable
“declining equity” right of first refusal price upon franchisee transfers; and (3) that we used advertising
funds in a manner that breached the franchise agreements. GWNFA is seeking: (1) Declaratory Relief under
Civil Rico and conspiracy to violate Civil Rico; (2) Declaratory Relief for antitrust violations under the
Sherman Act and Florida law; (3) Declaratory Relief for breach of contract with regard to the advertising
fund; (4) Declaratory Relief for violation of the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act; and (5)
Declaratory Relief for breach of contract and the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

On February 27, 2020 Plaintiff added alleged violations of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt
Organizations Act (RICO) and federal and Florida antitrust laws. These additional claims are based on the
allegation that Defendants engaged in a fraudulent strategy to convert the Tim Hortons franchise system into
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a supply chain business disguised as a franchise system. Plaintiffs seek a declaration as to their rights and
obligations under applicable law and their agreements, as well as damages and attorneys’ fees. On April 16,
2020, Plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint asserting the same causes of action, dropping Elias Dias Sese,
and adding additional defendants, RBI, The Tim’s National Advertising Program, Inc., Daniel S. Schwartz,
Jose E. Cil, Alexandre Macedo, and Joshua Kobza. On April 30, 2020 Defendants THUSA and THD Coffee
filed a motion to dismiss the Amended Complaint arguing that the Plaintiff lacks standing to maintain the
claims and that the claims asserted are legally deficient. Defendants TDL and RBILP are joining in those
arguments, but also filed on April 30, 2020 a separate motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction and
to quash service of process. On May 18, 2020, Defendants Jose Cil and Joshua Kobza filed a motion to
dismiss the Amended Complaint with prejudice, adopting the grounds for dismissal previously asserted by
THUSA and also seeking dismissal on the grounds that Plaintiff failed to allege any specific wrongdoing on
their part. On May 21, 2020, Defendant RBI filed a motion to dismiss, adopting the arguments previously
made by THUSA in its motion to dismiss, and a motion to quash service of process on the grounds that
Plaintiff’s process server improperly attempted to effectuate service.

On June 22, 2020, Plaintiff filed a motion seeking leave to file a second amended complaint. The
motion was granted the same day. On June 25, 2020, Plaintiff filed its second Amended Complaint which
dropped all Defendants other than THUSA and Jose E. Cil, and which eliminated all causes of action other
than two counts seeking declaratory relief under the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act
(“FDUTPA”). The first FDUTPA count focuses on alleged misrepresentations made in THUSA'’s Franchise
Disclosure Document related to the use of advertising funds. In the second FDUTPA count, Plaintiff alleges
that, among other things, THUSA violated FDUTPA by marking up prices of goods and using advertising
funds for THUSA’s own benefit, contrary to what THUSA was permitted to do under the franchise
agreements. On July 31, 2020, THUSA and Cil filed motions to dismiss the second Amended Complaint.
On December 21, 2020, the Court granted the motions to dismiss. On January 4, 2021, Plaintiffs filed their
notice of appeal of the order granting the motions to dismiss. On February 16, 2021, THUSA filed a motion
with the lower court seeking an award of attorney’s fees. On April 27, 2021, the case was remanded by the
appellate court to the district court to decide whether the district court had subject matter jurisdiction in the
first instance. The parties have submitted their briefs, and on July 28, 2021, the Court determined on limited
remand that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction. The matter then went back before the appellate court, which
on December 1, 2021, ultimately vacated the orders granting the motion to dismiss and remanded to the district
court to dismiss the case without prejudice. On February 23, 2022, the district court dismissed the case without
prejudice.

On November 18, 2021, Plaintiff filed another complaint in state court in Florida (the “Second
State Court Lawsuit”) which includes many of the same allegations included in the last iteration of the
complaint filed in the Federal Court Lawsuit. In addition to bringing an identical claim for declaratory
relief, Plaintiff added a count seeking declaratory relief in the form of a judicial declaration finding that
Plaintiff is a third-party beneficiary of a settlement agreement between THUSA and an association of
Canadian franchisees. On December 13, 2021, THUSA filed a Motion to Stay or, in the Alternative, for
Extension of Time to Respond to Complaint which asked the court to either stay the action, or grant THUSA
an extension of time to respond to the complaint, sufficient to permit THUSA to obtain discovery responses
to written discovery requests related to Plaintiff’s activities in Florida. On January 26, 2022, Plaintiffs filed
their opposition to the motion to stay/motion for extension of time to respond to the complaint. THUSA
served its discovery requests on December 28, 2021, and a motion to compel discovery responses on
February 22, 2022. A hearing on the motion to compel is scheduled for March 29, 2022.

Unique Store Fixtures Ltd. v. The TDL Group Corp. and Restaurant Brands International Inc.,
(Court File No. CV-17-131254-600), Ontario Superior Court of Justice, filed June 6, 2017.

On June 6, 2017, Unique served Defendants with a Statement of Claim claiming (A) $20,000,000
for breach of contract; (B) $5,000,000 for misappropriation of intellectual property; (C) injunctive relief

Item 3
03/2022 Page 12



with respect to the intellectual property claim; and (D) $5,000,000 in aggravated and punitive damages.
On December 15, 2017, Defendants served Unique with a notice of motion to strike (A) RBI as a defendant
to the claim; (B) Unique’s claim of breach of fiduciary duty; (C) other claims by Unique for which Unique
has refused to provide particulars. Unique agreed to dismiss RBI and to amend the complaint against TDL
to remove the claims for breach of fiduciary duty. TDL filed a statement of defense against the amended
complaint on October 10, 2018. We are not a party to this litigation.

Samir Latifi v. The TDL Group Corp., (File No. VLC-S-S-198150), British Columbia Supreme
Court, filed July 30, 2019.

On July 30, 2019, TDL was served with a claim on behalf of the Plaintiff individually and all
restaurant employees of TDL and its Tim Hortons franchisees in Canada. In the complaint, the Plaintiff,
alleges that TDL violated the Competition Act by incorporating an employee no-solicitation and no-hiring
clause in the standard form franchise agreement all Tim Hortons® franchisees were required to sign. The
Plaintiffs seek damages pursuant to: the Competition Act, s. 36; torts of conspiracy; tort of unlawful means;
and punitive damages, as well as restitution of the benefits received by TDL and its franchisees or
disgorgement of the benefits received by TDL and its franchisees. An application to dismiss was successful
on the substantial points, including: the claim related to the Competition Act, concluding that section 45 of
the Competition Act, and thus section 36, only apply to “sell-side” agreements among competing suppliers
of products, not to “buy-side” agreements for the purchase of products; the contractual “restraint of trade”
doctrine (which sometimes applies to non-compete and non-solicitation clauses) could not provide the
“unlawful means” for advancing an in unlawful conspiracy claim, as the purpose of the doctrine is to protect
contracting parties, not strangers to contracts; and the claim for unjust enrichment, holding that breach of a
corporate policy alone, contrary to the Plaintiff’s assertion, cannot negate the juristic reason for any
enrichment that occurred in this case, the contractual obligations between the franchisor and its franchisees.
We are not a party to this litigation.

6646107 Canada Inc. v. The TDL Group Corp., (File No. CV-18-602701-000), Ontario Superior
Court of Justice filed August 21, 2018.

Plaintiff was a franchisee of TDL and operated three stores in Alberta. The franchise agreements
for the store located in Canmore, Alberta expired in late December 2016 and was not renewed by TDL (the
“Franchise Agreement”). The plaintiff sued TDL based on its decision not to renew the Franchise
Agreement. The statement of claim alleges that by not renewing the Franchise Agreement, TDL (a)
breached its contracts with Plaintiff, and (b) breached its common law and statutory duties of good faith
and fair dealing owed to Plaintiff and made misrepresentations to the Plaintiff. The claim seeks total
damages against TDL of $4,000,000 plus punitive damages, interest and costs. The Court struck the breach
of Franchise Agreement and associated good faith claims without leave to amend but maintained the breach
of the oral renewal agreement and the misrepresentation claims. Examinations have not yet been scheduled.
We are not a party to this litigation.

Provincial Store Fixtures Ltd. v The TDL Group Corp., (File No. CV-21-00662959-0000), Ontario
Superior Court of Justice, filed May 27, 2021.

On May 27, 2021, Provincial Store Fixtures Ltd. filed a Statement of Claim in the Ontario Superior
Court of Justice against The TDL Group Corp. (“TDL”). TDL was served with notice of this Statement of
Claim on June 2, 2021. Plaintiff is a former mill work manufacturer/supplier that we previously had
dealings with (and had moved away from). They are claiming damages of $1,500,000 on the basis of breach
of contract, unjust enrichment, and negligent misrepresentation arising from inventory allegedly purchased
on the basis of TDL’s projected demand and pre-negotiated bulk orders. They are also claiming additional
damages for costs incurred in storing this inventory since 2019. The parties are currently engaged in
settlement discussions. We are not a party to this litigation.

Item 3
03/2022 Page 13



Richer Desrosiers v. Groupe TDL Corp., (File No. 705-06-000010-216) Court Superieure of
Quebec, filed July 15, 2021.

On July 20, 2021, we become aware that Richer Desrosiers filed a class action against Groupe TDL
Corporation (TDL) on behalf of all physical persons who have participated in TDL’s FidéliTim loyalty
rewards program by earning loyalty reward points in the province of Quebec. Plaintiff alleges that the
clause regarding point expiration is not included in the October 28, 2020 program terms and conditions.
Plaintiff alleges that the expiration of loyalty reward points 12 months after the calendar month in which
they are earned violates the Quebec Consumer Protection Act (the “CPA”) and its regulations (the
“Regulations”), and is illegal. Plaintiff seeks compensatory damages, punitive damages and restitution of
loyalty reward points based on Defendant’s breach of its obligations under the CPA. Plaintiff alleges that
Defendant has deprived the class plaintiffs of their right to redeem points for eligible menu items and is
preventing them from earning points in a significant manner to then redeem them in the future. Plaintiff is
seeking (a) $75 per class member in compensatory damages, $50 per class member in punitive damages,
interest at the legal rate, and the additional indemnity provided by law; and (b) the return to each class
member of all expired points they would have earned as of February 7, 2020, or the equivalent value based
on an amount per point to be determined by the Court. We are not a party to this litigation.

Steve Holcman vs. Restaurant Brands International Inc., Restaurant Brands International Limited
Partnership and The TDL Group Corp, (File No. 500-06-001081-203), The Quebec Superior Court (Class
Action Division), filed on June 30, 2020.

A claim was filed against RBI, RBILP and TDL (collectively, “Tim Hortons”) on behalf of the
Plaintiff individually and all Quebec residents who downloaded the Tim Hortons mobile application. In the
complaint, the Plaintiff alleges that Tim Hortons violated (i) the Plaintiff’s privacy rights, (ii) the federal
Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act (PIPEDA), (iii) an Act respecting the
Protection of Personal and Private Information in the Private Sector, and (iv) Tim Hortons contractual
undertaking that the Tim Hortons app would only use its customers’ location while the application is open.
The Plaintiff seeks damages of $100 per class member pursuant to the Civil Code of Quebec (sections 3,
35 and 1457); Quebec Charter (sections 5 and 49); the Quebec Consumer Protection Act (sections 40, 41
and 219); an Act respecting the Protection of Personal and Private Information in the Private Sector
(sections 5 and 14) and; PIPEDA (section 5 and Schedule 1). We are not a party to this litigation.

Olympia Tile International Inc. vs. Restaurant Brands International Inc., The TDL Group Corp.,
Ricky Leem and Gesco Limited Partnership, (File No. CV-20-00648343-0000), Ontario Court of Justice
filed on September 25, 2020.

On September 25, 2020, Olympia Tile International Inc. Filed a Statement of Claim in the Ontario
Superior Court of Justice against Restaurant Brands International Inc., carrying on business as Tim Hortons,
The TDL Group Corp., Ricky Leem, and Gesco Limited Partnership, carrying on business as Savoia and
Savoia Canada. We were served with notice of this Statement of Claim on October 27, 2020. Plaintiff is
a former tile supplier that we previously had dealings with (and have recently move away from). They are
claiming damages of $3,500,000 and $500,000 in punitive damages on the basis of breach of contract,
intentional interference in economic relations, and fraudulent misrepresentation and conspiracy arising
from inventory allegedly purchased on behalf of us/our franchisees in reliance of our forecasted demand of
these tiles for our renovation program. There is no record of us asking for these tiles to be ordered nor do
we have a contract with Olympia. We received Plaintiff’s Response to our Demand for Particulars on April
14, 2021 and filed a Statement of Defence of Restaurant Brands International In., and The TDL Group
Corp. on June 28, 2021. We are not a party to this litigation.
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William Jung v. Restaurant Brands International Inc., Restaurant Brands International Limited
Partnership, The TDL Group Corp., Burger King Worldwide, Inc., Popeyes Louisiana Kitchen, Inc., and Radar
Labs, Inc., (File No. CV-20-00648562-00CP) Ontario Superior Court of Justice, filed on September 30, 2020.

A Statement of claim was served on November 6, 2020 against RBI, RBILP, TDL, Burger King
Worldwide, Inc., PLK (collectively, the “RBI Defendants”), and Radar Labs, Inc., on behalf of the Plaintiff
as representative plaintiff and any person resident in Canada, outside of Quebec, who downloaded, accessed
or had already downloaded one or more of the mobile applications of Tim Hortons, Burger King or Popeyes
into a mobile device on or after February 2019. In the claim, the Plaintiff is requesting (i) a declaration that
Radar Labs induced RBI Defendants to breach the terms of an agreement, (ii) an order prohibiting the
Defendants from collecting location data and other personal information in breach of privacy policies and/or
without properly disclosing information around collection and use, (iii) an order requiring certain alleged
wrongfully collected information be deleted, (iv) a declaration that there was a breach of various Consumer
Protection legislation, (v) a declaration that Defendants are liable for intrusion upon seclusion, and (vi) a
declaration that Defendants violated provincial privacy legislations.

The Plaintiff is seeking (a) statutory and general damages to be determined for breach of contract,
inducing breach of contract, breach of consumer protection legislation, breach of provincial privacy
legislation, and intrusion upon seclusion, (b) recovery of any amounts gained as a result of unfair practices
under section 18 of the Consumer Protection Act, and other provincial consumer protection legislation, (c)
exemplary and punitive damages of $30 million, (d) nominal and symbolic damages in an amount to be
determined, (e) prejudgment and post judgment interest, (f) costs on a substantial indemnity basis, and (g)
cost of administering the plan of distribution of the recovery of the action. The Court ordered a stay in this
matter. We are not a party to this litigation.

Arrington v. Burger King Worldwide, Inc., (Case No. 18-24128-CV-MARTINEZ/AOR), United
States District Court for the Southern District of Florida filed on March 15, 2019.

In October 2018 and November 2018, four separate class action complaints; Jarvis Arrington v.
Burger King Worldwide and Burger King Corporation, (Case No. 1:18-cv-24128-JEM), Monique Michel
v. Restaurant Brands International, Inc., Burger King Worldwide Inc., and Burger King Corporation, (Case
No. 1:18-cv-24304-JEM), Geneva Blanchard and Tiffany Miller v. Burger King Corporation and Burger
King Worldwide, Inc., (Case No. 1:18-cv-24576 — SCOLA/TORRES), and Sandra Munster v. Restaurant
Brands International Inc., Burger King Worldwide, Inc. and Burger King Corporation, (Case No. 1:18-cv-
24623 — RNS) were filed against BKC and various BKC affiliates (“Defendants™) in the U.S. District Court
for the Southern District of Florida. Plaintiffs allege that they have been employed at a BURGER KING®
restaurant at some point after 2010, and are filing the complaint individually and on behalf of all others
similarly situated. Plaintiffs allege that Defendants violated Section 1 of the Sherman Antitrust Act by
incorporating an employee no-solicitation and no-hiring clause in the standard form franchise agreement
all Burger King® franchisees must sign. Plaintiffs seek injunctive relief and damages for themselves and
other members of the class. On January 17, 2019 the Court issued an order consolidating all four cases. On
March 15, 2019 the Plaintiffs filed the Consolidated Complaint in the matter, and on April 19, 2019
Defendants filed a Consolidated Motion to Dismiss. The Plaintiffs filed an Opposition to the Motion to
Dismiss on May 23, 2019, and Defendants filed a Reply in Support of the Motion to Dismiss on June 10,
2019. The Court Granted the Motion to Dismiss on March 24, 2020. Plaintiffs filed a motion for leave to
amend their complaint on April 20, 2020, and the Defendants filed a motion opposing the motion for leave
to amend on April 27, 2020. On August 24, 2020 the court denied the Plaintiffs’ motion for leave to amend
their complaint. On September 22, 2020 the Plaintiffs filed a notice to appeal the Court’s decision to the
federal appellate court. A court ordered mediation was held on December 7, 2020 but the parties did not
reach a settlement. On January 27, 2021, the Defendants filed their answer in the case. In February 2021
the International Franchise Association and the Florida Chamber of Commerce filed separate amicus briefs
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in support of Defendants. The Plaintiffs filed their reply brief on March 17, 2021. The Court heard oral
arguments for this case on September 22, 2021. We are not a party to this litigation.

Wai Lam Jacky Law vs. Restaurant Brands International Inc. and Radar Labs, Inc., (File No. VLC-
S-5-207985), The Supreme Court of British Columbia, filed on August 13, 2020.

On August 13, 2020, a Notice of Civil Claim was filed against RBI and our vendor Radar Labs,
Inc. ("Radar") (collectively, the "Defendants™), on behalf of the Plaintiff individually and on behalf of all
persons residing in Canada who downloaded any mobile or tablet application owned, operated or powered
by software provided by either RBI or Radar, including, the Tim Hortons mobile application and the Burger
King mobile application, on or before June 29, 2020. In the complaint, the Plaintiff alleges that the
Defendants violated (i) the federal Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act
(PIPEDA), (ii) duties imposed by virtue of the Defendants privacy policies and privacy statements, (iii) the
Plaintiff's privacy rights, (iv) various provincial Privacy legislations, (v) various provincial Consumer
Protection legislations, and (vi) the Competition Act. The Plaintiff seeks damages for an unspecified
amount resulting from alleged violations of the above mentioned legislations; breach of trust; and/or
vicarious liability. We are not a party to this litigation.

City of Warwick Municipal Employees Pension Fund v. Restaurant Brands International, et al.,
(Case No. 655686/2020), Supreme Court of the State of New York for the County of New York, filed on
October 26, 2020.

On October 26, 2020, City of Warwick Municipal Employees Pension Fund, a purported
stockholder of RBI, individually and on behalf of all other stockholders similarly situated, filed a lawsuit
in the Supreme Court of the State of New York County of New York naming RBI and certain of its officers,
directors and affiliates as Defendants alleging violations of Sections 11, 12(a)(2) and 15 of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, in connection with the offering of securities by an affiliate in August and
September 2019. The complaint alleges that the shelf registration statement used in connection with such
offering contained certain false and/or misleading statements or omissions. The complaint seeks, among
other relief, class certification of the lawsuit, unspecified compensatory damages, rescission, pre-judgement
and post-judgement interest, costs and expenses. On December 18, 2020, the Plaintiffs filed an amended
complaint. RBI filed a motion to dismiss the complaint, on February 16, 2021 and the Plaintiffs filed a brief
in opposition to the motion in April 2021. We are not a party to this litigation.

Ashley Sitko and Ashley Couture vs. Restaurant Brands International Inc., (File No. CV-20-
00643263-00CP), Ontario Superior Court of Justice, filed on July 2, 2020.

On July 2, 2020, a Notice of Action was filed against RBI on behalf of the Plaintiffs as
representative plaintiffs and all persons residing in Canada who downloaded the Tim Hortons mobile
application on their phones or computing devices on or before June 29, 2020. In the Notice, the Plaintiff
alleges that TDL violated (i) the federal Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act
(PIPEDA), (ii) various Consumer Privacy legislation, (iii) the Competition Act, and (iv) various provincial
Privacy legislation. The Plaintiffs seek damages of $306 million resulting from alleged violations of the
above mentions legislations; waiver of tort; and or vicarious liability. We are not a party to this litigation.

PLK APAC PTE. Ltd. (“PLKA") and Restaurant Brands International, Inc. v. Popeyes Shanghai
Restaurant Management Co. Ltd.; TFI TAB Gida Yatirimlari A.S.; and TFI Asia Holdings B.V.,
(International Chamber of Commerce, International Court of Arbitration, ICC CASE NO. 26121/HTG)
filed on March 12, 2021.

On March 12, 2021, PLKA filed its initial Statement of Claim with the International Court of
Arbitration in Singapore seeking declaratory relief; specifically, a declaration that PLKA properly exercised
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its right to terminate the MFDA on December 7, 2020 following Respondent’s breach of the MFDA.
Respondents filed their initial Answer on May 24, 2021, containing their basic defenses, along with four
counterclaims with unspecified damages, and adding RBI as a party to the proceeding. Respondents have
alleged lost profits of $53,264,697, plus lost franchise income of $5,543,475. PLKA filed its Memorialized
Statement of Claim on July 8, 2021. Respondents filed their Memorialized Defenses and Counterclaims on
September 6, 2021. PLKA and RBI filed their Memorialized Defenses to Respondents’ Counterclaims and
Reply in support of PLKA’s Statement of Claim on December 16, 2021. Respondents’ Memorialized
Rejoinder and Reply to the Defenses to its Counterclaims was filed on February 28, 2022. The final hearing
in this matter is scheduled for May, 2022. We are not a party to this litigation.

Concluded litigation:

Tim Hortons USA, Inc. v. Tim-Minn, Inc. et al., (Case No. 17-24395-CIV-MORENO), U.S.
District Court for the Southern District of Florida, filed December 5, 2017, voluntarily dismissed December
11, 2017. THUSA sued Tim-Minn Inc. and 8 related corporate entities (collectively “Defendants”) for
money damages for breaches of written agreements between THUSA and Defendants, based on
Defendants’ collective failure to pay amounts owed under their written agreements. THUSA voluntarily
dismissed this lawsuit on December 11, 2017, after a settlement was reached between the parties.

1523428 Ontario Inc. v. The TDL Group Corp., (Court file No. CV-18-595714), Ontario Superior
Court of Justice, Toronto, Ontario. This action was commenced on April 12, 2018. Plaintiff was a franchisee
of TDL and operated two stores in Toronto, Ontario. Plaintiff commenced an action against TDL in
connection with its decision not to renew the Franchise Agreement for one of the stores. The statement of
claim alleged that by not renewing the Franchise Agreement, TDL a) breached its contract with Plaintiff
and, b) breached its common law and statutory duties of good faith and fair dealing owed to Plaintiff. The
claim was settled on August 15, 2018. We were not a party to this litigation.

Five Sumket Corp. v. The TDL Group Corp., Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta, Court File No.
1303 11168. This action was commenced in August 2013.

The dispute involves claims from the purchase by TDL of six Canadian restaurants from its former
franchisee, Five Sumket Corp. (“Sumket”). Sumket alleges that TDL did not pay the entire purchase price
for the Shops and that it is owed approximately $259,000.00 plus interest and punitive damages. TDL
answered and filed its counterclaim on October 24, 2013 denying the allegations of Sumket’s complaint
and alleging its own claims for breach of contract from the Offer to Purchase Agreement totaling over
$375,000.00. On November 13, 2013 Sumket delivered their Statement of Defense to Counterclaim. On
December 2018, the parties reached a settlement and the settlement agreement was executed on March 12,
2019. We were not a party to this litigation.

1523428 Ontario Inc. v. The TDL Group Corp., Tim Hortons Advertising and Promotion Fund
(Canada) Inc., Restaurant Brands International Inc., Daniel Schwartz, Elias Diaz Sese, Andrea John and
Jon Domanko, (Court File No. CV-17-577371), Ontario Superior Court of Justice. This action was
commenced on June 19, 2017.

The Plaintiff, 1523428 Ontario Inc. (“152"), is a franchisee of TDL of two Tim Hortons restaurants
in Toronto, Ontario. The action is brought by 152 against TDL, Tim Hortons Advertising and Promotion
Fund (Canada) Inc. (“THAPF”), the directors of THAPF (i.e., Elias Diaz Sese, Andrea John and Jon
Domanko), and RBI. and its Chief Executive Officer, Daniel Schwartz. The action is a proposed class
proceeding, and proposes to certify a class defined as “all persons who have carried on business as a Tim
Hortons franchisee in Canada under a franchise agreement or other form of operating agreement with TDL
at any time on or after December 15, 2014” (the “Proposed Class”). The suit alleges various causes of
action against the Defendants in relation to the advertising fund, including breach of contract and
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conversion for alleged improper charges to the advertising fund and failure to provide
statements/accounting of the operation of the fund, breach of the duties of good faith and fair dealing,
breach of trust and fiduciary obligations by the advertising fund directors, and oppression of the Proposed
Class in violation of the Canadian Business Corporations Act. The claim seeks an accounting of all moneys
in the fund as of December 15, 2014, and of receipts into and disbursements out of the fund since December
15, 2014, damages against the various Defendants ranging from $150-$500 million, including punitive
damages, interest and costs, and an order to return to the fund all moneys wrongfully expended from the
fund. The proceedings were brought by a single franchisee but are proceeding under the Class Proceedings
Act. On October 22, 2018 the claims against the Individuals, RBI and the Ad Fund were all struck, without
leave to amend. The parties entered into a settlement agreement dated March 6, 2019. The Court approved
the settlement agreement on April 29, 2019. We were not a party to this litigation.

JB & M Walker Ltd. and 1128419 Alberta Ltd. v. The TDL Group Corp., Restaurant Brands
International Inc., Daniel Schwartz, Sami Siddiqui, Andrea John and Jon Domanko, (Court File No. CV-
17-584058-O0CP), Ontario Superior Court of Justice, Toronto, Ontario. This action was commenced on
October 6, 2017. The Plaintiffs are franchisees of TDL with Tim Hortons restaurants in Mississauga,
Ontario and Lethbridge, Alberta. The action is a proposed class proceeding, and proposes to certify a class
defined as “all franchisees who have carried on business as a Tim Hortons’ franchisee under franchise
agreements any time on or after March 9, 2017” (the “Proposed Class”). The suit alleges various causes
of action against the Defendants in relation to the Great White North Franchisee Association, including
breach of the duties of good faith and fair dealing, interference with the franchisees right to associate, and
oppression of the Proposed Class in violation of the Canadian Business Corporations Act. The claim seeks
various declarations and damages against the various Defendants ranging from $100-$600 million,
including punitive damages, interest and costs. On October 22, 2018 the claims against the individuals and
RBI were all struck, without leave to amend. The parties entered into a settlement agreement dated March
6, 2019. The Court approved the settlement agreement on April 29, 2019. We were not a party to this
litigation.

Multi-Jurisdictional No-Poach Settlements

In February 2020, we entered into a Settlement Agreement with the states of Massachusetts,
California, Illinois, lowa, Maryland, Minnesota, New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania and Rhode Island.
At this same time, our affiliate, BKC entered into a Settlement Agreement with the states of Massachusetts,
California, lllinois, lowa, Maryland, Minnesota, New Jersey, New York, North Carolina, Oregon,
Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, Vermont and the District of Columbia and our affiliate PLK entered into a
Settlement Agreement with all of these states other than VVermont.

Each of these settlement agreements arose out of an investigation by the states Attorney Generals
regarding the alleged impact of the no-poach provision of the BKC, PLK and THUSA franchise agreement
which purportedly restricts franchisees from soliciting or employing each other’s employees in the franchise
agreements of BKC, PLK and THUSA. The states alleged that these provisions and their use violated state
antitrust laws, consumer protection laws and laws governing the free exercise of the right to contract for
employment. Although each of BKC, PLK and THUSA denied all allegations and each of them had already
removed the provisions from their current Franchise Agreement, BKC, PLK and THUSA entered into the
Settlement Agreement and, among other things, agreed to not enforce these provisions in existing franchise
agreements, notify their franchisees that they had entered into the settlements, attempt to get franchisees
with a no-poach provision in their franchise agreement to remove it, notify the Attorneys General of any
franchisees who failed to remove the provisions, post a notice at company-owned locations, and ask
franchisees to post a notice at their locations, indicating that these types of provisions are unenforceable.
Neither BKC, PLK or THUSA paid any money under the Settlement Agreements. These states are in the
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process of instituting actions in their courts to enforce the settlement agreements through Final Judgments
and Orders, Assurances of Discontinuance, Assurances of Voluntary Compliance and similar methods.

Other than these actions, no litigation is required to be disclosed in this Item.
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ITEM4
BANKRUPTCY

No bankruptcy information is required to be disclosed in this Item.
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ITEMS
INITIAL FEES

The initial franchise fee for each type of Shop is as follows:

Shop Type Amount of Initial Franchise Fee
Standard Shop..........cccovvveiieriiceccece e e $50,000
Non-Standard ShOP ......cccoceoveiiiniireeeeee $25,000

We generally do not waive or reduce the initial franchise fee for a Standard Shop, except under rare
and extraordinary circumstances or in connection with a program that we may be offering. The initial
franchise fee is non-refundable. Operators do not pay an initial franchise fee.

The initial franchise fee is payable when you sign the Franchise Agreement, unless we approve
otherwise.

Initial Training

You must attend and satisfactorily complete our initial training program before you may open your
Franchised Restaurant. The cost for this training is $2,000-$2,500 per person depending upon whether you
are a new or existing franchisee and the US/Canadian conversion rate. These training fees must be paid
before the training and are non-refundable. In exceptional circumstances, we may waive this training for
certain franchisees based upon their individual circumstances and experience level.

Equipment, Fixtures & Signage

In addition to the initial franchise fee, it is likely that (except for Operators) you will make additional
payments to us or our affiliates before opening a Franchised Restaurant for various equipment, fixtures and
signage that must be acquired by a Shop before its opening. For a Standard Shop, these items will range in
total cost from $60,000 - $435,000 and for a Non-Standard Shop from $20,000 to $77,000. Unless the
equipment delivered to you is defective or determined by us to be unnecessary, these amounts are non-
refundable. They must be paid upon receipt of an invoice for the items.

Under our Operator Agreement, you will pay us a security deposit at the time you sign the Operator
Agreement which ranges from $5,000 to $35,000 (depending on the value of the Tim Hortons Shop assets)
payable to us or our affiliate, which will be held during the term of the Operator Agreement. Within 15
business days after the end of our relationship, we will refund the security deposit to you, minus any
deductions to reimburse us for (i) monies owed by you to us; (i) repairs, maintenance, and/or replacement
to the Shop or assets which you were responsible to maintain and (iii) monies owed by you to third parties
incurred in connection with the operation of the Tim Hortons Shop and for which you are or may be
responsible.

Area Development Agreement

If you enter into an Area Development Agreement with us, you must prepay a portion of the initial
franchise fee ($25,000) multiplied by the number of Franchised Restaurants you commit to develop. This
amount is paid in installments with the first installment due and payable on the date of the Area Development
Agreement. The remaining amount is paid in installments over a 4 year period. It is deemed fully earned
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when paid. This amount is non-refundable but $25,000 of this amount will be credited against the then-
current initial franchise fee for each Franchised Restaurant opened by you (or your subsidiary or affiliate)
under the Area Development Agreement until exhausted. If you default under the Area Development
Agreement, then any remaining amount will be forfeited by you to us. These agreements are typically granted
only to sophisticated, highly experienced franchisees.

Other

We generally require that you construct a Franchised Restaurant on real estate that you own or lease.
If you are constructing a Franchised Restaurant on real estate that you own or lease, unless we approve
otherwise in writing, you must purchase all leasehold improvements and building components from a supplier
we have approved. In all instances, we or our affiliate or a supplier we approve will supply various equipment,
fixtures and signage. The cost will be site specific and will depend on the square footage of the Franchised
Restaurant, the existing condition of the Franchised Restaurant premises, and your choice of items to be
supplied. In rare circumstances, we may offer to construct all leasehold improvements and the cost of
leasehold improvements may be reflected in the rent for the Franchised Restaurant premises. In those
situations where we are selling a Franchised Restaurant constructed on real estate that we or one of our
affiliates own or lease, we or one of our affiliates will, in most situations, lease the Shop premises directly to
you, or lease the Franchised Restaurant premises from the landlord and then sublease the premises to you.
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ITEM 6
OTHER FEES

Franchise Agreement

1) ) ®3) (4)
Type of Fee ¥ Amount Due Date Remarks
Royalty 4.5% to 6% of Gross Sales? Thursday of each week | See Note 2
on the prior week’s
Gross Sales, ¥ but we
can change the day the
royalty payment is due
Advertising 4% of Gross Sales Within 10 days of the See Note 4
Contribution¥ end of each month on
the prior month’s Gross
Sales
Interest and Audit | Costs of audit plus interest As incurred See Note 5
Costs
Additional The materials fee will not As incurred See Note 6
training exceed $1,000 per person
Transfer fee 5% of the full purchase price Before transfer See Note 7
Indemnification Will vary with circumstances | As incurred See Note 8
Taxes Amount imposed on us by Payable upon receipt of | See Note 9
federal, state, and local tax invoice
authorities on any fees or
other amounts payable by you
to us
Maintaining Shop | Varies Reimburse us or pay See Note 10
premises in good directly to suppliers
repair
Refurbishing Shop | Varies As incurred See Note 11
Lease for Varies, but between 7% to Within 10 days of the See Note 12
Franchised 8.5% of Gross Sales for a end of each month on
Restaurant Standard Shop; and up to 13% | the prior month’s Gross
premises of Gross Sales for Non- Sales
Standard Shops. Must also
pay flow through charges such
as CAM, insurance, property
taxes, and our administrative
expenses of billing.
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) (2) @) (4)

Type of Fee ¥ Amount Due Date Remarks
Reorganization of | Our legal and administrative When invoiced by us
your business expenses incurred in

processing changes resulting
from the reorganization of
your business structure

Smart Store $450 to $1,050 per month As incurred See Note 13
charges

Approving Varies On Demand See Note 14
Suppliers

Requested by You

Inspection costs Varies As incurred See Note 15
and expenses

Products, Varies As incurred See Note 16

Supplies,

Equipment

Tim Horton Varies As incurred See Note 17
Children’s

Foundation

Background $280 - $15,000 As incurred U.S. applicants range
Check Fee typically between $280

- $1,000. International
applicants range from
$5,000 - $15,000

Brand Damage Amount of the next Upon demand If we terminate your
Fee installment of initial franchise Area Development
fees you were required to pay Agreement before
to us under the Area expiration. We can
Development Agreement also retain any initial
before the date of termination franchise fees paid
under Area
Development
Agreement
Notes:

Fees for Operators are described in a separate table which follows this table.

1/ All fees payable to us are non-refundable. These fees are uniformly imposed by us; however, we
may waive or modify a one-time fee (for example, a transfer fee) or may waive or reduce an
ongoing fee (for example, royalty or advertising contributions) for a defined period of time. We
may also reduce Royalty and Advertising Contribution paid by franchisees opening Franchised
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6/

Item 6
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Restaurants under the Area Development Agreement. We may require payment of these fees by
way of electronic funds transfer, through our ePay system or via Wire Transfer, under which the
due date for payment may be abridged as we determine.

The royalty is generally 6%, assuming that you have property control. Other franchisees may pay
reduced royalties from these amounts based on various factors.

If you are an area developer you will pay royalties, advertising contributions and initial franchise
fees that are the greater of the amount disclosed in our then-current Franchise Disclosure Document
at the time you sign each Franchise Agreement for a Franchised Restaurant and 6% of weekly Gross
Sales for royalties, 4% of weekly gross sales for advertising contributions and $50,000 initial
franchise fee for a 20-year term.

In the case of Standard Shops, Gross Sales means the total amount of all sales of all merchandise
and services of every kind and character, and all other receipts of business and both for cash and
on credit or any other consideration including all orders taken and merchandise or services sold on
or from the Franchised Restaurant or the Franchised Restaurant premises and filled or delivered
from any other store or place or any merchandise or services produced within the Franchised
Restaurant premises and sold on or from any other store or place, and all proceeds received from
any business interruption insurance with respect to the Franchised Restaurant.

In the case of Non-Standard Shops, Gross Sales means the total amount of all sales of all
merchandise and services of every kind and character, and all other receipts of business and both
for cash and on credit or any other consideration including all orders taken and merchandise or
services sold on or from the Franchised Restaurant or the Franchised Restaurant premises and filled
or delivered from the Franchised Restaurant, and all proceeds received from any business
interruption insurance with respect to the Franchised Restaurant.

However, in either case, Gross Sales does not include (i) an exchange of merchandise between your
Franchised Restaurants where the exchange is made solely for the convenient operation of your
business and is not the completion of a sale on or from the Franchised Restaurant or the Franchised
Restaurant premises; (ii) returns to shippers, manufacturers or suppliers; and (iii) sums collected
from customers for and paid to a taxing authority by you for retail sales, goods and services,
harmonized, excise or similar tax imposed by a governmental authority. You may deduct from the
computation of Gross Sales cash or credit refunds to customers for goods returned (but only if the
selling price of the goods returned is included in the computation of Gross Sales) and the selling
price of goods returned by customers for exchange (but only if the selling price of the goods
returned and the selling price of the goods delivered to the customers in exchange are included in
the computation of Gross Sales).

Please see Item 11 for details about your advertising contribution.

If you do not make a payment when due, or if you understate Gross Sales, you must pay us interest
from the date the payment was due until it is paid, at the maximum rate allowed by law, or if no
maximum rate is in effect under applicable law, then 18% per annum. In addition, if an audit is
required because you failed to furnish any required material, or if the audit discloses an
understatement of Gross Sales for any period, you also must reimburse us for the cost of the audit.
You must also, at our option, reimburse us for the cost of one inspection, investigation or audit per
year.

Please see Item 11 for details about training.
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13/
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The full purchase price reflects all consideration that the buyer pays to the seller for the Franchised
Restaurant. No transfer fee is charged if the transfer is from a sole proprietorship or partnership to
an entity in which the sole proprietor or the partners own all of the outstanding equity, or for a
transfer in the event of your death or disability, or for securities offerings as described in the
Franchise Agreement.

You must defend, indemnify and reimburse us, our subsidiaries, affiliated and parent companies
for all damages, losses, costs, and expenses, including attorneys’ fees, we or they incur as a result
of any claims arising directly or indirectly from your operation of the Franchised Restaurant, for
property damage and for injury, illness or death.

You must reimburse us for any sales, use or other tax or assessment (other than income taxes)
imposed on any fees or other amounts payable by you to us by federal, state and local tax
authorities.

You must pay for the operation, maintenance, and repair of the exterior and interior of the
Franchised Restaurant premises, including annual painting, and maintain and repair fixtures,
furnishings, equipment, signs, and décor, and all common operating costs where there are multiple
tenants.

We may require you to refurbish the Franchised Restaurant premises once every five (5) years. We
may also require you to improve, alter, and remodel the Shop at any time to bring it into
conformance with our plans, specifications and standards for new or remodeled Tim Hortons
Shops.

In limited circumstances where we or an affiliate have leased the Franchised Restaurant premises
and subleased the Franchised Restaurant premises to you, we may elect to have you pay flow
through rents as set out in the prime lease. In addition, you must pay real estate, personal property
and sales taxes; insurance; utilities; and common area maintenance (“CAM?”) charges. We may
also charge our administrative costs in re-billing any of these costs.

The Smart Store fees include estimates for Tim Card processing, transaction fees associated with
mobile order and pay orders, Tim Zone fees, training fees, and Technology and Support fees and
are all part of our Smart Store service package. The training fee covers access, use and support of
the training platform. Please see Item 8 for further details.

You must pay our reasonable expenses in evaluating any new suppliers you request. Please see
Item 8 for further details.

You must reimburse us for all reasonable costs and expenses, including service provider charges,
travel, and lodging, associated with: (i) up to 4 mystery guest inspections per year; (ii) testing of
samples of ingredients, products, materials, supplies, and paper goods; and (iii) inspections and
audits conducted by us to ensure compliance with the Franchise Agreement and applicable laws if
we believe you breached the Franchise Agreement (whether or not the inspection found any breach

by you).

We or an affiliate may sell to you various products, supplies and equipment. The cost for these
items will vary depending upon many factors including the type and quantity of the items. See
Items 5 and 8 for more information.
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17/ You must participate in any of the fundraising and charitable efforts of any Tim Horton Children’s
Foundation initiative, as specified from time to time by us and pay for the costs associated with
participating in such initiative.

Operator Agreement

1) ) ®3) (4)
Type of FeeV Amount Due Date Remarks
Operator Fee 20% to 24% of Gross Thursday of each week on | See Note 2
Sales the prior week’s Gross
Sales¥
Advertising 4% of Gross Sales Thursday of each week on | See Note 4
Contribution the prior week’s Gross
Sales¥
Additional The materials fee will not | As incurred See Note 5
Training exceed $1,000 per person
Taxes Amount imposed on us by | Payable upon receipt of See Note 6
federal, state, and local tax | invoice
authorities on any fees or
other amounts payable by
you to us
Insurance Varies Reimburse us or pay See Note 7
directly to insurer on the
due date
Utilities Varies Reimburse us or pay See Note 8
directly to insurer on the
due date
Operate and Varies Reimburse us or pay See Note 9
maintain Shop directly to supplier on the
premises due date
Lease for Shop Pay flow through rental Within 10 days of the end | See Note 10
premises charges and other flow of each month on the prior
through charges such as month’s Gross Sales
CAM, insurance, property
taxes, and our
administrative expenses of
billing
Smart Store $450 to $1,050 per month | As incurred See Note 11
charges
Iltem 6
03/2022
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1) ) () (4)

Type of FeeV Amount Due Date Remarks

Indemnification Will vary with As incurred See Note 12
circumstances
Interest and Audit | Costs of audit plus interest | As incurred See Note 13
Costs
Approving Varies On Demand See Note 14
Suppliers
Requested by
You
Reorganization Our legal and When invoiced by us
of your business administrative expenses
incurred in processing
changes resulting from the
reorganization of your
business structure
Inspection costs Varies As incurred See Note 15
and expenses
Products, Varies As incurred See Note 16
Supplies,
Equipment
Tim Horton Varies As incurred See Note 17
Children’s
Foundation
Background $280 - $15,000 As incurred U.S. applicants range
Check Fee typically between
$280 - $1,000.
International
applicants range from
$5,000 - $15,000

Notes:

1 All fees payable to us are non-refundable. We may require payment of these fees by way of
electronic funds transfer, through our ePay system or via Wire Transfer, under which the due date
for payment may be abridged as we determine.

2/ The Operator Fee could be as much as 24%. Whether your Operator Fee will be increased to an
amount above 20% depends on whether there are increased rental costs that we may incur for the
Shop’s premises.

Iltem 6

03/2022 Page 28



Item 6
03/2022

In the case of Standard Shops, Gross Sales means the total amount of all sales of all merchandise
and services of every kind and character, and all other receipts of business and both for cash and
on credit or any other consideration including all orders taken and merchandise or services sold on
or from the Tim Hortons Shop or the Tim Hortons Shop premises and filled or delivered from any
other store or place or any merchandise or services produced within the Tim Hortons Shop premises
and sold on or from any other store or place, and all proceeds received from any business
interruption insurance with respect to the Tim Hortons Shop.

In the case of Non-Standard Shops, Gross Sales means the total amount of all sales of all
merchandise and services of every kind and character, and all other receipts of business and both
for cash and on credit or any other consideration including all orders taken and merchandise or
services sold on or from the Tim Hortons Shop or the Tim Hortons Shop premises and filled or
delivered from the Tim Hortons Shop, and all proceeds received from any business interruption
insurance with respect to the Tim Hortons Shop.

However, in either case, Gross Sales does not include (i) an exchange of merchandise between your
Tim Hortons Shops where the exchange is made solely for the convenient operation of your
business and is not the completion of a sale on or from the Tim Hortons Shop or the Tim Hortons
Shop premises; (ii) returns to shippers, manufacturers or suppliers; and (iii) sums collected from
customers for and paid to a taxing authority by you for retail sales, goods and services, harmonized,
excise or similar tax imposed by a governmental authority. You may deduct from the computation
of Gross Sales cash or credit refunds to customers for goods returned (but only if the selling price
of the goods returned is included in the computation of Gross Sales) and the selling price of goods
returned by customers for exchange (but only if the selling price of the goods returned and the
selling price of the goods delivered to the customers in exchange are included in the computation
of Gross Sales).

Please see Item 11 for details about your advertising contribution.
Please see Item 11 for details about training.

You must pay all real estate taxes, personal property taxes and business taxes. We will pay the
appropriate tax authority as the real estate and personal property tax bills become due and
immediately invoice you for the full amount of taxes and assessments paid. The billed amount will
be posted to your portal account and collected within 30 days of posting. You must pay our
administrative costs in re-billing your real estate and personal property taxes. You must reimburse
us for any sales, use or other tax or assessment (other than income taxes) imposed on any fees or
other amounts payable by you to us by federal, state and local tax authorities.

You must pay the premium on all insurance policies covering the Tim Hortons Shop premises and
business.

Utilities expenses including heating and air conditioning, water, telephone, and similar operating
Costs.

You must pay for the operation, maintenance, and repair of the exterior and interior of the Tim
Hortons Shop premises, including annual painting, and maintain and repair fixtures, furnishings,
equipment, signs, and décor, and all common operating costs where there are multiple tenants.

You must pay all rental charges imposed by our landlord. Common Area Maintenance (“CAM”)
charges include common area insurance, landscaping, parking lot and common area maintenance,
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common area lighting and waste removal. If there is a landlord, we will remit these payments to
the landlord. We may also charge our administrative costs in re-billing any of these costs.

The Smart Store fees include estimates for Tim Card processing, transaction fees associated with
mobile order and pay orders, Tim Zone fees, training fees, and Technology and Support fees and
are all part of our Smart Store service package. The training fee covers access, use and support of
the training platform. Please see Item 8 for further details.

You must defend, indemnify and reimburse us, our subsidiaries, affiliated and parent companies
for all damages, losses, costs, and expenses, including attorneys’ fees, we or they incur as a result
of any claims arising directly or indirectly from your operation of the Shop, for property damage
and for injury, illness or death.

If you do not make a payment when due, or if you understate Gross Sales, you must pay us interest
from the date the payment was due until it is paid, at the maximum rate allowed by law, or if no
maximum rate is in effect under applicable law, then 18% per annum. In addition, if an audit is
required because you failed to furnish any required material, or if the audit discloses an
understatement of Gross Sales for any period, you also must reimburse us for the cost of the audit.
You must also, at our option, reimburse us for the cost of one inspection, investigation or audit per
year.

You must pay our reasonable expenses in evaluating any new suppliers you request. Please see
Item 8 for further details.

You must reimburse us for all reasonable costs and expenses, including service provider charges,
travel, and lodging, associated with: (i) up to 4 mystery guest inspections per year; (ii) testing of
samples of ingredients, products, materials, supplies, and paper goods; and (iii) inspections and
audits conducted by us to ensure compliance with the Franchise Agreement and applicable laws if
we believe you breached the Franchise Agreement (whether or not the inspection found any breach

by you).

We or an affiliate may sell to you various products, supplies and equipment. The cost for these
items will vary depending upon many factors including the type and quantity of the items. See
Items 5 and 8 for more information.

You must participate in any of the fundraising and charitable efforts of any Tim Horton Children’s

Foundation initiative, as specified from time to time by us and pay for the costs associated with
participating in such initiative.
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ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT

YOUR ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT

1. Standard Shop: New Model (Franchise Agreement)

Estimated Range To Whom
Ex -g)rllz?tafresl’ ] I\ggtr;sgnc;f When Due Payment is to be
Within 10 business
Initial days of when you sign
. 2 $50,000 $50,000 Lump Sum | the Franchise Tim Hortons
Franchise Fee?
Agreement and before
opening
Real Estate
Taxes, Tim Hortons, or
Personal As
$5,000 $70,000 Monthly other lessor or
Property Taxes Arranged sublessor
and CAM
Charges?
Within 30 days of the .
Equipment? $337,000 $375,000 As invoice date and before Tim Hortor_ls and
Arranged . other suppliers
opening
Lessor or
Real Estate® See Note 5 See Note 5 See Note 5 | See Note 5 sublessor or
Property Seller
Planning and Design costs owed to Government
Development As third parties are due Agencies and
and Design $20,000 $100,000 Arranged before your Franchised | approved service
Costs? Restaurant opens providers
Site As
Development $100,000 $230,000 A g | As Arranged Contractors
Costs?/ rrange
As Arranged/
Building As before your Franchised | Contractors and
Costs? $476,000 $504,000 Arranged | Restaurant’s equipment | Tim Hortons
order date
Tim Hortons and
- As suppliers of
9/
Training $20,000 $27,000 Arranged As Arranged transportation,
food, and lodging
Iltem 7
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Estimated Range

To Whom

Ex -g)r/]g?tzl:’esl/ } I\ggﬂ:;l)gn(:f When Due Payment is to be
p Low High y Made
Start-up
Supplies and As .
Initial $7,000 $14,000 Arranged As Incurred Suppliers
Inventory?
N et
and License $1,500 $10,000 As Incurred ’
FeestV Arranged government
agencies
As Tim Hortons,
Insurance®? $2,500 $21,500 Arranaed Annually Insurers or
9 Lessor/Sublessor
Security As i
Deposits¥ $0 $15,000 Arranged As Incurred Utilities, Lessor
Additional During the first 3 .
Funds¥ $25,000 $25,000 months of operation Various
TOTALY $1,044,000 $1,441,500
Footnotes follow all tables.
Standard Shop: Within Petro Locations (Franchise Agreement)
Estimated Range To Whom
Ex -g)r/l?j?tafresi’ ] I\ggtr:ggn(if When Due Payment is to be
Within 10 business days
Initial Franchise of when you sign the .
Fee? $50,000 $50,000 Lump Sum | £ oo i Agreement Tim Hortons
and before opening
Real Estate Taxes, Tim H
Personal Property As hl |rr]n Iortons, or
Taxes and CAM $1,000 $10,000 Arranged Monthly other lessor or
Y sublessor
Charges*?
As Within 30 days of the Tim Hortons,
Equipment? $60,000 $216,000 invoice date and before and other
Arranged . .
opening suppliers
Lessor or
Real Estate¥ See Note 5 See Note 5 See Note 5 | See Note 5 sublessor or
Property Seller

Item 7
03/2022
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Type of

Estimated Range

Method of

To Whom

. When Due Payment is to be
Expenditures¥ Low High Payment Made
Planning and Design costs owed to
Development and $15,000 $37,000 AS third parties are dug App_r oved .
. o Arranged before your Franchised service providers
Design Costs® R
estaurant opens
Site Development As
Costs? $0 $0 Arranged As Arranged Contractors
As Arranged/
ildi As before your Franchised Contractors and
Building Costs? 75,000 230,000 y \ .
J $ $ Arranged | Restaurant’s equipment | Tim Hortons
delivery date
Tim Hortons and
- As suppliers of
9/
Training $20,000 $27,000 Arranged As Incurred transportation,
food and lodging
Start-up Supplies As
and Initial $7,000 $14,000 A q As Incurred Suppliers
Inventory? rrange
ry
Attorneys,
Professional and As Accountants,
License Fees $1,500 $10,000 Arranged As Incurred government
agencies
As Insurers or
12/
Insurance $2,000 $7,500 Arranged Annually L essor/Sublessor
Security As e
Deposits? $0 $15,000 Arranged As Incurred Utilities, Lessor
Additional Funds | $15000 | $25,000 During the first 3 Various
months of operation
TOTALY $246,500 $641,500
Standard Shop: Other (Franchise Agreement)
Estimated Range To Whom
Ex -Drllz?tafresi’ i I\ggtr:]cq)gnc;f When Due Payment is to be
p Low High y Made
Within 10 business days
Initial Franchise $50.000 $50.000 Lump Sum of when you sign the Tim Hortons

Fee?

Franchise Agreement
and before opening

Item 7
03/2022
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Type of

Estimated Range

Method of

To Whom

: When Due Payment is to be
Expenditures¥ Low High Payment Made
Real Estate Taxes, Tim Hortons. or
Personal Property As X
Taxes and CAM $5,000 $70,000 Arranged Monthly other lessor or
By sublessor
Charges ®
As Within 30 days of the Tim Hortons,
Equipment? $258,000 $435,000 A invoice date and before | and other
rranged . .
opening suppliers
Lessor or
Real Estate¥ See Note5 | See Note5 | See Note5 | See Note 5 sublessor or
Property Seller
Planning and Design costs owed to
As third parties are due Approved
Dev_e Iopmente/and $20,000 $100,000 Arranged before your Franchised service providers
Design Costs®
Restaurant opens
Site Development As
Costs” $280,000 $500,000 Arranged As Arranged Contractors
As Arranged/
- As before your Franchised Contractors and
Building Costs? 290,000 864,000 y . :
Hing $ $ Arranged | Restaurant’s equipment | Tim Hortons
delivery date
Tim Hortons and
. As suppliers of
9/
Training $20,000 $27,000 Arranged As Incurred transportation,
food and lodging
Start-up Supplies As
and Initial $7,000 $30,000 As Incurred Suppliers
10/ Arranged
Inventory=
Attorneys,
Professional and As Accountants,
License Feest/ $1,500 $10,000 Arranged As Incurred government
agencies
As Insurers or
12/
Insurance $2,500 $21,500 Arranged Annually L essor/Sublessor
Security As A
Deposits¥ $0 $15,000 Arranged As Incurred Utilities, Lessor
Additional Funds¥ | $25,000 $40,000 During the first 3 Various
months of operation
TOTALY $959,000 $2,162,500
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2. Non-Standard Shop (Franchise Agreement)

Estimated Range To Whom
Ex Te)rllg(ietﬂfresl’ ] '\ggﬂ:ssnif When Due Payment is to be
p Low High y Made
Within 10 business days
Initial Franchise of when you sign the .
Fee? $25,000 $25,000 Lump Sum Franchise Agreement Tim Hortons
and before opening
Real Estate Taxes, Tim Hortons. or
Personal Property As X
Taxes and CAM $1,000 $10,000 Arranged Monthly other lessor or
Charaes sublessor
ges
As Within 30 days of the Tim Hortons,
Equipment? $20,000 $77,000 A invoice date and before and other
rranged . .
opening suppliers
Lessor or
Real Estate¥ See Note 5 See Note 5 See Note 5 | See Note 5 sublessor or
Property Seller
Planning and Design costs owed to
As third parties are due Approved
Dev_e Iopmente/and $10,000 $35,000 Arranged before your Franchised service providers
Design Costs® R
estaurant opens
Site Development As
Costs” $0 $0 Arranged As Arranged Contractors
As Arranged/
ildi As before your Franchised Contractors and
Building Costs® 10,000 50,000 y ( )
Hicing $ $ Arranged Restaurant’s equipment | Tim Hortons
delivery date
Tim Hortons and
- As suppliers of
9/
Training $6,000 $8,100 Arranged As Incurred transportation,
food and lodging
Start-up Supplies As
and Initial $3,500 $8,200 As Incurred Suppliers
10/ Arranged
Inventory=
Attorneys,
Professional and As Accountants,
License Feest! $1.500 $10,000 Arranged As Incurred government
agencies
As Insurers or
12/
Insurance $2,000 $7,500 Arranged Annually L essor/Sublessor
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Estimated Range To Whom
Ex -I;rzg?tzl;esl/ } I\Iggﬂ:;])(:nif When Due Payment is to be

p Low High y Made
Security As e
Deposits¥ $0 $15,000 Arranged As Incurred Utilities, Lessor

. During the first 3 .

14/

Additional Funds $15,000 $25,000 months of operation Various
TOTALY $94,000 $270,800

Footnotes follow all tables.

Notes:

1/

Item 7
03/2022

Except as otherwise noted, all amounts payable to us or our affiliates are non-refundable. As
explained in Item 1, the current approved image for our Franchised Restaurants is the Welcome
2021 image, which we refer to as the “New Model”. The ranges above reflect the estimated
investment for each type of Shop.

The initial franchise fee for a Standard Shop is $50,000. If you sign an Area Development
Agreement, you must prepay a portion of the initial franchise fee you would pay for each Tim
Hortons Shop you commit to develop under the Area Development Agreement upon signing the
Area Development Agreement, which amounts will be credited towards the initial franchise fee
payable by you as you develop Tim Hortons Shops under the Area Development Agreement until
exhausted. The initial franchise fee for a Non-Standard Shop is $25,000.

Real estate taxes, personal property taxes and CAM charges will vary considerably, depending on
the Franchised Restaurant’s location.

Equipment must conform to our specifications, which vary among Tim Hortons Shop types. This
expense covers items like bakery and display equipment, espresso machine and ancillary
equipment, other restaurant equipment, fixtures, signage, digital menu boards, drive thru
menu/preview boards, refrigerators, seating and installation and delivery. This estimate excludes
sales tax.

Real Estate costs vary considerably according to the type of Tim Hortons Shop, real estate values
in your area, your real estate interest (leasehold or ownership), location, size of the site, code
requirements and other factors, including labor, as well as whether you or your landlord develop
the Franchised Restaurant. A Standard Shop typically consists of approximately 500 to 3,000
square feet. The recommended size site for a Standard Shop is one-half acre to 1.5 acres. A Non-
Standard Shop/Kiosk will vary in size depending on the type of Non-Standard Shop and location.
Factors that typically affect your real estate costs include your cost to negotiate your lease (or buy
the property), fair market lease values and lease terms in your area, how the costs to renovate or
develop the land, building and other site improvements are allocated between landlord and tenant
and interest costs. Lease terms are individually negotiated and may vary materially from one
location or transaction to another. Because of the numerous variables that affect the value of a
particular piece of real estate, this initial investment table does not reflect the potential cost of real
estate.
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These costs are only applicable to newly constructed Franchised Restaurants, if you are developing
and will own or lease the property upon which the Franchised Restaurant premises are located.
This estimate includes, among other items, architectural, engineering and design fees, as well as
zoning and planning costs and building, health and fire permits. These estimates do not include
extraordinary costs due to extensive redesign, permitting, variances, environmental issues, legal
obstacles, geotechnical issues, etc.

These costs are only applicable to newly constructed Franchised Restaurants, if you are developing
and will own or lease the property upon which the Franchised Restaurant premises are located.
This estimate includes the costs to develop the land and other site improvements, such as exterior
landscaping, electrical and water hookup, paving, sidewalks, and lighting. Some local governments
may charge an additional amount for utility connections to offset their costs for maintaining water
and sewer plants; these amounts are not included in the estimate provided. Costs can be higher for
various reasons. For example, if extensive storm water retention and landscaping is required or soil
problems or other environmental issues are encountered. These ranges do not include unusual
offsite costs including costs to bring utilities to the property for hookup or government imposed
“impact fees”. Some local governments may also require a performance bond, which is not
included in the above estimate.

We have relied on third parties to provide these estimated costs. For new build Franchised
Restaurants, building costs include the cost to construct a building’s shell structure, systems, and
interior finishes prepped for installation of equipment. For remodel Tim Hortons Shops, these costs
include modifications to the existing exterior structure, systems and finishes, and interior finishes
to satisfy our current design standard. Adding a drive thru to any building type will increase the
Building costs. This range of costs does not include metropolitan or unique development areas or
special municipal building and zoning requirements that may present extraordinary acquisition
costs. Building costs will vary by geographic region.

You must attend and satisfactorily complete our initial training program before you may open your
Franchised Restaurant. In exceptional circumstances, we may waive this training for certain
franchisees based upon their individual circumstances and experience level. The fee for this
training varies based upon whether you are a new or existing franchisee or a branded partner. See
Item 5 for these fees. The estimated cost for training is per person and also includes the costs
incurred while attending the initial training program. The low estimate assumes two to three people
attending the training for 4 weeks and the high estimate assumes two to three people attending the
training for 6 weeks.

This estimate will cover our recommended opening inventory of food items, packaging, cleaning,
uniforms and other supplies.

These costs cover legal and accounting fees, and various licenses and permits like occupancy and
business licenses. If you are (with our approval) negotiating the purchase or lease of the Franchised
Restaurant premises, you should expect to pay approximately $7,000 for legal advice and services
you may need in connection with negotiating the purchase or lease of the Franchised Restaurant
premises. This does not include legal fees for services provided in conjunction with processing
and preparing necessary immigration documentation for non-U.S. citizens.

This estimate is for the first year’s insurance premium. If you lease or sublease your Franchised

Restaurant premises from us or one of our affiliates, you may be required to pay these insurance
expenses to us, and we will remit these payments to the insurer or landlord. If you own or lease
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the Franchised Restaurant premises from a third party, you must pay these expenses directly to the
insurer or landlord under your lease.

Security deposits may be required by the landlord, utilities, and suppliers.

You will need capital to support on-going expenses, such as cash float, payroll, utilities, and
telephone service, if these costs are not covered by Gross Sales. New businesses often generate a
negative cash flow. This amount also includes at a minimum credit card processing fees between
$400 to $3,000, financial management software costs of about $900, and guest Wi-Fi service fees
between $115 to $900 (if you purchase the Wi-Fi hardware, your costs for this fee will be at the
high-end of this estimate). This amount is an estimate, and we cannot guarantee that you will not
have additional expenses starting your business. Your costs will depend on factors like your
management skill, experience and business acumen, economic conditions, the local market for your
business, competition and the performance of your Franchised Restaurant. We relied on internal
financial records in estimating your needs for additional funds.

Total restaurant cost for New Model is based on restaurants built in Ohio. Costs will vary by
geographic region.
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3. Operator Agreement

Estimated Range To Whom
Ex -I(;)rll?j?tzfresl’ ] I\é:ﬂ:gsn(;f When Due Payment is to be
Start-up Supplies As
and Initial $1,000 $30,000 A q As Incurred Suppliers
Inventory? rrange
ry
E:fsloiztlate Taxes, As Tim Hortons or
$1,000 $22,000 Monthly other lessor or
Property Taxes and Arranged sublessor
CAM Charges?
Tim Hortons and
- As suppliers of
4/
Training $20,000 $27,000 Arranged As Arranged transportation,
food, and lodging
Attorneys,
Professional and As Accountants,
License Fees® $1,500 $10,000 Arranged As Incurred government
agencies
As Tim Hortons,
Insurance® $150 $21,500 Annually Insurers or
Arranged
Lessor/Sublessor
. . As Tim Hortons
7/ ,
Security Deposits $5,000 $35,000 Arranged As Incurred Utilities, Lessor
Additional Funds? $25,000 $40,000 During the first 3 Various
months of operation
TOTAL $53,650 $185,500
Footnotes follow all tables.
1 Except as otherwise noted, all amounts payable to us or our affiliates are non-refundable.
2/ This estimate will cover our recommended opening inventory of food items, packaging, cleaning,
uniforms and other supplies.
3/ Real estate taxes, personal property taxes and CAM charges will vary considerably, depending on
the Tim Hortons Shop's location.
4/ You must attend and satisfactorily complete our initial training program before you may open your

Tim Hortons Shop. In exceptional circumstances, we may waive this training for certain Operators
based upon their individual circumstances and experience level. The fee for this training varies
based upon whether you are a new or existing franchisee or a branded partner. See Item 5 for
these fees. The estimated cost for training is per person and also includes the costs incurred while
attending the initial training program. The low estimate assumes two to three people attending the
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training for 4 weeks and the high estimate assumes two to three people attending the training for
6 weeks.

These costs cover legal and accounting fees, and various licenses and permits like occupancy and
business licenses. If you are (with our approval) negotiating the purchase or lease of the Tim
Hortons Shop premises, you should expect to pay approximately $7,000 for legal advice and
services you may need in connection with negotiating the purchase or lease of the Tim Hortons
Shop premises. This does not include legal fees for services provided in conjunction with
processing and preparing necessary immigration documentation for non-U.S. citizens.

If you lease or sublease your Tim Hortons Shop premises from us or one of our affiliates, you may
be required to pay these insurance expenses to us, and we will remit these payments to the insurer
or landlord. If you own or lease the Tim Hortons Shop premises from a third party, you must pay
these expenses directly to the insurer or landlord under your lease.

Security deposits may be required by the landlord, utilities, and suppliers. Operators must furnish
a security deposit to us. The security deposit for Operators will be refunded (less any chargeable
expenses as described in the Operator Agreement) when these agreements are terminated.

You will need capital to support on-going expenses, like cash float, payroll, utilities, and telephone
service, if these costs are not covered by Gross Sales. New businesses often generate a negative
cash flow. This amount also includes at a minimum credit card processing fees between $400 to
$3,000, financial management software costs of about $900, and guest Wi-Fi service fees between
$115 to $900 (if you purchase the Wi-Fi hardware, your costs for this fee will be at the high-end
of this estimate). This amount is an estimate, and we cannot guarantee that you will not have
additional expenses starting your business. Your costs will depend on factors like your
management skill, experience and business acumen, economic conditions, the local market for
your business, competition and the performance of your Tim Hortons Shop. We relied on internal
financial records in estimating your needs for additional funds.

4867-2815-9236, v. 5
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ITEM 8
RESTRICTIONS ON SOURCES OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

Except for Non-Standard Shops located at institutional sites, or if you are purchasing a Tim Hortons
Shop from us, you or your affiliate must purchase or lease the Franchised Restaurant premises directly from
a third party, subject to our approval. If we or our affiliate own or lease the Franchised Restaurant premises,
you must lease or sublease the Franchised Restaurant premises from us or an affiliate. For subleases, we or
our affiliate will usually charge rent as a percentage of sales in addition to a base rent which is an amount
in excess of the amount we are obligated to pay to the landlord as lessee. For leases, we or our affiliate will
usually charge rent based upon our receipt of a competitive rate of return on our investment.

You must operate your Franchised Restaurant in strict conformance with our standards and
operating procedures. These standards and operating procedures are described in the Tim Hortons
Confidential Operating Manual (“Manual”). The Manual consists of, collectively, all manuals, guides,
bulletins, memoranda, notices, audio or video and on-line training materials, computer media, or other
publications, documents, or electronic communications (i.e., Internet or e-mail) that provide information,
advice, standards, requirements, operating procedures, instructions, or policies about the operation of the
Franchised Restaurant. We may, in writing, revise the Manual, or any portion of it, at any time.

Unless we permit you to do otherwise, you must purchase or lease all products, fixtures,
furnishings, building components, equipment, including point of sale systems, ordering systems and
customer communication systems, decor, signs, paper goods, containers, cartons, packaging, supplies, and
smallwares and other utensils, services, including project management services, product ingredients,
insurance and other items installed in, used, or sold by the Franchised Restaurant (“Items™) solely from
suppliers who have been approved by us and all these Items must meet our specifications. We can designate
ourselves, our affiliates or a third party as the sole supplier for any Item. All or a significant percentage of
the Items used or sold by your Franchised Restaurant may be restricted to a single supplier. As used in this
disclosure document, the term “suppliers” includes manufacturers, distributors and wholesalers. We may
derive revenues from your purchase of Items from us, our affiliates and other approved suppliers. We and
our affiliates may charge what we consider to be a reasonable mark-up on items sold to you.

If you want to purchase any Items for which we have not approved a sole supplier, from a supplier
who is not currently approved by us, you must submit to us a request for approval using our electronic form,
together with evidence of conformity with our specifications as we may require, or you may ask the supplier
to do so. The supplier must demonstrate, to our continuing satisfaction, the ability to meet our standards
and specifications for the Items, agree to our required Master Terms and Conditions of Supply or services
agreement, and possess adequate quality controls and capacity to supply the Items promptly and reliably.
We can inspect and evaluate the supplier’s facilities and products to be supplied, and you or the supplier
must pay, in advance, all of the estimated reasonable expenses of doing so, with a final payment adjustment
made after completion of the inspection and evaluation. We also may conduct laboratory testing of product
samples at the supplier’s expense, and test market products in existing Tim Hortons Shops. Suppliers also
must provide us with the detailed formulae and preparation instructions for any food products, and detailed
specifications for any packaging materials, such as paper or cardboard specifications. Suppliers must also
provide us with evidence of satisfactory insurance coverage for product liability, including naming us as an
additional insured under their insurance coverage. We generally decide whether to approve a supplier
within 6 months after receipt by us of all information we request. When approving suppliers, we consider
their financial condition, capability to comply to our quality and safety standards, technical ability,
reputation, references, nutritional information of products and their ability to provide goods or services
consistently and in a timely manner to a large number of Tim Hortons Shops and/or whether approval will
undermine special pricing benefits available to other Tim Hortons Shops from existing suppliers.
Otherwise, our criteria for approving suppliers is not available to franchisees and Operators. We may deny
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approval of any suggested suppliers if we determine, in our sole discretion, that the product proposed to be
provided does not meet our specifications or the supplier does not meet then-current Tim Hortons System
standards and criteria for approving new suppliers, and we may revoke approval of a previously approved
supplier if we determine, in our sole discretion, that the product or supplier no longer meets these standards.
For example, this determination may be made if the supplier is not competitive, is unable to supply products
in a consistent and reliable manner, or the products supplied are of inconsistent or inadequate quality. Upon
receipt of written notice of revocation, you must immediately cease purchasing from any disapproved
supplier.

Unless you have express approval to do otherwise, we estimate that the purchases from approved
suppliers will represent approximately 100% of your total purchases and leases in establishing your
Franchised Restaurant and 95% of your total purchases and leases in the continuing operation of the
Franchised Restaurant, and that purchases in accordance with our specifications where no approved
suppliers have been identified will represent approximately 0% of your total purchases and leases in
establishing your Franchised Restaurant and 5% of your total purchases and leases in the continuing
operation of the Franchised Restaurant.

As of the date of this disclosure document, we and TDL have an arrangement with third-party
distributors under which the distributors provide the benefits of a warehousing and distribution system for
all Tim Hortons Shops. We purchase certain paper products, uniforms, coffee, food products (such as baked
goods including donuts and Timbits® and proteins, including chicken fajita strips and beef steak), certain
beverages, certain cleaning supplies, packaging and equipment (“Selected Goods”) from TDL and from
other affiliated and non-affiliated suppliers and then re-sell these items to a distributor. TDL also purchases
certain goods -- such as smallwares -- (“Articles”) from non-affiliated suppliers and then re-sells these
Articles to a distributor. These distributors, in turn, sell these Selected Goods and Avrticles to the Tim
Hortons Shops. As of the date of this disclosure document, these distributors were the only parties
authorized by us to distribute Selected Goods and Atrticles to the Tim Hortons Shops. We, TDL, and any
affiliates from whom we or TDL may purchase Selected Goods or Articles will derive revenue from sales
of Selected Goods and Articles to these distributors. We also have an unaffiliated sole supplier for certain
food, beverages and equipment including soda products, certain cleaning supplies, and digital menu boards.
You may only serve the brands and types of soda we specify.

We have a technology strategy we refer to as “Smart Store,” that seeks to integrate a package of
computer and electronic financial, operations, mobile order and pay (paid directly to the credit card
processor), and training programs and services that are used by Tim Hortons Shops. These programs and
services include point-of-sale (POS) systems, computer equipment, computer and digital menu board
software, equipment for internet, Wi-Fi, credit card processing equipment and stored value gift card
equipment. Franchisees and Operators are obligated to secure these programs and services, and use the
vendors that we designate to provide certain on-going maintenance, service and support for these programs
and services.

We or an affiliate, as identified below, are currently the sole supplier of the following:

1. Tim Card Gift Cards - You will sign a Tim Card Addendum with us and a contract with
the provider. You will also sign an amendment to the Tim Card Addendum if you are
selling Cold Stone products at your location. Copies of these documents are attached at
Exhibit F and within the Cold Stone Addendum at Exhibit J.

2. TimZone System - Web-based communication portal and e-mail system known as the
“TimZone.” TimZone allows us, among other things, to advise (via e-mail or portal) about
future promotions and other information related to the Tim Hortons System and/or of
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interest to franchisees and Operators, and allows you to, among other things, transmit sales
data to us and to send you invoices and electronic fund transfer notices.

3. Tim Hortons System’s Technology Infrastructure and Credit Equipment - Through this
package of services, we provide you with a technology package with a black box, training
content and support, a digital menu board equipment warranty, and credit card equipment
support.

We can cancel or modify any of the above-described programs as well as substitute other approved
suppliers at any time.

Officers of THUSA own publicly traded shares of certain suppliers of approved products to the
TIM HORTONS® System. Those suppliers are: Kraft Heinz Foods Inc. and Graphic Packaging
International, Inc.

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, we had revenues of $37,837,927, of which
$4,327,296, or approximately 11%, represented franchisees’ and Operators’ purchases or leases from us
(including $1,227,178 in equipment leases). Our affiliate, Tim Donut U.S. Limited, Inc. had revenues of
$52,407,608 from leases and subleases with franchisees. Our affiliate, The TDL Group Corp. had revenues
of $6,880,939 from franchisee and Operator purchases. Our affiliate, THD Coffee Co., and its successors,
had revenues of $11,477,044 from product purchases from franchisees and Operators. All of this
information comes from the applicable party’s internal financial records.

We or our affiliate occasionally receive rebates, commissions, allowances and other benefits from
various suppliers, including the third party distributors disclosed above, as a result of our, our affiliate’s or
our franchisees’ purchases from these suppliers and distributors. We and our affiliate retain these rebates,
commissions, allowances and other benefits. Although not directly related to required purchases or leases
by franchisees, we do receive sponsorship revenue from suppliers in connection with our annual franchise
convention.

We have negotiated purchase arrangements with suppliers. In doing so, we seek to promote the
overall interests of the Tim Hortons System and our interest as the franchisor. Franchisees and Operators
are not required to purchase from suppliers with whom we have negotiated purchase arrangements, unless
we have designated the supplier as the only approved source for the Item.

We do not have purchasing or distribution cooperatives. We do not provide material benefits to
franchisees or Operators based on a franchisee’s or Operator’s purchase of particular products or services
or use of particular suppliers.

All advertising and promotion by you must be in the media and of the type and format as we may
approve, must be conducted in a dignified manner, and must conform to the standards and requirements we
specify. Please see Item 11 under the heading “Advertising” for information about the procedure to obtain
our approval for advertising and promotional materials prepared by you.

All fixtures, furnishings, equipment, required computer or communications hardware and software,
real estate leases, and insurance will already be in place in a Tim Hortons Shop to be operated by an
Operator or franchisee.

You may construct your own Franchised Restaurant only after receiving all necessary franchise,
site and design approvals to do so from us. If you are approved to construct your own Franchised
Restaurant, the design must be completed (sealed) by a design firm approved by us and must meet our
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standards. Upon our request, you must use an approved project management service for the construction
of your Franchised Restaurant. You must prepare a site survey and your construction plans and
specifications for the Franchised Restaurant’s site and building to ensure that they comply fully with all
applicable ADA and similar rules, other applicable ordinances, building codes, permit requirements, and
lease requirements and restrictions. We must review and approve all final construction plans and
specifications before you begin constructing the Franchised Restaurant and all revised or “as built” plans
and specifications during construction. Our review is only to ensure your compliance with our design
requirements. You are ultimately responsible for ensuring that your design meets all applicable laws. We
may inspect the Franchised Restaurant during its construction. Once the Franchised Restaurant is
constructed, we must approve any renovations.
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ITEM9
FRANCHISEE’S OBLIGATIONS

This table lists your principal obligations under the franchise and other agreements. It will
help you find more detailed information about your obligations in these agreements and in other
items of this disclosure document.

Obligation

a. Site selection and
acquisition/lease

b. Pre-opening
purchases/leases

C. Site development and
other pre-opening
requirements

d. Initial and ongoing
training
e. Opening
Iltem 9
03/2022

Section in Agreement

8 1.02 - 1.03, and Key Contract Data
Page of the Franchise Agreement;

8§ 3 of the Operator Agreement;

§ 8.1 of the Asset Purchase Agreement;
Art. VI of the Area Development
Agreement

§5.02, 5.07,5.09 and 5.12 of the
Franchise Agreement;

§ 3 and 4 of the Operator Agreement;
All of the Asset Purchase Agreement
Art. VI and VII of the Area
Development Agreement

§1.02 - 1.04 and 5.02 — 5.03, 8.04 of
the Franchise Agreement;

§ 2, 3, and 4 of the Operator
Agreement; Art. 111, V, VI, VII of the
Area Development Agreement

§1.04,5.03-5.05, 11.03, 12.02, 13.02
of the Franchise Agreement;
8§ 2 and 3 of the Operator Agreement

§ 1.03, 1.04 and 5.02 — 5.04, and Key
Contract Data Page of the Franchise
Agreement; Art. 111, V, VI, VII of the
Area Development Agreement;

§ 2 and 3 of the Operator Agreement

Disclosure Document
ltem

Items 1, 10 and 11

Items 5, 7, and 8

Items 7, 8, and 11

Item 11

Item 7,11
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Obligation Section in Agreement Disclosure Document
Iltem

f. Fees §3.01, 4.01 - 4.09, 5.03, 5.05, 5.07, Items 5, 6, 7, 8, and 11
5.09, 5.11, 7.06, 8.04, 9.09, 10.04,
10.05, 11.03, 12.03, 13.08, 13.11,
15.01, 15.02, 16.02, 17.18 and 22.01,
and Key Contract Data Page of the
Franchise Agreement;
83,5,7,8,9.3, 16.8, and Key Contract
Data Page of the Lease/Sublease;

8 4 and 8.2 of the Asset Purchase
Agreement;

Art. I, VII, VI, X, XIIl of the Area
Development Agreement;

8 4, 6, and 10 of the Operator
Agreement

g. Compliance with §5.01 -5.20, 6.08, 7.01 - 7.06, 8.03 — Items 8, 11, 14 15, and
standards and 8.06, 9.01, 9.09, 10.03, 12.01, and 12.02 16
policies/Operating of the Franchise Agreement;
Manual Art. VI, VII, and IX of the Area
Development Agreement;
8 5 of Lease/Sublease;
8 3 of the Operator Agreement

h. Trademarks and §1.01, 5.01, 5.08, 5.12, 5.20, 6.01 - Items 13 and 14
proprietary information  6.13, 7.01 - 7.06, 8.06, 12.02, 13.05,
and 13.12 - 13.13 of the Franchise
Agreement;
8 3 of the Operator Agreement;
Art. I11, IX, X of the Area Development
Agreement

i. Restrictions on §5.01, 5.06 -5.07,5.09, 5.13,5.15 - Items 8 and 16
products/services 5.16, and 5.20 of the Franchise
offered Agreement;
8 5 of Lease/Sublease;
8 3 of the Operator Agreement

J- Warranty and customer 8 5.04 and 5.09 — 5.10 of the Franchise ~ Not applicable
service requirements Agreement;
§ 3 of the Operator Agreement

k. Territorial development  § 8.4 of the Asset Purchase Agreement;  Item 1 and 12
and sales quotas Art. 1, I, V, VI, Schedule 1, Exhibit B
of the Area Development Agreement
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Obligation

. Ongoing
product/service
purchases

m. Maintenance,
appearance and
remodeling
requirements

n. Insurance

0. Advertising

p. Indemnification

g Owner’s participation/

management/staffing

Item 9
03/2022

Section in Agreement

§ 5.07 of the Franchise Agreement;
8 3 and 4 of the Operator Agreement
Art. VIII of the Area Development
Agreement

§5.06, 5.08 -5.12, 5.16, 5.20, 6.09,
12.01, and 21.01 of the Franchise
Agreement;

§ 2.4, 4, and 5 of Lease/Sublease;

8 15 of the Asset Purchase Agreement;
8§ 3 and 4 of the Operator Agreement

8 6.2, 6.4 of the Area Development
Agreement

§ 10.01 — 10.06 of the Franchise
Agreement;

8§ 4 and 5 of the Lease/Sublease;

8 9 of the Asset Purchase Agreement;
§ 4 of the Operator Agreement

8 13.4 of the Area Development
Agreement

84.04,5.12,5.20, 6.01 - 6.13, and 8.01
—8.06 of the Franchise Agreement; 8 6
of the Operator Agreement;

Art. I, VII, X of the Area Development
Agreement

§ 1.03, 5.04 10.02, and 16.02 and
Attachment A of the Franchise
Agreement;

8 3.3, 8, and 16 of the Lease/Sublease;
8§ 2(d) of the Owner’s Guaranty;

§ 16 of the Asset Purchase Agreement;
Art. XIII and 814.70f the Area
Development Agreement;

8 3 and 7 of the Operator Agreement

§ 5.04, 13.02, and 13.04 of the
Franchise Agreement;
8 1, 3, and 7 of the Operator Agreement

Disclosure Document

Iltem

Items 6, 8, 11, and 16

Items 6, 8, and 11

Items 6, 7, and 8

Items 6, 7, 8, and 11

Item 6

Item 15
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Obligation

r.

W.

Item 9
03/2022

Records/reports

Inspection/audits

Transfer

Renewal

Post-termination
obligations

Non-competition
covenants

Section in Agreement

§4.03, 4.04,5.11, 9.00 — 9.10 of the
Franchise Agreement;

§ 3and 9.1 of the Lease/Sublease;

8 3 and 6 of the Operator Agreement
Art. VIII of the Area Development
Agreement

§5.14, 6.12, 9.03, and 9.09 of the
Franchise Agreement;

8 2, 3,5, and 16 of the Lease/Sublease;
8§ 3 and 6 of the Operator Agreement

§ 11.01 — 11.07, and 12.02 of the
Franchise Agreement;

§ 13 of the Lease/Sublease;

Art. XI of the Area Development
Agreement;

8 9 of the Operator Agreement

§ 2.02 and Key Contract Data Page of
the Franchise Agreement;
§ 2 of the Lease/Sublease

§6.02 - 6.03, 6.06, 6.08, 9.09, 12.03,
13.05 - 13.06, 13.09, 13.12 - 13.13,
13.19, and 17.23 of the Franchise
Agreement;

82,9, and 16.7 of the Lease/Sublease;
Articles VII, VIII, X
§5.3,7.6,9.2,9.3,13.1, 18.10 of the
Area Development Agreement;

§ 3, 11, and 14 of the Operator
Agreement

§6.11, 13.05 - 13.18, and 17.21 of the
Franchise Agreement;

Art. X of the Area Development
Agreement;

8§ 3 and 14 of the Operator Agreement

Disclosure Document

Iltem

Item 6 and 11

Items 6 and 11

Item 17

Item 17

Item 17

Item 17
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Obligation Section in Agreement Disclosure Document
Iltem

X. Dispute resolution § 17.14 — 17.18 of the Franchise Item 17
Agreement;
8§ 20.10 of Asset Purchase Agreement;
8 18.4 of the Area Development
Agreement;
8 3 of the Operator Agreement;
8 17.1 and 17.4 of the Lease/Sublease

y. Other: Guarantee of 8 14.01-03 and Attachment A of the Item 22
Obligations (Note 1) Franchise Agreement;
8§ 13 and Attachment C of the Operator
Agreement
Art. X1V of the Area Development
Agreement

Unless otherwise stated, references in the table to the Franchise Agreement, Lease/Sublease and Operator
Agreement apply to both types of Shops.

1. If you transfer your Franchise Agreement to an entity or partnership, or you are an entity or
partnership, all of your owners must personally guaranty all obligations under the Franchise
Agreement and indemnify us and our affiliates for any losses we or our affiliates incur, and any
actions we commence, based upon failure to comply with the Franchise Agreement. The
Owner’s Guaranty is attached to the Franchise Agreement. The Owner’s Guaranty is attached to
the Operator Agreement. If you sign an Area Development Agreement, your owners must sign
the Area Development Agreement as guarantors, and as such will guarantee all obligations under
it, including all obligations under any Franchise Agreements granted pursuant to it, and be
personally bound by various of its provisions.
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ITEM 10
FINANCING

If you lease/sublease your Tim Hortons Shop premises location from us or an affiliate the terms of
the lease or sublease will be site-specific. If we construct the leasehold improvements and install all
necessary fixtures, furnishings, signs, and equipment, the rent may reflect the cost of leasehold
improvements. The standard form of lease/sublease is attached as Exhibit E.

Neither we nor any affiliate of ours offers financing to our franchisees or arranges for financing for
our franchisees from other sources. We do not guarantee your notes, leases, or obligations to third parties.
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ITEM11
FRANCHISOR ASSISTANCE, ADVERTISING, COMPUTER SYSTEMS AND TRAINING

Except as listed below, we are not required to provide you with any assistance:
Pre-Opening Obligations

1. We will provide an initial training program to two of your employees. (Franchise
Agreement, Sections 3.01(d) and 5.03; Operator Agreement, Sections 2 and 3)

2. We will provide advice as we deem advisable regarding the construction of the Franchised
Restaurant to meet our plans and specifications (if the Franchised Restaurant is constructed, equipped, and
furnished by you) or we will as we deem advisable construct, equip, and furnish the Franchised Restaurant,
but you will be responsible for our costs to do so (if we construct, equip, and furnish the Franchised
Restaurant). (Franchise Agreement, Section 3.01)

3. We may provide franchisees or Operators operating their first Tim Hortons Shop certain
on-site pre-opening and opening assistance, which may be with or without charge. The timing, nature, and
duration of this assistance will be at our sole discretion. We do not need to provide to you any pre-opening
and opening assistance under the Franchise Agreement or Operator Agreement if you or one of your
affiliates is a franchisee of an existing Tim Hortons Shop. (Franchise Agreement, Section 3.01(e) and (g);
Operator Agreement, Section 3)

4. We will provide you access to the Confidential Operating Manual. The information
contained in the Manual will remain our property. (Franchise Agreement, Section 3.01(h) and Article VII;
Operator Agreement, Section 3)

5. Under the Operator Agreement, we will provide Operators with a fully operational Tim
Hortons Shop, including fixtures, equipment, and other tangible personal property identified in the specific
Operator Agreement. (Operator Agreement, Recital A and Section 1)

6. If you lease the Franchised Restaurant premises from anyone other than us or our affiliate
or an entity that you are affiliated with, we must approve the lease terms and you must have the Lease Rider
attached to the Franchise Agreement signed by the landlord or sublandlord of the premises. You must
deliver a copy of your lease to us for our approval at least 10 business days before you sign it. You must
also provide us with a copy of your lease for the Franchised Restaurant premises and the Lease Rider within
10 days after each is fully signed. Any lease for the Franchised Restaurant premises must include provisions
to protect our interests as a franchisor in the property. We have no liability to you regarding the terms or
negotiation of the lease you sign directly with a landlord or sublandlord. (Franchise Agreement, Section
1.03)

7. If you own or lease your Franchised Restaurant premises directly or through an entity
affiliated with you, you or your affiliated entity that owns the property must sign our Lease Option
Agreement, the form of which is attached at Exhibit L. Under the Lease Option Agreement we can lease
the Franchised Restaurant premises from you or your affiliated entity (as applicable) if the Franchise
Agreement is terminated or expires. (Lease Option Agreement, Section 2.) Your affiliated entity must also
provide these same rights afforded to us within any lease or sublease for the Franchised Restaurant
premises. (Lease Option Agreement, Section 1.)
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8. Under the Area Development Agreement, we will provide to you a development schedule
for the number of Franchised Restaurants within the Territory you must open and the periods in which you
must open them. (Area Development Agreement, Section 1.1.61 and Acrticle 111 and V)

9. Under the Area Development Agreement, for each Franchised Restaurant to be developed
by you (or your subsidiary or affiliate), we will grant or deny approval for the Franchised Restaurant based
on, at the relevant time, our standard franchise approval criteria, including without limitation, operational
financial, credit, and legal criteria. (Area Development Agreement, Article V1)

Continuing Obligations

1. We will make available additional training programs as we determine during the term of
the Franchise Agreement or Operator Agreement. (Franchise Agreement, Section 5.05; Operator
Agreement, Section 3)

2. We may revise the Manual to incorporate changes. (Franchise Agreement, Sections 3.01
and 7.04; Operator Agreement, Section 3)

3. We may conduct, when and as frequently as we deem advisable, up to 4 inspections per
year of your Franchised Restaurant; testing of samples of ingredients, products, materials, supplies, and
paper goods from your Franchised Restaurant; and periodic inspections and audits of your Franchised
Restaurant to ensure compliance with the Franchise Agreement (including Tim Hortons’ System standards)
and applicable laws. (Franchise Agreement, Sections 5.13, 6.12 and 9.09; Operator Agreement, Section 3)

4. We may require you to enter into service contracts with service providers we designate, at
your expense, for the evaluation and maintenance of the interior and exterior of your Franchised Restaurant.
(Franchise Agreement, Section 4.11)

5. We will administer the special advertising, marketing and sales promotion account, The
Tim’s National Advertising Program, Inc., and direct the development of advertising and promotional
programs. (Franchise Agreement, Section 3.01(c); Operator Agreement, Sections 3 and 6).

6. We will review for approval and, if appropriate, approve each location for a Franchised
Restaurant you propose to develop under an Area Development Agreement based on our then-current
standards for site approval. (Area Development Agreement, Section 6.2)

7. Under the Area Development Agreement, for each Franchised Restaurant to be developed
by you (or your subsidiary or affiliate), we will grant or deny approval for the Franchised Restaurant based
on, at the relevant time, our standard franchise approval criteria, including without limitation operational ,
financial, credit, and legal criteria (Area Development Agreement, Article VI)

Site Selection and Length of Time Before Opening

It is our current practice not to provide you with a Franchise Agreement until your site has been
selected and approved. You are responsible for all costs to remodel and re-decorate the Franchised
Restaurant premises. If you identify a potential site for your Franchised Restaurant, you must apply for
approval of that site by submitting to us information and materials that we require. We have no obligation
to consider your site submission if you are in default of any agreement with us or do not meet the criteria
for franchise approval at the time of your submission. We can consider any factors, which may include
general location and neighborhood; traffic patterns; accessibility; visibility; demographics; anticipated land
acquisition and construction costs; and existing restaurants in the area. The timeframe for approval of the
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proposed site varies, but we generally approve or disapprove a site within 60 days after we have all
information we have requested. You should not enter into any binding commitments with property owners
or vendors until we have approved your proposed site in writing. You must construct, equip and furnish
the Franchised Restaurant at the approved site in accordance with our approved plans and specifications
and purchase equipment through approved suppliers. We typically assist with these purchases and either
deliver or arrange for the delivery of the equipment to you. You must perform an inventory of equipment
delivered within 3 days of equipment delivery date and smallwares 1 week prior to the Franchised
Restaurant opening. You must conform the premises to local ordinances and building codes and obtain any
required permits. We do not provide services or assistance with construction, installation of equipment or
furnishing the Franchised Restaurant or with obtaining required permits. You must remodel and re-decorate
the Franchised Restaurant premises in accordance with our then current specifications.

If you or your affiliate has our approval to lease or own the property upon which the Franchised
Restaurant premises are located and you are developing and/or constructing the Franchised Restaurant
yourself, the estimated elapsed time between the signing of the Franchise Agreement and the opening of
the Franchised Restaurant is approximately 4 to 8 weeks, depending upon how quickly you obtain property
rights and construct the Franchised Restaurant premises, the need for training, and return to us of the signed
documents. We estimate that the typical length of time between signing the Area Development Agreement
and the time you begin operating your development business is approximately 3 months to 1 year. Factors
that may affect this timing include your ability to obtain any necessary permits, your ability to secure any
necessary financing and the time needed to close on the acquisition of any existing Franchised Restaurants.

Under the Area Development Agreement, once we grant franchise approval for a Franchised
Restaurant you propose to develop, you must apply for and obtain our approval to build the Franchised
Restaurant at a particular location within the Territory in accordance with our then-current approval
procedures.

Operators will operate a Tim Hortons Shop that contains all required furnishings, fixtures, and
equipment from a location that has already been approved by us. The estimated elapsed time between the
signing of the Operator Agreement and the opening of a Tim Hortons Shop is 1 day to 16 weeks depending
upon may factors, like the need for training, finalization of a lease for the Tim Hortons Shop, and return to
us of the executed documents and closing funds. The Operator Agreement will specify the date on which
the Operator must open its Tim Hortons Shop for business.

Our offer or approval of any site is not a guarantee or assurance that the Tim Hortons Shop will be
profitable or successful. If we approve a site that you identify, we rely heavily on your knowledge of the
local market in selecting the proposed site. You are encouraged to evaluate the potential site before entering
into a Franchise Agreement or Operator Agreement and you must conduct your own investigations and use
your own business judgment about any potential site.

The Tim Hortons Training Program

All franchisees and Operators must attend and satisfactorily complete our initial training program
before they may open their Tim Hortons Shop. In exceptional circumstances, we may waive this training
for certain franchisees based upon their individual circumstances and experience level. This training is
typically approximately 20 business days over a period of approximately 1 to 6 weeks, and is held at a
certified training facility in Columbus, Ohio we select. The initial training program is typically provided
immediately before your Tim Hortons Shop opening. The cost for this training varies and can be found in
Item 5.
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You are responsible for all other expenses incurred in attending the initial training program,
including the cost of lodging, travel, and living expenses. Your principal owners who will be involved in
the operation of your Tim Hortons Shop, must attend and successfully complete the training. If you retain
a General Manager, and you must retain a General Manager if you own more than one Tim Hortons Shop,
the General Manager must also attend and successfully complete the training. Likewise, if you retain a
Restaurant Manager for the Tim Hortons Shop, that person must attend and successfully complete the
training. If you or your Managers fail to successfully complete the initial training program to our
satisfaction we can terminate the Franchise Agreement or Operator Agreement. You will be responsible
for all expenses incurred in attending the training program, including the cost of lodging, travel, and living
expenses.

The initial training program is designed to develop the skills necessary to properly operate a Tim
Hortons Shop. We also offer truncated versions of this training program to Tim Hortons managers we
approve. Instructional materials consist of the production manual, various online training modules, and
subject-specific written materials prepared especially for the initial training program.

An overview of the full training program as of December 31, 2021 is as follows:

TRAINING PROGRAM

Classroom Training On-the-Job Training (Full Program)
Subject Hours Subject Hours Location
Welcome to Tim Hortons 1.0 Welcome to Tim 1.0 Columbus, Ohio
(orientation) Hortons (orientation)
Beverage Service 30.0
Hospitality & Brand 35 Drive Thru (if 36.0 | Columbus, Ohio
Standards applicable)
Food Safety 2.5 Equipment 4.0 Columbus, Ohio
Maintenance
Coffee Leadership & 4.5 Food Safety 8.0 Columbus, Ohio
Other Beverages
Restaurant Management 2.0 Food Preparation and 32.0 | Columbus, Ohio
Routines Food Service
Restaurant Management 2.0 Digital & Loyalty 1.0 Columbus, Ohio
Routines P.L.A.N.
Restaurant 43.0 Columbus, Ohio
Management
Operations
REV 8.0 Columbus, Ohio
Clearview overview 8.0 Columbus, Ohio
and introduction
Training at Tim’s 8.0 Columbus, Ohio
Modules
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Classroom Training On-the-Job Training (Full Program)

TOTAL CLASSROOM 155 TOTAL ON-THE- 179.0
TRAINING JOB TRAINING

During the term of the Franchise Agreement or Operator Agreement, you (or a principal of a
partnership or corporate franchisee, or, if you are operating a Non-Standard Shop, you may appoint a
Designated Manager) must attend and complete additional training programs as required by us at the time(s)
and location(s) selected by us. At any additional training programs you must attend, we will provide the
training, instructors and workbook as we deem appropriate, without charge to you, except for a materials
fee not to exceed $1,000 per person. You will be responsible for any and all other expenses incurred in
attending additional training programs such as the cost of travel, lodging, and living expenses.

All training is presently under the supervision of Ms. Jalila Bouchareb. Ms. Bouchareb has been
employed by Restaurant Brands International since 2015, serving as General Manager and Head of
Operations since May 2020. Her experience in the industry derives from the time she has worked for us
and our affiliates. Some specific subjects are taught by employees of Tim Hortons and its affiliate TDL,
who have daily management responsibility in the subject being taught.

Advertising

Under the Franchise Agreement or Operator Agreement, you must make a monthly advertising
contribution at the rate of 4% of the Gross Sales of the Tim Hortons Shop. These contributions are paid to
our current Tim Hortons System fund, The Tim’s National Advertising Program, Inc. (“TNAP”). We can
either discontinue any System fund or substitute a different fund in place of TNAP. TNAP is a not-for-
profit corporation established on December 15, 1997 under the laws of the State of Ohio. Tim Hortons
Shops operated by us and our affiliates also contribute to TNAP, each month, on the same basis and in the
same amounts as franchisees operating under a Franchise Agreement or Operator Agreement. (Franchise
Agreement Section 8.02; Operator Agreement Section 6). Besides TNAP you do not need to participate in
any other advertising fund.

For Non-Standard Shops located in “captured traffic” locations like offices, hospitals, airports,
colleges, grocery stores, gas and convenience stores, including those in arenas and sports stadiums that
operate only during events, and for those Tim Hortons Shops located in an emerging market, we may refund
up to 3% of your advertising fund contribution to TNAP for you to locally market the Tim Hortons Shop.
If we do that, records pertaining to your local advertising expenditures are subject to our review and audit.

TNAP is directed, maintained and administered by us as follows:

1. We direct all advertising and promotional programs, with sole discretion over the creative
concepts, materials and media used in these programs, and their placement and allocation. There is no
franchise advertising council that advises us on our advertising policies. TNAP is intended to maximize
general public recognition, acceptance and use of the Tim Hortons System and Tim Hortons Trademarks.
Other than through TNAP we have no obligation to conduct advertising. We are not obligated, in
administering TNAP, to make expenditures for you equivalent or proportionate to your contributions, or to
ensure that you benefit directly or pro-rata from expenditures by TNAP. TNAP is not a trust fund, and we
have no fiduciary responsibility to you in connection with the collection or use of TNAP monies or any
other aspect of TNAP’s operations. (Franchise Agreement Section 8.02(a) and (f); Operator Agreement
Sections 3 and 6)
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2. All contributions to TNAP and any earnings, are used exclusively to meet the costs of
maintaining, administering, directing, conducting and developing advertising, marketing, public relations,
and/or promotional programs and materials, and any other activities and related investments and/or
initiatives including, for example, capital investments we believe will enhance the image of the Tim Hortons
System, the cost of preparing and conducting advertising campaigns with various media including the
Internet, preparing direct mail advertising, market research, employing advertising and/or public relations
agencies to assist with these activities, purchasing promotional items, conducting and administering product
introductions, and providing promotional and other marketing materials and services. The advertising and
promotional programs are prepared primarily by outside advertising agencies. (Franchise Agreement
Section 8.02(b); Operator Agreement Sections 3 and 6)

3. All sums paid to TNAP are accounted for separately from our other monies, and are not
used to defray any of our expenses, except for the reasonable costs and overhead, if any, we may incur in
activities related to the administration or direction of TNAP and advertising programs, like the cost of
personnel for creating and implementing advertising, promotional, and marketing programs. We prepare
audited financial statements for TNAP; a copy of which will be made available to you upon request, the
cost of the audit to be paid by TNAP. If there is a surplus in TNAP at the end of the year, expenditures
during the next year will be made first from funds contributed during the previous year. We may also loan
money to TNAP. We can terminate TNAP at any time in our sole discretion but, if we do so, any monies
in TNAP at the time of termination will be expended or returned to the contributors. (Franchise Agreement
Section 8.02(c), (d), (e); Operator Agreement Sections 3 and 6)

4. Though the coverage of the advertising, marketing, publications and promotional programs
is currently local in scope, we can allocate your contributions in TNAP among local, regional and national
advertising and promotion. We can also modify this allocation. (Franchise Agreement Section 8.02(a);
Operator Agreement Sections 3 and 6)

We have entered into an agreement with TNAP under which we may, in our sole discretion, loan
up to $35 million, which may be increased at our discretion, to TNAP to fund advertising expenses,
including but not limited to digital menu boards on which TNAP has not yet collected advertising
contributions from franchisees. These loans are interest free and are scheduled to be fully repaid to us by
December 30, 2024. As of the date of this Disclosure Document, we have loaned TNAP approximately
$23 million under this agreement, and we may advance additional funds later this year.

During our fiscal year ending December 31, 2021, 55.8% of the expenditures from TNAP were for
media placement; 22.7% for production of promotional and advertising materials; 18.2% for administrative
expenses generally; and 3.3% for administrative expenses tied to our technology development. Except as
discussed above, in 2021, neither Tim Hortons nor any of our affiliates received any payment from TNAP.
No TNAP monies, or any other advertising funds, were used for directly soliciting the sales of franchises
during the fiscal year ending December 31, 2021.

You do not have to participate in a local or regional advertising council. However, all local
advertising and promotion conducted by you must appear in the media and be of the type and format as
approved by us, must be conducted in a dignified manner, over the time frame established by us, and must
conform to the standards and requirements described in the Manual or otherwise in writing. You must
submit all advertising and promotional plans and materials to us before their use, and may not use the
materials unless we have furnished written notice to you authorizing use. We can at any time after you start
using any advertising or promotional plans and materials prohibit further use, effective upon your receipt
of written notice from us.
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Before a new Tim Hortons Shop opens or a renovated Tim Hortons Shop re-opens, you must have
your advertising and promotion campaign approved by us. Immediately following the opening or re-
opening of the Tim Hortons Shop, all franchisees and Operators of newly opened or renovated Tim Hortons
Shops must conduct the advertising and promotion campaign which we must approve in advance.
Expenditures for your opening or re-opening promotional campaign are not counted or credited towards
your monthly system advertising fund contributions. We may, at our option, elect to contribute an amount
we determine towards your initial advertising campaign. Franchisees or Operators who take over operations
of an existing open Tim Hortons Shop may be required to engage in an opening or re-opening promotional
campaign.

You must participate in and furnish information to our market information system in order to assist
us in planning, conducting, and evaluating regional and national advertising and promotional programs.
You must, at your expense, install and maintain in good working order the equipment specified by us to
enable us to electronically gather all relevant information, including Clearview software and other “Smart
Store” technologies. You must pay all initial and ongoing internet and VPN charges incurred in
participating in our market information program. Please see Item 8 and the information under the
subheading “Computer and Other Technology Systems” in this Item 11 for additional information.

Any Internet websites, e-mail addresses, or other means of electronic advertising or commerce
created and/or operated by or for us are considered as advertising and may be paid for by TNAP or a
regional or other advertising program as we determine. Unless authorized by us, you may not register,
create, and/or operate any Internet websites, social media, or Internet domain name or other address that
contains any reference to the Tim Hortons System, any Tim Hortons Trademark, or the Tim Hortons Shop.

The Franchise Agreement and Operator Agreement does not require you to join any local or
regional advertising cooperative.

Computer and Other Technology Systems

At our request, you must purchase or lease at your expense, and subsequently maintain in good
working order, the telecommunications systems, computer hardware and software, required dedicated
telephone and power lines, guest Wi-Fi, modem(s), printer(s), and other computer-related accessories or
peripheral equipment like point-of-sale, back office reporting systems, credit or debit verification,
automatic bank transfer or depository, information storage and/or retrieval transmission systems, and
surveillance or security systems as we specify and may change from time to time. Any changes to the
above items must be approved by us before you sign the Franchise Agreement.

Computer and technology systems will be used for, among other functions, web-based employee
training, recording sales, processing credit and debit card transactions, and other recordkeeping and central
functions. If requested, you must help us connect your computer and technology systems with our computer
and technology systems so that we can independently retrieve and use, for any purpose, the data and
information from your computer and technology systems. Because of the need for compatibility between
interconnected computer and technology systems, you must strictly comply with our standards and
specifications for all item(s) associated with your computer and technology systems. At your expense, you
also must (i) keep your computer and technology systems in good maintenance and repair, and (ii) promptly
install the additions, changes, modifications, substitutions, and/or replacements to your computer hardware,
software, telephone and power lines, and other computer-related facilities as we direct. You must ensure
that you are PCI compliant.

All new Tim Hortons Shops must use the current POS system that we require. This system records
all sales transactions, performs various analyses, and creates reports on sales. This system may be purchased
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from our authorized vendor. You must secure or maintain a maintenance contract on your computer
systems. We may choose to change our designated POS system to implement one standardized Tim
Hortons POS system with all of our franchisees, which utilizes new technology of our choosing. All
restaurants must support our approved digital programs as designed, including Digital Ordering, Digital
Payments and Customer Loyalty.

You must provide your customers with the option of paying for products by credit card. To do so,
you will need to enter into a bank merchant agreement with a credit card service provider or providers
designated by us and purchase the equipment necessary to authorize and process credit card purchases. We
have also established a stored value gift card program called Tim Card you must participate in. You must
acquire the necessary hardware and software and must enter into service contracts with our designated
supplier of stored value gift card processing services. These providers will charge a fee for processing
services. These fees will vary depending upon the amount of sales, the number of transactions processed,
and the type of credit card or stored value gift card processed. We can also require you to accept debit
cards and other non-cash systems. If we require you to do so, you must acquire at your expense, all
necessary hardware and software to do so.

If your Tim Hortons Shop contains a drive-thru, you will also receive, as part of the equipment
package that must be purchased from us or one of our affiliates (as described in Item 5), a wireless
communications system that consists of antennas, vehicle detection board, speakers, menu board,
confirmation screens, headsets, battery and battery chargers. The system also includes software that enables
a customer to place an order from the outside menu board that is communicated to the staff inside the drive-
thru who will prepare the order, as well as a drive thru timer. You must maintain a maintenance contract
on this communications equipment to ensure it remains in good working order.

We estimate that the cost of purchasing or leasing the required hardware and software described
above will range from $50,000 to $81,000. In addition, we estimate that the cost of purchasing or leasing
all of the optional hardware and software described above will range from $500 to $7,000 on an annual
basis. Under an Operator Agreement, you are not required to purchase any computer hardware, credit card
equipment or communications system, but must maintain, at your expense, any computer or
communications system we have installed at the Tim Hortons Shop. You may be required to purchase
licensing and support services for a new standardized POS system.

We estimate that the annual cost of optional or required maintenance, updating, upgrading or
support services will range from $4,400 to $10,500, exclusive of credit card processing fees. These fees
will vary depending upon the amount of sales, the number of transactions processed, and the type of credit
card processed. Except as described above, neither we nor any of our affiliates, nor any other third party
have an obligation to provide ongoing maintenance, repairs, upgrades or updates of your computer
hardware or software.

Manual

A copy of the table of contents to the Confidential Operating Manual provided to franchisees is
attached as Exhibit B. There are a total of 999 pages in the Manual.
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ITEM 12
TERRITORY

We or any affiliate may establish, and/or otherwise license others to establish, at any location other
than your Tim Hortons Shop’s premises, regardless of its geographic proximity to or impact on your Tim
Hortons Shop, other outlets under the same or different Tim Hortons Trademarks and/or under the same or
different system, including the Tim Hortons System (regardless of whether the outlet may compete with
your location). We can also sell or distribute, or license others to sell or distribute, at retail or wholesale,
any products or services under any mark, including the Tim Hortons Trademarks, at or from any location,
regardless of its geographic proximity to or its impact on your Tim Hortons Shop, or by means of telephone,
television, mail order, catalogue, and/or computerized or other electronic remote entry ordering systems,
including, the Internet, delivery units, kiosks, grocery or convenience stores, express units, catering, home
delivery, food trucks, mail order, and other mobile means of delivery. There are no restrictions on us from
soliciting or selling goods or services to customers in your market using any channel of distribution under
our Tim Hortons Trademarks or otherwise. We will not pay you any compensation for soliciting or
accepting orders in your market. All of our rights above apply under a Franchise Agreement, an Operator
Agreement and under an Area Development Agreement. Under each of these agreements, you will not
receive an exclusive territory. You may face competition from other franchisees, from outlets that we own,
or from other channels of distribution or competitive brands that we control.

In certain circumstances, and in our sole discretion, we may grant you certain non-exclusive
development rights under an Area Development Agreement. Under an Area Development Agreement, you
must open a minimum number of new Franchised Restaurants in a designated area, or “Territory”. We
will determine the size and location of the Territory at the time you sign the Area Development Agreement.
In determining the size of the Territory we consider various factors, including the number of Franchised
Restaurants you are committing to develop, your business acumen, financial wherewithal and any prior
experience you may have as an area developer. Although the size of a Territory will vary based upon the
particular circumstances of the transaction, Territories will generally be a designated market area that we
determine based upon information available to us at the time. The Territory applies only to the development
of Franchised Restaurants in the Territory. If you do not meet the development schedule as to the number
and types of Franchised Restaurants you must open in the Territory, we can terminate the Area
Development Agreement.

All Tim Hortons Shop locations must be approved by us based on our then-current standards. You
may not relocate the Tim Hortons Shop without our prior written consent, which will be granted or withheld
based on our then-current standards, including proximity to other Tim Hortons Shops and desirability of
the new location.

The Franchise Agreement, Area Development Agreement, and Operator Agreement do not provide
you with any options, rights of first refusal, similar rights to acquire additional franchises or provide you
the right to develop any other restaurant brand that may be franchised by us or any affiliate.

Under a Franchise Agreement and Operator Agreement, there are no restrictions on customers to
whom you may sell, but except as permitted by us, all sales must be made at your Tim Hortons Shop
premises and any advertising or Internet presence must be approved by us. You may not sell any goods or
services from or to any location other than your Shop premises except as permitted by us.

As explained in Item 1, our affiliates BKC, BK Europe, BK APac, and BK Canada each franchise
the operation of and/or operate Burger King® restaurants, our affiliates PLK, PLK Europe, and PLK APAC
franchise the operation of and operate Popeyes® restaurants, and our affiliates FOA and Firehouse Canada
franchise the operation of and operate Firehouse Subs ® restaurants. The principal business address of
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BKC and PLK is 5707 Blue Lagoon Drive, Miami, Florida 33126. The principal business address of FOA
is 12735 Gran Bay Parkway, Suite 150 Jacksonville, Florida 32258. The principal business address of BK
Europe and PLK Europe is Dammstrasse 23, 6300, Zug, Switzerland. The principal business address of
BK APac and PLK APAC is 5 Shenton Way, #14-01/03 UIC Building, Singapore 068808. The principal
business address of BK Canada is 130 King Street West, Suite 300, Toronto, Ontario M5X 1K6, Canada.
The principal business address of Firehouse Canada is 2100 — 40 King Street West, Toronto, Ontario,
Canada M5H 3C2. Burger King® restaurants, Popeyes® restaurants, Firehouse Subs ® restaurants and Tim
Hortons Shops currently offer significantly different menus but they do also offer some similar goods and
they may offer similar goods or services in the future. For example, all four currently offer sandwiches,
french fried potatoes and/or chips, dessert items and beverages. We will not grant you a territory, unless
we enter into an Area Development Agreement with you as described above and in any event there may be
now or in the future Burger King® restaurants, Popeyes® restaurants and/or Firehouse Subs ® restaurants
located in the same market in the U.S. as current or future Tim Hortons Shops. These Burger King®,
Popeyes® and Firehouse Subs ® restaurants could be company-owned, franchised or both. If there is a
conflict between you and us caused by a Burger King®, Popeyes® or Firehouse Subs ® restaurant or
between a Tim Hortons franchisee and a Burger King®, Popeyes® or Firehouse Subs ® franchisee, our
management team will attempt to resolve the conflict after taking into account the specific facts of each
situation and what is in the best interests of the affected system or systems. However, we are not responsible
for resolving conflicts between or among Tim Hortons franchisees, or between or among a Tim Hortons
franchisee and a Burger King®, Popeyes® or Firehouse Subs ® franchisee.

Except as previously described in Item 1 and in this Item 12, neither we nor any of our affiliates
has established or presently intends to establish other franchises or company-owned or affiliate-owned
outlets which sell similar products or services under a different trade name or trademark. However, we and
our affiliates have retained the right to do so in the future.
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ITEM 13
TRADEMARKS

Under a Franchise Agreement and Operator Agreement you will be given the non-exclusive right
and license to use the Tim Hortons Trademarks to operate the Tim Hortons Shop at the Tim Hortons Shop
premises, but only in the manner we authorize.

We own the following trademarks which are either filed for registration or registered, as disclosed
below, on the Principal Register of the United States Patent and Trademark Office:

Application Application Registration Registration

Ve Number Date Number Date
ICED CAPP Registered 86/472224 12/05/2014 4949055 05/03/2016
TIM HORTONS Registered 75/008873 10/20/1995 2025251 12/24/1996
TIM HORTONS Script Design Registered 74/025793 02/05/1990 1690691 06/02/1992
(B&W)

TIMBITS Registered 75/008874 10/20/1995 2026723 12/31/1996
ICED CAPP & Design (Linear) Pending 88/080489 08/16/2018

ICED CAPP & Design (Stacked) Pending 88/080487 08/16/2018

ICED
CAPP

TIM HORTONS (Stylized) Pending 88/078941 08/15/2018
Jim Horlons
st
TIM HORTONS CAFE & BAKE SHOP Pending 88/080486 08/16/2018

& Design (Stacked)

TIMBITS (Stylized) Pending 88/080498 08/16/2018
TIMS (Stylized) Pending 90/650093 | 04/16/2021
lems
TIMS Maple Logo (2021 Pending 97/014160 09/07/2021
version)
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We have filed, or will file, all required affidavits with respect to the trademarks identified above.
As to the marks denoted as pending in the table above, we do not have a federal registration for these marks.
Therefore, these marks do not have as many legal benefits and rights as a federally registered trademark.
If our right to use any of these marks is challenged, you may have to change to an alternative trademark,
which may increase your expenses. There are no agreements currently in effect that limit our right to use
or license the use of the Tim Hortons Trademarks that are in any manner material to you.

There are no currently effective determinations of the Patent and Trademark Office, the Trademark
Trial and Appeal Board, the trademark administrator of any state, or any court, or any pending infringement,
opposition or cancellation proceeding, or any pending material litigation, involving the Tim Hortons
Trademarks that is relevant to their use by you.

There are no infringing uses actually known to us that could materially affect your use of the Tim
Hortons Trademarks. You must promptly notify us of any suspected unauthorized use of, or challenge to
the validity of, the Tim Hortons Trademarks or any challenge to our ownership of, or right to use or license
others to use, the Tim Hortons Trademarks. You must also promptly notify us of any litigation instituted
or threat of litigation against us or you involving the Tim Hortons Trademarks. We reserve the right to
direct and control any administrative proceeding or litigation involving the Tim Hortons Trademarks,
including any settlement. We may take action against uses by others that may constitute infringement of
the Tim Hortons Trademarks. We will neither defend you against any third-party claim, suit, or demand
arising out of your use of the Tim Hortons Trademarks nor indemnify you for expenses or damages you
may incur as a result of any administrative proceeding or litigation involving the Tim Hortons Trademarks
under the Franchise Agreement or Operator Agreement. If any litigation arises relating to your use of the
Tim Hortons Trademarks, you must sign all documents and do all acts we may request, to defend or
prosecute the litigation, including becoming a nominal party in any legal action.

We may require you to use different proprietary marks, including modifying your signs and
advertising materials at your expense, to identify your business and the products and services you offer, if
the Tim Hortons Trademarks can no longer be used, or if we, in our sole discretion, determine that
substitution of different proprietary marks will be beneficial to the Tim Hortons System. In these
circumstances, the use of the substituted proprietary marks will be governed by the terms of the Franchise
Agreement or Operator Agreement.
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ITEM 14
PATENTS, COPYRIGHTS AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION

We do not own any rights in or to any patents or copyright registrations that are material to the
franchise. However, we claim copyright protection over the Manual, our other forms and materials, and
our trademarks that contain design elements. We also claim proprietary rights in the confidential
information and trade secrets contained in the Manual.

Confidential Information

We will lend you a copy of the Manual (which may be in a written or electronic format, or a
combination of the two formats), which you may use during the term of the Franchise Agreement or
Operator Agreement, and you must conduct your business in the manner specified in the Manual. The
Manual describes our standards and procedures, among other things, for operating a Tim Hortons Shop,
including recipes for our food products. We may revise the Manual, and you must comply with each
modification. You must keep your copy of the Manual up-to-date, and if there is a dispute as to the contents
of the Manual, the terms of the master copy of the Manual maintained by us will prevail.

You must at all times treat the Manual and the information contained in it as confidential, and use
all reasonable efforts to maintain the information as secret and confidential. In addition, any information,
trade secrets, knowledge, and know-how including drawings, materials, equipment, recipes, construction,
operating information, and other data we designate as secret or confidential, also must be kept confidential
by you. You may divulge confidential information only to those of your employees with a need-to-know in
order to operate the Tim Hortons Shop. You must not, without our prior written consent, copy or reproduce
the Manual or any other confidential information, or otherwise make them available to any unauthorized
person or source.

You must require any employee who may have access to any confidential information to maintain
the confidentiality of the information received and to sign a confidentiality covenant. The covenant must
be in a form satisfactory to us, including our specific identification as a third-party beneficiary of the
covenant with an independent right to enforce it.
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ITEM 15
OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPATE
IN THE ACTUAL OPERATION OF THE FRANCHISE BUSINESS

You must designate a “managing owner” who must have the authority to bind you in your dealings
with us and our affiliates and who can direct any action necessary for your compliance with the Franchise
Agreement, Operator Agreement, or any other agreements relating to your Tim Hortons Shop. You, or a
managing director you designate (and approved by us), must; (i) operate your Tim Hortons Shop on a full-
time basis; and (ii) reside in the United States at a location no further than 30 miles from your Tim Hortons
Shop or another Tim Hortons Shop you operate. You cannot delegate this responsibility except in very
special circumstances and subject to our prior approval. If you own or operate more than one Tim Hortons
Shop, then you must retain a full-time general manager with authority to direct the day-to-day operation of
the Tim Hortons Shop, and at least one restaurant manager who is responsible for the direct, personal
supervision of the Tim Hortons Shop. Any general manager or restaurant manager must complete our initial
training program within 6 months after taking the position. If you are a business entity, no manager is
required to have an equity interest in you.

You must obtain covenants from certain individuals associated with you. These covenants will
concern the maintenance of the confidentiality of information about the Tim Hortons System, and an
agreement not to compete with the Tim Hortons Shop or any other business operated under the Tim Hortons
System using the Tim Hortons Trademarks.
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ITEM 16
RESTRICTIONS ON WHAT THE FRANCHISEE MAY SELL

You must sell only those products and services that have been approved by us and that have been
prepared using the recipes and ingredients we specify. You must sell all of the products and services we
require in the Manual or may otherwise specify in writing as being part of the Tim Hortons System. You
are not permitted to sell any product or service that we have not authorized in writing. You cannot sell any
products or services from outside the Tim Hortons Shop. We can modify the products and services you
must sell and you must comply with any changes.

Item 8 of the disclosure document contains a description of certain restrictions and controls over
the purchase of items that may be used in or sold by the Tim Hortons Shop, as well as the locations from
which they may be sold.

You must use the Tim Hortons Shop premises solely for the operation of the Tim Hortons Shop.
You must operate the Tim Hortons Shop in strict conformity with our standards and must not operate in
any manner that reflects adversely on the Tim Hortons Trademarks or the Tim Hortons System.
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ITEM 17

RENEWAL, TERMINATION, TRANSFER AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION

THE FRANCHISE RELATIONSHIP

These tables list certain important provisions of the franchise and related agreements. You
should read these provisions in the agreements attached to this disclosure document.

1. Franchise Agreement,

Asset Purchase Agreement, and Operator Agreement

Provision Section in Agreement Summary
a. Length of the §1.04, 2.01, and Key Typically, all Tim Hortons Shops have a
franchise term Contract Data Page of the term that begins when the Franchise
Franchise Agreement; § 8 of | Agreement is signed by you and us, and
the Operator Agreement expires 20 years, less one day, after
your Franchised Restaurant opens for
business, except for Non-Standard
Shops, whose terms can vary depending
upon the circumstances but are
generally 5-10 years less 1 day based
upon the location of the Non-Standard
Shop, menu offering, existence of a
drive thru, non-exclusive seating, and
other factors.
The term of the Operator Agreement
continues until the earlier of a specific
date to be agreed upon by the parties or
the termination (with or without cause)
by either party.
b. Renewal or extension | § 2.02 of the Franchise Not applicable
of the term Agreement
c. Requirements for you | None Not applicable
to renew or extend
d. Termination by you 8§ 11 of the Operator You may terminate the Operator
Agreement Agreement by providing us 30 business
days’ written notice.
e. Termination by us 8 11 of the Operator We may terminate the Operator
without cause Agreement Agreement by providing you 30
business days’ written notice.
f.  Termination by us 8 12.01 - 12.02 of the Some defaults under the Franchise
with cause Franchise Agreement; § 9 and | Agreement can be cured while others
11 of the Operator Agreement | cannot.
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Provision

Section in Agreement

Summary

The Operator Agreement may be
terminated for good cause, effective
upon the Operator’s receipt of notice of
termination.

“Cause” defined —
curable defaults

§ 12.01 of the Franchise
Agreement; 8§ 11 of the
Operator Agreement

All breaches of the Franchise
Agreement not specifically listed as
being non-curable can be cured,
including failure to pay amounts due
under the Franchise Agreement or any
other agreement with us.

There is no right to cure defaults under
the Operator Agreement.

“Cause” defined —
non-curable defaults

§ 12.02 and 18.01 of the
Franchise Agreement; § 11 of
the Operator Agreement

Conduct by you will permit us to
terminate without any opportunity by
you to cure, such as, for example,
bankruptcy or insolvency, abandonment
of business, disclosure of confidential
information, criminal or other improper
conduct, failure to cure 2 or more
defaults in a 12-month period, loss of
any lease/sublease or license, and
others.

Your obligations on
termination/
nonrenewal

§ 6.02 - 6.03, 6.06, 6.08,
9.09, 12.03, 13.05 - 13.06,
13.09, 13.12 - 13.13, 13.19,
and 17.23 of the Franchise
Agreement; § 3, 11, and 14 of
the Operator Agreement

Under the Franchise Agreement,
obligations include ceasing to operate
the business and vacating the
Franchised Restaurant premises;
payment of amounts due; cessation of
use of the Tim Hortons System and the
Tim Hortons Trademarks; and sale of
the assets used in the Franchised
Restaurant to us.

Under the Operator Agreement,
obligations include ceasing to operate
the business; cessation of use of the Tim
Hortons System; returning all assets set
forth in the Operator Agreement;
payment of amounts due; vacating the
Tim Hortons Shop; and others.
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Provision

Section in Agreement

Summary

j. Assignment of
contract by us

§ 11.01 of the Franchise
Agreement; § 9 of the
Operator Agreement

No restriction on our right to transfer.

k. “Transfer” by you —
definition

§ 11.02(a) of the Franchise
Agreement; § 9 of the
Operator Agreement

Under the Franchise Agreement:
includes transfer of interest in the
Franchise Agreement, Franchisee, or the
assets of the Franchised Restaurant.

Under the Operator Agreement:
includes Assignment of the Operator
Agreement.

I.  Our approval of
transfer by you

§11.02 — 11.07 of the
Franchise Agreement;

§ 20.5 of the Asset Purchase
Agreement; 8 9 of the
Operator Agreement

We have the right to approve transfers
where transfers are permitted. No
transfer permitted of your rights under
the Asset Purchase Agreement.

m. Conditions for our
approval of transfer

§11.02 - 11.07 of the
Franchise Agreement

Compliance with all provisions of the
Franchise Agreement, payment of
money owed, sign general release,
transferee meets qualifications,
including absence of any competing
business interests, sign new franchise
agreement, complete training, payment
of transfer fee, our approval of the sales
price, and providing information
specified by us to the buyer and us to
assist in making an informed evaluation
of your business and the terms of the
proposed transfer.

n. Our right of first
refusal to acquire your
business

§ 11.02 of the Franchise
Agreement

If you propose to transfer, we have the
first right of refusal to purchase the
Franchised Restaurant at the depreciated
value of the furniture, equipment, signs
and improvements.

0. Our option to
purchase your
business

8 12.03 of the Franchise
Agreement

Upon expiration or termination, we can
buy certain assets and receive an
assignment of your lease.

p. Your death or
disability

§ 11.05 of the Franchise
Agreement

Interest must be transferred to an
approved transferee within 3 months.
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Provision

Section in Agreement

Summary

g. Non-competition
covenants during the
term of the franchise

§6.11 and 13.05 of the
Franchise Agreement; § 3 and
14 of the Operator Agreement

Prohibits franchisee (and their owners
and immediate family members) from
engaging in other business (unless
approved by us), and diverting
customers, owning or having any
association or relationship with any
business that offers products or services
that are the same or similar to those
offered in a Tim Hortons Shop.

r.  Non-competition
covenants after the
franchise is terminated
or expires

§ 13.06 of the Franchise
Agreement; § 3 and 14 of the
Operator Agreement

A 2-year prohibition on diverting
customers, or owning or having any
association or relationship with any
business that offers products or services
that are the same or similar to those
offered in a Shop: (i) at the Tim Hortons
Shop premises; (ii) within a 5 mile
radius of the Tim Hortons Shop
premises; or (iii) within a 2 mile radius
of any other Tim Hortons Shop operated
by us or any of our franchisees at the
time of termination or expiration of the
Franchise Agreement.

s. Modification of the
agreement

§7.01, 7.04,13.07, 17.03,
and 17.09 — 17.10 of the
Franchise Agreement; § 20.3
of the Asset Purchase
Agreement; § 15 of the
Operator Agreement

Must be in writing and, except as
otherwise specified in the Franchise
Agreement, Asset Purchase Agreement
and Operator Agreement, signed by
both parties, but Manuals are subject to
our unilateral change.

t. Integration/merger
clause

§ 17.03 of the Franchise
Agreement; § 20.3 of the
Asset Purchase Agreement;
§ 15 of the Operator
Agreement

Only the terms of the Franchise
Agreement, Asset Purchase Agreement,
and Operator Agreement and all
agreements signed with it are binding
(subject to state law). Any
representations or promises outside of
the disclosure document and the
Franchise Agreement, Asset Purchase
Agreement Operator Agreement and
any other agreements signed with it, as
applicable, may not be enforceable.

u. Dispute resolution by
arbitration or
mediation

None

Not applicable
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Provision

Section in Agreement

Summary

v. Choice of forum

§ 17.18 of the Franchise
Agreement; § 20.10.2 of the
Asset Purchase Agreement;
§ 3 of the Operator
Agreement

The county where we have our principal
place of business when the proceeding
begins; currently, Miami-Dade County,
Florida (subject to state law).

w. Choice of law

§ 17.14 of the Franchise
Agreement; § 20.10.1 of the
Asset Purchase Agreement;
8§ 3 of the Operator
Agreement

Generally, Florida (subject to state law).

2. Area Development Agreement

Article/Section in

non-curable defaults

Provision Area Development Summary
Agreement
a. Length of the Article IV The end of the last Development Year
franchise term under the Development Schedule
b. Renewal or extension None Not applicable
of the term
c. Requirements for you None Not applicable
to renew or extend
d. Termination by you None Not applicable
e. Termination by us None Not applicable
without cause
f.  Termination by us § 5.3, Article IX Some defaults under the Area
with cause Development Agreement can be cured
while others cannot.
g. “Cause” defined — Article IX You will have 10 days to cure a default
curable defaults for non-payment of sums due, and 30
days to cure a default for; bankruptcy
which is not dismissed;! or failure to
comply with any other terms of the Area
Development Agreement or any
applicable Franchise Agreement.
h. *“Cause” defined — Avrticle IX We can terminate the Area

Development Agreement immediately if
you: (i) transfer the Area Development
Agreement without written consent; (ii)
fail to meet the “Cumulative Opening
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Provision

Article/Section in
Area Development

Adgreement

Summary

Target” (as defined in the Area
Development Agreement);

(iii) duplicate the Tim Hortons System;
(iv) breach the confidentiality
covenants; breach any restrictive
covenant of any applicable Franchise
Agreement; (v) are unable to pay debts
or appoint a receiver; (vi) open a New
Developer Restaurant without franchise
approval or site approval and/or without
having delivered to us a Franchise
Agreement for such Restaurant and
applicable franchise fee; (vii) challenge
the validity of any of the Tim Hortons
Trademarks or proprietary marks;

(viii) provide any materially false or
misleading information to us;

(ix) breach various financial covenants
that we negotiate with you; (x) fail to
score Restaurant operations at the level
we negotiate with you; (xi) failure to
meet requirements for franchise
approval; or (xii) or a board member or
senior officer commit any materially
adverse action.

Your obligations on
termination/
nonrenewal

8 7.6, Article IX

All rights granted under the Area
Development Agreement and all
franchise approvals for Tim Hortons
Shops not yet opened terminate, and we
will retain all Franchise Fees previously
paid to us, and you must pay liquidated
damages to us in an amount equal to the
next installment, if any, of Franchise
Fees that would have come due
following the termination.

Assignment of
contract by us

§11.4

We may assign at any time.

“Transfer” by you —
definition

§11.1;11.2;11.3

Restrictions apply to any direct or
indirect assignment, transfer, sale,
conveyance, charge, encumbrance,
mortgage, pledge, hypothecation, lease,
license, sublicense, or other disposition
of the Area Development Agreement or
any rights granted under the Area
Development Agreement, or the
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Article/Section in

covenants during the
term of the franchise

Provision Area Development Summary
Agreement

subcontracting or transfer of any assets
necessary for you to fulfill your
obligations under the Area
Development Agreement.

Our approval of §11.1 No transfers permitted without our prior

transfer by you written consent

. Conditions for our §11.1 Any transfer requires our prior written

approval of transfer consent, which consent may be withheld
in our sole discretion.

Our right of first None Not applicable

refusal to acquire your

business

Our option to None Not applicable

purchase your

business

Your death or None Not applicable

disability

Non-competition Article X Prohibits area developer (and their

principals) from diverting customers,
engaging in other business (unless
approved by us), maintaining, advising,
operating, being employed by, making
loans to, investing in, providing any
assistance to, or having any interest in
(as owner or otherwise) or relationship
or association with, any business that
offers products or services that are the
same or similar to those offered in a
Tim Hortons Shop.
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Article/Section in
Provision Area Development Summary
Agreement
r. Non-competition Article X Same restrictions as g. above, a 1-year
covenants after the prohibition on diverting customers, or
franchise is terminated owning or having any association or
or expires relationship with any business that
offers products or services that are the
same or similar to those offered in a
Tim Hortons Shop either at or within 2
miles of any Developer Restaurant or
other Tim Hortons Shop operated by us
or any of our franchisees at the time of
termination or expiration.

s. Maodification of the §18.9 The Area Development Agreement may

agreement only be modified or amended in writing.

t. Integration/merger Article XVI The Area Development Agreement

clause constitutes the entire agreement. Any
representations or promises outside of
the disclosure document and the Area
Development Agreement may not be
enforceable.

u. Dispute resolution by None Not applicable

arbitration or
mediation

v. Choice of forum §18.4 Subject to state law, litigation must be
brought in the U.S. District Court for
the Southern District of Florida, or if
such court lacks jurisdiction, the 11th
Judicial Court (or its successor) in and
for Miami-Dade County, Florida.

w. Choice of law §18.4 The governing law will be the laws of
the State of Florida (subject to state
law).

Area Development Agreement Footnotes:
1. Caveat for Termination upon Bankruptcy.

A provision in the Area Development Agreement that terminates the franchise upon the
bankruptcy of the franchisee may not be enforceable under Title 11, United States Code Section 101.
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3. Lease/Sublease

Provision Section in Summar
Lease/Sublease y
a. Length of the term of the §2.1land Term is 20 years for Standard Shop; may be less
Lease/Sublease Lease/Sublease | for Non Standard Shops. Will vary by location
Key Contract depending on property control. Where we own
Data Page the property, the typical term is 20 years.!
b. Renewal or extension of the None No right of renewal. Depending on property
term control, if you meet the requirements for a
successor franchise, we may offer you a new
lease.
¢. Requirements for you to None After completion of required remodeling, you
renew or extend. will have to sign the current form of the
Lease/Sublease and Franchise Agreement and
pay a successor franchise fee, current royalty,
advertising rates and rent, if applicable, and sign
a release.
d. Termination by you None You have no right to terminate.
e. Termination by us without None We have no right to terminate without cause.
cause
f.  Termination by us with 89 Failure to cure any default after receipt of notice.
cause In some cases no cure period is required, but for
most defaults, the period is 30 days. If any law
or rule requires a longer notice or cure period
than that provided in the Lease/Sublease, the
period required by law or rule will apply.
g. "Cause" defined — curable 89 You have 10 days to cure: non-payment of rent
defaults and percentage rent; You have 30 days to cure:
failure to submit reports timely, understatement
of gross sales, unauthorized transfer, loss of
premises, failure to restore building after damage
or destruction.
h. "Cause" defined — defaults §9 Non-curable  defaults:  bankruptcy?,  you
which cannot be cured knowingly and intentionally submit false or
misleading statements to us; assign the
Lease/Sublease without consent; default after
notice from us of multiple defaults; default under
the Franchise Agreement.
i. Your obligations on §2,9,and 16.7 | Removal of hazardous waste materials, removal
termination / non-renewal of underground or above ground storage tank,
soil remediation and surrender site free of
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Provision

Section in
Lease/Sublease

Summary

hazardous substances generated or used by you
during lease term; fixtures and any personal
property not removed by you become our
property; make payment to us for repairs.

Assignment of contract by §13.1 We may assign at any time.

us

"Transfer" by you — defined 8132 Any sale, assignment or transfer of your interest
in the Lease/Sublease.

Our approval of transfer by 8132 Our written consent is required; must be in

you

connection with sale of franchise rights.

. Conditions for our approval
of transfer

§13.2 and § 13.3

Buyer must meet financial, operational, credit,
legal criteria, approval of contract of sale;
comply with ownership and corporate governing
instrument requirements; satisfaction of all
obligations at time of transfer; completion of
training; payment of transfer fee; execution of
any assignment, a general release of us by seller,
and a current Franchise Agreement.

Our right of first refusal to 8§14 We have a right of first refusal to purchase any

purchase your business. adjacent property you control based on the same
terms and conditions of a bona fide offer from a
third party. We have 20 business days after
receipt of notice and furnishing of all reasonably
requested information in order to notify you of its
intent to accept or reject the offer.

Our option to purchase your None Not applicable

business

Your death or disability None Not applicable

Non-competition covenants None Not applicable

during the term of the

Lease/Sublease

Non-competition covenants None Not applicable

after the Lease/Sublease is

terminated or expires

Modification of the §17.13 The Agreement may only be modified or

agreement

amended in writing.
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Provision

Section in
Lease/Sublease

Summary

t. Integration / merger clause §17.13 The Lease/Sublease (and any applicable
addenda) constitute the entire agreement. Any
representations or promises outside of the
disclosure document and the Lease/Sublease may
not be enforceable.

u. Dispute resolution by §17.1 Arbitration only in cases of condemnation; held

arbitration or mediation in Miami Dade County.

v. Choice of forum None Not applicable

w. Choice of law 8174 Florida law applies.

Lease/Sublease Footnotes:

1. This period may be less if we lease the Restaurant or property at the Restaurant from a third
party, and the underlying lease is for less than this time period.

2. Caveat for Termination upon Bankruptcy.

A provision in the Lease/Sublease that terminates the franchise upon the bankruptcy of the
franchisee may not be enforceable under Title 11, United States Code Section 101.
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ITEM 18
PUBLIC FIGURES

We do not use any public figure to promote our franchises.
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ITEM 19
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPRESENTATIONS

The FTC’s Franchise Rule permits a franchisor to provide information about the actual or potential
financial performance of its franchised and/or franchisor-owned outlets, if there is a reasonable basis for
the information, and if the information is included in the disclosure document. Financial performance
information that differs from that included in Item 19 may be given only if: (1) a franchisor provides the
actual records of an existing outlet you are considering buying; or (2) a franchisor supplements the
information provided in this Item 19, for example, by providing information about possible performance at
a particular location or under particular circumstances.

Monthly Gross Sales, Costs of Goods Sold and Labor Expense

This section describes monthly Gross Sales, Cost of Goods Sold and Labor percentages in 2021 for
certain franchised Standard Shops as described below.

Monthly Gross Sales Information

The Gross Sales information in this section was taken from 549 Standard Shops (the “2021
Shops”). The 2021 Shops were open as of December 31, 2021 and reported to us at least 10 months of
sales for 2021. The first of the 2021 Shops opened in 1985 and the most recent opened in 2021. Included
in the 2021 Shops is 6 Shops that are operating under our New Model. We did not include 33 Shops that
operated under Operator Agreements, 31 Standard Shops that reported less than 10 months of sales
information, 9 Standard Shops that provided inconsistent information to us, and 6 Shops that were self-
serve locations. Included in the excluded Shops are 4 Standard Shops that closed during 2021. None of
the Shops that closed were open for less than 12 months before closing.

The 2021 Shops had average monthly Gross Sales of $99,020. The median monthly Gross Sales
of the 2021 Shops was $94,341. 253, or 46%, of the 2021 Shops had average monthly Gross Sales that
exceeded $99,020. The highest reported average monthly Gross Sales of the 2021 Shops was $303,656 and
the lowest was $3,574.

Cost of Goods Sold and Labor Information

The Cost of Goods Sold (“COGS”) and labor expense information in this section was taken from
473 Standard Shops that were included in the 2021 Shops. Included in these Shops is 6 Shops that are
operating under our New Model. 76 Standard Shops were excluded because they failed to report Cost of
Goods Sold and/or Labor information or reported that information for less than 10 months.

The average monthly COGS as a percentage of Gross Sales for these Shops was 28% and the
median was 28%. The average monthly labor expense as a percentage of Gross Sales for these Shops was
31% and the median was 31%. 241, or 51%, experienced an average monthly COGS as a percentage of
Gross Sales at or above the 28% average. 241, or 51%, experienced an average monthly labor expense as
a percentage of Gross Sales at or above the 31% average.
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New Model Shops

The table below shows monthly Gross Sales Information, COGS and labor expense information
(in dollars and as a percentage of Gross Sales) for the 6 Shops built under our New Model that were open
as of December 31, 2021 and that reported to us at least 10 months of sales for 2021. The first of these
Shops opened in 2020, and the most recent opened in 2021. No Shops operating under our New Model
closed during 2021.

Average! Median

Gross Sales? $87,858 $90,431

COGS $23,530 $24,229

COGS % of Sales® 27% 27%

Labor $22,916 $24,211

Labor % of Sales * 26% 27%
1. The highest reported average monthly Gross Sales of the 6 New Model Shops was $100,901 and
the lowest was $63,416.
2. Of the 6 New Model Shops 3, or 50%, had average monthly Gross Sales that were at or above the
average monthly Gross Sales in the table above.
3. Of the 6 New Model Shops 3, or 50%, had a COGS as a percentage of Gross Sales at or above the
27% average in the table above.
4. Of the 6 New Model Shops 3, or 50%, had a labor expense as a percentage of Gross Sales at or

above the 26% average in the table above.
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Same Shop Gross Sales Standard and New Model Shops 2020-2021

The tables below show a comparison of the average and median same Standard Shop Gross Sales
growth from 2020 to 2021 for the 558 Shops that reported comparable sales for the same day of 2020 and
2021 and that were open as of December 31, 2021.

Total Standard Shops, including New Model Shops

Period Shop SSS Growth Total # of | #/% of Shops exceeding Median Shop
(Daily Average) Shops Average SSS SSS Growth
2020-2021 9.4% 558 303/54% 10.9%
New Model Shops
Period Shop SSS Growth Total # of | #/% of Shops exceeding Median Shop
(Daily Average) Shops Average SSS Growth
2020-2021 17.5% 6 3/50% 14.4%
Notes:
1. Gross Sales include all revenues received by the Tim Hortons Shop, less refunds and sales taxes.

Cost of Goods Sold include food and beverages and supplies. Labor costs include payroll, payroll taxes
and benefits.

2. In preparing these tables, we relied on the data contained in the unaudited reports submitted to us
by our franchisees.

3. The dollar amounts shown in this Item 19 have been rounded to the nearest dollar, the percentages
shown for Costs of Goods Sold and Labor expense have been rounded to the nearest full percentage point
and the percentages showing same shop growth have been rounded to the nearest tenth.

4. The information appearing in the first two table reflects the average and median Gross Sales results
of individual Standard Shops, as well as average and median information concerning Cost of Goods Sold
and Labor expenses. The information does not reflect all costs of sales, operating expenses or other costs
or expenses that must be deducted from the Gross Sales figures to reflect net income or profit. Moreover,
this information should not be considered as the actual or probable sales results that will be realized by any
franchisee or Tim Hortons Shop. Actual results vary from Tim Hortons Shop to Tim Hortons Shop and we
cannot estimate the results of any specific Tim Hortons Shop. A new franchisee’s Tim Hortons Shop results
are likely to differ from those of established Tim Hortons Shops. We recommend that you make your own
independent investigation, including an investigation of the costs and expenses you will incur in operating
a Tim Hortons Shop, to determine whether your Tim Hortons Shop may be profitable. Franchisees or former
franchisees listed in this disclosure document may be one source of this information.
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4. Written substantiation for the data presented in this table will be made available to all prospective
franchisees upon reasonable request.

5. Some outlets have earned this amount. Your individual results may differ. There is no
assurance that you’ll earn as much.

We do not make any representation to prospective operators about an operator’s past or future
financial performance, the past or future financial performance of company-owned outlets, the future
performance of our franchised shops, or any other information about the past performance of our franchised
shops. We also do not authorize our employees or representatives to make any such representation orally
or inwriting. If you are purchasing an existing outlet, however, we may provide you with the actual records
of that outlet. If you receive any other financial performance information or projections of your future
income, you should report it to the franchisor’s management by contacting Nicholas Henrich, Vice
President, Franchising, Development and Finance at 5707 Blue Lagoon Drive, Miami, FL 33126, (305)
378-3878, the Federal Trade Commission, and the appropriate state regulator.
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ITEM 20

OUTLETS AND FRANCHISEE INFORMATION

Table No. 1
Systemwide Outlet Summary
For years 2019 to 2021
Outlet Type Year | Siartofthe vear | Endof the vear | NetChange
Franchised 2019 727 656' 71
2020 656 633" -23
2021 633 637 +4
Company-Owned 2019 0
2020 0
2021 0
Total Outlets 2019 727 656 71
2020 656 633 -23
2021 633 637 +4

i As of December 31, 2019, 33 of the 656 Shops were operated under an Operator Agreement.

ii. As of December 31, 2020, 33 of the 633 Shops were operated under an Operator Agreement.

iii. As of December 31, 2021, 33 of the 637 Shops were operated under an Operator Agreement
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Item 20
03/2022

Transfers of Outlets from Franchisees to New Owners (other than the Franchisor)

Table No. 2

For years 2019 to 2021
State Year Number of
Transfers
2019 1
Indiana 2020 0
2021 0
2019 2
Kentucky 2020 2
2021 0
2019 2
Maine 2020 0
2021 0
2019 6
Michigan 2020 17
2021 16
2019 10
New York 2020 6
2021 9
2019 49
Ohio 2020 63
2021 8
2019 0
Pennsylvania | 2020 0
2021 3
2019 1
Virginia 2020 0
2021 0
2019 3
West Virginia | 2020 5
2021 0
2019 74
Total 2020' 93
2021 36

In 2020, there were 16 transfers under Operator Agreements.
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Table No. 3

Status of Franchised Outlets

For years 2019 to 2021
. tlet
State Year ;usttlzﬁ Outlets Ter_mi- Non- Reacg;wed Ogeera;[?gns Ca)tuErechS
of Year Opened | nations | Renewals Eranchisor Other of the
Reasons Year
2019 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
Delaware 2020 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
2021 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
2019 10 0 0 0 0 4 6
Indiana 2020 6 0 0 0 0 0 6
2021 6 0 0 0 0 0 6
2019 2 0 0 0 0 0 2
Kentucky 2020 2 0 0 0 0 0 2
2021 2 0 0 0 0 0 2
2019 13 0 0 0 0 2 11
Maine 2020 11 0 0 0 0 1 10
2021 10 0 0 0 0 0 10
2019 2 0 0 0 0 0 2
Maryland 2020 2 0 0 0 0 1 1
2021 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
2019 235 10V 0 0 0 27V 218
Michigan 2020 219Y 2 0 0 0 12 209
2021 209 2 0 0 0 4 207
2019 15 0 0 0 0 15 0
Minnesota 2020 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
2021 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
2019 4 0 0 0 0 1 3
New Jersey 2020 3 0 0 0 0 2 1
2021 1 1 0 0 0 0 2
2019 254 23V 0 0 0 36"V 241
New York 2020 241 8 0 0 0 11 238
2021 238 10 0 4 0 2 242
2019 5 0 0 0 5
North 2020 0 0 0 0 0
2021 0 0 0 0 0
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Outlets Reacquired Ceased Outlets
Outlets | Termi- Non- Operations | at End
State Year at Start . by
Opened | nations | Renewals . Other of the
of Year Franchisor
Reasons Year
2019 145 11V 0 0 0 17v 139
Ohio 2020 139 1 0 0 0 5 135
2021 135 1 0 0 0 0 136
2019 23 0 0 0 0 1 22
Pennsylvania | 2020 21Y 0 0 0 0 2 19
2021 19 0 0 0 0 0 19
2019 0 0 0 0 0
Virginia 2020 0 0 0 0 0
2021 1 0 0 0 0 0
2019 17 0 0 0 0 7 10
West 2020 10 0 0 0 0 0 10
Virginia
2021 10 0 0 0 0 0 10
2019 727 44V 0 0 0 115V 656'
Totals 2020 656 11 0 0 0 34 6331
2021 633 14 0 4 0 6 6371

i.  Asof December 31, 2019, 33 of the 656 Shops were operated under an Operator Agreement.

ii.  Asof December 31, 2020, 33 of the 633 Shops were operated under an Operator Agreement.

iii.  Asof December 31, 2021, 33 of the 637 Shops were operated under an Operator Agreement.

iv.  Of the 115 that ceased operations, 32 were terminated by mutual agreement of the Operator and us

and another franchisee began operating the Tim Hortons Shops under an Operator Agreement.

v.  Outlets at Start of Year adjusted due to State reclassification.
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Status of Company-Owned Outlets

Table No. 4

For years 2019 to 2021
State Year %%E; 8 ;;'rfgz R%{‘z‘z?ed gfg;igs gglgetj{os S nuoT 'ﬁﬁﬁi
Year Franchisee Franchisee Year
All states 2019 0 0 0 0 0 0
2020 0 0 0 0 0 0
2021 0 0 0 0 0 0
Totals 2019 0 0 0 0 0 0
2020 0 0 0 0 0 0
2021 0 0 0 0 0 0
Table No. 5
Projected Openings As Of December 31, 2021
Franchise Agreements Projected New Projected New Company-
State Signed But Outlet Not | Franchised Outlet In The Owned Outlet In The
Opened Next Fiscal Year Next Year
Delaware 0 0-1 0
Georgia 0 0-1 0
Michigan 0 3-4 0
New Jersey 0 2-3 0
New York 0 23-26 0
Ohio 0 2-4 0
Pennsylvania 0 1-2 0
Texas 0 3-4 0
West Virginia 0 0-1 0
Total 0 34-46 0

*We are looking for prospective franchisees throughout the United States.

We will add Franchised

Restaurants wherever we find qualified prospects. In total, we expect to open between 34 and 46 new
Franchised Restaurants in the United States in the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022 under Franchise
Agreements. As of the issuance date, we do not expect to open any new Tim Hortons Shops in the United
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States under Operator Agreements (no Operator Agreements for outlets not opened were signed as of
December 31, 2021).

Notes to all tables:

1. Our fiscal year-end is December 31,

2. The information contained in these Item 20 Tables (except for Table 4) pertains to Shops operating
under a Franchise Agreement or under an Operator Agreement.

* * *

The name, Shop address, and telephone number of all of our current franchisees operating under a
Franchise Agreement or under an Operator Agreement as of December 31, 2021 appear at Exhibit G. The
name and last known home address and telephone number of every franchisee operating under a Franchise
Agreement or under an Operator Agreement who has had an agreement terminated, cancelled, not renewed,
or otherwise voluntarily or involuntarily ceased to do business under a Franchise Agreement or under an
Operator Agreement during our fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, or who has not communicated with
us within 10 weeks of the date of this disclosure document appear at Exhibit H. The number of
franchisees/Operators listed on this Exhibit H is 46. If you buy this franchise, your contact information
may be disclosed to other buyers when you leave the franchise system.

In some instances, current and former franchisees sign provisions restricting their ability to speak
openly about their experience with the Tim Hortons system. You may wish to speak with current and
former franchisees, but be aware that not all such franchisees will be able to communicate with you.
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ITEM 21
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Attached to this Disclosure Document at Exhibit C are the audited consolidated balance sheets as
of December 31, 2021 and 2020 and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive
income (loss), shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2021 and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements of RBI, and its
subsidiaries. Exhibit C also contains the audited consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2021 and
2020, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), equity and cash
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes to the
consolidated financial statements of RBILP, and its subsidiaries.

If you are a resident of, or your franchise will be located in, California, Illinois, Maryland, North
Dakota, Virginia or Washington RBILP will be the guarantor of all of our duties and obligations under the
Franchise Agreement with you. Otherwise, RBI will be the guarantor of all of our duties and obligations
under the Franchise Agreement with you. The RBI Guaranty of Performance and the RBILP Guaranty of
Performance are also included at Exhibit C.
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ITEM 22
CONTRACTS

The following agreements are attached to this disclosure document:

Exhibit No. Type of Agreement

Franchise Agreement

Lease/Sublease

Tim Card Addendum and Participation Agreement
State Specific Disclosures and Agreement Amendments
Cold Stone Addendum which includes, among other Exhibits, copies of a
Franchise Agreement Amendment

Franchise Application

Lease Option Agreement

Bill of Sale

Asset Purchase Agreement

Area Development Agreement

Operator Agreement

—~ =T mQg

OQUvoZLr X
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ITEM 23
RECEIPTS

The Receipts are attached as the last two pages of this Franchise Disclosure Document.
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AGENTS FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS AND STATE ADMINISTRATORS

ALABAMA

Registered Agent

CT Corporation System

2 North Jackson Street - Suite 605
Montgomery, AL 36104

ALASKA

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

9360 Glacier Highway - Suite 202
Juneau, AK 99801

ARIZONA

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

3800 North Central Avenue - Suite 460
Phoenix, AZ 85012

ARKANSAS

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

124 West Capitol Avenue - Suite 1900
Little Rock, AR 72201-3736

CALIFORNIA

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System
330 N. Brand Blvd, Ste 700
Glendale, CA, 91203-2336

Regulatory Authority

Commissioner of Financial Protection and
Innovation

Department of Financial Protection and
Innovation

2101 Arena Boulevard

Sacramento, CA 95834

(916) 445-7205, Toll Free: (866) 275-2677

COLORADO

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

7700 East Arapahoe Road, Suite 220
Centennial, CO 80112-1268

CONNECTICUT

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

67 Burnside Avenue

East Hartford, CT 06108-3408

DELAWARE

Registered Agent

The Corporation Trust Company

1209 Orange Street - Corporation Trust Center
Wilmington, DE 19801

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

1015 15th Street, NW, Suite 1000
Washington, DC 20005

FLORIDA

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System
1200 South Pine Island Road
Plantation, FL 33324

Reqgulatory Authority

Florida Dept. of Agriculture & Consumer
Services

407 South Calhoun Street

Tallahassee, FL 32399-0800

(850) 410-3800

Agents for Service of Process and State Administrators
Exhibit A (03/2022)




AGENTS FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS AND STATE ADMINISTRATORS

GEORGIA

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System (Atlanta)
289 South Culver Street
Lawrenceville, GA 30046-4805

HAWAII

Registered Agent

The Corporation Company, Inc.
1136 Union Mall, Suite 301
Honolulu, HI 96813

Regulatory Authority

Commissioner of Securities of the State of Hawaii
Department of Commerce and Consumer Affairs
Business Registration Division

Securities Compliance Branch

335 Merchant Street, Rm. 205

Honolulu, H1 96813

(808) 586-2744

IDAHO

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

921 S Orchard Street, Suite G
Boise, ID 83705

ILLINOIS

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System (Chicago)
208 South LaSalle Street, Suite 814
Chicago, IL 60604

Regulatory Authority
Illinois Attorney General
Franchise Bureau

500 S. Second Street
Springfield, IL 62706
(217) 782-4465

INDIANA

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

334 North Senate Avenue
Indianapolis, IN 46204-1708

Regulatory Authority

Indiana Securities Commissioner
Securities Division

Franchise Section

302 W. Washington Street, Room E-111
Indianapolis, IN 46204

(317) 232-6681

IOWA

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

400 East Court Avenue, Suite 110
Des Moines, IA 50309

Agents for Service of Process and State Administrators

Exhibit A (03/2022)




AGENTS FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS AND STATE ADMINISTRATORS

KANSAS

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

112 S.W. Seventh Street, Suite 3C
Topeka, KS 66603

KENTUCKY

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

306 West Main Street, Suite 512
Frankfort, KY 40601

Regulatory Authority

Office of the Attorney General
Consumer Protection Division
1024 Capital Center Drive
Frankfort, KY 40601

(502) 696-5389

LOUISIANA

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

3867 Plaza Tower Drive
Baton Rouge, LA 70816-4378

MAINE

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System
128 State Street, # 3
Augusta, ME 04330

MARYLAND

Registered Agent

The Corporation Trust Incorporated
2405 York Road, Suite 201

Lutherville Timonium, MD 21093-2264

Regulatory Authority

Office of the Attorney General
Division of Securities

200 Saint Paul Place
Baltimore, MD 21202-2020
(410) 576-6360

MASSACHUSETTS
Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

155 Federal Street, Suite 700
Boston, MA 02110

MICHIGAN

Registered Agent

The Corporation Company

40600 Ann Arbor Road East, Suite 201
Plymouth, M1 48170-4675

Regulatory Authority

Michigan Department of Attorney General
Consumer Protection Division

525 W. Ottawa Street

Lansing, MI 48933

(517) 373-7117

MINNESOTA

Registered Agent

CT Corporation System, Inc.
1010 Dale Street North
Saint Paul, MN 55117-5603

Regulatory Authority
Commissioner of Commerce
Department of Commerce
85 7th Place East, Suite 280
St. Paul, MN 55101-2198
(651) 539-1600

Agents for Service of Process and State Administrators
Exhibit A (03/2022)




AGENTS FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS AND STATE ADMINISTRATORS

MISSISSIPPI

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

645 Lakeland East Drive, Suite 101
Flowood, MS 39232

MISSOURI
Reqistered Agent

C T Corporation System
120 South Central Avenue
Clayton, MO 63105

MONTANA
Registered Agent

C T Corporation System
3011 American Way
Missoula, MT 59808

NAVAJO NATION

Registered Agent

J. Nicci Unsicker, Attorney at Law
412 West Arrington Street
Farmington, NM 87401

NEBRASKA
Registered Agent

C T Corporation System
5601 South 59th Street
Lincoln, NE 68516

Regulatory Authority
Department of Banking and Finance

Securities

P.O. Box 95006

1526 K Street, Suite 300
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508
(402) 471-2171

Financial Institutions Division, Bureau of

NEVADA

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

701 S. Carson Street, Suite 200
Carson City, NV 89701

NEW HAMPSHIRE
Registered Agent

C T Corporation System
2 ¥ Beacon Street
Concord, NH 03301-4447

NEW JERSEY
Registered Agent

C T Corporation System
820 Bear Tavern Road
West Trenton, NJ 08628

NEW MEXICO
Registered Agent

C T Corporation System
206 S Coronado Avenue
Espanola, NM 87532-2792

NEW YORK
Registered Agent

C T Corporation System
28 Liberty Street

New York, NY 10005

Regulatory Authority

NYS Department of Law
Investor Protection Bureau
28 Liberty Street, 21 Floor
New York, NY 10005
(212) 416-8222

Agents for Service of Process and State Administrators
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AGENTS FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS AND STATE ADMINISTRATORS

NORTH CAROLINA
Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

160 Mine Lake Court, Suite 200
Raleigh, NC 27615-6417

NORTH DAKOTA
Reqistered Agent

C T Corporation System
120 West Sweet Avenue
Bismarck, ND 58504-5566

Requlatory Authority

North Dakota Securities Department
600 East Boulevard Avenue

State Capitol — Fifth Floor
Bismarck, ND 58505-0510

(701) 328-4712

OHIO

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

4400 Easton Commons Way, Suite 125
Columbus, OH 43219-6223

OKLAHOMA

Registered Agent

The Corporation Company
1833 South Morgan Road
Oklahoma City, OK 73128

OREGON

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

780 Commercial Street-SE, Suite 100
Salem, OR 97301-3465

Regulatory Authority

Department of Consumer and Business Services
Division of Finance and Corporate Securities
350 Winter St. NE, Room 410

Salem, OR 97301

(503) 986-2200

PENNSYLVANIA
Registered Agent

C T Corporation System
600 N 2" Street, Suite 401
Harrisburg, PA 17101-1071

RHODE ISLAND

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

450 Veterans Memorial Parkway, Suite 7A
East Providence, R1 02914

Regulatory Authority

Department of Business Regulation
Securities Division

John O. Pastore Complex — Building 69-1
1511 Pontiac Avenue

Cranston, RI1 02920

(401) 462-9527

SOUTH CAROLINA
Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

2 Office Park Court, Suite 103
Columbia, SC 29223

Agents for Service of Process and State Administrators
Exhibit A (03/2022)




AGENTS FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS AND STATE ADMINISTRATORS

SOUTH DAKOTA

Registered Agent / Agent for Service of Process

TENNESSEE
Reqistered Agent

C T Corporation System
319 South Coteau Street
Pierre, SD 57501

Director of Division of Insurance
Department of Labor and Regulation
Securities Regulation

124 S Euclid, Suite 104

Pierre, SD 57501

Regulatory Authority

Department of Labor and Regulation
Division of Insurance

Securities Regulation

124 S Euclid, Suite 104

Pierre, SD 57501

(605) 773-3563

C T Corporation System
300 Montvue Road
Knoxville, TN 37919-5546

TEXAS

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System
1999 Bryan Street, Suite 900
Dallas, TX 75201

Regulatory Authority
Secretary of State
Registrations Unit
1019 Brazos Street
Austin, TX 78701
(512) 475-0775

UTAH

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

1108 East South Union Avenue
Midvale, UT 84047

Reqgulatory Authority
Department of Commerce
Division of Consumer Protection
160 E. 300 South

Salt Lake City, UT 84111

(801) 530-6601

VERMONT

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

17 G W Tatro Drive
Jeffersonville, VT 05464-9919

VIRGINIA

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System
4701 Cox Road, Suite 285
Glen Allen, VA 23060-6802

Regulatory Authority

Director, Securities and Retail Franchising
Division

State Corporation Commission

1300 E. Main Street, 9th Floor

Richmond, VA 23219

(804) 371-9051

Agents for Service of Process and State Administrators
Exhibit A (03/2022)




AGENTS FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS AND STATE ADMINISTRATORS

WASHINGTON

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

711 Capitol Way S, Suite 204
Olympia, WA 98501-1267

Regulatory Authority

Washington Dept. of Financial Institutions
Securities Division

150 Israel Road SW

Tumwater, WA 98501

(360) 902-8760

WEST VIRGINIA

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

5098 Washington St. W. Ste. 407
Charleston, WV 25313-1561

WISCONSIN

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System

301 S. Bedford Street, Suite 1
Madison, W1 53703

Regulatory Authority

Office of the Commissioner of Securities
Department of Financial Institutions
4822 Madison Yards Way, North Tower
Madison, W1 53705

(608) 261-9555

WYOMING

Registered Agent

C T Corporation System
1908 Thomes Avenue
Cheyenne, WY 82001-3527

Agents for Service of Process and State Administrators
Exhibit A (03/2022)
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements, related notes
and other information included in this annual report. The consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and include certain amounts based on management’s
estimates and assumptions. Other financial information presented in the annual report is derived from the consolidated financial
statements.

Management is also responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, and for performing
an assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021. Internal control over financial
reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Our system of internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the Company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Management performed an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2021 based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on our assessment and those criteria, management
determined that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2021.

The scope of management's assessment of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting included all of
the Company's consolidated operations except for the operations of FRG, LLC, which the Company acquired in December 2021.
FRG, LLC operations represented $1,103 million of the Company's consolidated total assets (which includes acquisition accounting
adjustments within the scope of the assessment) and $5 million of the Company's consolidated total revenues as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2021.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021 has been audited by KPMG
LLP, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in its report which is included herein.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors
Restaurant Brands International Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Restaurant Brands International Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss),
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes
(collectively, the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(“PCAOB?”), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission,
and our report dated February 23, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining,
on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements
that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are
material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a
whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or
on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Gross unrecognized tax benefits

As discussed in Notes 2 and 11 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company records a liability for unrecognized tax
benefits associated with uncertain tax positions. The Company recognizes tax benefits from tax positions only if there is more
than a 50% likelihood that the tax positions will be sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities, based on the
technical merits of the positions. As of December 31, 2021, the Company has recorded gross unrecognized tax benefits,
excluding associated interest and penalties, of $437 million.
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We identified the assessment of gross unrecognized tax benefits resulting from certain tax planning strategies implemented
during the year as a critical audit matter. Identifying and determining uncertain tax positions arising from implementing tax
planning strategies involved a number of judgments and assumptions, which included complex considerations of tax law. As
a result, subjective and complex auditor judgment, including the involvement of tax professionals with specialized skills and
knowledge, was required to evaluate the Company’s interpretation of tax law and its determination of which tax positions
have more than a 50% likelihood of being sustained upon examination.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and
tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls related to the Company’s gross unrecognized tax benefits
process, including controls related to 1) interpreting tax law, 2) identifying significant uncertain tax positions arising from tax
planning strategies that were implemented during the year, 3) evaluating the tax consequences of the related strategies, and 4)
evaluating which of the Company’s tax positions may not be sustained upon examination. In addition, we involved tax
professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in:

*  obtaining an understanding of the Company’s tax planning strategies

* evaluating the Company’s interpretation of the relevant tax laws by developing an independent assessment

+ evaluating the Company’s identification of uncertain tax positions to assess the tax consequences of these related tax
positions

* performing an independent assessment of the Company’s tax positions and comparing our assessment to the
Company’s assessment.

(signed) KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company's auditor since 1989.

Miami, Florida
February 23, 2022
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors
Restaurant Brands International Inc.:

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Restaurant Brands International Inc. and subsidiaries’ (the “Company”) internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(“PCAOB?”), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements
of operations, comprehensive income (loss), shareholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively, the “consolidated financial statements”), and our report dated February 23,
2022 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

The Company acquired FRG, LLC during 2021, and management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of the Company's
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, FRG, LLC's internal control over financial reporting associated with
total assets of $1,103 million and total revenues of $5 million included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2021. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also excluded an
evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of FRG, LLC.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based
on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control
based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect
on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in

conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

(signed) KPMG LLP
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Miami, Florida
February 23, 2022
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RESTAURANT BRANDS INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In millions of U.S. dollars, except share data)

As of December 31,
2021 2020
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,087 $ 1,560
Accounts and notes receivable, net of allowance of $18 and $42, respectively 547 536
Inventories, net 96 96
Prepaids and other current assets 86 72
Total current assets 1,816 2,264
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $979 and $879,
respectively 2,035 2,031
Operating lease assets, net 1,130 1,152
Intangible assets, net 11,417 10,701
Goodwill 6,006 5,739
Net investment in property leased to franchisees 80 66
Other assets, net 762 824
Total assets $ 23246 $ 22,777
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts and drafts payable $ 614 $ 464
Other accrued liabilities 947 835
Gift card liability 221 191
Current portion of long-term debt and finance leases 96 111
Total current liabilities 1,878 1,601
Long-term debt, net of current portion 12,916 12,397
Finance leases, net of current portion 333 315
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion 1,070 1,082
Other liabilities, net 1,822 2,236
Deferred income taxes, net 1,374 1,425
Total liabilities 19,393 19,056
Commitments and contingencies (Note 17)
Shareholders’ equity:
Common shares, no par value; Unlimited shares authorized at December 31, 2021 and December
31, 2020; 309,025,068 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2021; 304,718,749 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 2,156 2,399
Retained earnings 791 622
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (710) (854)
Total Restaurant Brands International Inc. shareholders’ equity 2,237 2,167
Noncontrolling interests 1,616 1,554
Total shareholders’ equity 3,853 3,721
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 23,246 $ 22,777
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors:
By: /s/ Daniel Schwartz By: /s/ Ali Hedayat
Daniel Schwartz, Co-Chairman Ali Hedayat, Director
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RESTAURANT BRANDS INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In millions of U.S. dollars, except per share data)

Revenues:
Sales
Franchise and property revenues
Advertising revenues
Total revenues
Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of sales
Franchise and property expenses
Advertising expenses
General and administrative expenses
(Income) loss from equity method investments
Other operating expenses (income), net
Total operating costs and expenses
Income from operations
Interest expense, net
Loss on early extinguishment of debt
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense

Net income

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (Note 13)

Net income attributable to common shareholders
Earnings per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares outstanding (in millions):
Basic
Diluted

2021 2020 2019
$ 2,378 $ 2,013 2,362
2,452 2,121 2,381

909 834 860

5,739 4,968 5,603

1,890 1,610 1,813

489 515 533

962 870 865

508 407 406

4 39 (11)

7 105 (10)

3,860 3,546 3,596

1,879 1,422 2,007

505 508 532

11 98 23

1,363 816 1,452

110 66 341

1,253 750 1,111

415 264 468

$ 838 $ 486 643
$ 271 $ 1.61 2.40
$ 269 $ 1.60 2.37
310 302 268

464 468 469

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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RESTAURANT BRANDS INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(In millions of U.S. dollars)

2021 2020 2019

Net income $ 1,253  $ 750 $ 1,111
Foreign currency translation adjustment (67) 332 409
Net change in fair value of net investment hedges, net of tax of $15, $60, and $32 111 (242) (86)
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax of $(36), $91, and $29 96 (244) (77)
Amounts reclassified to earnings of cash flow hedges, net of tax of $(36), $(27), and
$(6) 96 73 15
Gain (loss) recognized on defined benefit pension plans and other items, net of tax of
$(3), $3, and $1 15 (16) 2

Other comprehensive income (loss) 251 97) 259
Comprehensive income (loss) 1,504 653 1,370
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests 499 224 571
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to common shareholders $ 1,005 § 429 § 799

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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RESTAURANT BRANDS INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

Balances at December 31, 2018
Cumulative effect adjustment (Note 10)
Stock option exercises
Share-based compensation
Issuance of shares
Dividends declared on common shares ($2.00 per share)
Dividend equivalents declared on restricted stock units

Distributions declared by Partnership on partnership
exchangeable units ($2.00 per unit)

Exchange of Partnership exchangeable units for RBI
common shares

Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Balances at December 31, 2019
Stock option exercises
Share-based compensation
Issuance of shares
Dividends declared on common shares ($2.08 per share)
Dividend equivalents declared on restricted stock units

Distributions declared by Partnership on partnership
exchangeable units ($2.08 per units)

Repurchase of Partnership exchangeable units

Exchange of Partnership exchangeable units for RBI
common shares

Other
Restaurant VIE contributions (distributions)
Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Balances at December 31, 2020
Stock option exercises
Share-based compensation
Issuance of shares
Dividends declared on common shares ($2.12 per share)
Dividend equivalents declared on restricted stock units

Distributions declared by Partnership on partnership
exchangeable units ($2.12 per unit)

Repurchase of RBI common shares

Exchange of Partnership exchangeable units for RBI
common shares

Restaurant VIE contributions (distributions)
Net income

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Balances at December 31, 2021

(In millions of U.S. dollars, except shares)

Accumulated
Issued Common Shares Retained Com]())rt:lf:nsive Noncontrolling
Shares Amount Earnings Income (Loss) Interests Total
251,532,493 $ 1,737 § 674 $ (800) $ 2,007 3,618
— — 12 — 9 21
4,495,897 102 — — — 102
— 68 — — — 68
236,299 7 — — — 7
— — (545) — — (545)
— 9 ©) _ — _
— — — — (382) (382)
42,016,392 555 — (119) (436) —
— — 643 — 468 1,111
— — — 156 103 259
298,281,081 $ 2,478 § 775§ (763) $ 1,769 4,259
2,447,627 82 — — — 82
— 74 — — — 74
469,145 6 — — — 6
— — (631) — — (631)
— 8 ®) _ — _
— — — — (336) (336)
— (293) — (22) (65) (380)
3,636,169 48 — (12) (36) —
(115,273) 4) — — — 4)
— — — — @ @
— — 486 — 264 750
— — — (57) (40) 7
304,718,749 $ 2399 § 622 $ 854) § 1,554 3,721
1,594,146 60 — — — 60
— 88 — — — 88
1,839,941 12 — — — 12
== = (658) == == (658)
— 11 (11) — — —
— — — — (318) (318)
(9,247,648) (551) — — — (551)
10,119,880 137 — (23) (114) —
— — — — (5 ()
— — 838 — 415 1,253
— — — 167 84 251
309,025,068 $ 2,156 § 791 $ (710) § 1,616 § 3,853

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

10



Table of Contents

RESTAURANT BRANDS INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In millions of U.S. dollars)

2021 2020 2019
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 1,253 $ 750§ 1,111
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 201 189 185
Premiums paid and non-cash loss on early extinguishment of debt 11 97 16
Amortization of deferred financing costs and debt issuance discount 27 26 29
(Income) loss from equity method investments 4 39 (1D
Loss (gain) on remeasurement of foreign denominated transactions (76) 100 (14)
Net (gains) losses on derivatives 87 32 (49)
Share-based compensation and non-cash incentive compensation expense 102 84 74
Deferred income taxes 6) (208) 58
Other (16) 28 6
Changes in current assets and liabilities, excluding acquisitions and dispositions:
Accounts and notes receivable 8 (30) (53)
Inventories and prepaids and other current assets 12 (10) (15)
Accounts and drafts payable 149 (183) 112
Other accrued liabilities and gift card liability 67 6 57
Tenant inducements paid to franchisees (20) (22) (54)
Other long-term assets and liabilities (78) 23 138
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,726 921 1,476
Cash flows from investing activities:
Payments for property and equipment (106) (117) (62)
Net proceeds from disposal of assets, restaurant closures and refranchisings 16 12 8
Net payment for purchase of Firehouse Subs, net of cash acquired (1,004) — —
Settlement/sale of derivatives, net 5 33 24
Other investing activities, net (14) @) —
Net cash used for investing activities (1,103) (79) (30)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from revolving line of credit and long-term debt 1,335 5,235 2,250
Repayments of revolving line of credit, long-term debt and finance leases (889) (4,708) (2,266)
Payment of financing costs (19) (43) (50)
Payment of dividends on common shares and distributions on Partnership
exchangeable units (974) (959) (901)
Repurchase of Partnership exchangeable units — (380) —
Repurchase of common shares (551) — —
Proceeds from stock option exercises 60 82 102
(Payments) proceeds from derivatives (629)] (46) 23
Other financing activities, net 4) 2) —
Net cash used for financing activities (1,093) (821) (842)
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 3) 6 16
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (473) 27 620
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 1,560 1,533 913
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 1,087 $ 1,560 $ 1,533
Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Interest paid $ 404 $ 463 § 584
Income taxes paid $ 256 $ 267 $ 248

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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RESTAURANT BRANDS INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Description of Business and Organization

Description of Business

2

Restaurant Brands International Inc. (the “Company,” “RBL” “we,” “us” or “our”) is a Canadian corporation that serves as the
sole general partner of Restaurant Brands International Limited Partnership (the “Partnership”). On December 15, 2021 we acquired
FRG, LLC (“Firehouse Subs”). We franchise and operate quick service restaurants serving premium coffee and other beverage and
food products under the 7im Hortons® brand (“Tim Hortons” or “TH”), fast food hamburgers principally under the Burger King®
brand (“Burger King” or “BK”), chicken under the Popeyes® brand (“Popeyes” or “PLK”) and sandwiches under the Firehouse
Subs® brand (“Firehouse” or “FHS”). We are one of the world’s largest quick service restaurant, or QSR, companies as measured by
total number of restaurants. As of December 31, 2021, we franchised or owned 5,291 Tim Hortons restaurants, 19,247 Burger King
restaurants, 3,705 Popeyes restaurants, and 1,213 Firehouse restaurants, for a total of 29,456 restaurants, and operate in more than 100
countries. Approximately 100% of current system-wide restaurants are franchised.

All references to “$” or “dollars” are to the currency of the United States unless otherwise indicated. All references to “Canadian
dollars” or “C$” are to the currency of Canada unless otherwise indicated.

Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies
Fiscal Year

We operate on a monthly calendar, with a fiscal year that ends on December 31. TH, BK and PLK operate on the same fiscal
year. The fiscal year of FHS ends on the Sunday on or before December 31 which was December 26, 2021.

Basis of Presentation

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States (“GAAP”) and related rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission requires our management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the related disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements (the "Financial Statements") include our accounts and the accounts of entities in which we
have a controlling financial interest, the usual condition of which is ownership of a majority voting interest. All material intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Investments in other affiliates that are owned 50% or less where we
have significant influence are accounted for by the equity method.

We are the sole general partner of Partnership and, as such we have the exclusive right, power and authority to manage, control,
administer and operate the business and affairs and to make decisions regarding the undertaking and business of Partnership, subject to
the terms of the partnership agreement of Partnership (“partnership agreement”) and applicable laws. As a result, we consolidate the
results of Partnership and record a noncontrolling interest in our consolidated balance sheets and statements of operations with respect
to the remaining economic interest in Partnership we do not hold.

We also consider for consolidation entities in which we have certain interests, where the controlling financial interest may be
achieved through arrangements that do not involve voting interests. Such an entity, known as a variable interest entity (“VIE”), is
required to be consolidated by its primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary is the entity that possesses the power to direct the
activities of the VIE that most significantly impact its economic performance and has the obligation to absorb losses or the right to
receive benefits from the VIE that are significant to it. Our maximum exposure to loss resulting from involvement with VIEs is
attributable to accounts and notes receivable balances, investment balances, outstanding loan guarantees and future lease payments,
where applicable.

As our franchise and master franchise arrangements provide the franchise and master franchise entities the power to direct the
activities that most significantly impact their economic performance, we do not consider ourselves the primary beneficiary of any such
entity that might be a VIE.

Tim Hortons has historically entered into certain arrangements in which an operator acquires the right to operate a restaurant,
but Tim Hortons owns the restaurant’s assets. In these arrangements, Tim Hortons has the ability to determine which operators
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manage the restaurants and for what duration. We perform an analysis to determine if the legal entity in which operations are
conducted is a VIE and consolidate a VIE entity if we also determine Tim Hortons is the entity’s primary beneficiary (“Restaurant
VIEs”). As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we determined that we are the primary beneficiary of 46 and 38 Restaurant VIEs,
respectively, and accordingly, have consolidated the results of operations, assets and liabilities, and cash flows of these Restaurant
VIEs in our Financial Statements.

Assets and liabilities related to consolidated VIEs are not significant to our total consolidated assets and liabilities. Liabilities
recognized as a result of consolidating these VIEs do not necessarily represent additional claims on our general assets; rather, they
represent claims against the specific assets of the consolidated VIEs. Conversely, assets recognized as a result of consolidating these
VIEs do not represent additional assets that could be used to satisfy claims by our creditors as they are not legally included within our
general assets.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes to the consolidated financial
statements have been reclassified in order to be comparable with the current year classifications. These consist of the 2020 and 2019
reclassification of advertising fund contributions from Franchise and property revenues to Advertising revenues and advertising fund
expenses from Selling, general and administrative expenses to Advertising expenses, with General and administrative expenses now
presented separately. Depreciation and amortization expenses related to the advertising funds for 2020 and 2019 have also been
reclassified from Franchise and property expenses to Advertising expenses. These reclassifications did not arise as a result of any
changes to accounting policies and relate entirely to presentation with no effect on previously reported net income.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transaction Gains and Losses

Our functional currency is the U.S. dollar, since our term loans and senior secured notes are denominated in U.S. dollars, and
the principal market for our common shares is the U.S. The functional currency of each of our operating subsidiaries is generally the
currency of the economic environment in which the subsidiary primarily does business. Our foreign subsidiaries’ financial statements
are translated into U.S. dollars using the foreign exchange rates applicable to the dates of the financial statements. Assets and
liabilities are translated using the end-of-period spot foreign exchange rates. Income, expenses and cash flows are translated at the
average foreign exchange rates for each period. Equity accounts are translated at historical foreign exchange rates. The effects of these
translation adjustments are reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI”) in the consolidated
statements of shareholders’ equity.

For any transaction that is denominated in a currency different from the entity’s functional currency, we record a gain or loss
based on the difference between the foreign exchange rate at the transaction date and the foreign exchange rate at the transaction
settlement date (or rate at period end, if unsettled) which is included within other operating expenses (income), net in the consolidated
statements of operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

All highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and credit card receivables are considered cash
equivalents.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or net realizable value and consist primarily of raw materials such as green coffee
beans and finished goods such as new equipment, parts, paper supplies and restaurant food items. The moving average method is used
to determine the cost of raw materials and finished goods inventories held for sale to Tim Hortons franchisees.

Property and Equipment, net

We record property and equipment at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization, which is recognized using
the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: (i) buildings and improvements — up to 40 years; (ii) restaurant
equipment — up to 17 years; (iii) furniture, fixtures and other — up to 10 years; and (iv) manufacturing equipment — up to 25 years.
Leasehold improvements to properties where we are the lessee are amortized over the lesser of the remaining term of the lease or the
estimated useful life of the improvement.

Major improvements are capitalized, while maintenance and repairs are expensed when incurred.
Leases

In all leases, whether we are the lessor or lessee, we define lease term as the noncancellable term of the lease plus any renewals
covered by renewal options that are reasonably certain of exercise based on our assessment of the economic factors relevant to the

13



Table of Contents

lessee. The noncancellable term of the lease commences on the date the lessor makes the underlying property in the lease available to
the lessee, irrespective of when lease payments begin under the contract.

Lessor Accounting

We recognize lease payments for operating leases as property revenue on a straight-line basis over the lease term, and property
revenue is presented net of any related sales tax. Lease incentive payments we make to lessees are amortized as a reduction in property
revenue over the lease term. We account for reimbursements of maintenance and property tax costs paid to us by lessees as property
revenue.

We also have net investments in properties leased to franchisees, which meet the criteria of sales-type leases or met the criteria
of direct financing leases under the previous accounting guidance. Investments in sales-type leases and direct financing leases are
recorded on a net basis. Profit or loss on sales-type leases is recognized at lease commencement and recorded in other operating
expenses (income), net. Unearned income on direct financing leases is deferred, included in the net investment in the lease, and
recognized over the lease term yielding a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment in the lease.

We recognize variable lease payment income in the period when changes in facts and circumstances on which the variable lease
payments are based occur.

Lessee Accounting

In leases where we are the lessee, we recognize a right-of-use (“ROU”) asset and lease liability at lease commencement, which
are measured by discounting lease payments using our incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. We determine the incremental
borrowing rate applicable to each lease by reference to our outstanding secured borrowings and implied spreads over the risk-free
discount rates that correspond to the term of each lease, as adjusted for the currency of the lease. Subsequent amortization of the ROU
asset and accretion of the lease liability for an operating lease is recognized as a single lease cost, on a straight-line basis, over the
lease term. Reductions of the ROU asset and the change in the lease liability are included in changes in Other long-term assets and
liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.

A finance lease ROU asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lesser of the useful life of the leased asset or lease
term. Interest on each finance lease liability is determined as the amount that results in a constant periodic discount rate on the
remaining balance of the liability. Operating lease and finance lease ROU assets are assessed for impairment in accordance with our
long-lived asset impairment policy.

We reassess lease classification and remeasure ROU assets and lease liabilities when a lease is modified and that modification is
not accounted for as a separate contract or upon certain other events that require reassessment. Maintenance and property tax expenses
are accounted for on an accrual basis as variable lease cost.

We recognize variable lease cost in the period when changes in facts and circumstances on which the variable lease payments
are based occur.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets Not Subject to Amortization

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in connection
with the acquisition of Firechouse Subs in 2021, the acquisition of Popeyes in 2017, the acquisition of Tim Hortons in 2014 and the
acquisition of Burger King Holdings, Inc. by 3G Capital Partners Ltd. in 2010. Our indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of the 7im
Hortons brand, the Burger King brand, the Popeyes brand and the Firehouse Subs brand (each a “Brand” and together, the “Brands”).
Goodwill and the Brands are tested for impairment at least annually as of October 1 of each year and more often if an event occurs or
circumstances change which indicate impairment might exist. Our annual impairment tests of goodwill and the Brands may be
completed through qualitative assessments. We may elect to bypass the qualitative assessment and proceed directly to a quantitative
impairment test for any reporting unit or Brand in any period. We can resume the qualitative assessment for any reporting unit or
Brand in any subsequent period.

Under a qualitative approach, our impairment review for goodwill consists of an assessment of whether it is more-likely-than-not
that a reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying amount. If we elect to bypass the qualitative assessment for any reporting unit,
or if a qualitative assessment indicates it is more-likely-than-not that the estimated carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair
value, we perform a quantitative goodwill impairment test that requires us to estimate the fair value of the reporting unit. If the fair
value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, we will measure any goodwill impairment loss as the amount by which the
carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit.

Under a qualitative approach, our impairment review for the Brands consists of an assessment of whether it is more-likely-than-
not that a Brand’s fair value is less than its carrying amount. If we elect to bypass the qualitative assessment for a Brand, or if a
qualitative assessment indicates it is more-likely-than-not that the estimated carrying value of a Brand exceeds its fair value, we

14



Table of Contents

estimate the fair value of the Brand and compare it to its carrying amount. If the carrying amount exceeds fair value, an impairment
loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess.

We completed our impairment tests for goodwill and the Brands as of October 1, 2021, 2020 and 2019 and no impairment
resulted.

Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, intangible assets subject to amortization and lease right-of-use assets, are
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset or asset group may
not be recoverable. Some of the events or changes in circumstances that would trigger an impairment review include, but are not
limited to, bankruptcy proceedings or other significant financial distress of a lessee; significant negative industry or economic trends;
knowledge of transactions involving the sale of similar property at amounts below the carrying value; or our expectation to dispose of
long-lived assets before the end of their estimated useful lives. The impairment test for long-lived assets requires us to assess the
recoverability of long-lived assets by comparing their net carrying value to the sum of undiscounted estimated future cash flows
directly associated with and arising from use and eventual disposition of the assets or asset group. Long-lived assets are grouped for
recognition and measurement of impairment at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash
flows of other assets. If the net carrying value of a group of long-lived assets exceeds the sum of related undiscounted estimated future
cash flows, we record an impairment charge equal to the excess, if any, of the net carrying value over fair value.

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss) (“OCI”) refers to revenues, expenses, gains and losses that are included in comprehensive
income (loss), but are excluded from net income (loss) as these amounts are recorded directly as an adjustment to shareholders’ equity,
net of tax. Our other comprehensive income (loss) is primarily comprised of unrealized gains and losses on foreign currency
translation adjustments and unrealized gains and losses on hedging activity, net of tax.

Derivative Financial Instruments

We recognize and measure all derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets.
We may enter into derivatives that are not designated as hedging instruments for accounting purposes, but which largely offset the
economic impact of certain transactions.

Gains or losses resulting from changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognized in earnings or recorded in other
comprehensive income (loss) and recognized in the consolidated statements of operations when the hedged item affects earnings,
depending on the purpose of the derivatives and whether they qualify for, and we have applied, hedge accounting treatment.

When applying hedge accounting, we designate at a derivative’s inception, the specific assets, liabilities or future commitments
being hedged, and assess the hedge’s effectiveness at inception and on an ongoing basis. We discontinue hedge accounting when:
(i) we determine that the cash flow derivative is no longer effective in offsetting changes in the cash flows of a hedged item; (ii) the
derivative expires or is sold, terminated or exercised; (iii) it is no longer probable that the forecasted transaction will occur; or
(iv) management determines that designation of the derivatives as a hedge instrument is no longer appropriate. We do not enter into or
hold derivatives for speculative purposes.

Disclosures about Fair Value

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants in the principal market, or if none exists, the most advantageous market, for the specific asset or liability
at the measurement date (the exit price). The fair value is based on assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability. The fair values are assigned a level within the fair value hierarchy, depending on the source of the inputs into the
calculation, as follows:

Level 1 Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or
indirectly.

Level 3 Unobservable inputs reflecting management’s own assumptions about the inputs used in pricing the asset or liability.

The carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, accounts and notes receivable and accounts and drafts payable approximate
fair value based on the short-term nature of these amounts.

We carry all of our derivatives at fair value and value them using various pricing models or discounted cash flow analysis that
incorporate observable market parameters, such as interest rate yield curves and currency rates, which are Level 2 inputs. Derivative
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valuations incorporate credit risk adjustments that are necessary to reflect the probability of default by the counterparty or us. For
disclosures about the fair value measurements of our derivative instruments, see Note 12, Derivative Instruments.

The following table presents the fair value of our variable rate term debt and senior notes, estimated using inputs based on bid
and offer prices that are Level 2 inputs, and principal carrying amount (in millions):

As of December 31,
2021 2020
Fair value of our variable term debt and senior notes $ 12,851 $ 12,477
Principal carrying amount of our variable term debt and senior notes 12,943 12,453

The determinations of fair values of certain tangible and intangible assets for purposes of the application of the acquisition
method of accounting to the acquisition of Firechouse Subs were based on Level 3 inputs. The determination of fair values of our
reporting units and the determination of the fair value of the Brands for impairment testing using a quantitative approach during 2020
and 2019 were based upon Level 3 inputs.

Revenue Recognition
Sales

Sales consist primarily of supply chain sales, which represent sales of products, supplies and restaurant equipment to franchisees,
as well as sales to retailers and are presented net of any related sales tax. Orders placed by customers specify the goods to be delivered
and transaction prices for supply chain sales. Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control over ordered items, generally upon
delivery to the customer, which is when the customer obtains physical possession of the goods, legal title is transferred, the customer
has all risks and rewards of ownership and an obligation to pay for the goods is created. Shipping and handling costs associated with
outbound freight for supply chain sales are accounted for as fulfillment costs and classified as cost of sales.

To a much lesser extent, sales also include Company restaurant sales (including Restaurant VIEs), which consist of sales to
restaurant guests. Revenue from Company restaurant sales is recognized at the point of sale. Taxes assessed by a governmental
authority that we collect are excluded from revenue.

Franchise revenues and advertising revenues

Franchise revenues and advertising revenues consist primarily of royalties, advertising fund contributions, initial and renewal
franchise fees and upfront fees from development agreements and master franchise and development agreements (“MFDAs”). Under
franchise agreements, we provide franchisees with (i) a franchise license, which includes a license to use our intellectual property and,
in those markets where our subsidiaries manage an advertising fund, advertising and promotion management, (ii) pre-opening
services, such as training and inspections, and (iii) ongoing services, such as development of training materials and menu items and
restaurant monitoring and inspections. The services we provide under franchise agreements are highly interrelated and dependent upon
the franchise license and we concluded the services do not represent individually distinct performance obligations. Consequently, we
bundle the franchise license performance obligation and promises to provide services into a single performance obligation, which we
satisfy by providing a right to use our intellectual property over the term of each franchise agreement.

Royalties, including franchisee contributions to advertising funds managed by our subsidiaries, are calculated as a percentage of
franchise restaurant sales over the term of the franchise agreement. Under our franchise agreements, advertising contributions received
from franchisees must be spent on advertising, product development, marketing and related activities. Initial and renewal franchise
fees are payable by the franchisee upon a new restaurant opening or renewal of an existing franchise agreement. Our franchise
agreement royalties, inclusive of advertising fund contributions, represent sales-based royalties that are related entirely to our
performance obligation under the franchise agreement and are recognized as franchise sales occur. We separately classify advertising
fund contributions in Advertising revenues while all other franchise revenues are classified in Franchise and property revenues.
Additionally, initial and renewal franchise fees are recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the respective
agreement. Our performance obligation under development agreements other than MFDAs generally consists of an obligation to grant
exclusive development rights over a stated term. These development rights are not distinct from franchise agreements, so upfront fees
paid by franchisees for exclusive development rights are deferred and apportioned to each franchise restaurant opened by the
franchisee. The pro rata amount apportioned to each restaurant is accounted for as an initial franchise fee.

We have a distinct performance obligation under our MFDAS to grant subfranchising rights over a stated term. Under the terms
of MFDAs, we typically either receive an upfront fee paid in cash and/or receive noncash consideration in the form of an equity
interest in the master franchisee or an affiliate of the master franchisee. We account for noncash consideration as investments in the
applicable equity method investee and recognize revenue in an amount equal to the fair value of the equity interest received. Upfront
fees from master franchisees, including the fair value of noncash consideration, are deferred and amortized over the MFDA term on a
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straight-line basis. We may recognize unamortized upfront fees when a contract with a franchisee or master franchisee is modified and
is accounted for as a termination of the existing contract.

The portion of gift cards sold to customers which are never redeemed is commonly referred to as gift card breakage. We
recognize gift card breakage income proportionately as each gift card is redeemed using an estimated breakage rate based on our
historical experience.

Property revenues

Property revenues consists of rental income from properties we lease or sublease to franchisees. Property revenues are
accounted for in accordance with applicable accounting guidance for leases and are excluded from the scope of revenue recognition
guidance.

Advertising and Promotional Costs

Company restaurants and franchise restaurants contribute to advertising funds that our subsidiaries manage in the United States
and Canada and certain other international markets. The advertising funds expense the production costs of advertising when the
advertisements are first aired or displayed. All other advertising and promotional costs are expensed in the period incurred. Under our
franchise agreements, advertising contributions received from franchisees must be spent on advertising, product development,
marketing and related activities. The advertising contributions by Company restaurants (including Restaurant VIEs) are eliminated in
consolidation.

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs are amortized over the term of the related debt agreement into interest expense using the effective
interest method.

Income Taxes

Amounts in the Financial Statements related to income taxes are calculated using the principles of ASC Topic 740, Income
Taxes. Under these principles, deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect the impact of temporary differences between the amounts of
assets and liabilities recognized for financial reporting purposes and the amounts recognized for tax purposes, as well as tax credit
carry-forwards and loss carry-forwards. These deferred taxes are measured by applying currently enacted tax rates. A deferred tax
asset is recognized when it is considered more-likely-than-not to be realized. The effects of changes in tax rates on deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognized in income in the year in which the law is enacted. A valuation allowance reduces deferred tax assets
when it is more-likely-than-not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

We recognize positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return in the Financial Statements when it is more-likely-than-not
(i.e., a likelihood of more than 50%) that the position would be sustained upon examination by tax authorities. A recognized tax
position is then measured at the largest amount of benefit with greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement.

Translation gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement of foreign deferred tax assets or liabilities denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency are classified as other operating expenses (income), net in the consolidated statements of
operations.

Share-based Compensation

Compensation expense related to the issuance of share-based awards to our employees is measured at fair value on the grant
date. We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value stock options. The fair value of restricted stock units is based on the
closing price of our stock at the award date. If applicable, our total shareholder return relative to our peer group is incorporated into
the underlying assumptions using a Monte Carlo simulation valuation model to calculate grant date fair value for performance based
awards with a market condition. The compensation expense for awards that vest over a future service period is recognized over the
requisite service period on a straight-line basis, adjusted for estimated forfeitures of awards that are not expected to vest. We use
historical data to estimate forfeitures for share-based awards. Upon the end of the service period, compensation expense is adjusted to
account for the actual forfeiture rate. The compensation expense for awards that contain performance conditions is recognized when it
is probable that the performance conditions will be achieved.
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New Accounting Pronouncements

Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes — In December 2019, the FASB issued guidance which simplifies the accounting
for income taxes by removing certain exceptions and by clarifying and amending existing guidance applicable to accounting for
income taxes. The amendment is effective commencing in 2021 with early adoption permitted. The adoption of this new guidance in
2021 did not have a material impact on our Financial Statements.

Accounting Relief for the Transition Away from LIBOR and Certain other Reference Rates — In March 2020 and as clarified in
January 2021, the FASB issued guidance which provides optional expedients and exceptions for applying U.S. GAAP to contracts,
hedging relationships, and other transactions that reference LIBOR or another reference rate expected to be discontinued because of
reference rate reform. This amendment is effective as of March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022. The expedients and exceptions
provided by this new guidance do not apply to contract modifications made and hedging relationships entered into or evaluated after
December 31, 2022, except for hedging relationships existing as of December 31, 2022, that an entity has elected certain optional
expedients for and that are retained through the end of the hedging relationships. During the third quarter of 2021, we adopted certain
of the expedients as it relates to hedge accounting as certain of our debt agreements and hedging relationships bear interest at variable
rates, primarily U.S. dollar LIBOR. The adoption of and future elections under this new guidance did not and are not expected to have

a material impact on our Financial Statements. We will continue to monitor the discontinuance of LIBOR on our debt agreements and
hedging relationships.

Lessors—Certain Leases with Variable Lease Payments — In July 2021, the FASB issued guidance that requires lessors to
classify and account for a lease with variable lease payments that do not depend on a reference index or a rate as an operating lease if
(a) the lease would have been classified as a sales-type lease or a direct financing lease in accordance with lease classification criteria
and (b) the lessor would have otherwise recognized a day-one loss. This amendment is effective in 2022 with early adoption permitted.
This guidance may be applied either retrospectively to leases that commenced or were modified on or after the adoption of lease
guidance we adopted in 2019 or prospectively to leases that commence or are modified on or after the date that this new guidance is
applied. We do not expect that the adoption of this new guidance will have a material impact on our Financial Statements.

Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers— In October 2021, the FASB issued
guidance which requires contract assets and contract liabilities (i.e., unearned revenue) acquired in a business combination to be
recognized and measured in accordance with revenue from contracts with customers guidance. Currently, we recognize contract assets
and contract liabilities at the acquisition date based on fair value estimates, which historically has resulted in a reduction to unearned
revenue on the balance sheet, and therefore, a reduction to revenues that would have otherwise been recorded as an independent entity.
This guidance is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2022 on a prospective basis, with early

adoption permitted. During the fourth quarter of 2021, we adopted this guidance which did not have a material impact on our Financial
Statements.

18



Table of Contents

Note 3. Firehouse Acquisition

On December 15, 2021, we completed the acquisition of Firehouse Subs (the “Firehouse Acquisition””) which complements
RBI's existing portfolio. Like RBI's other brands, the Firehouse Subs brand is managed independently, while benefiting from the
global scale and resources of RBI. The Firehouse Acquisition was accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition
method of accounting.

Total consideration in connection with the Firechouse Acquisition was $1,033 million, subject to post-closing adjustments. The
consideration was funded through cash on hand and $533 million of incremental borrowings under our Term Loan Facility - See Note
9, Long-Term Debt.

Fees and expenses related to the Firehouse Acquisition and related financings (“FHS Transaction costs”) totaled $18 million,
consisting primarily of professional fees and compensation related expenses which are classified as general and administrative
expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

The preliminary allocation of consideration to the net tangible and intangible assets acquired is presented in the table below (in
millions):

December 15, 2021

Total current assets $ 21
Property and equipment 4
Firehouse Subs brand 768
Total liabilities (13)
Total identifiable net assets 780
Goodwill 253
Total consideration $ 1,033

The purchase price allocation reflects preliminary fair value estimates based on management's analysis, including preliminary
work performed by third-party valuation specialists. We will continue to obtain information to assist in determining the fair value of
net assets acquired during the measurement period.

The Firehouse Subs brand has been assigned an indefinite life and, therefore, will not be amortized, but rather tested annually
for impairment. Goodwill attributable to the Firehouse Acquisition will be amortized and deductible for tax purposes. Goodwill is
considered to represent the value associated with the workforce and synergies anticipated to be realized as a combined company. We
have not yet allocated goodwill related to the Firehouse Acquisition to reporting units for goodwill impairment testing purposes.
Goodwill will be allocated to reporting units when the purchase price allocation is finalized during the measurement period.

The results of operations of Firehouse Subs have been included in our consolidated financial statements from the acquisition
date of December 15, 2021 through December 26, 2021, the fiscal year end for FHS. The Firehouse Acquisition is not material to our
consolidated financial statements, and therefore, supplemental pro forma financial information related to the acquisition is not
included herein.
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Note 4. Earnings per Share

An economic interest in Partnership common equity is held by the holders of Class B exchangeable limited partnership units
(the “Partnership exchangeable units”), which is reflected as a noncontrolling interest in our equity. See Note 13, Shareholders’

Equity.

Basic and diluted earnings per share is computed using the weighted average number of shares outstanding for the period. We
apply the treasury stock method to determine the dilutive weighted average common shares represented by outstanding equity awards,
unless the effect of their inclusion is anti-dilutive. The diluted earnings per share calculation assumes conversion of 100% of the
Partnership exchangeable units under the “if converted” method. Accordingly, the numerator is also adjusted to include the earnings

allocated to the holders of noncontrolling interests.

The following table summarizes the basic and diluted earnings per share calculations (in millions, except per share amounts):

Numerator:
Net income attributable to common shareholders - basic
Add: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests

Net income available to common shareholders and noncontrolling interests - diluted

Denominator:

Weighted average common shares - basic

Exchange of noncontrolling interests for common shares (Note 12)
Effect of other dilutive securities

Weighted average common shares - diluted

Basic earnings per share (a)
Diluted earnings per share (a)

Anti-dilutive securities outstanding

(a) Earnings per share may not recalculate exactly as it is calculated based on unrounded numbers.

Note 5. Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment, net, consist of the following (in millions):

Land

Buildings and improvements
Restaurant equipment
Furniture, fixtures, and other
Finance leases

Construction in progress

Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property and equipment, net

2021 2020 2019
$ 838 486 $ 643
411 262 466
$ 1,249 748 § 1,109
310 302 268
151 162 194
3 4 7
464 468 469
$ 2.71 161 § 2.40
$ 2.69 1.60 §$ 2.37
3 6 3
As of December 31,
2021 2020
1,011 $ 1,007
1,200 1,192
193 163
257 242
323 289
30 17
3,014 2,910
(979) (879)
2,035 $ 2,031

Depreciation and amortization expense on property and equipment totaled $148 million for 2021, $140 million for 2020 and

$136 million for 2019.
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Included in our property and equipment, net at December 31, 2021 and 2020 are $246 million and $238 million, respectively, of
assets leased under finance leases (mostly buildings and improvements), net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $77
million and $51 million, respectively.

Note 6. Intangible Assets, net and Goodwill

Intangible assets, net and goodwill consist of the following (in millions):

As of December 31,
2021 2020
Accumulated Accumulated
Gross Amortization Net Gross Amortization Net
Identifiable assets subject to amortization:
Franchise agreements $ 722§ (290) $ 432§ 735 $ (264) $ 471
Favorable leases 104 (63) 41 117 (66) 51
Subtotal 826 (353) 473 852 (330) 522
Indefinite-lived intangible assets:
Tim Hortons brand $ 6,695 $ — $ 6695 $ 6,650 $ — $ 6,650
Burger King brand 2,126 — 2,126 2,174 — 2,174
Popeyes brand 1,355 — 1,355 1,355 — 1,355
Firehouse Subs brand 768 — 768 — — —
Subtotal 10,944 — 10,944 10,179 — 10,179
Intangible assets, net $ 11417 $ 10,701
Goodwill
Tim Hortons segment $ 4,306 $ 4,279
Burger King segment 601 614
Popeyes segment 846 846
Firehouse segment 253 —
Total $ 6,006 $§ 5,739

Amortization expense on intangible assets totaled $41 million for 2021, $43 million for 2020, and $44 million for 2019. The
change in the brands and goodwill balances during 2021 was due to the acquisition of Firchouse Subs and the impact of foreign
currency translation.

As of December 31, 2021, the estimated future amortization expense on identifiable assets subject to amortization is as follows
(in millions):

Twelve-months ended December 31, Amount
2022 $ 39
2023 37
2024 36
2025 34
2026 34
Thereafter 293
Total $ 473
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Note 7. Equity Method Investments

The aggregate carrying amount of our equity method investments was $194 million and $205 million as of December 31, 2021
and 2020, respectively, and is included as a component of Other assets, net in our consolidated balance sheets.

Except for the following equity method investments, no quoted market prices are available for our other equity method
investments. The aggregate market value of our 15.5% equity interest in Carrols Restaurant Group, Inc. (“Carrols”) based on the
quoted market price on December 31, 2021 is approximately $28 million. The aggregate market value of our 9.4% equity interest in
BK Brasil Operagéo ¢ Assessoria a Restaurantes S.A. based on the quoted market price on December 31, 2021 is approximately $28
million. We have evaluated recent declines in the market value of these equity method investments and concluded they are not other
than temporary and as such no impairments have been recognized during 2021.

We have equity interests in entities that own or franchise Tim Hortons or Burger King restaurants. Franchise and property
revenue recognized from franchisees that are owned or franchised by entities in which we have an equity interest consist of the
following (in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Revenues from affiliates:
Royalties $ 350 $ 239 § 290
Advertising revenues 67 50 55
Property revenues 32 32 33
Franchise fees and other revenue 21 14 10
Total $ 470 $ 335 § 388

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had $48 million and $52 million, respectively, of accounts receivable, net from our equity
method investments which were recorded in accounts and notes receivable, net in our consolidated balance sheets.

With respect to our TH business, the most significant equity method investment is our 50.0% joint venture interest with The
Wendy’s Company (the “TIMWEN Partnership”), which jointly holds real estate underlying Canadian combination restaurants.
Distributions received from this joint venture were $16 million, $8 million and $13 million during 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

We recognized rent expense associated with the TIMWEN Partnership of $18 million, $15 million, and $19 million during
2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

(Income) loss from equity method investments reflects our share of investee net income or loss, non-cash dilution gains or losses
from changes in our ownership interests in equity method investees and basis difference amortization. We recorded increases to the
carrying value of our equity method investment balances and non-cash dilution gains in the amounts of $11 million during 2019. No
non-cash dilution gains were recorded during 2021 and 2020. The dilution gains resulted from the issuance of capital stock by our
equity method investees, which reduced our ownership interests in these equity method investments. The dilution gains we recorded in
connection with the issuance of capital stock reflect adjustments to the differences between the amount of underlying equity in the net
assets of equity method investees before and after their issuance of capital stock.
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Note 8. Other Accrued Liabilities and Other Liabilities

Other accrued liabilities (current) and other liabilities, net (non-current) consist of the following (in millions):

Current:
Dividend payable
Interest payable
Accrued compensation and benefits
Taxes payable
Deferred income
Accrued advertising expenses
Restructuring and other provisions
Current portion of operating lease liabilities
Other

Other accrued liabilities

Non-current:
Taxes payable
Contract liabilities (see Note 15)
Derivatives liabilities
Unfavorable leases
Accrued pension
Deferred income
Other

Other liabilities, net

Note 9. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consist of the following (in millions):

Term Loan B
Term Loan A
4.25% First Lien Senior Notes due 2024
3.875% First Lien Senior Notes due 2028
5.75% First Lien Senior Notes due 2025
3.50% First Lien Senior Notes due 2029
4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2028
4.00% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2030
TH Facility and other
Less: unamortized deferred financing costs and deferred issuance discount
Total debt, net

Less: current maturities of debt
Total long-term debt
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As of December 31,

2021 2020

241 $ 239
63 66
99 78

106 122
48 42
43 59
90 12

140 137

117 80

947 § 835

533§ 626

531 528

575 865
65 81
47 70
37 28
34 38

1,822 § 2,236
As of December 31,

2021 2020
5243 §$ 5,297
1,250 731

— 775
1,550 750
500 500
750 750
750 750
2,900 2,900
173 178
(138) (155)
12,978 12,476
(62) (79)
12,916 $ 12,397
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Credit Facilities

On December 13, 2021, two of our subsidiaries (the “Borrowers”) entered into a fifth incremental facility amendment and a
sixth amendment (the “2021 Amendment”) to the credit agreement governing our senior secured term loan A facility (the “Term Loan
A”), our senior secured term loan B facility (the “Term Loan B” and together with the Term Loan A the “Term Loan Facilities”) and
our $1,000 million senior secured revolving credit facility (including revolving loans, swingline loans and letters of credit) (the
“Revolving Credit Facility” and together with the Term Loan Facilities, the “Credit Facilities”). The 2021 Amendment increased the
existing Term Loan A with $717 million outstanding to a $1,250 million Term Loan A and extended the maturity date of the Term
Loan A and Revolving Credit Facility from October 7, 2024 to December 13, 2026 (subject to earlier maturity in specified
circumstances). The security and guarantees under the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan A are the same as those under the
existing facilities. The proceeds from the increase in the Term Loan A were used with cash on hand to complete the Firehouse
Acquisition. In connection with the 2021 Amendment, we capitalized approximately $12 million in debt issuance costs.

The 2021 Amendment also amended the interest rate applicable to the Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loan A to
incorporate SOFR. The interest rate applicable to the Term Loan A and Revolving Credit Facility is, at our option, either (a) a base
rate, subject to a floor of 1.00%, plus an applicable margin varying from 0.00% to 0.50%, or (b) Adjusted Term SOFR (Adjusted
Term SOFR is calculated as Term SOFR plus a 0.10% adjustment), subject to a floor of 0.00%, plus an applicable margin varying
between 0.75% and 1.50%, in each case, determined by reference to a net first lien leverage-based pricing grid. The commitment fee
on the unused portion of the Revolving Credit Facility is 0.15%. At December 31, 2021, the interest rate on the Term Loan A was
1.40%. The principal amount of the Term Loan A amortizes in quarterly installments equal to $8 million beginning March 31, 2023
until September 30, 2024 and thereafter in quarterly installments equal to $16 million until maturity, with the balance payable at
maturity. The 2021 Amendment includes amendments to certain negative covenants to provide increased flexibility. The 2021
Amendment made no other material changes to the terms of the Credit Agreement.

The maturity date of our Term Loan B is November 19, 2026 and the interest rate applicable to our Term Loan B is, at our
option, either (a) a base rate, subject to a floor of 1.00%, plus an applicable margin of 0.75%, or (b) a Eurocurrency rate, subject to a
floor of 0.00%, plus an applicable margin of 1.75%. At December 31, 2021, the interest rate on the Term Loan B was 1.85%. The
principal amount of the Term Loan B amortizes in quarterly installments equal to $13 million until maturity, with the balance payable
at maturity.

On April 2, 2020, the Borrowers entered into a fifth amendment (the “Fifth Amendment”) to the credit agreement (the “Credit
Agreement”) governing our Credit Facilities. The Fifth Amendment provides the Borrowers with the option to comply with a $1,000
million minimum liquidity covenant in lieu of the 6.50:1.00 net first lien senior secured leverage ratio financial maintenance covenant
for the period after June 30, 2020 and prior to September 30, 2021. Additionally, for the periods ending September 30, 2021 and
December 31, 2021, to determine compliance with the net first lien senior secured leverage ratio, we are permitted to annualize the
Adjusted EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Agreement) for the three months ending September 30, 2021 and six months ending
December 31, 2021, respectively, in lieu of calculating the ratio based on Adjusted EBITDA for the prior four quarters. There were no
other material changes to the terms of the Credit Agreement.

Revolving Credit Facility

As of December 31, 2021, we had no amounts outstanding under our Revolving Credit Facility. Funds available under the
Revolving Credit Facility may be used to repay other debt, finance debt or share repurchases, to fund acquisitions or capital
expenditures and for other general corporate purposes. We have a $125 million letter of credit sublimit as part of the Revolving Credit
Facility, which reduces our borrowing availability thereunder by the cumulative amount of outstanding letters of credit. The interest
rate applicable to amounts drawn under each letter of credit is 0.75% to 1.50%, depending on our net first lien leverage ratio. As of
December 31, 2021, we had $2 million of letters of credit issued against the Revolving Credit Facility, and our borrowing availability
was $998 million.

Obligations under the Credit Facilities are guaranteed on a senior secured basis, jointly and severally, by the direct parent
company of one of the Borrowers and substantially all of its Canadian and U.S. subsidiaries, including The TDL Group Corp., Burger
King Corporation, Popeyes Louisiana Kitchen, Inc., FRG, LLC and substantially all of their respective Canadian and U.S. subsidiaries
(the “Credit Guarantors™). Amounts borrowed under the Credit Facilities are secured on a first priority basis by a perfected security
interest in substantially all of the present and future property (subject to certain exceptions) of each Borrower and Credit Guarantor.

4.25% First Lien Senior Notes due 2024

During 2017, the Borrowers entered into an indenture (the “4.25% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture”) in connection with the
issuance of $1,500 million of 4.25% first lien senior notes due May 15, 2024 (the “4.25% First Lien Senior Notes due 2024”"). No
principal payments were due until maturity and interest is paid semi-annually. The net proceeds from the offering of the 4.25% First
Lien Senior Notes due 2024, together with other sources of liquidity, were used to redeem all of the outstanding Class A 9.0%
cumulative compounding perpetual voting preferred shares and for other general corporate purposes. In connection with the issuance
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of the 4.25% First Lien Senior Notes due 2024, we capitalized approximately $13 million in debt issuance costs. As detailed below,
during 2020 we redeemed $725 million of the 4.25% First Lien Senior Notes due 2024 and during 2021 we redeemed the remaining
outstanding balance of $775 million.

3.875% First Lien Senior Notes due 2028

On September 24, 2019, the Borrowers entered into an indenture (the “3.875% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture”) in
connection with the issuance of $750 million of 3.875% first lien senior notes due January 15, 2028 (the “2019 3.875% Senior
Notes”). On July 6, 2021, the Borrowers issued an additional $800 million under the 3.875% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture (the
“Additional Notes” and together with the 2019 3.875% Senior Notes, the “3.875% First Lien Senior Notes due 2028”"). No principal
payments are due until maturity and interest is paid semi-annually. The net proceeds from the offering of the 2019 3.875% Senior
Notes and a portion of the net proceeds from the Term Loan A were used to redeem the entire outstanding principal balance of $1,250
million of 4.625% first lien secured notes due January 15, 2022 and to pay related fees and expenses. In connection with the issuance
of the 2019 3.875% Senior Notes, we capitalized approximately $10 million in debt issuance costs. In connection with the redemption
of the entire outstanding principal balance of the 4.625% first lien secured notes due January 15, 2022, we recorded a loss on early
extinguishment of debt of $3 million that primarily reflects the write-off of related unamortized debt issuance costs. The Additional
Notes were priced at 100.250% of their face value. The net proceeds from the offering of the Additional Notes were used to redeem
the remaining $775 million principal amount outstanding of the 4.25% First Lien Senior Notes due 2024 on July 15, 2021, plus any
accrued and unpaid interest thereon, and pay related redemption premiums, fees and expenses. In connection with the issuance of the
Additional Notes, we capitalized approximately $7 million in debt issuance costs. In connection with the redemption of the remaining
$775 million principal amount outstanding of the 4.25% First Lien Senior Notes due 2024, we recorded a loss on early extinguishment
of debt of $11 million that primarily reflects the payment of redemption premiums and the write-off of unamortized debt issuance
costs.

Obligations under the 3.875% First Lien Senior Notes due 2028 are guaranteed on a senior secured basis, jointly and severally,
by the Borrowers and substantially all of the Borrower's Canadian and U.S. subsidiaries, including The TDL Group Corp., Burger
King Corporation, Popeyes Louisiana Kitchen, Inc., FRG, LLC and substantially all of their respective Canadian and U.S. subsidiaries
(the “Note Guarantors”). The 3.875% First Lien Senior Notes due 2028 are first lien senior secured obligations and rank equal in right
of payment with all of the existing and future first lien senior debt of the Borrowers and Note Guarantors, including borrowings and
guarantees under our Credit Facilities.

The 3.875% First Lien Senior Notes due 2028 may be redeemed in whole or in part, on or after September 15, 2022, at the
redemption prices set forth in the 3.875% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, at the date of
redemption. The 3.875% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture also contains optional redemption provisions related to tender offers,
change of control and equity offerings, among others.

5.75% First Lien Senior Notes due 2025

On April 7, 2020, the Borrowers entered into an indenture (the “5.75% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture”) in connection with
the issuance of $500 million of 5.75% first lien notes due April 15, 2025 (the “5.75% First Lien Senior Notes due 2025”). No principal
payments are due until maturity and interest is paid semi-annually. The net proceeds from the offering of the 5.75% First Lien Senior
Notes due 2025 were used for general corporate purposes. In connection with the issuance of the 5.75% First Lien Senior Notes due
2025, we capitalized approximately $10 million in debt issuance costs.

Obligations under the 5.75% First Lien Senior Notes due 2025 are guaranteed on a senior secured basis, jointly and severally, by
the Note Guarantors. The 5.75% First Lien Senior Notes due 2025 are first lien senior secured obligations and rank equal in right of
payment with all of the existing and future first lien senior debt of the Borrowers and Note Guarantors, including borrowings and
guarantees of the Credit Facilities.

Our 5.75% First Lien Senior Notes due 2025 may be redeemed in whole or in part, on or after April 15, 2022 at the redemption
prices set forth in the 5.75% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, at the date of redemption. The
5.75% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture also contains optional redemption provisions related to tender offers, change of control and
equity offerings, among others.

3.50% First Lien Senior Notes due 2029

On November 9, 2020, the Borrowers entered into an indenture (the “3.50% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture”) in connection
with the issuance of $750 million of 3.50% first lien notes due February 15, 2029 (the “3.50% First Lien Senior Notes due 2029”). No
principal payments are due until maturity and interest is paid semi-annually. The proceeds from the offering of the 3.50% First Lien
Senior Notes due 2029, together with cash on hand, were used to redeem $725 million of the 4.25% First Lien Senior Notes due 2024
and pay related redemption premiums, fees and expenses. In connection with the issuance of the 3.50% First Lien Senior Notes due
2029, we capitalized approximately $7 million in debt issuance costs. In connection with the redemption of the 4.25% First Lien
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Senior Notes due 2024, we recorded a loss on early extinguishment of debt of $19 million that primarily reflects the payment of
premiums to redeem the notes and the write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs.

Obligations under the 3.50% First Lien Senior Notes due 2029 are guaranteed on a senior secured basis, jointly and severally, by
the Note Guarantors. The 3.50% First Lien Senior Notes due 2029 are first lien senior secured obligations and rank equal in right of
payment with all of the existing and future first lien senior debt of the Borrowers and Note Guarantors, including borrowings and
guarantees of the Credit Facilities.

Our 3.50% First Lien Senior Notes due 2029 may be redeemed in whole or in part, on or after February 15, 2024 at the
redemption prices set forth in the 3.50% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, at the date of
redemption. The 3.50% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture also contains optional redemption provisions related to tender offers, change
of control and equity offerings, among others.

4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2028

On November 19, 2019, the Borrowers entered into an indenture (the “4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes Indenture”) in
connection with the issuance of $750 million of 4.375% second lien senior notes due January 15, 2028 (the “4.375% Second Lien
Senior Notes due 2028”). No principal payments are due until maturity and interest is paid semi-annually. The net proceeds from the
offering of the 4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2028, together with cash on hand, were used to repay $720 million of the Term
Loan B outstanding aggregate principal balance and to pay related fees and expenses in connection with the fourth amendment to our
credit agreement. In connection with the issuance of the 4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2028, we capitalized approximately $6
million in debt issuance costs.

Obligations under the 4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2028 are guaranteed on a second priority senior secured basis,
jointly and severally, by the Note Guarantors. The 4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2028 are second lien senior secured
obligations and rank equal in right of payment with all of the existing and future senior debt of the Borrowers and Note Guarantors,
including borrowings and guarantees of the Credit Facilities, and effectively subordinated to all of the existing and future first lien
senior debt of the Borrowers and Note Guarantors.

Our 4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2028 may be redeemed in whole or in part, on or after November 15, 2022 at the
redemption prices set forth in the 4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes Indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, at the date of
redemption. The 4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes Indenture also contains redemption provisions related to tender offers, change of
control and equity offerings, among others.

4.00% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2030

During 2020, the Borrowers entered into an indenture (the “4.00% Second Lien Senior Notes Indenture™) in connection with the
issuance of $2,900 million of 4.00% second lien notes due October 15, 2030 (the “4.00% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2030”"). No
principal payments are due until maturity and interest is paid semi-annually. The proceeds from the offering of the 4.00% Second Lien
Senior Notes due 2030 were used to redeem the entire outstanding principal balance of $2,800 million of 5.00% second lien senior
notes due October 15, 2025 (the “5.00% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2025”), pay related redemption premiums, fees and expenses.
In connection with the issuance of the 4.00% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2030, we capitalized approximately $26 million in debt
issuance costs. In connection with the full redemption of the 5.00% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2025, we recorded a loss on early
extinguishment of debt of $79 million that primarily reflects the payment of premiums to redeem the notes and the write-off of
unamortized debt issuance costs.

Obligations under the 4.00% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2030 are guaranteed on a second priority senior secured basis,
jointly and severally, by the Note Guarantors. The 4.00% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2030 are second lien senior secured
obligations and rank equal in right of payment will all of the existing and future senior debt of the Borrowers and Note Guarantors and
effectively subordinated to all of the existing and future first lien senior debt of the Borrowers and Note Guarantors.

Our 4.00% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2030 may be redeemed in whole or in part, on or after October 15, 2025 at the
redemption prices set forth in the 4.00% Second Lien Senior Notes Indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, at the date of
redemption. The 4.00% Second Lien Senior Notes Indenture also contains optional redemption provisions related to tender offers,
change of control and equity offerings, among others.

Restrictions and Covenants

Our Credit Facilities, as well as the 3.875% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture, 5.75% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture, 3.50%
First Lien Senior Notes Indenture, 4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes Indenture and 4.00% Second Lien Senior Notes Indenture (all
together the “Senior Notes Indentures”) contain a number of customary affirmative and negative covenants that, among other things,
limit or restrict our ability and the ability of certain of our subsidiaries to: incur additional indebtedness; incur liens; engage in
mergers, consolidations, liquidations and dissolutions; sell assets; pay dividends and make other payments in respect of capital stock;
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make investments, loans and advances; pay or modify the terms of certain indebtedness; and engage in certain transactions with
affiliates. In addition, under the Credit Facilities, the Borrowers are not permitted to exceed a first lien senior secured leverage ratio of
6.50 to 1.00 when, as of the end of any fiscal quarter beginning with the first fiscal quarter of 2020, (1) any amounts are outstanding
under the Term Loan A and/or (2) the sum of (i) the amount of letters of credit outstanding exceeding $50 million (other than those
that are cash collateralized); (ii) outstanding amounts under the Revolving Credit Facility and (iii) outstanding amounts of swing line
loans, exceeds 30.0% of the commitments under the Revolving Credit Facility. The Fifth Amendment provides that for periods ended
September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2021, to determine compliance with the net first lien senior secured leverage ratio, we are
permitted to annualize the Adjusted EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Agreement) for the three months ended September 30, 2021
and six months ended December 31, 2021, respectively, in lieu of calculating the ratio based on Adjusted EBITDA for the prior four
quarters.

The restrictions under the Credit Facilities and the Senior Notes Indentures have resulted in substantially all of our consolidated
assets being restricted.

As of December 31, 2021, we were in compliance with applicable financial debt covenants under the Credit Facilities and the
Senior Notes Indentures and there were no limitations on our ability to draw on the remaining availability under our Revolving Credit
Facility.

TH Facility

One of our subsidiaries entered into a non-revolving delayed drawdown term credit facility in a total aggregate principal amount
of C$225 million with a maturity date of October 4, 2025 (the “TH Facility”). The interest rate applicable to the TH Facility is the
Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance rate plus an applicable margin equal to 1.40% or the Prime Rate plus an applicable margin equal to
0.40%, at our option. Obligations under the TH Facility are guaranteed by four of our subsidiaries, and amounts borrowed under the
TH Facility are secured by certain parcels of real estate. As of December 31, 2021, we had outstanding C$214 million under the TH
Facility with a weighted average interest rate of 1.85%.

RE Facility

One of our subsidiaries entered into a non-revolving delayed drawdown term credit facility in a total aggregate principal amount
of $50 million with a maturity date of October 12, 2028 (the “RE Facility”). The interest rate applicable to the RE Facility is, at our
option, either (i) a base rate, subject to a floor of 0.50%, plus an applicable margin of 0.50% or (ii) Adjusted Term SOFR (Adjusted
Term SOFR is calculated as Term SOFR plus a margin based on duration), subject to a floor of 0.00%, plus an applicable margin of
1.50%. Obligations under the RE Facility are guaranteed by four of our subsidiaries, and amounts borrowed under the RE Facility are
secured by certain parcels of real estate. As of December 31, 2021, we had no amounts outstanding under the RE Facility.

Debt Issuance Costs

During 2021, 2020 and 2019, we incurred aggregate deferred financing costs of $19 million, $43 million and $50 million,
respectively.

Loss on Early Extinguishment of Debt

During 2021, we recorded an $11 million loss on early extinguishment of debt that primarily reflects the payment of redemption
premiums and the write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs in connection with the redemption of the remaining $775 million
principal amount outstanding of the 4.25% First Lien Senior Notes due 2024. During 2020, we recorded a $98 million loss on early
extinguishment of debt that primarily reflects the payment of premiums and the write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs in
connection with the full redemption of the 5.00% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2025 and the partial redemption of the 4.25% First
Lien Senior Notes due 2024. During 2019, we recorded a $23 million loss on early extinguishment of debt, which primarily reflects
the write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs and discounts in connection with the prepayment and refinancing of the Term Loan B
and the redemption of the entire outstanding principal balance of the 4.625% first lien secured notes due January 15, 2022.

Maturities

The aggregate maturities of our long-term debt as of December 31, 2021 are as follows (in millions):
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Year Ended December 31, Principal Amount
2022 $ 62
2023 98
2024 108
2025 750
2026 6,148
Thereafter 5,950
Total $ 13,116

Interest Expense, net

Interest expense, net consists of the following (in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Debt (a) $ 461 $ 471 $ 503
Finance lease obligations 20 20 20
Amortization of deferred financing costs and debt issuance discount 27 26 29
Interest income 3) ) (20)
Interest expense, net $ 505 $ 508 $ 532

(a) Amount includes $45 million, $69 million and $70 million benefit during 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, related to the
quarterly net settlements of our cross-currency rate swaps and amortization of the Excluded Component as defined in Note
12, Derivatives.
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Note 10. Leases

As of December 31, 2021, we leased or subleased 5,069 restaurant properties to franchisees and 164 non-restaurant properties to
third parties under operating leases, direct financing leases and sales-type leases where we are the lessor. Initial lease terms generally
range from 10 to 20 years. Most leases to franchisees provide for fixed monthly payments and many provide for future rent escalations
and renewal options. Certain leases also include provisions for variable rent, determined as a percentage of sales, generally when
annual sales exceed specific levels. Lessees typically bear the cost of maintenance, insurance and property taxes.

We lease land, buildings, equipment, office space and warehouse space from third parties. Land and building leases generally
have an initial term of 10 to 20 years, while land-only lease terms can extend longer, and most leases provide for fixed monthly
payments. Many of these leases provide for future rent escalations and renewal options. Certain leases also include provisions for
variable rent payments, determined as a percentage of sales, generally when annual sales exceed specified levels. Most leases also
obligate us to pay, as lessee, variable lease cost related to maintenance, insurance and property taxes.

We transitioned to ASC 842 on January 1, 2019 on a modified retrospective basis using the effective date transition method. Our
transition to ASC 842 represents a change in accounting principle. The $21 million cumulative effect of our transition to ASC 842 is
reflected as an adjustment to January 1, 2019 Shareholders' equity.

Company as Lessor

Assets leased to franchisees and others under operating leases where we are the lessor and which are included within our
property and equipment, net are as follows (in millions):

As of December 31,
2021 2020
Land $ 899 § 892
Buildings and improvements 1,180 1,146
Restaurant equipment 18 19
2,097 2,057
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (587) (534)
Property and equipment leased, net $ 1,510 $ 1,523
Our net investment in direct financing and sales-type leases is as follows (in millions):
As of December 31,
2021 2020
Future rents to be received:
Future minimum lease receipts $ 113§ 87
Contingent rents (a) 7 12
Estimated unguaranteed residual value 5 7
Unearned income (40) (34)
85 72
Current portion included within accounts receivables (5) (6)
Net investment in property leased to franchisees $ 80 $ 66

(a) Amounts represent estimated contingent rents recorded in connection with the acquisition method of accounting.

During 2021 and 2020, we offered rent relief programs for eligible TH and BK franchisees who lease property from us, under
which we temporarily converted the rent structure from a combination of fixed plus variable rent to 100% variable rent (the “rent relief
programs”). The rent relief program concluded for BK franchisees during the three months ended September 30, 2020 and the rent
relief program was extended through the end of 2021 for eligible TH franchisees.
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In April 2020, the FASB staff issued interpretive guidance that permits entities to make an election to account for lease
concessions related to the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic consistent with how those concessions would be accounted for under
ASC 842, as though enforceable rights and obligations for those concessions existed. We elected to apply this interpretive guidance to
the rent relief programs while in effect. As such, reductions in rents arising from the rent relief programs are recognized as reductions

in variable lease payments.

Property revenues are comprised primarily of rental income from operating leases and earned income on direct financing leases

with franchisees as follows (in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Rental income:
Minimum lease payments $ 455 § 445 448
Variable lease payments 329 262 370
Amortization of favorable and unfavorable income lease contracts, net 3 6 7
Subtotal - lease income from operating leases 787 713 825
Earned income on direct financing and sales-type leases 6 5 8
Total property revenues $ 793 § 718 833
Company as Lessee
Lease cost and other information associated with these lease commitments is as follows (in millions):
Lease Cost (Income)
2021 2020 2019
Operating lease cost $ 202 $ 199 210
Operating lease variable lease cost 193 177 198
Finance lease cost:
Amortization of right-of-use assets 31 29 27
Interest on lease liabilities 20 20 20
Sublease income (587) (534) (631)
Total lease cost (income) $ (141) $ (109) $ (176)
Lease Term and Discount Rate as of December 31, 2021 and 2020
As of December 31,
2021 2020
Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years):
Operating leases 10.1 years 10.5 years
Finance leases 11.4 years 11.3 years
Weighted-average discount rate:
Operating leases 55 % 59 %
Finance leases 6.0 % 6.5 %
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Other Information for 2021, 2020 and 2019

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:

Operating cash flows from operating leases
Operating cash flows from finance leases
Financing cash flows from finance leases

Supplemental noncash information on lease liabilities arising from obtaining

right-of-use assets:

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new finance lease obligations
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease obligations

As of December 31, 2021, future minimum lease receipts and commitments are as follows (in millions):

2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter

Total minimum receipts / payments
Less amount representing interest
Present value of minimum lease payments
Current portion of lease obligations
Long-term portion of lease obligations

2021 2020 2019
$ 200 $ 200 S 194
$ 20 § 20 § 20
$ 31§ 29§ 26
$ 52 % 59§ 18
$ 133§ 118 $ 163
Lease Receipts Lease Commitments (a)
Direct
Financing
and Sales- Operating Finance Operating
Type Leases Leases Leases Leases
$ 8 404 $ 52§ 197
8 382 50 186
7 350 48 173
7 316 45 158
7 278 41 140
76 1,374 262 675
$ 113§ 3,104 498 1,529
(131) (319)
367 1,210
(34) (140)
$ 333§ 1,070

(a)  Minimum lease payments have not been reduced by minimum sublease rentals of $1,953 million due in the future under non-

cancelable subleases.
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Note 11. Income Taxes

Income before income taxes, classified by source of income (loss), is as follows (in millions):

Canadian
Foreign

Income before income taxes

2021 2020 2019
457§ 200 § 685
906 616 767
1,363 § 816§ 1,452

Income tax (benefit) expense attributable to income from continuing operations consists of the following (in millions):

Current:
Canadian
U.S. Federal
U.S. state, net of federal income tax benefit

Other Foreign

Deferred:
Canadian
U.S. Federal
U.S. state, net of federal income tax benefit

Other Foreign

Income tax expense (benefit)

The statutory rate reconciles to the effective income tax rate as follows:

Statutory rate

Costs and taxes related to foreign operations
Foreign exchange gain (loss)

Foreign tax rate differential

Change in valuation allowance
Change in accrual for tax uncertainties
Intercompany financing

Impact of Tax Act

Swiss Tax Reform

Benefit from stock option exercises
Litigation settlements and reserves
Other

Effective income tax rate

2021 2020 2019

16 $ 45 47

(10) 125 122

25 26 20

84 78 94

115 $ 274 283

328 (67) 43

(37) (82) 8

(7 (27) —

7 (32) 7

) $ (208) 58

110 $ 66 341

2021 2020 2019

26.5 % 26.5 % 26.5 %
3.5 9.6 47
— 0.5 0.1
(13.9) (15.6) (10.8)
1.1 1.2 0.5
(7.4) 3.9 5.0
3.5) (6.1) 2.4)
— (7.8) (0.1)
— (5.1) 1.1
(0.8) (0.3) 2.2)
1.4 — —
1.2 1.2 1.1

8.1 % 8.0 % 23.5 %

In December 2017, the U.S. government enacted comprehensive tax legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs
Act (the “Tax Act”) that significantly revised the U.S. tax code. During 2020, various guidance was issued by the U.S. tax authorities
relating to the Tax Act and, after review of such guidance, we recorded a favorable adjustment to our deferred tax assets of $64
million related to a tax attribute carryforward, which decreased our 2020 effective tax rate by 7.8%.

32



Table of Contents

In a referendum held on May 19, 2019, Swiss voters adopted the Federal Act on Tax Reform and AVS Financing (“TRAF”),
under which certain long-standing preferential cantonal tax regimes were abolished effective January 1, 2020, which the canton of Zug
formally adopted in November 2019. Company subsidiaries in the canton of Zug were subjected to TRAF and therefore the TRAF
impacted our consolidated results of operations during 2020 and 2019. In 2020, a deferred tax asset was recorded due to an election
made under TRAF by one of our Swiss subsidiaries and, in 2019, our Swiss company subsidiaries remeasured their deferred tax assets
and liabilities based on new future tax rates expected under TRAF. The amounts impacting income tax expense for the effects of the
changes from the TRAF were approximately $41 million in 2020 which decreased our 2020 effective tax rate by approximately 5.1%,
and approximately $16 million in 2019 which increased our 2019 effective tax rate by approximately 1.1%.

Companies subject to the Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income provision (GILTI) have the option to account for the GILTI tax
as a period cost if and when incurred, or to recognize deferred taxes for outside basis temporary differences expected to reverse as
GILTI. We have elected to account for GILTI as a period cost.

Income tax (benefit) expense allocated to continuing operations and amounts separately allocated to other items was (in
millions):

2021 2020 2019
Income tax (benefit) expense from continuing operations $ 110 $ 66 $ 341
Cash flow hedge in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 72 (64) (23)
Net investment hedge in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (15) (60) (32)
Foreign Currency Translation in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 4) 12 —
Pension liability in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 3 3) (1)
Total $ 166 $ (49) $ 285

The significant components of deferred income tax (benefit) expense attributable to income from continuing operations are as
follows (in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense $ 22) $ (230) $ 30
Change in valuation allowance 14 22 7
Change in effective Canadian income tax rate — @))
Change in effective U.S. state income tax rate 3 1 6
Change in effective foreign income tax rate — (1) 16
Total $ 5) $ (208) $ 58
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
are presented below (in millions):

As of December 31,
2021 2020
Deferred tax assets:
Accounts and notes receivable $ 4 S 6
Accrued employee benefits 48 54
Leases 115 114
Operating lease liabilities 317 323
Liabilities not currently deductible for tax 346 310
Tax loss and credit carryforwards 517 547
Derivatives 164 225
Other (1) 9
Total gross deferred tax assets 1,510 1,588
Valuation allowance (356) (364)
Net deferred tax assets 1,154 1,224
Less deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment, principally due to differences in depreciation 15 35
Intangible assets 1,751 1,747
Leases 129 114
Operating lease assets 295 311
Statutory impairment 29 30
Outside basis difference 38 46
Total gross deferred tax liabilities 2,257 2,283
Net deferred tax liability $ 1,103 $ 1,059

The valuation allowance had a net decrease of $8 million during 2021 primarily due to the change in estimates related to
derivatives and the utilization of foreign tax credits and capital losses.

Changes in the valuation allowance are as follows (in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Beginning balance $ 364 $ 329§ 325
Change in estimates recorded to deferred income tax expense 14 19 8
Changes in losses and credits — 3 2
(Reductions) additions related to other comprehensive income (22) 13 )
Ending balance $ 356 $ 364 $ 329
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The gross amount and expiration dates of operating loss and tax credit carry-forwards as of December 31, 2021 are as follows
(in millions):

Amount Expiration Date

Canadian net operating loss carryforwards $ 728 2036-2041
Canadian capital loss carryforwards 866 Indefinite
Canadian tax credits 3 2023-2036
U.S. state net operating loss carryforwards 680 2022-2041
U.S. capital loss carryforwards 16 2040
U.S. foreign tax credits 112 2022-2031
Other foreign net operating loss carryforwards 207 Indefinite
Other foreign net operating loss carryforwards 77 2022-2038
Other foreign capital loss carryforward 30 Indefinite
Total $ 2,719

We are generally permanently reinvested on any potential outside basis differences except for unremitted earning and profits and
thus do not record a deferred tax liability for such outside basis differences. To the extent of unremitted earning and profits, we
generally review various factors including, but not limited to, forecasts and budgets of financial needs of cash for working capital,
liquidity and expected cash requirements to fund our various obligations and record deferred taxes to the extent we expect to
distribute. We will continue to monitor available evidence and our plans for foreign earnings and expect to continue to provide any
applicable deferred taxes based on the tax liability or withholding taxes that would be due upon repatriation of amounts not considered
permanently reinvested.

We had $437 million and $497 million of unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020,
respectively, which if recognized, would favorably affect the effective income tax rate. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending
amounts of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in millions):

2021 2020 2019

Beginning balance $ 497 $ 506 $ 441

Additions for tax positions related to the current year 9 9 9

Additions for tax positions of prior years 23 7 56

Reductions for tax positions of prior year (5) (25) _

Additions for settlement 7 _

Reductions due to statute expiration (94) — _
Ending balance $ 437 $ 497 $ 506

Although the timing of the resolution, settlement, and closure of any audits is highly uncertain, it is reasonably possible that the
balance of gross unrecognized tax benefits could significantly change in the next 12 months. During the twelve months beginning
January 1, 2022, it is reasonably possible we will reduce unrecognized tax benefits by up to approximately $328 million due to the
expiration of statutes of limitations, anticipated closure of various tax matters currently under examination, and settlements with tax
authorities all being possibly impacted in multiple jurisdictions.

We recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. The total amount of accrued
interest and penalties was $121 million and $123 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Potential interest and penalties
associated with uncertain tax positions in various jurisdictions recognized was $2 million during 2021, $31 million during 2020 and
$41 million during 2019. To the extent interest and penalties are not assessed with respect to uncertain tax positions, amounts accrued
will be reduced and reflected as a reduction of the overall income tax provision.

We file income tax returns with Canada and its provinces and territories. Generally, we are subject to routine examinations by
the Canada Revenue Agency (“CRA”). The CRA is conducting examinations of the 2015 through 2016 taxation years. Additionally,
income tax returns filed with various provincial jurisdictions are generally open to examination for periods up to six years subsequent
to the filing of the respective return.
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We also file income tax returns, including returns for our subsidiaries, with U.S. federal, U.S. state, and other foreign
jurisdictions. We are subject to routine examination by taxing authorities in the U.S. jurisdictions, as well as other foreign tax
jurisdictions. None of the other foreign jurisdictions have been individually material. Taxable years 2014 through 2017 for our U.S.
companies for U.S. federal income tax purposes closed in 2021 without material adjustments. Prior taxable years of such U.S.
companies are closed for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We have various U.S. state and other foreign income tax returns in the
process of examination. From time to time, these audits result in proposed assessments where the ultimate resolution may result in
owing additional taxes. We believe that our tax positions comply with applicable tax law and that we have adequately provided for
these matters.

Note 12. Derivative Instruments
Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We enter into derivative instruments for risk management purposes, including derivatives designated as cash flow hedges and
derivatives designated as net investment hedges. We use derivatives to manage our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates and
currency exchange rates.

Interest Rate Swaps

At December 31, 2021, we had outstanding receive-variable, pay-fixed interest rate swaps with a total notional value of $3,500
million to hedge the variability in the interest payments on a portion of our Term Loan Facilities, including any subsequent refinancing
or replacement of the Term Loan Facilities, beginning August 31, 2021 through the termination date of October 31, 2028.
Additionally, at December 31, 2021, we also had outstanding receive-variable, pay-fixed interest rate swaps with a total notional value
of $500 million to hedge the variability in the interest payments on a portion of our Term Loan Facilities effective September 30, 2019
through the termination date of September 30, 2026. At inception, all of these interest rate swaps were designated as cash flow hedges
for hedge accounting. The unrealized changes in market value are recorded in AOCI and reclassified into earnings during the period in
which the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings.

During 2021, we extended the maturity of our $3,500 million receive-variable, pay-fixed interest rate swaps. The extension of
the term resulted in a de-designation and re-designation of the interest rate swaps and the swaps continue to be accounted for as a cash
flow hedge for hedge accounting. In connection with the de-designation, we recognized a net unrealized loss of $143 million in AOCI
and this amount gets reclassified into Interest expense, net as the original forecasted transaction affects earnings. The amount of pre-
tax losses in connection with this net unrealized loss in AOCI as of December 31, 2021 that we expect to be reclassified into interest
expense within the next 12 months is $28 million.

We had previously extended the term of our $3,500 million receive-variable, pay-fixed interest rate swaps in 2019 to align the
maturity date of the interest rate swaps with the new maturity date of our Term Loan B. The extension of the term resulted in a de-
designation and re-designation of the interest rate swaps and the swaps continue to be accounted for as a cash flow hedge for hedge
accounting. In connection with the de-designation, we recognized a net unrealized loss of $213 million in AOCI and this amount gets
reclassified into Interest expense, net as the original forecasted transaction affects earnings. The amount of pre-tax losses in connection
with this net unrealized loss in AOCI as of December 31, 2021 that we expect to be reclassified into interest expense within the next
12 months is $50 million.

Cross-Currency Rate Swaps

To protect the value of our investments in our foreign operations against adverse changes in foreign currency exchange rates, we
hedge a portion of our net investment in one or more of our foreign subsidiaries by using cross-currency rate swaps. At December 31,
2021, we had outstanding cross-currency rate swap contracts between the Canadian dollar and U.S. dollar and the Euro and U.S. dollar
that have been designated as net investment hedges of a portion of our equity in foreign operations in those currencies. The component
of the gains and losses on our net investment in these designated foreign operations driven by changes in foreign exchange rates are
economically partly offset by movements in the fair value of our cross-currency swap contracts. The fair value of the swaps is
calculated each period with changes in fair value reported in AOCI, net of tax. Such amounts will remain in AOCI until the complete
or substantially complete liquidation of our investment in the underlying foreign operations.

At December 31, 2021, we had outstanding fixed-to-fixed cross-currency rate swaps to partially hedge the net investment in our
Canadian subsidiaries. At inception, these cross-currency rate swaps were designated as a hedge and are accounted for as net
investment hedges. These swaps are contracts to exchange quarterly fixed-rate interest payments we make on the Canadian dollar
notional amount of C$6,754 million for quarterly fixed-rate interest payments we receive on the U.S. dollar notional amount of $5,000
million through the maturity date of June 30, 2023.
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At December 31, 2021, we had outstanding cross-currency rate swaps in which we pay quarterly fixed-rate interest payments on
the Euro notional amount of €1,108 million and receive quarterly fixed-rate interest payments on the U.S. dollar notional amount of
$1,200 million. At inception, these cross-currency rate swaps were designated as a hedge and are accounted for as a net investment
hedge. During 2018, we extended the term of the swaps from March 31, 2021 to the maturity date of February 17, 2024. The extension
of the term resulted in a re-designation of the hedge and the swaps continue to be accounted for as a net investment hedge.
Additionally, at December 31, 2021, we also had outstanding cross-currency rate swaps in which we receive quarterly fixed-rate
interest payments on the U.S. dollar notional value of $400 million, entered during 2018, and $500 million, entered during 2019,
through the maturity date of February 17, 2024 and $150 million, entered during 2021, through the maturity date of October 31, 2028.
At inception, these cross-currency rate swaps were designated as a hedge and are accounted for as a net investment hedge.

The fixed to fixed cross-currency rate swaps hedging Canadian dollar and Euro net investments utilized the forward method of
effectiveness assessment prior to March 15, 2018. On March 15, 2018, we de-designated and subsequently re-designated the
outstanding fixed to fixed cross-currency rate swaps to prospectively use the spot method of hedge effectiveness assessment.
Additionally, as a result of adopting new hedge accounting guidance during 2018, we elected to exclude the interest component (the
"Excluded Component") from the accounting hedge without affecting net investment hedge accounting and elected to amortize the
Excluded Component over the life of the derivative instrument. The amortization of the Excluded Component is recognized in Interest
expense, net in the consolidated statement of operations. The change in fair value that is not related to the Excluded Component is
recorded in AOCI and will be reclassified to earnings when the foreign subsidiaries are sold or substantially liquidated.

Foreign Currency Exchange Contracts

We use foreign exchange derivative instruments to manage the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations on U.S. dollar purchases
and payments, such as coffee purchases made by our Canadian Tim Hortons operations. At December 31, 2021, we had outstanding
forward currency contracts to manage this risk in which we sell Canadian dollars and buy U.S. dollars with a notional value of $171
million with maturities to February 2023. We have designated these instruments as cash flow hedges, and as such, the unrealized
changes in market value of effective hedges are recorded in AOCI and are reclassified into earnings during the period in which the
hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings.

Credit Risk
By entering into derivative contracts, we are exposed to counterparty credit risk. Counterparty credit risk is the failure of the
counterparty to perform under the terms of the derivative contract. When the fair value of a derivative contract is in an asset position,
the counterparty has a liability to us, which creates credit risk for us. We attempt to minimize this risk by selecting counterparties with
investment grade credit ratings and regularly monitoring our market position with each counterparty.

Credit-Risk Related Contingent Features

Our derivative instruments do not contain any credit-risk related contingent features.
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Quantitative Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Fair Value Measurements

The following tables present the required quantitative disclosures for our derivative instruments, including their estimated fair
values (all estimated using Level 2 inputs) and their location on our consolidated balance sheets (in millions):

Gain or (Loss) Recognized in
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

2021 2020 2019
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges""
Interest rate swaps $ 132§ (333) $ (102)
Forward-currency contracts $ — 3 2) $ “
Derivatives designated as net investment hedges
Cross-currency rate swaps $ 9% $ (302) $ (118)

(1) We did not exclude any components from the cash flow hedge relationships presented in this table.

Location of Gain or
(Loss) Reclassified from Gain or (Loss) Reclassified from AOCI into

AOCI into Earnings Earnings
2021 2020 2019
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges
Interest rate swaps Interest expense, net $ (125) $ (102) $ (26)
Forward-currency contracts Cost of sales $ (7 $ 2 $ 5
Location of Gain or Gain or (Loss) Recognized in Earnings
(Loss) Recognized in (Amount Excluded from Effectiveness
Earnings Testing)
2021 2020 2019
Derivatives designated as net investment hedges
Cross-currency rate swaps Interest expense, net $ 45 $ 69 $ 70

Fair Value as of
December 31,

2021 2020 Balance Sheet Location
Assets:
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges
Foreign currency $ 2 $ — Prepaids and other current assets
Derivatives designated as net investment hedges
Foreign currency 23 —  Other assets, net
Total assets at fair value $ 25 § —
Liabilities:
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges
Interest rate $ 220 $ 430 Other liabilities, net
Foreign currency — 5 Other accrued liabilities
Derivatives designated as net investment hedges
Foreign currency 355 434  Other liabilities, net
Total liabilities at fair value $ 575§ 869
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Note 13. Shareholders’ Equity
Special Voting Share

The holders of the Partnership exchangeable units are indirectly entitled to vote in respect of matters on which holders of the
common shares of the Company are entitled to vote, including in respect of the election of RBI directors, through a special voting
share of the Company (the "Special Voting Share"). The Special Voting Share is held by a trustee, entitling the trustee to that number
of votes on matters on which holders of common shares of the Company are entitled to vote equal to the number of Partnership
exchangeable units outstanding. The trustee is required to cast such votes in accordance with voting instructions provided by holders
of Partnership exchangeable units. At any shareholder meeting of the Company, holders of our common shares vote together as a
single class with the Special Voting Share except as otherwise provided by law.

Noncontrolling Interests

We reflect a noncontrolling interest which primarily represents the interests of the holders of Partnership exchangeable units in
Partnership that are not held by RBI. The holders of Partnership exchangeable units held an economic interest of approximately 31.9%
and 33.7% in Partnership common equity through the ownership of 144,993,458 and 155,113,338 Partnership exchangeable units as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Pursuant to the terms of the partnership agreement, each holder of a Partnership exchangeable unit is entitled to distributions
from Partnership in an amount equal to any dividends or distributions that we declare and pay with respect to our common shares.
Additionally, each holder of a Partnership exchangeable unit is entitled to vote in respect of matters on which holders of RBI common
shares are entitled to vote through our special voting share. Since December 12, 2015, a holder of a Partnership exchangeable unit may
require Partnership to exchange all or any portion of such holder’s Partnership exchangeable units for our common shares at a ratio of
one common share for each Partnership exchangeable unit, subject to our right as the general partner of Partnership, in our sole
discretion, to deliver a cash payment in lieu of our common shares. If we elect to make a cash payment in lieu of issuing common
shares, the amount of the payment will be the weighted average trading price of the common shares on the New York Stock Exchange
for the 20 consecutive trading days ending on the last business day prior to the exchange date.

During 2021, Partnership exchanged 10,119,880 Partnership exchangeable units, pursuant to exchange notices received. In
accordance with the terms of the partnership agreement, Partnership satisfied the exchange notices by exchanging 10,119,880
Partnership exchangeable units for the same number of newly issued RBI common shares. During 2020, Partnership exchanged
10,393,861 Partnership exchangeable units, pursuant to exchange notices received. In accordance with the terms of the partnership
agreement, Partnership satisfied the exchange notices by repurchasing 6,757,692 Partnership exchangeable units for approximately
$380 million in cash and exchanging 3,636,169 Partnership exchangeable units for the same number of newly issued RBI common
shares. During 2019, Partnership exchanged 42,016,392 Partnership exchangeable units, pursuant to exchange notices received. In
accordance with the terms of the partnership agreement, Partnership satisfied the exchange notices by exchanging 42,016,392
Partnership exchangeable units for the same number of newly issued RBI common shares. The exchanges represented increases in our
ownership interest in Partnership and were accounted for as equity transactions, with no gain or loss recorded in the consolidated
statements of operations. Pursuant to the terms of the partnership agreement, upon the exchange of Partnership exchangeable units,
each such Partnership exchangeable unit was cancelled concurrently with the exchange.

Share Repurchase

On July 28, 2021, our Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program that allows us to purchase up to $1,000 million
of our common shares until August 10, 2023. During 2021, we repurchased and cancelled 9,247,648 common shares for $551 million.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The following table displays the change in the components of AOCI (in millions):

Accumulated
Foreign Other

Currency  Comprehensive

Derivatives Pensions Translation Income (Loss)
Balances at December 31, 2018 $ 253 §$ (15) $ (1,038) $ (800)
Foreign currency translation adjustment — — 409 409
Net change in fair value of derivatives, net of tax (163) — — (163)

Amounts reclassified to earnings of cash flow hedges, net of tax 15 — — 15
Pension and post-retirement benefit plans, net of tax — 2) — 2)
Amounts attributable to noncontrolling interests 94 2) (314) (222)
Balances at December 31, 2019 199 (19) (943) (763)

Foreign currency translation adjustment — — 332 332
Net change in fair value of derivatives, net of tax (486) — — (486)

Amounts reclassified to earnings of cash flow hedges, net of tax 73 — — 73
Pension and post-retirement benefit plans, net of tax — (16) — (16)

Amounts attributable to noncontrolling interests 145 5 (144) 6
Balances at December 31, 2020 (69) (30) (755) (854)
Foreign currency translation adjustment — - ©®nH _ _(©®)

Net change in fair value of derivatives, net of tax 207 — — 207

Amounts reclassified to earnings of cash flow hedges, net of tax 96 — — 96

Pension and post-retirement benefit plans, net of tax — 15 — 15
Amounts attributable to noncontrolling interests (98) 6) 3) (107)
Balances at December 31, 2021 $ 136 $ (21) $ (825) $ (710)

Note 14. Share-based Compensation

Our Amended and Restated 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “Omnibus Plan”) provides for the grant of awards to employees,
directors, consultants and other persons who provide services to us and our affiliates. We also have some outstanding awards under
legacy plans for BK and TH, which were assumed in connection with the merger and amalgamation of those entities within the RBI
group. No new awards may be granted under these legacy BK plans or legacy TH plans.

We are currently issuing awards under the Omnibus Plan and the number of shares available for issuance under such plan as of
December 31, 2021 was 10,122,551. The Omnibus Plan permits the grant of several types of awards with respect to our common
shares, including stock options, time-vested RSUs, and performance-based RSUs, which may include Company and/or individual
performance based-vesting conditions. Under the terms of the Omnibus Plan, RSUs are entitled to dividend equivalents, unless
otherwise noted. Dividend equivalents are not distributed unless the related awards vest. Upon vesting, the amount of the dividend
equivalent, which is distributed in additional RSUs, except in the case of RSUs awarded to non-management members of our board of
directors, is equal to the equivalent of the aggregate dividends declared on common shares during the period from the date of grant of
the award compounded until the date the shares underlying the award are delivered.

Stock option awards are granted with an exercise price or market value equal to the closing price of our common shares on the
trading day preceding the date of grant. We satisfy stock option exercises through the issuance of authorized but previously unissued
common shares. Stock option grants generally cliff vest 5 years from the original grant date, provided the employee is continuously
employed by us or one of our affiliates, and the stock options expire 10 years following the grant date. Additionally, if we terminate
the employment of a stock option holder without cause prior to the vesting date, or if the employee retires or becomes disabled, the
employee will become vested in the number of stock options as if the stock options vested 20% on each anniversary of the grant date.
If the employee dies, the employee will become vested in the number of stock options as if the stock options vested 20% on the first
anniversary of the grant date, 40% on the second anniversary of the grant date and 100% on the third anniversary of the grant date. If
an employee is terminated with cause or resigns before vesting, all stock options are forfeited. If there is an event such as a return of
capital or dividend that is determined to be dilutive, the exercise price of the awards will be adjusted accordingly.
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Share-based compensation expense consists of the following for the periods presented (in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Total share-based compensation expense - Stock options and RSUs (a)(b) $ 8 $ 74 $ 68

(a) Includes $2 million, $3 million, and $4 million due to modification of awards in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
(b)  Generally classified as general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

As of December 31, 2021, total unrecognized compensation cost related to share-based compensation arrangements was $189
million and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.6 years.

The following assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to determine the fair value of stock option
awards at the grant date:

2021 2020 2019
Risk-free interest rate 1.29% 1.29% 1.82%
Expected term (in years) 5.88 5.88 6.19
Expected volatility 23.9% 23.9% 25.5%
Expected dividend yield 3.14% 3.14% 3.09%

The risk-free interest rate was based on the U.S. Treasury or Canadian Sovereign bond yield with a remaining term equal to the
expected option life assumed at the date of grant. The expected term was calculated based on the analysis of a five-year vesting period
coupled with our expectations of exercise activity. Expected volatility was based on the historical and implied equity volatility of the
Company and a review of the equity volatilities of publicly-traded guideline companies. The expected dividend yield is based on the
annual dividend yield at the time of grant.

The following is a summary of stock option activity under our plans for the year ended December 31, 2021:

Weighted
Average
Total Number Aggregate Remaining
of Weighted Intrinsic Contractual
Options Average Value (a) Term
(in 000’s) Exercise Price (in 000’s) (Years)
Outstanding at January 1, 2021 8,202 § 51.86
Granted 15 3 65.11
Exercised (1,594) $ 37.83
Forfeited (416) § 63.00
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 6,207 $ 5480 $ 48,468 5.6
Exercisable at December 31, 2021 1,961 $ 39.68 $ 41,255 3.3
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2021 5,671 $ 5410 $ 47,650 55

(a)  The intrinsic value represents the amount by which the fair value of our stock exceeds the option exercise price at December 31,
2021.

The weighted-average grant date fair value per stock option granted was $10.15, $10.38, and $11.83 during 2021, 2020 and

2019, respectively. The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised was $46 million during 2021, $55 million during 2020, and
$200 million during 2019.

41



Table of Contents

The fair value of the time-vested RSUs and performance-based RSUs is based on the closing price of the Company’s common
shares on the trading day preceding the date of grant. During 2021, the Company granted total shareholder return (“TSR”)
performance-based RSUs that vest over a three year period based on the achievement of contractually defined total shareholder return
targets with respect to the S&P 500 Index. The fair value of the TSR awards was based on a Monte Carlo Simulation valuation model
and we expense these market condition awards over the vesting period regardless of the value that the award recipients ultimately
receive. Time-vested RSUs and performance-based RSUs awarded prior to 2021 generally cliff vest five years from the original grant
date. Time-vested RSUs granted in 2021 generally vest 25% per year over four years and performance-based RSUs granted in 2021
cliff vest three years from the original grant date. The Company has awarded a limited number of time-vested RSUs that
proportionally vest over a period shorter than four years. Time-vested RSUs are expensed over the vesting period. Performance-based
RSUs are expensed over the vesting period, based upon the probability that the performance target will be met. We grant fully vested
RSUs, with dividend equivalent rights that accrue in cash, to non-employee members of our board of directors in lieu of a cash retainer
and committee fees. All such RSUs will settle and common shares of the Company will be issued upon termination of service by the
board member.

Starting in 2021, the time-vested RSUs generally vest 25% per year on December 31 over four years from the grant date and
performance-based RSUs generally cliff vest three years from the grant date (the starting date for the applicable vesting period is
referred to as the “Anniversary Date”). For grants prior to 2021, if the employee is terminated for any reason within the first two years
of the Anniversary Date, 100% of the time-vested RSUs granted will be forfeited. If we terminate the employment of a time-vested
RSU holder without cause two years after the Anniversary Date, or if the employee retires, the employee will become vested in the
number of time-vested RSUs as if the time-vested RSUs vested 20% for each year after the Anniversary Date. For grants prior to
2021, if the employee is terminated for any reason within the first three years of the Anniversary Date, 100% of the performance-
based RSUs granted will be forfeited. If we terminate the employment of a performance-based RSU holder without cause between
three and five years after the Anniversary Date, or if the employee retires, the employee will become vested in 50% of the
performance-based RSUs. For grants of time-vested RSUs beginning in 2021, if the employee is terminated for any reason prior to any
vesting date, the employee will forfeit all of the RSUs that are unvested at the time of termination. For grants of performance-based
RSUs beginning in 2021, if the employee is terminated within the first two years of the Anniversary Date, 100% of the performance-
based RSUs will be forfeited. If we terminate the employment of a performance-based RSU holder without cause two years after the
Anniversary Date, or if the employee retires, the employee will become vested in 67% of the performance-based RSUs that are earned
based on the performance criteria. An alternate ratable vesting schedule applies to the extent the participant ends employment by
reason of death or disability.

The following is a summary of time-vested RSUs and performance-based RSUs activity for the year ended December 31, 2021:

Time-vested RSUs Performance-based RSUs

Total Number of Weighted Average Total Number of Weighted Average
Shares Grant Date Fair Shares Grant Date Fair

(in 000’s) Value (in 000’s) Value
Outstanding at January 1, 2021 1,761 $ 49.99 4,869 $ 56.96
Granted 1,566 $ 60.97 425§ 57.60
Vested and settled (455) $ 39.54 (1,189) § 38.07
Dividend equivalents granted 68 $ — 133§ —
Forfeited (176) $ 61.98 (343) $ 67.36
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 2,764 $ 57.47 3,805 $ 62.09

The weighted-average grant date fair value of time-vested RSUs granted was $65.20 and $64.82 during 2020 and 2019,
respectively. The weighted-average grant date fair value of performance-based RSUs granted was $62.69 and $65.54 during 2020 and
2019, respectively. The total fair value, determined as of the date of vesting, of RSUs vested and converted to common shares of the
Company during 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $99 million, $21 million and $8 million, respectively.
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Note 15. Revenue Recognition

Contract Liabilities

Contract liabilities consist of deferred revenue resulting from initial and renewal franchise fees paid by franchisees, as well as
upfront fees paid by master franchisees, which are generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the underlying
agreement. We classify these contract liabilities as Other liabilities, net in our consolidated balance sheets. The following table reflects
the change in contract liabilities by segment and on a consolidated basis between December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2021 (in

millions):

Contract Liabilities TH BK PLK Consolidated
Balance at December 31, 2020 62 427 39 % 528
Recognized during period and included in the contract

liability balance at the beginning of the year 9) (44) @) (57)
Increase, excluding amounts recognized as revenue

during the period 12 40 21 73
Impact of foreign currency translation — (13) — (13)
Balance at December 31, 2021 65 $ 410 56 $ 531

The following table illustrates estimated revenues expected to be recognized in the future related to performance obligations that
are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) by segment and on a consolidated basis as of December 31, 2021 (in millions):

Contract liabilities expected to be recognized in TH BK PLK Consolidated
2022 10 $ 34 4 3 48
2023 33 4 46
2024 32 4 45
2025 8 32 4 44
2026 31 3 40
Thereafter 23 248 37 308
Total 65 $ 410 56 $ 531
Disaggregation of Total Revenues
Total revenues consist of the following (in millions):
2021 2020 2019

Sales $ 2,378 2,013  $ 2,362
Royalties 1,561 1,327 1,459
Property revenues 793 718 833
Franchise fees and other revenue 98 76 89
Advertising revenues 909 834 860
Total revenues $ 5,739 4968 $ 5,603
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Note 16. Other Operating Expenses (Income), net

Other operating expenses (income), net, consist of the following (in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Net losses (gains) on disposal of assets, restaurant closures and refranchisings $ 2 $ 6 $ 7
Litigation settlements and reserves, net 81 7 2
Net losses (gains) on foreign exchange (76) 100 (15)
Other, net — ®) 4
Other operating expenses (income), net $ 7 3 105 § (10)

Net losses (gains) on disposal of assets, restaurant closures, and refranchisings represent sales of properties and other costs
related to restaurant closures and refranchisings. Gains and losses recognized in the current period may reflect certain costs related to
closures and refranchisings that occurred in previous periods.

Litigation settlements and reserves, net primarily reflects accruals and payments made and proceeds received in connection with
litigation and arbitration matters and other business disputes.

In early 2022, we entered into negotiations to resolve business disputes that arose during 2021 with counterparties to the master
franchise agreements for Burger King and Popeyes in China. Based on these discussions, we expect to agree to pay approximately
$100 million in 2022, including $72 million that is included in Litigation settlements and reserves, net for 2021. Remaining amounts
primarily will be recorded as an equity method investment when made.

Net losses (gains) on foreign exchange are primarily related to revaluation of foreign denominated assets and liabilities.

Note 17. Commitments and Contingencies

Letters of Credit

As of December 31, 2021, we had $12 million in irrevocable standby letters of credit outstanding, which were issued primarily
to certain insurance carriers to guarantee payments of deductibles for various insurance programs, such as health and commercial
liability insurance. Of these letters of credit outstanding, $2 million are secured by the collateral under our Revolving Credit Facility
and the remainder are secured by cash collateral. As of December 31, 2021, no amounts had been drawn on any of these irrevocable
standby letters of credit.

Purchase Commitments

We have arrangements for information technology and telecommunication services with an aggregate contractual obligation of
$33 million over the next three years, some of which have early termination fees. We also enter into commitments to purchase
advertising. As of December 31, 2021, these commitments totaled $194 million and run through 2025.

Litigation

From time to time, we are involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business relating to matters including,
but not limited to, disputes with franchisees, suppliers, employees and customers, as well as disputes over our intellectual property.

On October 5, 2018, a class action complaint was filed against Burger King Worldwide, Inc. (“BKW?”) and Burger King
Corporation (“BKC”) in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida by Jarvis Arrington, individually and on behalf of
all others similarly situated. On October 18, 2018, a second class action complaint was filed against RBI, BKW and BKC in the U.S.
District Court for the Southern District of Florida by Monique Michel, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated. On
October 31, 2018, a third class action complaint was filed against BKC and BKW in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District
of Florida by Geneva Blanchard and Tiffany Miller, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated. On November 2, 2018,
a fourth class action complaint was filed against RBI, BKW and BKC in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida by
Sandra Muster, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated. These complaints have been consolidated and allege that the
defendants violated Section 1 of the Sherman Act by incorporating an employee no-solicitation and no-hiring clause in the standard
form franchise agreement all Burger King franchisees are required to sign. Each plaintiff seeks injunctive relief and damages for
himself or herself and other members of the class. On March 24, 2020, the Court granted BKC’s motion to dismiss for failure to state a
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claim and on April 20, 2020 the plaintiffs filed a motion for leave to amend their complaint. On April 27, 2020, BKC filed a motion
opposing the motion for leave to amend. The court denied the plaintiffs motion for leave to amend their complaint in August 2020 and
the plaintiffs appealed this ruling. Oral arguments for the appeal were heard in September 2021 and the parties await a ruling on the
appeal. While we currently believe these claims are without merit, we are unable to predict the ultimate outcome of this case or
estimate the range of possible loss, if any.

In July 2019, a class action complaint was filed against The TDL Group Corp. (“TDL”) in the Supreme Court of British
Columbia by Samir Latifi, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated. The complaint alleges that TDL violated the
Canadian Competition Act by incorporating an employee no-solicitation and no-hiring clause in the standard form franchise agreement
all Tim Hortons franchisees are required to sign. The plaintiff seeks damages and restitution, on behalf of himself and other members
of the class. In February 2021, TDL filed and served an application to strike which was heard in May 2021. The court struck the
substantial points, including: the claim related to the Canadian Competition Act, the unlawful conspiracy claim, and the claim for
unjust enrichment. While we currently believe this claim is without merit, we are unable to predict the ultimate outcome of this case or

estimate the range of possible loss, if any.

On June 30, 2020, a class action complaint was filed against Restaurant Brands International Inc., Restaurant Brands
International Limited Partnership and The TDL Group Corp. in the Quebec Superior Court by Steve Holcman, individually and on
behalf of all Quebec residents who downloaded the Tim Hortons mobile application. On July 2, 2020, a Notice of Action related to a
second class action complaint was filed against Restaurant Brands International Inc., in the Ontario Superior Court by Ashley Sitko
and Ashley Cadeau, individually and on behalf of all Canadian residents who downloaded the Tim Hortons mobile application. On
August 31, 2020, a notice of claim was filed against Restaurant Brands International Inc. in the Supreme Court of British Columbia by
Wai Lam Jacky Law on behalf of all persons in Canada who downloaded the Tim Hortons mobile application or the Burger King
mobile application. On September 30, 2020, a notice of action was filed against Restaurant Brands International Inc., Restaurant
Brands International Limited Partnership, The TDL Group Corp., Burger King Worldwide, Inc. and Popeyes Louisiana Kitchen, Inc.
in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice by William Jung on behalf of a to be determined class. All of the complaints allege that the
defendants violated the plaintiff’s privacy rights, the Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act, consumer
protection and competition laws or app-based undertakings to users, in each case in connection with the collection of geolocation data
through the Tim Hortons mobile application, and in certain cases, the Burger King and Popeyes mobile applications. Each plaintiff
seeks injunctive relief and monetary damages for himself or herself and other members of the class. These cases are in preliminary
stages and we intend to vigorously defend against these lawsuits, but we are unable to predict the ultimate outcome of any of these
cases or estimate the range of possible loss, if any.

On October 26, 2020, City of Warwick Municipal Employees Pension Fund, a purported stockholder of Restaurant Brands
International Inc., individually and putatively on behalf of all other stockholders similarly situated, filed a lawsuit in the Supreme
Court of the State of New York County of New York naming RBI and certain of our officers, directors and shareholders as defendants
alleging violations of Sections 11, 12(a)(2) and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, in connection with certain offerings of
securities by an affiliate in August and September 2019. The complaint alleges that the shelf registration statement used in connection
with such offering contained certain false and/or misleading statements or omissions. The complaint seeks, among other relief, class
certification of the lawsuit, unspecified compensatory damages, rescission, pre-judgement and post-judgement interest, costs and
expenses. On December 18, 2020 the plaintiffs filed an amended complaint and on February 16, 2021 RBI filed a motion to dismiss
the complaint. The plaintiffs filed a brief in opposition to the motion on April 19, 2021 and RBI filed a reply in May 2021. The motion
to dismiss is scheduled to be heard in March 2022. We intend to vigorously defend. While we believe these claims are without merit,
we are unable to predict the ultimate outcome of this case or estimate the range of possible loss, if any.
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Note 18. Segment Reporting and Geographical Information

As stated in Note 1, Description of Business and Organization, we manage four brands. Under the Tim Hortons brand, we
operate in the donut/coffee/tea category of the quick service segment of the restaurant industry. Under the Burger King brand, we
operate in the fast food hamburger restaurant category of the quick service segment of the restaurant industry. Under the Popeyes
brand, we operate in the chicken category of the quick service segment of the restaurant industry. Under the Firehouse Subs brand, we
operate in the specialty subs category of the quick service segment of the restaurant industry. Our business generates revenue from the
following sources: (i) franchise and advertising revenues, consisting primarily of royalties and advertising fund contributions based on
a percentage of sales reported by franchise restaurants and franchise fees paid by franchisees; (ii) property revenues from properties
we lease or sublease to franchisees; and (iii) sales at restaurants owned by us (“Company restaurants”). In addition, our TH business
generates revenue from sales to franchisees related to our supply chain operations, including manufacturing, procurement,
warehousing and distribution, as well as sales to retailers. We manage each of our brands as an operating segment and each operating
segment represents a reportable segment.

Our management structure and financial reporting is organized around our four brands, including the information regularly
reviewed by our Chief Executive Officer, who is our Chief Operating Decision Maker. Therefore, we have four operating segments:
(1) TH, which includes all operations of our 7im Hortons brand, (2) BK, which includes all operations of our Burger King brand, (3)
PLK, which includes all operations of our Popeyes brand, and (4) FHS, which includes all operations of our Firehouse Subs brand.
Our four operating segments represent our reportable segments. FHS revenues and segment income for the period from the acquisition
date of December 15, 2021 through December 26, 2021 (the fiscal year end for FHS) are included in our consolidated statement of
operations for 2021.

The following tables present revenues, by segment and by country, depreciation and amortization, (income) loss from equity
method investments, and capital expenditures by segment (in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Revenues by operating segment:
TH $ 3342 § 2,810 $ 3,344
BK 1,813 1,602 1,777
PLK 579 556 482
FHS 5 — —
Total $ 5,739 $ 4,968 $ 5,603
Revenues by country (a):
Canada $ 3,035 $ 2,546 $ 3,037
United States 2,005 1,889 1,930
Other 699 533 636
Total $ 5,739 $ 4,968 $ 5,603
Depreciation and amortization:
TH $ 132§ 119 $ 112
BK 62 62 62
PLK 7 8 11
Total $ 201§ 189 § 185
(Income) loss from equity method investments:
TH $ (13) $ “4) s (™)
BK 17 43 @)
Total $ 4 9 39 § (11)
Capital expenditures:
TH $ 61 $ 92 $ 37
BK 34 18 20
PLK 11 7 5
Total $ 106 $ 117 $ 62
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(a) Only Canada and the United States represented 10% or more of our total revenues in each period presented.

Total assets by segment, and long-lived assets by segment and country are as follows (in millions):

Assets Long-Lived Assets
As of December 31, As of December 31,
2021 2020 2021 2020
By operating segment:
TH $ 13,995 $ 13,963 $ 1,963 $ 1,990
BK 4,946 5,334 1,137 1,128
PLK 2,563 2,525 141 131
FHS 1,103 — 4 —
Unallocated 639 955 — —
Total $ 23246 $ 22,777 $ 3,245 § 3,249
By country:
Canada $ 1,670 $ 1,685
United States 1,556 1,539
Other 19 25
Total $ 3,245 § 3,249

Long-lived assets include property and equipment, net, finance and operating lease right of use assets, net and net investment in
property leased to franchisees. Only Canada and the United States represented 10% or more of our total long-lived assets as of
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.

Our measure of segment income is Adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted EBITDA represents earnings (net income or loss) before
interest expense, net, loss on early extinguishment of debt, income tax (benefit) expense, and depreciation and amortization, adjusted
to exclude (i) the non-cash impact of share-based compensation and non-cash incentive compensation expense, (ii) (income) loss from
equity method investments, net of cash distributions received from equity method investments, (iii) other operating expenses (income),
net and, (iv) income/expenses from non-recurring projects and non-operating activities. For the periods referenced, this included (i)
non-recurring fees and expense incurred in connection with the Firehouse Subs acquisition consisting of professional fees and
compensation related expenses (“FHS Transaction costs™); (ii) costs from professional advisory and consulting services associated
with certain transformational corporate restructuring initiatives that rationalize our structure and optimize cash movements, including
services related to significant tax reform legislation, regulations and related restructuring initiatives (“Corporate restructuring and tax
advisory fees”); and (iii) costs incurred in connection with the centralization and relocation of our Canadian and U.S. restaurant
support centers to new offices in Toronto, Ontario, and Miami, Florida, respectively, (“Office centralization and relocation costs”).
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Adjusted EBITDA is used by management to measure operating performance of the business, excluding these non-cash and
other specifically identified items that management believes are not relevant to management’s assessment of our operating
performance. A reconciliation of segment income to net income consists of the following (in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Segment income:
TH $ 997 $ 823 § 1,122
BK 1,021 823 994
PLK 228 218 188
FHS 2 = S
Adjusted EBITDA 2,248 1,864 2,304
Share-based compensation and non-cash incentive compensation expense 102 84 74
FHS Transaction costs 18 — —
Corporate restructuring and tax advisory fees 16 16 31
Office centralization and relocation costs — — 6
Impact of equity method investments (a) 25 48 11
Other operating expenses (income), net 7 105 (10)
EBITDA 2,080 1,611 2,192
Depreciation and amortization 201 189 185
Income from operations 1,879 1,422 2,007
Interest expense, net 505 508 532
Loss on early extinguishment of debt 11 98 23
Income tax expense 110 66 341
Net income $ 1,253 § 750 $ 1,111

(a)  Represents (i) (income) loss from equity method investments and (ii) cash distributions received from our equity method
investments. Cash distributions received from our equity method investments are included in segment income.

Note 19. Subsequent Events
Dividends

On January 5, 2022, we paid a cash dividend of $0.53 per common share to common shareholders of record on December 21,
2021. On such date, Partnership also made a distribution in respect of each Partnership exchangeable unit in the amount of $0.53 per
exchangeable unit to holders of record on December 21, 2021.

On February 15, 2022, we announced that the board of directors had declared a cash dividend of $0.54 per common share for
the first quarter of 2022. The dividend will be paid on April 6, 2022 to common shareholders of record on March 23, 2022. Partnership
will also make a distribution in respect of each Partnership exchangeable unit in the amount of $0.54 per Partnership exchangeable
unit, and the record date and payment date for distributions on Partnership exchangeable units are the same as the record date and
payment date set forth above.

skeskoskoskock
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GUARANTEE OF PERFORMANCE

For value received, Restaurant Brands International Inc., a Canadian corporation (the “Guarantor”),
located at 226 Wyecroft Road, Oakville, Ontario, L6K 3X7, Canada, absolutely and unconditionally guarantees
to assume the duties and obligations of Tim Hortons USA Ine., located at 5707 Blue Lagoon Drive, Miami,
Florida 33126 (the “Franchisor”), under its franchise registration in each state as identified in Item 21 of this
Franchise Disclosure Document, and under its Franchise Agreement identified in its 2022 Franchise Disclosure
Document, as it may be amended, and as that Franchise Agreement may be entered into with franchisees and
amended, modified or extended from time to time with residents of, or for locations in, those states. This guarantee
continues until all such obligations of the Franchisor under such franchise registrations and the Franchise
Agreement are satisfied or until the liability of Franchisor to such franchisees under the Franchise Agreement has
been completely discharged, whichever first occurs. The Guarantor is not discharged from liability if a claim by
a franchisee against the Franchisor remains outstanding. Notice of acceptance is waived. The Guarantor does not
waive receipt of notice of default on the part of the Franchisor. This guarantee is binding on the Guarantor and its
successors and assigns.

The Guarantor signs this guarantee at Miami, Florida on the 8 day of March, 2022.
GUARANTOR:

RESTAURANT BRANDS
INTERNATIONAL INC.

By: M

Natfle: Matthew Dunnigan
Title; Chief Financial Officer
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of Restaurant Brands International Inc. (“RBI”), the sole general partner of Restaurant Brands International Limited
Partnership (the “Partnership”), is responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements, related notes and other information included in this annual report. The consolidated financial statements were prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and include certain amounts based on
management’s estimates and assumptions. Other financial information presented in the annual report is derived from the consolidated
financial statements.

Management is also responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, and for performing
an assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021. Internal control over financial
reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Our system of internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of Partnership; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of Partnership are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of RBI; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use
or disposition of Partnership’s assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Management performed an assessment of the effectiveness of Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2021 based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on our assessment and those criteria, management
determined that Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2021.

The scope of management's assessment of the effectiveness of Partnership's internal control over financial reporting included all of
Partnership's consolidated operations except for the operations of FRG, LLC, which Partnership acquired in December 2021. FRG,
LLC operations represented $1,103 million of Partnership's consolidated total assets (which includes acquisition accounting
adjustments within the scope of the assessment) and $5 million of Partnership's consolidated total revenues as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2021.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

The effectiveness of Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021 has been audited by KPMG LLP,
Partnership’s independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in its report which is included herein.



Table of Contents

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Partners, Restaurant Brands International Limited Partnership, and Board of Directors,
Restaurant Brands International Inc., the sole general partner of Restaurant Brands International Limited Partnership:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Restaurant Brands International Limited Partnership

and subsidiaries (the “Partnership”) as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive income (loss), equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2021, and the
related notes (collectively, the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Partnership as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(“PCAOB?”), the Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission,
and our report dated February 23, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Partnership’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Partnership’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB
and are required to be independent with respect to the Partnership in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining,
on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements
that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are
material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a
whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or
on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Gross unrecognized tax benefits

As discussed in Notes 2 and 11 to the consolidated financial statements, the Partnership records a liability for unrecognized
tax benefits associated with uncertain tax positions. The Partnership recognizes tax benefits from tax positions only if there is
more than a 50% likelihood that the tax positions will be sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities, based on the
technical merits of the positions. As of December 31, 2021, the Partnership has recorded gross unrecognized tax benefits,
excluding associated interest and penalties, of $437 million.

We identified the assessment of gross unrecognized tax benefits resulting from certain tax planning strategies implemented
during the year as a critical audit matter. Identifying and determining uncertain tax positions arising from implementing tax
planning strategies involved a number of judgments and assumptions, which included complex considerations of tax law. As
a result, subjective and complex auditor judgment, including the involvement of tax professionals with specialized skills and
knowledge, was required to evaluate the Partnership’s interpretation of tax law and its determination of which tax positions
have more than a 50% likelihood of being sustained upon examination.
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The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and
tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls related to the Partnership’s gross unrecognized tax benefits
process, including controls related to 1) interpreting tax law, 2) identifying significant uncertain tax positions arising from tax
planning strategies that were implemented during the year, 3) evaluating the tax consequences of the related strategies, and 4)
evaluating which of the Partnership’s tax positions may not be sustained upon examination. In addition, we involved tax
professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in:

*  obtaining an understanding of the Partnership’s tax planning strategies

« evaluating the Partnership’s interpretation of the relevant tax laws by developing an independent assessment

+ evaluating the Partnership’s identification of uncertain tax positions to assess the tax consequences of these related
tax positions

* performing an independent assessment of the Partnership’s tax positions and comparing our assessment to the
Partnership’s assessment.

(signed) KPMG LLP
We have served as the Partnership's auditor since 1989.

Miami, Florida
February 23, 2022
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Partners, Restaurant Brands International Limited Partnership, and Board of Directors,
Restaurant Brands International Inc., the sole general partner of Restaurant Brands International Limited Partnership:

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Restaurant Brands International Limited Partnership and subsidiaries’ (the “Partnership”) internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Partnership maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(“PCAOB?”), the consolidated balance sheets of the Partnership as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements
of operations, comprehensive income (loss), equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2021, and the related notes (collectively, the “consolidated financial statements’), and our report dated February 23, 2022 expressed an
unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

The Partnership acquired FRG, LLC during 2021, and management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of the
Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, FRG, LLC's internal control over financial reporting
associated with total assets of $1,103 million and total revenues of $5 million included in the consolidated financial statements of the
Partnership as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Partnership
also excluded an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of FRG, LLC.

Basis for Opinion

The Partnership’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Partnership’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Partnership in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities
and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control
based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect
on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in

conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

(signed) KPMG LLP
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Miami, Florida
February 23, 2022
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RESTAURANT BRANDS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In millions of U.S. dollars, except unit data)

As of December 31,
2021 2020
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,087 $ 1,560
Accounts and notes receivable, net of allowance of $18 and $42, respectively 547 536
Inventories, net 96 96
Prepaids and other current assets 86 72
Total current assets 1,816 2,264
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $979 and $879,
respectively 2,035 2,031
Operating lease assets, net 1,130 1,152
Intangible assets, net 11,417 10,701
Goodwill 6,006 5,739
Net investment in property leased to franchisees 80 66
Other assets, net 762 824
Total assets $ 23,246 $ 22,777
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts and drafts payable $ 614 $ 464
Other accrued liabilities 947 835
Gift card liability 221 191
Current portion of long-term debt and finance leases 96 111
Total current liabilities 1,878 1,601
Long-term debt, net of current portion 12,916 12,397
Finance leases, net of current portion 333 315
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion 1,070 1,082
Other liabilities, net 1,822 2,236
Deferred income taxes, net 1,374 1,425
Total liabilities 19,393 19,056
Commitments and contingencies (Note 17)
Partners’ capital:
Class A common units - 202,006,067 units issued and outstanding at December 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020 8,421 7,994
Partnership exchangeable units - 144,993,458 units issued and outstanding at December 31, 2021,
155,113,338 units issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (3,547) (3,002)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (1,024) (1,275)
Total Partners’ capital 3,850 3,717
Noncontrolling interests 3 4
Total equity 3,853 3,721
Total liabilities and equity $ 23246 $ 22,777

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors of Restaurant Brands International Inc., as general partner of Restaurant Brands
International Limited Partnership:

By: /s/ Daniel Schwartz By: /s/ Ali Hedayat
Daniel Schwartz, Co-Chairman of Restaurant Brands Ali Hedayat, Director of Restaurant Brands
International Inc. International Inc.



Table of Contents

RESTAURANT BRANDS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In millions of U.S. dollars, except per unit data)

Revenues:
Sales
Franchise and property revenues
Advertising revenues
Total revenues
Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of sales
Franchise and property expenses
Advertising expenses
General and administrative expenses
(Income) loss from equity method investments
Other operating expenses (income), net
Total operating costs and expenses
Income from operations
Interest expense, net
Loss on early extinguishment of debt
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net income
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net income attributable to common unitholders
Earnings per unit - basic and diluted (Note 3):
Class A common units
Partnership exchangeable units

Weighted average units outstanding - basic and diluted (in millions) (Note 3):

Class A common units
Partnership exchangeable units

2021 2020 2019
$ 2,378 2,013 2,362
2,452 2,121 2,381
909 834 860
5,739 4,968 5,603
1,890 1,610 1,813
489 515 533
962 870 865
508 407 406
4 39 (11)
7 105 (10)
3,860 3,546 3,596
1,879 1,422 2,007
505 508 532
11 98 23
1,363 816 1,452
110 66 341
1,253 750 LIl
4 2 2
$ 1,249 748 S 1,109
$ 4.15 241 8 3.18
$ 2.72 1.62 $ 2.40
202 202 202
151 162 194

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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RESTAURANT BRANDS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(In millions of U.S. dollars)

2021 2020 2019

Net income $ 1,253  $ 750 $ 1,111
Foreign currency translation adjustment (67) 332 409
Net change in fair value of net investment hedges, net of tax of $15, $60, and $32 111 (242) (86)
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax of $(36), $91, and $29 96 (244) (77)
Amounts reclassified to earnings of cash flow hedges, net of tax of $(36), $(27), and
$(6) 96 73 15
Gain (loss) recognized on defined benefit pension plans and other items, net of tax of
$(3), $3, and $1 15 (16) 2)

Other comprehensive income (loss) 251 97) 259
Comprehensive income (loss) 1,504 653 1,370
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests 4 2 2
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to common unitholders $ 1,500 § 651 $ 1,368

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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RESTAURANT BRANDS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Equity
(In millions of U.S. dollars, except unit data)

Class A Partnership Accumulated
Common Units Exchangeable units Other
Comprehensive Noncontrolling
Units Amount Units Amount Income (Loss) Interests Total

Balances at December 31, 2018 202,006,067 $ 4,323 207,523,591  § 730§ (1,437) $ 2 3 3,618

Cumulative effect adjustment (Note 9) — 12 — 9 — — 21

Distributions declared on Class A common units ($2.70 per

unit) — (545) — — — — (545)

Distributions declared on partnership exchangeable units

(82.00 per unit) — — — (382) — — (382)

Exchange of Partnership exchangeable units for RBI

common shares — 3,176 (42,016,392) (3,176) — — —

Repurchase of Partnership exchangeable units _ — _ — _ _ _

Capital contribution from RBI Inc. _ 177 _ — _ _ 177

Restaurant VIE distributions _ — _ — _ _ _

Net income — 643 — 466 — 2 1,111

Other comprehensive income (loss) — — — — 259 — 259
Balances at December 31, 2019 202,006,067 $ 7,786 165,507,199 § (2,353) $ (1,178) $ 4 3 4,259

Distributions declared on Class A common units ($3.12 per

unit) — (631) — — — — (631)

Distributions declared on partnership exchangeable units

(82.08 per unit) — — — (336) — — (336)

Exchange of Partnership exchangeable units for RBI

common shares — 195 (3,636,169) (195) — — —

Repurchase of Partnership exchangeable units — — (6,757,692) (380) — — (380)

Capital contribution from RBI Inc. — 158 — — — — 158

Restaurant VIE distributions — — — — — 2) 2)

Net income — 486 — 262 — 2 750

Other comprehensive income (loss) _ _ _ _ ©7) _ 7
Balances at December 31, 2020 202,006,067 $ 7,994 155,113,338  § (3,002) $ (1,275) $ 4 3 3,721

Distributions declared on Class A common units ($3.26 per

unit) — (658) — — = = (658)

Distributions declared on partnership exchangeable units

(82.12 per unit) — — — 318) — — (318)

Exchange of Partnership exchangeable units for RBI

common shares — 638 (10,119,880) (638) = = —

Distribution to RBI for repurchase of RBI common shares — (551) — — — — (551)

Capital contribution from RBI Inc. _ 160 — — = — 160

Restaurant VIE distributions — — — — — 5) 5)

Net income — 838 — 411 — 4 1,253

Other comprehensive income (loss) — — — — 251 — 251
Balances at December 31, 2021 202,006,067 $ 8,421 144,993,458 $ (3.547) 8 1,024) $ 3 8 3,853

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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RESTAURANT BRANDS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In millions of U.S. dollars)

2021 2020 2019
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 1,253  $ 750 $ 1,111
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 201 189 185
Premiums paid and non-cash loss on early extinguishment of debt 11 97 16
Amortization of deferred financing costs and debt issuance discount 27 26 29
(Income) loss from equity method investments 4 39 (11)
Loss (gain) on remeasurement of foreign denominated transactions (76) 100 (14)
Net (gains) losses on derivatives 87 32 (49)
Share-based compensation and non-cash incentive compensation expense 102 84 74
Deferred income taxes 6) (208) 58
Other (16) 28 6
Changes in current assets and liabilities, excluding acquisitions and dispositions:
Accounts and notes receivable 8 (30) (53)
Inventories and prepaids and other current assets 12 (10) (15)
Accounts and drafts payable 149 (183) 112
Other accrued liabilities and gift card liability 67 6 57
Tenant inducements paid to franchisees (20) (22) (54)
Other long-term assets and liabilities (78) 23 138
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,726 921 1,476
Cash flows from investing activities:
Payments for property and equipment (106) (117) (62)
Net proceeds from disposal of assets, restaurant closures and refranchisings 16 12 8
Net payment for purchase of Firehouse Subs, net of cash acquired (1,004) — —
Settlement/sale of derivatives, net 5 33 24
Other investing activities, net (14) @) —
Net cash used for investing activities (1,103) (79) (30)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from revolving line of credit and long-term debt 1,335 5,235 2,250
Repayments of revolving line of credit, long-term debt and finance leases (889) (4,708) (2,266)
Payment of financing costs (19) (43) (50)
Distributions on Class A common and Partnership exchangeable units (974) (959) (901)
Repurchase of Partnership exchangeable units — (380) —
Distributions to RBI for repurchase of RBI common shares (551) — —
Capital contribution from RBI 60 82 102
(Payments) proceeds from derivatives (62))] (46) 23
Other financing activities, net 4) ) —
Net cash used for financing activities (1,093) (821) (842)
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 3) 6 16
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (473) 27 620
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 1,560 1,533 913
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 1,087 $ 1,560 $ 1,533
Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Interest paid $ 404 % 463 § 584
Income taxes paid $ 256 $ 267 $ 248

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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RESTAURANT BRANDS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Description of Business and Organization

Description of Business

99 G, CERT3

Restaurant Brands International Limited Partnership (“Partnership”, “we”, “us” or “our”) is a Canadian limited partnership. On
December 15, 2021 we acquired FRG, LLC (“Firehouse Subs”). We franchise and operate quick service restaurants serving premium
coffee and other beverage and food products under the Tim Hortons® brand (“Tim Hortons” or “TH”), fast food hamburgers
principally under the Burger King® brand (“Burger King” or “BK”), chicken under the Popeyes® brand (“Popeyes” or “PLK”) and
sandwiches under the Firehouse Subs® brand (“Firehouse” or “FHS”). We are one of the world’s largest quick service restaurant, or
QSR, companies as measured by total number of restaurants. As of December 31, 2021, we franchised or owned 5,291 Tim Hortons
restaurants, 19,247 Burger King restaurants, 3,705 Popeyes restaurants, and 1,213 Firehouse restaurants, for a total of 29,456
restaurants, and operate in more than 100 countries. Approximately 100% of current system-wide restaurants are franchised.

We are a subsidiary of Restaurant Brands International Inc. (“RBI”). RBI is our sole general partner, and as such, RBI has the
exclusive right, power and authority to manage, control, administer and operate the business and affairs and to make decisions
regarding the undertaking and business of Partnership in accordance with the partnership agreement of Partnership (“partnership
agreement”) and applicable laws.

All references to “$” or “dollars” are to the currency of the United States unless otherwise indicated. All references to “Canadian
dollars” or “C$” are to the currency of Canada unless otherwise indicated.

Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies
Fiscal Year

We operate on a monthly calendar, with a fiscal year that ends on December 31. TH, BK and PLK operate on the same fiscal
year. The fiscal year of FHS ends on the Sunday on or before December 31 which was December 26, 2021.

Basis of Presentation

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States (“GAAP”) and related rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission requires our management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the related disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements (the "Financial Statements") include our accounts and the accounts of entities in which we
have a controlling financial interest, the usual condition of which is ownership of a majority voting interest. All material intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Investments in other affiliates that are owned 50% or less where we
have significant influence are accounted for by the equity method.

We also consider for consolidation entities in which we have certain interests, where the controlling financial interest may be
achieved through arrangements that do not involve voting interests. Such an entity, known as a variable interest entity (“VIE”), is
required to be consolidated by its primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary is the entity that possesses the power to direct the
activities of the VIE that most significantly impact its economic performance and has the obligation to absorb losses or the right to
receive benefits from the VIE that are significant to it. Our maximum exposure to loss resulting from involvement with VIEs is
attributable to accounts and notes receivable balances, investment balances, outstanding loan guarantees and future lease payments,
where applicable.

As our franchise and master franchise arrangements provide the franchise and master franchise entities the power to direct the
activities that most significantly impact their economic performance, we do not consider ourselves the primary beneficiary of any such
entity that might be a VIE.

Tim Hortons has historically entered into certain arrangements in which an operator acquires the right to operate a restaurant,
but Tim Hortons owns the restaurant’s assets. In these arrangements, Tim Hortons has the ability to determine which operators
manage the restaurants and for what duration. We perform an analysis to determine if the legal entity in which operations are
conducted is a VIE and consolidate a VIE entity if we also determine Tim Hortons is the entity’s primary beneficiary (“Restaurant
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VIEs”). As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we determined that we are the primary beneficiary of 46 and 38 Restaurant VIEs,
respectively, and accordingly, have consolidated the results of operations, assets and liabilities, and cash flows of these Restaurant
VIEs in our Financial Statements.

Assets and liabilities related to consolidated VIEs are not significant to our total consolidated assets and liabilities. Liabilities
recognized as a result of consolidating these VIEs do not necessarily represent additional claims on our general assets; rather, they
represent claims against the specific assets of the consolidated VIEs. Conversely, assets recognized as a result of consolidating these
VIEs do not represent additional assets that could be used to satisfy claims by our creditors as they are not legally included within our
general assets.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes to the consolidated financial
statements have been reclassified in order to be comparable with the current year classifications. These consist of the 2020 and 2019
reclassification of advertising fund contributions from Franchise and property revenues to Advertising revenues and advertising fund
expenses from Selling, general and administrative expenses to Advertising expenses, with General and administrative expenses now
presented separately. Depreciation and amortization expenses related to the advertising funds for 2020 and 2019 have also been
reclassified from Franchise and property expenses to Advertising expenses. These reclassifications did not arise as a result of any
changes to accounting policies and relate entirely to presentation with no effect on previously reported net income.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transaction Gains and Losses

Our functional currency is the U.S. dollar, since our term loans and senior secured notes are denominated in U.S. dollars. The
functional currency of each of our operating subsidiaries is generally the currency of the economic environment in which the
subsidiary primarily does business. Our foreign subsidiaries’ financial statements are translated into U.S. dollars using the foreign
exchange rates applicable to the dates of the financial statements. Assets and liabilities are translated using the end-of-period spot
foreign exchange rates. Income, expenses and cash flows are translated at the average foreign exchange rates for each period. Equity
accounts are translated at historical foreign exchange rates. The effects of these translation adjustments are reported as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI”) in the consolidated statements of equity.

For any transaction that is denominated in a currency different from the entity’s functional currency, we record a gain or loss
based on the difference between the foreign exchange rate at the transaction date and the foreign exchange rate at the transaction
settlement date (or rate at period end, if unsettled) which is included within other operating expenses (income), net in the consolidated
statements of operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

All highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and credit card receivables are considered cash
equivalents.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or net realizable value and consist primarily of raw materials such as green coffee
beans and finished goods such as new equipment, parts, paper supplies and restaurant food items. The moving average method is used
to determine the cost of raw materials and finished goods inventories held for sale to Tim Hortons franchisees.

Property and Equipment, net

We record property and equipment at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization, which is recognized using
the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: (i) buildings and improvements — up to 40 years; (ii) restaurant
equipment — up to 17 years; (iii) furniture, fixtures and other — up to 10 years; and (iv) manufacturing equipment — up to 25 years.
Leasehold improvements to properties where we are the lessee are amortized over the lesser of the remaining term of the lease or the
estimated useful life of the improvement.

Major improvements are capitalized, while maintenance and repairs are expensed when incurred.
Leases

In all leases, whether we are the lessor or lessee, we define lease term as the noncancellable term of the lease plus any renewals
covered by renewal options that are reasonably certain of exercise based on our assessment of the economic factors relevant to the
lessee. The noncancellable term of the lease commences on the date the lessor makes the underlying property in the lease available to
the lessee, irrespective of when lease payments begin under the contract.

Lessor Accounting
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We recognize lease payments for operating leases as property revenue on a straight-line basis over the lease term, and property
revenue is presented net of any related sales tax. Lease incentive payments we make to lessees are amortized as a reduction in property
revenue over the lease term. We account for reimbursements of maintenance and property tax costs paid to us by lessees as property
revenue.

We also have net investments in properties leased to franchisees, which meet the criteria of sales-type leases or met the criteria
of direct financing leases under the previous accounting guidance. Investments in sales-type leases and direct financing leases are
recorded on a net basis. Profit or loss on sales-type leases is recognized at lease commencement and recorded in other operating
expenses (income), net. Unearned income on direct financing leases is deferred, included in the net investment in the lease, and
recognized over the lease term yielding a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment in the lease.

We recognize variable lease payment income in the period when changes in facts and circumstances on which the variable lease
payments are based occur.

Lessee Accounting

In leases where we are the lessee, we recognize a right-of-use (“ROU”) asset and lease liability at lease commencement, which
are measured by discounting lease payments using our incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. We determine the incremental
borrowing rate applicable to each lease by reference to our outstanding secured borrowings and implied spreads over the risk-free
discount rates that correspond to the term of each lease, as adjusted for the currency of the lease. Subsequent amortization of the ROU
asset and accretion of the lease liability for an operating lease is recognized as a single lease cost, on a straight-line basis, over the
lease term. Reductions of the ROU asset and the change in the lease liability are included in changes in Other long-term assets and
liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.

A finance lease ROU asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lesser of the useful life of the leased asset or lease
term. Interest on each finance lease liability is determined as the amount that results in a constant periodic discount rate on the
remaining balance of the liability. Operating lease and finance lease ROU assets are assessed for impairment in accordance with our
long-lived asset impairment policy.

We reassess lease classification and remeasure ROU assets and lease liabilities when a lease is modified and that modification is
not accounted for as a separate contract or upon certain other events that require reassessment. Maintenance and property tax expenses
are accounted for on an accrual basis as variable lease cost.

We recognize variable lease cost in the period when changes in facts and circumstances on which the variable lease payments
are based occur.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets Not Subject to Amortization

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in connection
with the acquisition of Firechouse Subs in 2021, the acquisition of Popeyes in 2017, the acquisition of Tim Hortons in 2014 and the
acquisition of Burger King Holdings, Inc. by 3G Capital Partners Ltd. in 2010. Our indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of the 7im
Hortons brand, the Burger King brand, the Popeyes brand and the Firehouse Subs brand (each a “Brand” and together, the “Brands”).
Goodwill and the Brands are tested for impairment at least annually as of October 1 of each year and more often if an event occurs or
circumstances change which indicate impairment might exist. Our annual impairment tests of goodwill and the Brands may be
completed through qualitative assessments. We may elect to bypass the qualitative assessment and proceed directly to a quantitative
impairment test for any reporting unit or Brand in any period. We can resume the qualitative assessment for any reporting unit or
Brand in any subsequent period.

Under a qualitative approach, our impairment review for goodwill consists of an assessment of whether it is more-likely-than-not
that a reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying amount. If we elect to bypass the qualitative assessment for any reporting unit,
or if a qualitative assessment indicates it is more-likely-than-not that the estimated carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair
value, we perform a quantitative goodwill impairment test that requires us to estimate the fair value of the reporting unit. If the fair
value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, we will measure any goodwill impairment loss as the amount by which the
carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit.

Under a qualitative approach, our impairment review for the Brands consists of an assessment of whether it is more-likely-than-
not that a Brand’s fair value is less than its carrying amount. If we elect to bypass the qualitative assessment for a Brand, or if a
qualitative assessment indicates it is more-likely-than-not that the estimated carrying value of a Brand exceeds its fair value, we
estimate the fair value of the Brand and compare it to its carrying amount. If the carrying amount exceeds fair value, an impairment
loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess.

We completed our impairment tests for goodwill and the Brands as of October 1, 2021, 2020 and 2019 and no impairment
resulted.
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Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, intangible assets subject to amortization and lease right-of-use assets, are
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset or asset group may
not be recoverable. Some of the events or changes in circumstances that would trigger an impairment review include, but are not
limited to, bankruptcy proceedings or other significant financial distress of a lessee; significant negative industry or economic trends;
knowledge of transactions involving the sale of similar property at amounts below the carrying value; or our expectation to dispose of
long-lived assets before the end of their estimated useful lives. The impairment test for long-lived assets requires us to assess the
recoverability of long-lived assets by comparing their net carrying value to the sum of undiscounted estimated future cash flows
directly associated with and arising from use and eventual disposition of the assets or asset group. Long-lived assets are grouped for
recognition and measurement of impairment at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash
flows of other assets. If the net carrying value of a group of long-lived assets exceeds the sum of related undiscounted estimated future
cash flows, we record an impairment charge equal to the excess, if any, of the net carrying value over fair value.

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss) (“OCI”) refers to revenues, expenses, gains and losses that are included in comprehensive
income (loss), but are excluded from net income (loss) as these amounts are recorded directly as an adjustment to equity, net of tax.
Our other comprehensive income (loss) is primarily comprised of unrealized gains and losses on foreign currency translation
adjustments and unrealized gains and losses on hedging activity, net of tax.

Derivative Financial Instruments

We recognize and measure all derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets.
We may enter into derivatives that are not designated as hedging instruments for accounting purposes, but which largely offset the
economic impact of certain transactions.

Gains or losses resulting from changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognized in earnings or recorded in other
comprehensive income (loss) and recognized in the consolidated statements of operations when the hedged item affects earnings,
depending on the purpose of the derivatives and whether they qualify for, and we have applied, hedge accounting treatment.

When applying hedge accounting, we designate at a derivative’s inception, the specific assets, liabilities or future commitments
being hedged, and assess the hedge’s effectiveness at inception and on an ongoing basis. We discontinue hedge accounting when:
(i) we determine that the cash flow derivative is no longer effective in offsetting changes in the cash flows of a hedged item; (ii) the
derivative expires or is sold, terminated or exercised; (iii) it is no longer probable that the forecasted transaction will occur; or
(iv) management determines that designation of the derivatives as a hedge instrument is no longer appropriate. We do not enter into or
hold derivatives for speculative purposes.

Disclosures about Fair Value

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants in the principal market, or if none exists, the most advantageous market, for the specific asset or liability
at the measurement date (the exit price). The fair value is based on assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability. The fair values are assigned a level within the fair value hierarchy, depending on the source of the inputs into the
calculation, as follows:

Level 1 Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or
indirectly.

Level 3 Unobservable inputs reflecting management’s own assumptions about the inputs used in pricing the asset or liability.

The carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, accounts and notes receivable and accounts and drafts payable approximate
fair value based on the short-term nature of these amounts.

We carry all of our derivatives at fair value and value them using various pricing models or discounted cash flow analysis that
incorporate observable market parameters, such as interest rate yield curves and currency rates, which are Level 2 inputs. Derivative
valuations incorporate credit risk adjustments that are necessary to reflect the probability of default by the counterparty or us. For
disclosures about the fair value measurements of our derivative instruments, see Note 12, Derivative Instruments.

The following table presents the fair value of our variable rate term debt and senior notes, estimated using inputs based on bid
and offer prices that are Level 2 inputs, and principal carrying amount (in millions):
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As of December 31,
2021 2020
Fair value of our variable term debt and senior notes $ 12,851 $ 12,477
Principal carrying amount of our variable term debt and senior notes 12,943 12,453

The determinations of fair values of certain tangible and intangible assets for purposes of the application of the acquisition
method of accounting to the acquisition of Firechouse Subs were based on Level 3 inputs. The determination of fair values of our
reporting units and the determination of the fair value of the Brands for impairment testing using a quantitative approach during 2020
and 2019 were based upon Level 3 inputs.

Revenue Recognition
Sales

Sales consist primarily of supply chain sales, which represent sales of products, supplies and restaurant equipment to franchisees,
as well as sales to retailers and are presented net of any related sales tax. Orders placed by customers specify the goods to be delivered
and transaction prices for supply chain sales. Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control over ordered items, generally upon
delivery to the customer, which is when the customer obtains physical possession of the goods, legal title is transferred, the customer
has all risks and rewards of ownership and an obligation to pay for the goods is created. Shipping and handling costs associated with
outbound freight for supply chain sales are accounted for as fulfillment costs and classified as cost of sales.

To a much lesser extent, sales also include Company restaurant sales (including Restaurant VIEs), which consist of sales to
restaurant guests. Revenue from Company restaurant sales is recognized at the point of sale. Taxes assessed by a governmental
authority that we collect are excluded from revenue.

Franchise revenues and advertising revenues

Franchise revenues and advertising revenues consist primarily of royalties, advertising fund contributions, initial and renewal
franchise fees and upfront fees from development agreements and master franchise and development agreements (“MFDAs”). Under
franchise agreements, we provide franchisees with (i) a franchise license, which includes a license to use our intellectual property and,
in those markets where our subsidiaries manage an advertising fund, advertising and promotion management, (ii) pre-opening
services, such as training and inspections, and (iii) ongoing services, such as development of training materials and menu items and
restaurant monitoring and inspections. The services we provide under franchise agreements are highly interrelated and dependent upon
the franchise license and we concluded the services do not represent individually distinct performance obligations. Consequently, we
bundle the franchise license performance obligation and promises to provide services into a single performance obligation, which we
satisfy by providing a right to use our intellectual property over the term of each franchise agreement.

Royalties, including franchisee contributions to advertising funds managed by our subsidiaries, are calculated as a percentage of
franchise restaurant sales over the term of the franchise agreement. Under our franchise agreements, advertising contributions received
from franchisees must be spent on advertising, product development, marketing and related activities. Initial and renewal franchise
fees are payable by the franchisee upon a new restaurant opening or renewal of an existing franchise agreement. Our franchise
agreement royalties, inclusive of advertising fund contributions, represent sales-based royalties that are related entirely to our
performance obligation under the franchise agreement and are recognized as franchise sales occur. We separately classify advertising
fund contributions in Advertising revenues while all other franchise revenues are classified in Franchise and property revenues.
Additionally, initial and renewal franchise fees are recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the respective
agreement. Our performance obligation under development agreements other than MFDAs generally consists of an obligation to grant
exclusive development rights over a stated term. These development rights are not distinct from franchise agreements, so upfront fees
paid by franchisees for exclusive development rights are deferred and apportioned to each franchise restaurant opened by the
franchisee. The pro rata amount apportioned to each restaurant is accounted for as an initial franchise fee.

We have a distinct performance obligation under our MFDAS to grant subfranchising rights over a stated term. Under the terms
of MFDAs, we typically either receive an upfront fee paid in cash and/or receive noncash consideration in the form of an equity
interest in the master franchisee or an affiliate of the master franchisee. We account for noncash consideration as investments in the
applicable equity method investee and recognize revenue in an amount equal to the fair value of the equity interest received. Upfront
fees from master franchisees, including the fair value of noncash consideration, are deferred and amortized over the MFDA term on a
straight-line basis. We may recognize unamortized upfront fees when a contract with a franchisee or master franchisee is modified and
is accounted for as a termination of the existing contract.

The portion of gift cards sold to customers which are never redeemed is commonly referred to as gift card breakage. We
recognize gift card breakage income proportionately as each gift card is redeemed using an estimated breakage rate based on our
historical experience.
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Property revenues

Property revenues consists of rental income from properties we lease or sublease to franchisees. Property revenues are
accounted for in accordance with applicable accounting guidance for leases and are excluded from the scope of revenue recognition
guidance.

Advertising and Promotional Costs

Company restaurants and franchise restaurants contribute to advertising funds that our subsidiaries manage in the United States
and Canada and certain other international markets. The advertising funds expense the production costs of advertising when the
advertisements are first aired or displayed. All other advertising and promotional costs are expensed in the period incurred. Under our
franchise agreements, advertising contributions received from franchisees must be spent on advertising, product development,
marketing and related activities. The advertising contributions by Company restaurants (including Restaurant VIEs) are eliminated in
consolidation.

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs are amortized over the term of the related debt agreement into interest expense using the effective
interest method.

Income Taxes

Amounts in the Financial Statements related to income taxes are calculated using the principles of ASC Topic 740, Income
Taxes. Under these principles, deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect the impact of temporary differences between the amounts of
assets and liabilities recognized for financial reporting purposes and the amounts recognized for tax purposes, as well as tax credit
carry-forwards and loss carry-forwards. These deferred taxes are measured by applying currently enacted tax rates. A deferred tax
asset is recognized when it is considered more-likely-than-not to be realized. The effects of changes in tax rates on deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognized in income in the year in which the law is enacted. A valuation allowance reduces deferred tax assets
when it is more-likely-than-not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

We recognize positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return in the Financial Statements when it is more-likely-than-not
(i.e., a likelihood of more than 50%) that the position would be sustained upon examination by tax authorities. A recognized tax
position is then measured at the largest amount of benefit with greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement.

Translation gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement of foreign deferred tax assets or liabilities denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency are classified as other operating expenses (income), net in the consolidated statements of
operations.

Share-based Compensation

Compensation expense related to the issuance of share-based awards to our employees is measured at fair value on the grant
date. We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value stock options. The fair value of restricted stock units is based on the
closing price of our stock at the award date. If applicable, RBI's total sharcholder return relative to our peer group is incorporated into
the underlying assumptions using a Monte Carlo simulation valuation model to calculate grant date fair value for performance based
awards with a market condition. The compensation expense for awards that vest over a future service period is recognized over the
requisite service period on a straight-line basis, adjusted for estimated forfeitures of awards that are not expected to vest. We use
historical data to estimate forfeitures for share-based awards. Upon the end of the service period, compensation expense is adjusted to
account for the actual forfeiture rate. The compensation expense for awards that contain performance conditions is recognized when it
is probable that the performance conditions will be achieved.

New Accounting Pronouncements

Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes — In December 2019, the FASB issued guidance which simplifies the accounting
for income taxes by removing certain exceptions and by clarifying and amending existing guidance applicable to accounting for
income taxes. The amendment is effective commencing in 2021 with early adoption permitted. The adoption of this new guidance in
2021 did not have a material impact on our Financial Statements.

Accounting Relief for the Transition Away from LIBOR and Certain other Reference Rates — In March 2020 and as clarified in
January 2021, the FASB issued guidance which provides optional expedients and exceptions for applying U.S. GAAP to contracts,
hedging relationships, and other transactions that reference LIBOR or another reference rate expected to be discontinued because of
reference rate reform. This amendment is effective as of March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022. The expedients and exceptions
provided by this new guidance do not apply to contract modifications made and hedging relationships entered into or evaluated after
December 31, 2022, except for hedging relationships existing as of December 31, 2022, that an entity has elected certain optional
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expedients for and that are retained through the end of the hedging relationships. During the third quarter of 2021, we adopted certain
of the expedients as it relates to hedge accounting as certain of our debt agreements and hedging relationships bear interest at variable
rates, primarily U.S. dollar LIBOR. The adoption of and future elections under this new guidance did not and are not expected to have
a material impact on our Financial Statements. We will continue to monitor the discontinuance of LIBOR on our debt agreements and
hedging relationships.

Lessors—Certain Leases with Variable Lease Payments — In July 2021, the FASB issued guidance that requires lessors to
classify and account for a lease with variable lease payments that do not depend on a reference index or a rate as an operating lease if
(a) the lease would have been classified as a sales-type lease or a direct financing lease in accordance with lease classification criteria
and (b) the lessor would have otherwise recognized a day-one loss. This amendment is effective in 2022 with early adoption permitted.
This guidance may be applied either retrospectively to leases that commenced or were modified on or after the adoption of lease
guidance we adopted in 2019 or prospectively to leases that commence or are modified on or after the date that this new guidance is
applied. We do not expect that the adoption of this new guidance will have a material impact on our Financial Statements.

Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers— In October 2021, the FASB issued
guidance which requires contract assets and contract liabilities (i.e., unearned revenue) acquired in a business combination to be
recognized and measured in accordance with revenue from contracts with customers guidance. Currently, we recognize contract assets
and contract liabilities at the acquisition date based on fair value estimates, which historically has resulted in a reduction to unearned
revenue on the balance sheet, and therefore, a reduction to revenues that would have otherwise been recorded as an independent entity.
This guidance is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2022 on a prospective basis, with early

adoption permitted. During the fourth quarter of 2021, we adopted this guidance which did not have a material impact on our Financial
Statements.
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Note 3. Firehouse Acquisition

On December 15, 2021, we completed the acquisition of Firehouse Subs (the “Firehouse Acquisition””) which complements
RBI's existing portfolio. Like RBI's other brands, the Firehouse Subs brand is managed independently, while benefiting from the
global scale and resources of RBI. The Firehouse Acquisition was accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition
method of accounting.

Total consideration in connection with the Firechouse Acquisition was $1,033 million, subject to post-closing adjustments. The
consideration was funded through cash on hand and $533 million of incremental borrowings under our Term Loan Facility - See Note
9, Long-Term Debt.

Fees and expenses related to the Firehouse Acquisition and related financings (“FHS Transaction costs”) totaled $18 million,
consisting primarily of professional fees and compensation related expenses which are classified as general and administrative
expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

The preliminary allocation of consideration to the net tangible and intangible assets acquired is presented in the table below (in
millions):

December 15, 2021

Total current assets $ 21
Property and equipment 4
Firehouse Subs brand 768
Total liabilities (13)
Total identifiable net assets 780
Goodwill 253
Total consideration $ 1,033

The purchase price allocation reflects preliminary fair value estimates based on management's analysis, including preliminary
work performed by third-party valuation specialists. We will continue to obtain information to assist in determining the fair value of
net assets acquired during the measurement period.

The Firehouse Subs brand has been assigned an indefinite life and, therefore, will not be amortized, but rather tested annually
for impairment. Goodwill attributable to the Firehouse Acquisition will be amortized and deductible for tax purposes. Goodwill is
considered to represent the value associated with the workforce and synergies anticipated to be realized as a combined company. We
have not yet allocated goodwill related to the Firehouse Acquisition to reporting units for goodwill impairment testing purposes.
Goodwill will be allocated to reporting units when the purchase price allocation is finalized during the measurement period.

The results of operations of Firehouse Subs have been included in our consolidated financial statements from the acquisition
date of December 15, 2021 through December 26, 2021, the fiscal year end for FHS. The Firehouse Acquisition is not material to our
consolidated financial statements, and therefore, supplemental pro forma financial information related to the acquisition is not
included herein.
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Note 4. Earnings Per Unit

Partnership uses the two-class method in the computation of earnings per unit. Pursuant to the terms of the partnership
agreement, RBI, as the holder of the Class A common units, is entitled to receive distributions from Partnership in an amount equal to
the aggregate dividends payable by RBI to holders of RBI common shares, and the holders of Class B exchangeable limited
partnership units (the “Partnership exchangeable units”) are entitled to receive distributions from Partnership in an amount per unit
equal to the dividends payable by RBI on each RBI common share. Partnership’s net income available to common unitholders is
allocated between the Class A common units and Partnership exchangeable units on a fully-distributed basis and reflects residual net
income after noncontrolling interests. Basic and diluted earnings per Class A common unit is determined by dividing net income
allocated to Class A common unitholders by the weighted average number of Class A common units outstanding for the period. Basic
and diluted earnings per Partnership exchangeable unit is determined by dividing net income allocated to the Partnership exchangeable
units by the weighted average number of Partnership exchangeable units outstanding during the period.

There are no dilutive securities for Partnership as the exercise of stock options will not affect the numbers of Class A common
units or Partnership exchangeable units outstanding. However, the issuance of shares by RBI in future periods will affect the allocation

of net income attributable to common unitholders between Partnership’s Class A common units and Partnership exchangeable units.

The following table summarizes the basic and diluted earnings per unit calculations (in millions, except per unit amounts):

2021 2020 2019

Allocation of net income among partner interests:
Net income allocated to Class A common unitholders $ 838 §$ 486 S 643
Net income allocated to Partnership exchangeable unitholders 411 262 466

Net income attributable to common unitholders $ 1,249 § 748 $ 1,109
Denominator - basic and diluted partnership units:
Weighted average Class A common units 202 202 202
Weighted average Partnership exchangeable units 151 162 194
Earnings per unit - basic and diluted:

Class A common units (a) $ 415 $ 241 $ 3.18

Partnership exchangeable units (a) $ 272 S 1.62 $ 2.40

(a) Earnings per unit may not recalculate exactly as it is calculated based on unrounded numbers.

Note 5. Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment, net, consist of the following (in millions):

As of December 31,

2021 2020
Land $ 1,011 $ 1,007
Buildings and improvements 1,200 1,192
Restaurant equipment 193 163
Furniture, fixtures, and other 257 242
Finance leases 323 289
Construction in progress 30 17
3,014 2,910
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (979) (879)
Property and equipment, net $ 2,035 $ 2,031

Depreciation and amortization expense on property and equipment totaled $148 million for 2021, $140 million for 2020 and
$136 million for 2019.

Included in our property and equipment, net at December 31, 2021 and 2020 are $246 million and $238 million, respectively, of
assets leased under finance leases (mostly buildings and improvements), net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $77
million and $51 million, respectively.
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Note 6. Intangible Assets, net and Goodwill

Intangible assets, net and goodwill consist of the following (in millions):

Identifiable assets subject to amortization:

Franchise agreements
Favorable leases
Subtotal
Indefinite-lived intangible assets:
Tim Hortons brand
Burger King brand
Popeyes brand
Firehouse Subs brand
Subtotal

Intangible assets, net

Goodwill
Tim Hortons segment
Burger King segment
Popeyes segment
Firehouse segment
Total

As of December 31,
2021 2020
Accumulated Accumulated
Gross Amortization Net Gross Amortization Net

$ 722 $ (290) $ 432 735 $ (264) $ 471
104 (63) 41 117 (66) 51
826 (353) 473 852 (330) 522
$§ 6,695 $ — $ 6,095 6,650 $ — $ 6,650
2,126 — 2,126 2,174 — 2,174
1,355 — 1,355 1,355 — 1,355
768 — 768 — — —
10,944 — 10,944 10,179 — 10,179
$ 11,417 $ 10,701

$ 4306 4,279

601 614

846 846

253 —

$ 6,006 5,739

Amortization expense on intangible assets totaled $41 million for 2021, $43 million for 2020, and $44 million for 2019. The
change in the brands and goodwill balances during 2021 was due to the acquisition of Firchouse Subs and the impact of foreign

currency translation.

As of December 31, 2021, the estimated future amortization expense on identifiable assets subject to amortization is as follows

(in millions):

Twelve-months ended December 31,
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter
Total

21

Amount

37
36
34
34
293
s 4
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Note 7. Equity Method Investments

The aggregate carrying amount of our equity method investments was $194 million and $205 million as of December 31, 2021
and 2020, respectively, and is included as a component of Other assets, net in our consolidated balance sheets.

Except for the following equity method investments, no quoted market prices are available for our other equity method
investments. The aggregate market value of our 15.5% equity interest in Carrols Restaurant Group, Inc. (“Carrols”) based on the
quoted market price on December 31, 2021 is approximately $28 million. The aggregate market value of our 9.4% equity interest in
BK Brasil Operagéo ¢ Assessoria a Restaurantes S.A. based on the quoted market price on December 31, 2021 is approximately $28
million. We have evaluated recent declines in the market value of these equity method investments and concluded they are not other
than temporary and as such no impairments have been recognized during 2021.

We have equity interests in entities that own or franchise Tim Hortons or Burger King restaurants. Franchise and property
revenue recognized from franchisees that are owned or franchised by entities in which we have an equity interest consist of the
following (in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Revenues from affiliates:
Royalties $ 350 $ 239 § 290
Advertising revenues 67 50 55
Property revenues 32 32 33
Franchise fees and other revenue 21 14 10
Total $ 470 $ 335 § 388

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had $48 million and $52 million, respectively, of accounts receivable, net from our equity
method investments which were recorded in accounts and notes receivable, net in our consolidated balance sheets.

With respect to our TH business, the most significant equity method investment is our 50.0% joint venture interest with The
Wendy’s Company (the “TIMWEN Partnership”), which jointly holds real estate underlying Canadian combination restaurants.
Distributions received from this joint venture were $16 million, $8 million and $13 million during 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

We recognized rent expense associated with the TIMWEN Partnership of $18 million, $15 million, and $19 million during
2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

(Income) loss from equity method investments reflects our share of investee net income or loss, non-cash dilution gains or losses
from changes in our ownership interests in equity method investees and basis difference amortization. We recorded increases to the
carrying value of our equity method investment balances and non-cash dilution gains in the amounts of $11 million during 2019. No
non-cash dilution gains were recorded during 2021 and 2020. The dilution gains resulted from the issuance of capital stock by our
equity method investees, which reduced our ownership interests in these equity method investments. The dilution gains we recorded in
connection with the issuance of capital stock reflect adjustments to the differences between the amount of underlying equity in the net
assets of equity method investees before and after their issuance of capital stock.
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Note 8. Other Accrued Liabilities and Other Liabilities

Other accrued liabilities (current) and other liabilities, net (non-current) consist of the following (in millions):

As of December 31,
2021 2020

Current:

Distributions payable $ 241 $ 239

Interest payable 63 66

Accrued compensation and benefits 99 78

Taxes payable 106 122

Deferred income 48 42

Accrued advertising expenses 43 59

Restructuring and other provisions 90 12

Current portion of operating lease liabilities 140 137

Other 117 80
Other accrued liabilities $ 947 $ 835
Non-current:

Taxes payable $ 533 §$ 626

Contract liabilities (see Note 15) 531 528

Derivatives liabilities 575 865

Unfavorable leases 65 81

Accrued pension 47 70

Deferred income 37 28

Other 34 38
Other liabilities, net $ 1,822 $ 2,236
Note 9. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consist of the following (in millions):
As of December 31,
2021 2020
Term Loan B $ 5243 $ 5,297
Term Loan A 1,250 731
4.25% First Lien Senior Notes due 2024 — 775
3.875% First Lien Senior Notes due 2028 1,550 750
5.75% First Lien Senior Notes due 2025 500 500
3.50% First Lien Senior Notes due 2029 750 750
4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2028 750 750
4.00% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2030 2,900 2,900
TH Facility and other 173 178
Less: unamortized deferred financing costs and deferred issuance discount (138) (155)
Total debt, net 12,978 12,476
Less: current maturities of debt (62) (79)

Total long-term debt $ 12916 $ 12,397
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Credit Facilities

On December 13, 2021, two of our subsidiaries (the “Borrowers”) entered into a fifth incremental facility amendment and a
sixth amendment (the “2021 Amendment”) to the credit agreement governing our senior secured term loan A facility (the “Term Loan
A”), our senior secured term loan B facility (the “Term Loan B” and together with the Term Loan A the “Term Loan Facilities”) and
our $1,000 million senior secured revolving credit facility (including revolving loans, swingline loans and letters of credit) (the
“Revolving Credit Facility” and together with the Term Loan Facilities, the “Credit Facilities”). The 2021 Amendment increased the
existing Term Loan A with $717 million outstanding to a $1,250 million Term Loan A and extended the maturity date of the Term
Loan A and Revolving Credit Facility from October 7, 2024 to December 13, 2026 (subject to earlier maturity in specified
circumstances). The security and guarantees under the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan A are the same as those under the
existing facilities. The proceeds from the increase in the Term Loan A were used with cash on hand to complete the Firehouse
Acquisition. In connection with the 2021 Amendment, we capitalized approximately $12 million in debt issuance costs.

The 2021 Amendment also amended the interest rate applicable to the Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loan A to
incorporate SOFR. The interest rate applicable to the Term Loan A and Revolving Credit Facility is, at our option, either (a) a base
rate, subject to a floor of 1.00%, plus an applicable margin varying from 0.00% to 0.50%, or (b) Adjusted Term SOFR (Adjusted
Term SOFR is calculated as Term SOFR plus a 0.10% adjustment), subject to a floor of 0.00%, plus an applicable margin varying
between 0.75% and 1.50%, in each case, determined by reference to a net first lien leverage-based pricing grid. The commitment fee
on the unused portion of the Revolving Credit Facility is 0.15%. At December 31, 2021, the interest rate on the Term Loan A was
1.40%. The principal amount of the Term Loan A amortizes in quarterly installments equal to $8 million beginning March 31, 2023
until September 30, 2024 and thereafter in quarterly installments equal to $16 million until maturity, with the balance payable at
maturity. The 2021 Amendment includes amendments to certain negative covenants to provide increased flexibility. The 2021
Amendment made no other material changes to the terms of the Credit Agreement.

The maturity date of our Term Loan B is November 19, 2026 and the interest rate applicable to our Term Loan B is, at our
option, either (a) a base rate, subject to a floor of 1.00%, plus an applicable margin of 0.75%, or (b) a Eurocurrency rate, subject to a
floor of 0.00%, plus an applicable margin of 1.75%. At December 31, 2021, the interest rate on the Term Loan B was 1.85%. The
principal amount of the Term Loan B amortizes in quarterly installments equal to $13 million until maturity, with the balance payable
at maturity.

On April 2, 2020, the Borrowers entered into a fifth amendment (the “Fifth Amendment”) to the credit agreement (the “Credit
Agreement”) governing our Credit Facilities. The Fifth Amendment provides the Borrowers with the option to comply with a $1,000
million minimum liquidity covenant in lieu of the 6.50:1.00 net first lien senior secured leverage ratio financial maintenance covenant
for the period after June 30, 2020 and prior to September 30, 2021. Additionally, for the periods ending September 30, 2021 and
December 31, 2021, to determine compliance with the net first lien senior secured leverage ratio, we are permitted to annualize the
Adjusted EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Agreement) for the three months ending September 30, 2021 and six months ending
December 31, 2021, respectively, in lieu of calculating the ratio based on Adjusted EBITDA for the prior four quarters. There were no
other material changes to the terms of the Credit Agreement.

Revolving Credit Facility

As of December 31, 2021, we had no amounts outstanding under our Revolving Credit Facility. Funds available under the
Revolving Credit Facility may be used to repay other debt, finance debt, RBI share repurchases or partnership exchangeable unit
repurchases, to fund acquisitions or capital expenditures and for other general corporate purposes. We have a $125 million letter of
credit sublimit as part of the Revolving Credit Facility, which reduces our borrowing availability thereunder by the cumulative amount
of outstanding letters of credit. The interest rate applicable to amounts drawn under each letter of credit is 0.75% to 1.50%, depending
on our net first lien leverage ratio. As of December 31, 2021, we had $2 million of letters of credit issued against the Revolving Credit
Facility, and our borrowing availability was $998 million.

Obligations under the Credit Facilities are guaranteed on a senior secured basis, jointly and severally, by the direct parent
company of one of the Borrowers and substantially all of its Canadian and U.S. subsidiaries, including The TDL Group Corp., Burger
King Corporation, Popeyes Louisiana Kitchen, Inc., FRG, LLC and substantially all of their respective Canadian and U.S. subsidiaries
(the “Credit Guarantors™). Amounts borrowed under the Credit Facilities are secured on a first priority basis by a perfected security
interest in substantially all of the present and future property (subject to certain exceptions) of each Borrower and Credit Guarantor.

4.25% First Lien Senior Notes due 2024

During 2017, the Borrowers entered into an indenture (the “4.25% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture”) in connection with the
issuance of $1,500 million of 4.25% first lien senior notes due May 15, 2024 (the “4.25% First Lien Senior Notes due 2024”"). No
principal payments were due until maturity and interest is paid semi-annually. The net proceeds from the offering of the 4.25% First
Lien Senior Notes due 2024, together with other sources of liquidity, were used to redeem all of the outstanding Class A 9.0%
cumulative compounding perpetual voting preferred shares and for other general corporate purposes. In connection with the issuance
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of the 4.25% First Lien Senior Notes due 2024, we capitalized approximately $13 million in debt issuance costs. As detailed below,
during 2020 we redeemed $725 million of the 4.25% First Lien Senior Notes due 2024 and during 2021 we redeemed the remaining
outstanding balance of $775 million.

3.875% First Lien Senior Notes due 2028

On September 24, 2019, the Borrowers entered into an indenture (the “3.875% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture”) in
connection with the issuance of $750 million of 3.875% first lien senior notes due January 15, 2028 (the “2019 3.875% Senior
Notes”). On July 6, 2021, the Borrowers issued an additional $800 million under the 3.875% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture (the
“Additional Notes” and together with the 2019 3.875% Senior Notes, the “3.875% First Lien Senior Notes due 2028”"). No principal
payments are due until maturity and interest is paid semi-annually. The net proceeds from the offering of the 2019 3.875% Senior
Notes and a portion of the net proceeds from the Term Loan A were used to redeem the entire outstanding principal balance of $1,250
million of 4.625% first lien secured notes due January 15, 2022 and to pay related fees and expenses. In connection with the issuance
of the 2019 3.875% Senior Notes, we capitalized approximately $10 million in debt issuance costs. In connection with the redemption
of the entire outstanding principal balance of the 4.625% first lien secured notes due January 15, 2022, we recorded a loss on early
extinguishment of debt of $3 million that primarily reflects the write-off of related unamortized debt issuance costs. The Additional
Notes were priced at 100.250% of their face value. The net proceeds from the offering of the Additional Notes were used to redeem
the remaining $775 million principal amount outstanding of the 4.25% First Lien Senior Notes due 2024 on July 15, 2021, plus any
accrued and unpaid interest thereon, and pay related redemption premiums, fees and expenses. In connection with the issuance of the
Additional Notes, we capitalized approximately $7 million in debt issuance costs. In connection with the redemption of the remaining
$775 million principal amount outstanding of the 4.25% First Lien Senior Notes due 2024, we recorded a loss on early extinguishment
of debt of $11 million that primarily reflects the payment of redemption premiums and the write-off of unamortized debt issuance
costs.

Obligations under the 3.875% First Lien Senior Notes due 2028 are guaranteed on a senior secured basis, jointly and severally,
by the Borrowers and substantially all of the Borrower's Canadian and U.S. subsidiaries, including The TDL Group Corp., Burger
King Corporation, Popeyes Louisiana Kitchen, Inc., FRG, LLC and substantially all of their respective Canadian and U.S. subsidiaries
(the “Note Guarantors”). The 3.875% First Lien Senior Notes due 2028 are first lien senior secured obligations and rank equal in right
of payment with all of the existing and future first lien senior debt of the Borrowers and Note Guarantors, including borrowings and
guarantees under our Credit Facilities.

The 3.875% First Lien Senior Notes due 2028 may be redeemed in whole or in part, on or after September 15, 2022, at the
redemption prices set forth in the 3.875% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, at the date of
redemption. The 3.875% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture also contains optional redemption provisions related to tender offers,
change of control and equity offerings, among others.

5.75% First Lien Senior Notes due 2025

On April 7, 2020, the Borrowers entered into an indenture (the “5.75% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture”) in connection with
the issuance of $500 million of 5.75% first lien notes due April 15, 2025 (the “5.75% First Lien Senior Notes due 2025”). No principal
payments are due until maturity and interest is paid semi-annually. The net proceeds from the offering of the 5.75% First Lien Senior
Notes due 2025 were used for general corporate purposes. In connection with the issuance of the 5.75% First Lien Senior Notes due
2025, we capitalized approximately $10 million in debt issuance costs.

Obligations under the 5.75% First Lien Senior Notes due 2025 are guaranteed on a senior secured basis, jointly and severally, by
the Note Guarantors. The 5.75% First Lien Senior Notes due 2025 are first lien senior secured obligations and rank equal in right of
payment with all of the existing and future first lien senior debt of the Borrowers and Note Guarantors, including borrowings and
guarantees of the Credit Facilities.

Our 5.75% First Lien Senior Notes due 2025 may be redeemed in whole or in part, on or after April 15, 2022 at the redemption
prices set forth in the 5.75% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, at the date of redemption. The
5.75% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture also contains optional redemption provisions related to tender offers, change of control and
equity offerings, among others.

3.50% First Lien Senior Notes due 2029

On November 9, 2020, the Borrowers entered into an indenture (the “3.50% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture”) in connection
with the issuance of $750 million of 3.50% first lien notes due February 15, 2029 (the “3.50% First Lien Senior Notes due 2029”). No
principal payments are due until maturity and interest is paid semi-annually. The proceeds from the offering of the 3.50% First Lien
Senior Notes due 2029, together with cash on hand, were used to redeem $725 million of the 4.25% First Lien Senior Notes due 2024
and pay related redemption premiums, fees and expenses. In connection with the issuance of the 3.50% First Lien Senior Notes due
2029, we capitalized approximately $7 million in debt issuance costs. In connection with the redemption of the 4.25% First Lien
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Senior Notes due 2024, we recorded a loss on early extinguishment of debt of $19 million that primarily reflects the payment of
premiums to redeem the notes and the write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs.

Obligations under the 3.50% First Lien Senior Notes due 2029 are guaranteed on a senior secured basis, jointly and severally, by
the Note Guarantors. The 3.50% First Lien Senior Notes due 2029 are first lien senior secured obligations and rank equal in right of
payment with all of the existing and future first lien senior debt of the Borrowers and Note Guarantors, including borrowings and
guarantees of the Credit Facilities.

Our 3.50% First Lien Senior Notes due 2029 may be redeemed in whole or in part, on or after February 15, 2024 at the
redemption prices set forth in the 3.50% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, at the date of
redemption. The 3.50% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture also contains optional redemption provisions related to tender offers, change
of control and equity offerings, among others.

4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2028

On November 19, 2019, the Borrowers entered into an indenture (the “4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes Indenture”) in
connection with the issuance of $750 million of 4.375% second lien senior notes due January 15, 2028 (the “4.375% Second Lien
Senior Notes due 2028”). No principal payments are due until maturity and interest is paid semi-annually. The net proceeds from the
offering of the 4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2028, together with cash on hand, were used to repay $720 million of the Term
Loan B outstanding aggregate principal balance and to pay related fees and expenses in connection with the fourth amendment to our
credit agreement. In connection with the issuance of the 4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2028, we capitalized approximately $6
million in debt issuance costs.

Obligations under the 4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2028 are guaranteed on a second priority senior secured basis,
jointly and severally, by the Note Guarantors. The 4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2028 are second lien senior secured
obligations and rank equal in right of payment with all of the existing and future senior debt of the Borrowers and Note Guarantors,
including borrowings and guarantees of the Credit Facilities, and effectively subordinated to all of the existing and future first lien
senior debt of the Borrowers and Note Guarantors.

Our 4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2028 may be redeemed in whole or in part, on or after November 15, 2022 at the
redemption prices set forth in the 4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes Indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, at the date of
redemption. The 4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes Indenture also contains redemption provisions related to tender offers, change of
control and equity offerings, among others.

4.00% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2030

During 2020, the Borrowers entered into an indenture (the “4.00% Second Lien Senior Notes Indenture™) in connection with the
issuance of $2,900 million of 4.00% second lien notes due October 15, 2030 (the “4.00% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2030”"). No
principal payments are due until maturity and interest is paid semi-annually. The proceeds from the offering of the 4.00% Second Lien
Senior Notes due 2030 were used to redeem the entire outstanding principal balance of $2,800 million of 5.00% second lien senior
notes due October 15, 2025 (the “5.00% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2025”), pay related redemption premiums, fees and expenses.
In connection with the issuance of the 4.00% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2030, we capitalized approximately $26 million in debt
issuance costs. In connection with the full redemption of the 5.00% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2025, we recorded a loss on early
extinguishment of debt of $79 million that primarily reflects the payment of premiums to redeem the notes and the write-off of
unamortized debt issuance costs.

Obligations under the 4.00% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2030 are guaranteed on a second priority senior secured basis,
jointly and severally, by the Note Guarantors. The 4.00% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2030 are second lien senior secured
obligations and rank equal in right of payment will all of the existing and future senior debt of the Borrowers and Note Guarantors and
effectively subordinated to all of the existing and future first lien senior debt of the Borrowers and Note Guarantors.

Our 4.00% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2030 may be redeemed in whole or in part, on or after October 15, 2025 at the
redemption prices set forth in the 4.00% Second Lien Senior Notes Indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, at the date of
redemption. The 4.00% Second Lien Senior Notes Indenture also contains optional redemption provisions related to tender offers,
change of control and equity offerings, among others.

Restrictions and Covenants

Our Credit Facilities, as well as the 3.875% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture, 5.75% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture, 3.50%
First Lien Senior Notes Indenture, 4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes Indenture and 4.00% Second Lien Senior Notes Indenture (all
together the “Senior Notes Indentures”) contain a number of customary affirmative and negative covenants that, among other things,
limit or restrict our ability and the ability of certain of our subsidiaries to: incur additional indebtedness; incur liens; engage in
mergers, consolidations, liquidations and dissolutions; sell assets; pay dividends and make other payments in respect of capital stock;

26



Table of Contents

make investments, loans and advances; pay or modify the terms of certain indebtedness; and engage in certain transactions with
affiliates. In addition, under the Credit Facilities, the Borrowers are not permitted to exceed a first lien senior secured leverage ratio of
6.50 to 1.00 when, as of the end of any fiscal quarter beginning with the first fiscal quarter of 2020, (1) any amounts are outstanding
under the Term Loan A and/or (2) the sum of (i) the amount of letters of credit outstanding exceeding $50 million (other than those
that are cash collateralized); (ii) outstanding amounts under the Revolving Credit Facility and (iii) outstanding amounts of swing line
loans, exceeds 30.0% of the commitments under the Revolving Credit Facility. The Fifth Amendment provides that for periods ended
September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2021, to determine compliance with the net first lien senior secured leverage ratio, we are
permitted to annualize the Adjusted EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Agreement) for the three months ended September 30, 2021
and six months ended December 31, 2021, respectively, in lieu of calculating the ratio based on Adjusted EBITDA for the prior four
quarters.

The restrictions under the Credit Facilities and the Senior Notes Indentures have resulted in substantially all of our consolidated
assets being restricted.

As of December 31, 2021, we were in compliance with applicable financial debt covenants under the Credit Facilities and the
Senior Notes Indentures and there were no limitations on our ability to draw on the remaining availability under our Revolving Credit
Facility.

TH Facility

One of our subsidiaries entered into a non-revolving delayed drawdown term credit facility in a total aggregate principal amount
of C$225 million with a maturity date of October 4, 2025 (the “TH Facility”). The interest rate applicable to the TH Facility is the
Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance rate plus an applicable margin equal to 1.40% or the Prime Rate plus an applicable margin equal to
0.40%, at our option. Obligations under the TH Facility are guaranteed by four of our subsidiaries, and amounts borrowed under the
TH Facility are secured by certain parcels of real estate. As of December 31, 2021, we had outstanding C$214 million under the TH
Facility with a weighted average interest rate of 1.85%.

RE Facility

One of our subsidiaries entered into a non-revolving delayed drawdown term credit facility in a total aggregate principal amount
of $50 million with a maturity date of October 12, 2028 (the “RE Facility”). The interest rate applicable to the RE Facility is, at our
option, either (i) a base rate, subject to a floor of 0.50%, plus an applicable margin of 0.50% or (ii) Adjusted Term SOFR (Adjusted
Term SOFR is calculated as Term SOFR plus a margin based on duration), subject to a floor of 0.00%, plus an applicable margin of
1.50%. Obligations under the RE Facility are guaranteed by four of our subsidiaries, and amounts borrowed under the RE Facility are
secured by certain parcels of real estate. As of December 31, 2021, we had no amounts outstanding under the RE Facility.

Debt Issuance Costs

During 2021, 2020 and 2019, we incurred aggregate deferred financing costs of $19 million, $43 million and $50 million,
respectively.

Loss on Early Extinguishment of Debt

During 2021, we recorded an $11 million loss on early extinguishment of debt that primarily reflects the payment of redemption
premiums and the write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs in connection with the redemption of the remaining $775 million
principal amount outstanding of the 4.25% First Lien Senior Notes due 2024. During 2020, we recorded a $98 million loss on early
extinguishment of debt that primarily reflects the payment of premiums and the write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs in
connection with the full redemption of the 5.00% Second Lien Senior Notes due 2025 and the partial redemption of the 4.25% First
Lien Senior Notes due 2024. During 2019, we recorded a $23 million loss on early extinguishment of debt, which primarily reflects
the write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs and discounts in connection with the prepayment and refinancing of the Term Loan B
and the redemption of the entire outstanding principal balance of the 4.625% first lien secured notes due January 15, 2022.
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Maturities

The aggregate maturities of our long-term debt as of December 31, 2021 are as follows (in millions):

Year Ended December 31, Principal Amount
2022 $ 62
2023 98
2024 108
2025 750
2026 6,148
Thereafter 5,950
Total $ 13,116

Interest Expense, net

Interest expense, net consists of the following (in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Debt (a) $ 461 §$ 471 $ 503
Finance lease obligations 20 20 20
Amortization of deferred financing costs and debt issuance discount 27 26 29
Interest income 3) ©) (20)
Interest expense, net $ 505 $ 508 $ 532

(a) Amount includes $45 million, $69 million and $70 million benefit during 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, related to the
quarterly net settlements of our cross-currency rate swaps and amortization of the Excluded Component as defined in Note
12, Derivatives.

Note 10. Leases

As of December 31, 2021, we leased or subleased 5,069 restaurant properties to franchisees and 164 non-restaurant properties to
third parties under operating leases, direct financing leases and sales-type leases where we are the lessor. Initial lease terms generally
range from 10 to 20 years. Most leases to franchisees provide for fixed monthly payments and many provide for future rent escalations
and renewal options. Certain leases also include provisions for variable rent, determined as a percentage of sales, generally when
annual sales exceed specific levels. Lessees typically bear the cost of maintenance, insurance and property taxes.

We lease land, buildings, equipment, office space and warehouse space from third parties. Land and building leases generally
have an initial term of 10 to 20 years, while land-only lease terms can extend longer, and most leases provide for fixed monthly
payments. Many of these leases provide for future rent escalations and renewal options. Certain leases also include provisions for
variable rent payments, determined as a percentage of sales, generally when annual sales exceed specified levels. Most leases also
obligate us to pay, as lessee, variable lease cost related to maintenance, insurance and property taxes.

We transitioned to ASC 842 on January 1, 2019 on a modified retrospective basis using the effective date transition method. Our

transition to ASC 842 represents a change in accounting principle. The $21 million cumulative effect of our transition to ASC 842 is
reflected as an adjustment to January 1, 2019 Partners' capital.
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Partnership as Lessor

Assets leased to franchisees and others under operating leases where we are the lessor and which are included within our
property and equipment, net are as follows (in millions):

As of December 31,

2021 2020
Land $ 899 $ 892
Buildings and improvements 1,180 1,146
Restaurant equipment 18 19
2,097 2,057
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (587) (534)
Property and equipment leased, net $ 1,510 § 1,523

Our net investment in direct financing and sales-type leases is as follows (in millions):

As of December 31,

2021 2020
Future rents to be received:
Future minimum lease receipts $ 113 $ 87
Contingent rents (a) 7 12
Estimated unguaranteed residual value 5 7
Unearned income (40) (34)
85 72
Current portion included within accounts receivables ©) (6)
Net investment in property leased to franchisees $ 80 $ 66

(a) Amounts represent estimated contingent rents recorded in connection with the acquisition method of accounting.

During 2021 and 2020, we offered rent relief programs for eligible TH and BK franchisees who lease property from us, under
which we temporarily converted the rent structure from a combination of fixed plus variable rent to 100% variable rent (the “rent relief
programs”). The rent relief program concluded for BK franchisees during the three months ended September 30, 2020 and the rent
relief program was extended through the end of 2021 for eligible TH franchisees.

In April 2020, the FASB staff issued interpretive guidance that permits entities to make an election to account for lease
concessions related to the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic consistent with how those concessions would be accounted for under
ASC 842, as though enforceable rights and obligations for those concessions existed. We elected to apply this interpretive guidance to
the rent relief programs while in effect. As such, reductions in rents arising from the rent relief programs are recognized as reductions
in variable lease payments.

Property revenues are comprised primarily of rental income from operating leases and earned income on direct financing leases
with franchisees as follows (in millions):

2021 2020 2019

Rental income:

Minimum lease payments $ 455 $ 445 $ 448

Variable lease payments 329 262 370

Amortization of favorable and unfavorable income lease contracts, net 3 6 7

Subtotal - lease income from operating leases 787 713 825
Earned income on direct financing and sales-type leases 6 5 8

Total property revenues $ 793§ 718 $ 833
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Partnership as Lessee

Lease cost and other information associated with these lease commitments is as follows (in millions):

Lease Cost (Income)

Operating lease cost
Operating lease variable lease cost
Finance lease cost:
Amortization of right-of-use assets
Interest on lease liabilities
Sublease income

Total lease cost (income)

Lease Term and Discount Rate as of December 31, 2021 and 2020

Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years):
Operating leases
Finance leases
Weighted-average discount rate:
Operating leases
Finance leases

Other Information for 2021, 2020 and 2019

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases
Operating cash flows from finance leases
Financing cash flows from finance leases

Supplemental noncash information on lease liabilities arising from obtaining
right-of-use assets:

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new finance lease obligations
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease obligations
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2021 2020 2019
$ 202 S 199 § 210
193 177 198
31 29 27
20 20 20
(587) (534) (631)
$ (141) $ (109) $ (176)
As of December 31,
2021 2020
10.1 years 10.5 years
11.4 years 11.3 years
55 % 59 %
6.0 % 6.5 %
2021 2020 2019
$ 200 $ 200 S 194
$ 20 $ 20§ 20
$ 31 3 29§ 26
$ 52§ 59§ 18
$ 133§ 118 § 163



Table of Contents

As of December 31, 2021, future minimum lease receipts and commitments are as follows (in millions):

Lease Receipts Lease Commitments (a)
Direct
Financing
and Sales- Operating Finance Operating
Type Leases Leases Leases Leases
2022 $ 8 $ 404 $ 52§ 197
2023 8 382 50 186
2024 7 350 48 173
2025 7 316 45 158
2026 7 278 41 140
Thereafter 76 1,374 262 675
Total minimum receipts / payments $ 113 $ 3,104 498 1,529

Less amount representing interest (131) (319)
Present value of minimum lease payments 367 1,210
Current portion of lease obligations (34) (140)
Long-term portion of lease obligations $ 333 $ 1,070

(a)  Minimum lease payments have not been reduced by minimum sublease rentals of $1,953 million due in the future under non-
cancelable subleases

Note 11. Income Taxes

Income before income taxes, classified by source of income (loss), is as follows (in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Canadian $ 457 §$ 200 $ 685
Foreign 906 616 767
Income before income taxes $ 1,363 $ 816 § 1,452

Income tax (benefit) expense attributable to income from continuing operations consists of the following (in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Current:
Canadian $ 16 $ 45 8 47
U.S. Federal (10) 125 122
U.S. state, net of federal income tax benefit 25 26 20
Other Foreign 84 78 94
$ 115§ 274 $ 283
Deferred:
Canadian $ 32 % 67) $ 43
U.S. Federal 37) (82) 8
U.S. state, net of federal income tax benefit (7) (27) _
Other Foreign 7 32) 7
$ 5) $ (208) $ 58
Income tax expense (benefit) $ 110 $ 66 $ 341
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The statutory rate reconciles to the effective income tax rate as follows:

2021 2020 2019

Statutory rate 26.5 % 26.5 % 26.5 %
Costs and taxes related to foreign operations 3.5 9.6 4.7
Foreign exchange gain (loss) — 0.5 0.1
Foreign tax rate differential (13.9) (15.6) (10.8)
Change in valuation allowance 1.1 1.2 0.5
Change in accrual for tax uncertainties (7.4) 39 5.0
Intercompany financing (3.5) (6.1) 2.4)
Impact of Tax Act — (7.8) 0.1)
Swiss Tax Reform — (5.1) 1.1
Benefit from stock option exercises (0.8) (0.3) (2.2)
Litigation settlements and reserves 1.4 — —
Other 1.2 1.2 1.1

Effective income tax rate 8.1 % 8.0 % 23.5 %

In December 2017, the U.S. government enacted comprehensive tax legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs
Act (the “Tax Act”) that significantly revised the U.S. tax code. During 2020, various guidance was issued by the U.S. tax authorities
relating to the Tax Act and, after review of such guidance, we recorded a favorable adjustment to our deferred tax assets of $64
million related to a tax attribute carryforward, which decreased our 2020 effective tax rate by 7.8%.

In a referendum held on May 19, 2019, Swiss voters adopted the Federal Act on Tax Reform and AVS Financing (“TRAF”),
under which certain long-standing preferential cantonal tax regimes were abolished effective January 1, 2020, which the canton of Zug
formally adopted in November 2019. Company subsidiaries in the canton of Zug were subjected to TRAF and therefore the TRAF
impacted our consolidated results of operations during 2020 and 2019. In 2020, a deferred tax asset was recorded due to an election
made under TRAF by one of our Swiss subsidiaries and, in 2019, our Swiss company subsidiaries remeasured their deferred tax assets
and liabilities based on new future tax rates expected under TRAF. The amounts impacting income tax expense for the effects of the
changes from the TRAF were approximately $41 million in 2020 which decreased our 2020 effective tax rate by approximately 5.1%,
and approximately $16 million in 2019 which increased our 2019 effective tax rate by approximately 1.1%.

Companies subject to the Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income provision (GILTI) have the option to account for the GILTI tax
as a period cost if and when incurred, or to recognize deferred taxes for outside basis temporary differences expected to reverse as
GILTI. We have elected to account for GILTI as a period cost.

Income tax (benefit) expense allocated to continuing operations and amounts separately allocated to other items was (in
millions):

2021 2020 2019
Income tax (benefit) expense from continuing operations $ 110 $ 66 $ 341
Cash flow hedge in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 72 (64) (23)
Net investment hedge in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (15) (60) (32)
Foreign Currency Translation in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 4) 12 _
Pension liability in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 3 3) (1)
Total $ 166 $ (49) $ 285
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The significant components of deferred income tax (benefit) expense attributable to income from continuing operations are as

follows (in millions):

Deferred income tax (benefit) expense

Change in valuation allowance

Change in effective Canadian income tax rate

Change in effective U.S. state income tax rate

Change in effective foreign income tax rate
Total

2021 2020 2019
$ 22) $ (230) $ 30
14 22 7
— — (1)
3 1 6
— (1) 16
$ ) $ (208) $ 58

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

are presented below (in millions):

Deferred tax assets:
Accounts and notes receivable
Accrued employee benefits
Leases
Operating lease liabilities
Liabilities not currently deductible for tax
Tax loss and credit carryforwards
Derivatives
Other

Total gross deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance

Net deferred tax assets

Less deferred tax liabilities:

Property and equipment, principally due to differences in depreciation

Intangible assets

Leases

Operating lease assets

Statutory impairment

Outside basis difference
Total gross deferred tax liabilities

Net deferred tax liability

As of December 31,
2021 2020

$ 4 3 6
48 54

115 114

317 323

346 310

517 547

164 225

@) 9

1,510 1,588
(356) (364)
1,154 1,224

15 35

1,751 1,747

129 114

295 311

29 30

38 46

2,257 2,283

$ 1,103 § 1,059

The valuation allowance had a net decrease of $8 million during 2021 primarily due to the change in estimates related to

derivatives and the utilization of foreign tax credits and capital losses.
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Changes in the valuation allowance are as follows (in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Beginning balance $ 364 $ 329 $ 325
Change in estimates recorded to deferred income tax expense 14 19 8
Changes in losses and credits 3 )
(Reductions) additions related to other comprehensive income (22) 13 )
Ending balance $ 356 $ 364 $ 329

The gross amount and expiration dates of operating loss and tax credit carry-forwards as of December 31, 2021 are as follows
(in millions):

Amount Expiration Date

Canadian net operating loss carryforwards $ 728 2036-2041
Canadian capital loss carryforwards 866 Indefinite
Canadian tax credits 3 2023-2036
U.S. state net operating loss carryforwards 680 2022-2041
U.S. capital loss carryforwards 16 2040
U.S. foreign tax credits 112 2022-2031
Other foreign net operating loss carryforwards 207 Indefinite
Other foreign net operating loss carryforwards 77 2022-2038
Other foreign capital loss carryforward 30 Indefinite
Total $ 2,719

We are generally permanently reinvested on any potential outside basis differences except for unremitted earning and profits and
thus do not record a deferred tax liability for such outside basis differences. To the extent of unremitted earning and profits, we
generally review various factors including, but not limited to, forecasts and budgets of financial needs of cash for working capital,
liquidity and expected cash requirements to fund our various obligations and record deferred taxes to the extent we expect to
distribute. We will continue to monitor available evidence and our plans for foreign earnings and expect to continue to provide any
applicable deferred taxes based on the tax liability or withholding taxes that would be due upon repatriation of amounts not considered
permanently reinvested.

We had $437 million and $497 million of unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020,
respectively, which if recognized, would favorably affect the effective income tax rate. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending
amounts of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Beginning balance $ 497 $ 506 $ 441
Additions for tax positions related to the current year 9 9 9
Additions for tax positions of prior years 23 7 56
Reductions for tax positions of prior year (5) (25) _
Additions for settlement 7 _ _
Reductions due to statute expiration (94) _ _
Ending balance $ 437 $ 497 $ 506

Although the timing of the resolution, settlement, and closure of any audits is highly uncertain, it is reasonably possible that the
balance of gross unrecognized tax benefits could significantly change in the next 12 months. During the twelve months beginning
January 1, 2022, it is reasonably possible we will reduce unrecognized tax benefits by up to approximately $328 million due to the
expiration of statutes of limitations, anticipated closure of various tax matters currently under examination, and settlements with tax
authorities all being possibly impacted in multiple jurisdictions.
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We recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. The total amount of accrued
interest and penalties was $121 million and $123 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Potential interest and penalties
associated with uncertain tax positions in various jurisdictions recognized was $2 million during 2021, $31 million during 2020 and
$41 million during 2019. To the extent interest and penalties are not assessed with respect to uncertain tax positions, amounts accrued
will be reduced and reflected as a reduction of the overall income tax provision.

We file income tax returns with Canada and its provinces and territories. Generally, we are subject to routine examinations by
the Canada Revenue Agency (“CRA”). The CRA is conducting examinations of the 2015 through 2016 taxation years. Additionally,
income tax returns filed with various provincial jurisdictions are generally open to examination for periods up to six years subsequent
to the filing of the respective return.

We also file income tax returns, including returns for our subsidiaries, with U.S. federal, U.S. state, and other foreign
jurisdictions. We are subject to routine examination by taxing authorities in the U.S. jurisdictions, as well as other foreign tax
jurisdictions. None of the other foreign jurisdictions have been individually material. Taxable years 2014 through 2017 for our U.S.
companies for U.S. federal income tax purposes closed in 2021 without material adjustments. Prior taxable years of such U.S.
companies are closed for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We have various U.S. state and other foreign income tax returns in the
process of examination. From time to time, these audits result in proposed assessments where the ultimate resolution may result in
owing additional taxes. We believe that our tax positions comply with applicable tax law and that we have adequately provided for
these matters.

Note 12. Derivative Instruments
Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We enter into derivative instruments for risk management purposes, including derivatives designated as cash flow hedges and
derivatives designated as net investment hedges. We use derivatives to manage our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates and
currency exchange rates.

Interest Rate Swaps

At December 31, 2021, we had outstanding receive-variable, pay-fixed interest rate swaps with a total notional value of $3,500
million to hedge the variability in the interest payments on a portion of our Term Loan Facilities, including any subsequent refinancing
or replacement of the Term Loan Facilities, beginning August 31, 2021 through the termination date of October 31, 2028.
Additionally, at December 31, 2021, we also had outstanding receive-variable, pay-fixed interest rate swaps with a total notional value
of $500 million to hedge the variability in the interest payments on a portion of our Term Loan Facilities effective September 30, 2019
through the termination date of September 30, 2026. At inception, all of these interest rate swaps were designated as cash flow hedges
for hedge accounting. The unrealized changes in market value are recorded in AOCI and reclassified into earnings during the period in
which the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings.

During 2021, we extended the maturity of our $3,500 million receive-variable, pay-fixed interest rate swaps. The extension of
the term resulted in a de-designation and re-designation of the interest rate swaps and the swaps continue to be accounted for as a cash
flow hedge for hedge accounting. In connection with the de-designation, we recognized a net unrealized loss of $143 million in AOCI
and this amount gets reclassified into Interest expense, net as the original forecasted transaction affects earnings. The amount of pre-
tax losses in connection with this net unrealized loss in AOCI as of December 31, 2021 that we expect to be reclassified into interest
expense within the next 12 months is $28 million.

We had previously extended the term of our $3,500 million receive-variable, pay-fixed interest rate swaps in 2019 to align the
maturity date of the interest rate swaps with the new maturity date of our Term Loan B. The extension of the term resulted in a de-
designation and re-designation of the interest rate swaps and the swaps continue to be accounted for as a cash flow hedge for hedge
accounting. In connection with the de-designation, we recognized a net unrealized loss of $213 million in AOCI and this amount gets
reclassified into Interest expense, net as the original forecasted transaction affects earnings. The amount of pre-tax losses in connection
with this net unrealized loss in AOCI as of December 31, 2021 that we expect to be reclassified into interest expense within the next
12 months is $50 million.

Cross-Currency Rate Swaps
To protect the value of our investments in our foreign operations against adverse changes in foreign currency exchange rates, we
hedge a portion of our net investment in one or more of our foreign subsidiaries by using cross-currency rate swaps. At December 31,

2021, we had outstanding cross-currency rate swap contracts between the Canadian dollar and U.S. dollar and the Euro and U.S. dollar
that have been designated as net investment hedges of a portion of our equity in foreign operations in those currencies. The component
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of the gains and losses on our net investment in these designated foreign operations driven by changes in foreign exchange rates are
economically partly offset by movements in the fair value of our cross-currency swap contracts. The fair value of the swaps is
calculated each period with changes in fair value reported in AOCI, net of tax. Such amounts will remain in AOCI until the complete
or substantially complete liquidation of our investment in the underlying foreign operations.

At December 31, 2021, we had outstanding fixed-to-fixed cross-currency rate swaps to partially hedge the net investment in our
Canadian subsidiaries. At inception, these cross-currency rate swaps were designated as a hedge and are accounted for as net
investment hedges. These swaps are contracts to exchange quarterly fixed-rate interest payments we make on the Canadian dollar
notional amount of C$6,754 million for quarterly fixed-rate interest payments we receive on the U.S. dollar notional amount of $5,000
million through the maturity date of June 30, 2023.

At December 31, 2021, we had outstanding cross-currency rate swaps in which we pay quarterly fixed-rate interest payments on
the Euro notional amount of €1,108 million and receive quarterly fixed-rate interest payments on the U.S. dollar notional amount of
$1,200 million. At inception, these cross-currency rate swaps were designated as a hedge and are accounted for as a net investment
hedge. During 2018, we extended the term of the swaps from March 31, 2021 to the maturity date of February 17, 2024. The extension
of the term resulted in a re-designation of the hedge and the swaps continue to be accounted for as a net investment hedge.
Additionally, at December 31, 2021, we also had outstanding cross-currency rate swaps in which we receive quarterly fixed-rate
interest payments on the U.S. dollar notional value of $400 million, entered during 2018, and $500 million, entered during 2019,
through the maturity date of February 17, 2024 and $150 million, entered during 2021, through the maturity date of October 31, 2028.
At inception, these cross-currency rate swaps were designated as a hedge and are accounted for as a net investment hedge.

The fixed to fixed cross-currency rate swaps hedging Canadian dollar and Euro net investments utilized the forward method of
effectiveness assessment prior to March 15, 2018. On March 15, 2018, we de-designated and subsequently re-designated the
outstanding fixed to fixed cross-currency rate swaps to prospectively use the spot method of hedge effectiveness assessment.
Additionally, as a result of adopting new hedge accounting guidance during 2018, we elected to exclude the interest component (the
"Excluded Component") from the accounting hedge without affecting net investment hedge accounting and elected to amortize the
Excluded Component over the life of the derivative instrument. The amortization of the Excluded Component is recognized in Interest
expense, net in the consolidated statement of operations. The change in fair value that is not related to the Excluded Component is
recorded in AOCIT and will be reclassified to earnings when the foreign subsidiaries are sold or substantially liquidated.

Foreign Currency Exchange Contracts

We use foreign exchange derivative instruments to manage the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations on U.S. dollar purchases
and payments, such as coffee purchases made by our Canadian Tim Hortons operations. At December 31, 2021, we had outstanding
forward currency contracts to manage this risk in which we sell Canadian dollars and buy U.S. dollars with a notional value of $171
million with maturities to February 2023. We have designated these instruments as cash flow hedges, and as such, the unrealized
changes in market value of effective hedges are recorded in AOCI and are reclassified into earnings during the period in which the
hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings.

Credit Risk
By entering into derivative contracts, we are exposed to counterparty credit risk. Counterparty credit risk is the failure of the
counterparty to perform under the terms of the derivative contract. When the fair value of a derivative contract is in an asset position,
the counterparty has a liability to us, which creates credit risk for us. We attempt to minimize this risk by selecting counterparties with
investment grade credit ratings and regularly monitoring our market position with each counterparty.

Credit-Risk Related Contingent Features

Our derivative instruments do not contain any credit-risk related contingent features.
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Quantitative Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Fair Value Measurements

The following tables present the required quantitative disclosures for our derivative instruments, including their estimated fair
values (all estimated using Level 2 inputs) and their location on our consolidated balance sheets (in millions):

Gain or (Loss) Recognized in
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

2021 2020 2019
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges""
Interest rate swaps $ 132§ (333) $ (102)
Forward-currency contracts $ — 3 2) $ “
Derivatives designated as net investment hedges
Cross-currency rate swaps $ 9% $ (302) $ (118)

(1) We did not exclude any components from the cash flow hedge relationships presented in this table.

Location of Gain or
(Loss) Reclassified from Gain or (Loss) Reclassified from AOCI into

AOCI into Earnings Earnings
2021 2020 2019
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges
Interest rate swaps Interest expense, net $ (125) $ (102) $ (26)
Forward-currency contracts Cost of sales $ (7 $ 2 $ 5
Location of Gain or Gain or (Loss) Recognized in Earnings
(Loss) Recognized in (Amount Excluded from Effectiveness
Earnings Testing)
2021 2020 2019
Derivatives designated as net investment hedges
Cross-currency rate swaps Interest expense, net $ 45 $ 69 $ 70

Fair Value as of
December 31,

2021 2020 Balance Sheet Location
Assets:
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges
Foreign currency $ 2 $ — Prepaids and other current assets
Derivatives designated as net investment hedges
Foreign currency 23 —  Other assets, net
Total assets at fair value $ 25 § —
Liabilities:
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges
Interest rate $ 220 $ 430 Other liabilities, net
Foreign currency — 5 Other accrued liabilities
Derivatives designated as net investment hedges
Foreign currency 355 434  Other liabilities, net
Total liabilities at fair value $ 575§ 869
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Note 13. Equity

Pursuant to the terms of the partnership agreement, RBI, as the holder of Class A common units, is entitled to distributions from
Partnership in an amount equal to the aggregate dividends payable by RBI to holders of RBI common shares, and the holders of
Partnership exchangeable units are entitled to receive distributions from Partnership in an amount per unit equal to the dividend
payable by RBI on each RBI common share. Additionally, if RBI proposes to redeem, repurchase or otherwise acquire any RBI
common shares, the partnership agreement requires that Partnership, immediately prior to such redemption, repurchase or acquisition,
make a distribution to RBI on the Class A common units in an amount sufficient for RBI to fund such redemption, repurchase or
acquisition, as the case may be. Each holder of a Partnership exchangeable unit is entitled to vote in respect of matters on which
holders of RBI common shares are entitled to vote through one special voting share of RBI. Since December 12, 2015, a holder of a
Partnership exchangeable unit may require Partnership to exchange all or any portion of such holder’s Partnership exchangeable units
for RBI common shares at a ratio of one common share for each Partnership exchangeable unit, subject to RBI’s right as the general
partner of Partnership, in its sole discretion, to deliver a cash payment in lieu of RBI common shares. If RBI elects to make a cash
payment in lieu of issuing common shares, the amount of the payment will be the weighted average trading price of the RBI common
shares on the New York Stock Exchange for the 20 consecutive trading days ending on the last business day prior to the exchange
date.

During 2021, Partnership exchanged 10,119,880 Partnership exchangeable units, pursuant to exchange notices received. In
accordance with the terms of the partnership agreement, Partnership satisfied the exchange notices by exchanging 10,119,880
Partnership exchangeable units for the same number of newly issued RBI common shares. During 2020, Partnership exchanged
10,393,861 Partnership exchangeable units, pursuant to exchange notices received. In accordance with the terms of the partnership
agreement, Partnership satisfied the exchange notices by repurchasing 6,757,692 Partnership exchangeable units for approximately
$380 million in cash and exchanging 3,636,169 Partnership exchangeable units for the same number of newly issued RBI common
shares. During 2019, Partnership exchanged 42,016,392 Partnership exchangeable units, pursuant to exchange notices received. In
accordance with the terms of the partnership agreement, Partnership satisfied the exchange notices by exchanging 42,016,392
Partnership exchangeable units for the same number of newly issued RBI common shares. The exchanges of Partnership exchangeable
units were recorded as increases to the Class A common units balance within partner’s capital in our consolidated balance sheets in an
amount equal to the market value of the newly issued RBI common shares and a reduction to the Partnership exchangeable units
balance within partner’s capital of our consolidated balance sheets in an amount equal to the cash paid by Partnership and the market
value of the newly issued RBI common shares. Pursuant to the terms of the partnership agreement, upon the exchange of Partnership
exchangeable units, each such Partnership exchangeable unit was cancelled concurrently with the exchange.

RBI Share Repurchase
On July 28, 2021, the RBI Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program that allows RBI to purchase up to $1,000
million of RBI common shares until August 10, 2023. During 2021, RBI repurchased and cancelled 9,247,648 common shares for

$551 million. Pursuant to the terms of the partnership agreement, Partnership made a distribution to RBI on the Class A common units
in an amount sufficient for RBI to fund such share repurchases.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The following table displays the change in the components of AOCI (in millions):

Accumulated
Foreign Other
Currency Comprehensive
Derivatives Pensions Translation Income (Loss)
Balances at December 31, 2018 $ 454 $ 27 $ (1,864) $ (1,437)
Foreign currency translation adjustment _ _ 409 409
Net change in fair value of derivatives, net of tax (163) —_ — (163)
Amounts reclassified to earnings of cash flow hedges, net of tax 15 — — 15
Pension and post-retirement benefit plans, net of tax — #)) — )
Balances at December 31, 2019 $ 306 $ (29) $ (1,455) $ (1,178)
Foreign currency translation adjustment — _ 332 332
Net change in fair value of derivatives, net of tax (486) _ _ (486)
Amounts reclassified to earnings of cash flow hedges, net of tax 73 — — 73
Pension and post-retirement benefit plans, net of tax _ (16) — (16)
Balances at December 31, 2020 $ (107) $ (45) $ (1,123) $ (1,275)
Foreign currency translation adjustment — — (67) (67)
Net change in fair value of derivatives, net of tax 207 — — 207
Amounts reclassified to earnings of cash flow hedges, net of tax 96 — — 96
Pension and post-retirement benefit plans, net of tax — 15 — 15
Balances at December 31, 2021 $ 196 $ (30) $ (1,190) $ (1,024)

Note 14. Share-based Compensation

Share-based compensation expense associated with the participation of Partnership and its subsidiaries in RBI’s share-based
compensation plans is recognized in Partnership’s Financial Statements.

RBI's Amended and Restated 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “Omnibus Plan”) provides for the grant of awards to
employees, directors, consultants and other persons who provide services to RBI and its affiliates. RBI also has some outstanding
awards under legacy plans for BK and TH, that were assumed in connection with the merger and amalgamation of those entities within
the RBI group. No new awards may be granted under these legacy BK plans or legacy TH plans.

RBI is currently issuing awards under the Omnibus Plan and the number of shares available for issuance under such plan as of
December 31, 2021 was 10,122,551. The Omnibus Plan permits the grant of several types of awards with respect to RBI common
shares, including stock options, time-vested RSUs, and performance-based RSUs, which may include RBI and/or individual
performance based-vesting conditions. Under the terms of the Omnibus Plan, RSUs are entitled to dividend equivalents, unless
otherwise noted. Dividend equivalents are not distributed unless the related awards vest. Upon vesting, the amount of the dividend
equivalent, which is distributed in additional RSUs, except in the case of RSUs awarded to non-management members of RBI's board
of directors, is equal to the equivalent of the aggregate dividends declared on common shares during the period from the date of grant
of the award compounded until the date the shares underlying the award are delivered.

Stock option awards are granted with an exercise price or market value equal to the closing price of RBI's common shares on the
trading day preceding the date of grant. RBI satisfies stock option exercises through the issuance of authorized but previously unissued
common shares. New stock option grants generally cliff vest 5 years from the original grant date, provided the employee is
continuously employed by RBI or one of our affiliates, and the stock options expire 10 years following the grant date. Additionally, if
RBI terminates the employment of a stock option holder without cause prior to the vesting date, or if the employee retires or becomes
disabled, the employee will become vested in the number of stock options as if the stock options vested 20% on each anniversary of
the grant date. If the employee dies, the employee will become vested in the number of stock options as if the stock options vested
20% on the first anniversary of the grant date, 40% on the second anniversary of the grant date and 100% on the third anniversary of
the grant date. If an employee is terminated with cause or resigns before vesting, all stock options are forfeited. If there is an event
such as a return of capital or dividend that is determined to be dilutive, the exercise price of the awards will be adjusted accordingly.
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Share-based compensation expense consists of the following for the periods presented (in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Total share-based compensation expense - Stock options and RSUs (a)(b) $ 8 $ 74 $ 68

(a) Includes $2 million, $3 million, and $4 million due to modification of awards in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
(b)  Generally classified as general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

As of December 31, 2021, total unrecognized compensation cost related to share-based compensation arrangements was $189
million and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.6 years.

The following assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to determine the fair value of stock option
awards at the grant date:

2021 2020 2019
Risk-free interest rate 1.29% 1.29% 1.82%
Expected term (in years) 5.88 5.88 6.19
Expected volatility 23.9% 23.9% 25.5%
Expected dividend yield 3.14% 3.14% 3.09%

The risk-free interest rate was based on the U.S. Treasury or Canadian Sovereign bond yield with a remaining term equal to the
expected option life assumed at the date of grant. The expected term was calculated based on the analysis of a five-year vesting period
coupled with RBI's expectations of exercise activity. Expected volatility was based on the historical and implied equity volatility of
RBI and a review of the equity volatilities of publicly-traded guideline companies. The expected dividend yield is based on the annual

dividend yield at the time of grant.

The following is a summary of stock option activity under our plans for the year ended December 31, 2021:

Weighted
Average
Total Number Aggregate Remaining
of Weighted Intrinsic Contractual
Options Average Value (a) Term
(in 000’s) Exercise Price (in 000’s) (Years)
Outstanding at January 1, 2021 8,202 $ 51.86
Granted 15 $ 65.11
Exercised (1,594) $ 37.83
Forfeited (416) $ 63.00
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 6,207 $ 5480 $ 48,468 5.6
Exercisable at December 31, 2021 1,961 §$ 3968 §$ 41,255 3.3
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2021 5671 $ 5410 $ 47,650 5.5

(a)  The intrinsic value represents the amount by which the fair value of RBI's stock exceeds the option exercise price at
December 31, 2021.

The weighted-average grant date fair value per stock option granted was $10.15, $10.38, and $11.83 during 2021, 2020 and
2019, respectively. The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised was $46 million during 2021, $55 million during 2020, and
$200 million during 2019.

The fair value of the time-vested RSUs and performance-based RSUs is based on the closing price of RBI’s common shares on
the trading day preceding the date of grant. During 2021, RBI granted total shareholder return (“TSR”) performance-based RSUs that
vest over a three year period based on the achievement of contractually defined total RBI shareholder return targets with respect to the
S&P 500 Index. The fair value of the TSR awards was based on a Monte Carlo Simulation valuation model and we expense these
market condition awards over the vesting period regardless of the value that the award recipients ultimately receive. Time-vested
RSUs and performance-based RSUs awarded prior to 2021 generally cliff vest five years from the original grant date. Time-vested
RSUs granted in 2021 generally vest 25% per year over four years and performance-based RSUs granted in 2021 cliff vest three years
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from the original grant date. RBI has awarded a limited number of time-vested RSUs that proportionally vest over a period shorter
than four years. Time-vested RSUs are expensed over the vesting period. Performance-based RSUs are expensed over the vesting
period, based upon the probability that the performance target will be met. RBI grants fully vested RSUs, with dividend equivalent
rights that accrue in cash, to non-employee members of our board of directors in lieu of a cash retainer and committee fees. All such
RSUs will settle and common shares of RBI will be issued upon termination of service by the board member.

Starting in 2021, the time-vested RSUs generally vest 25% per year on December 31 over four years from the grant date and
performance-based RSUs generally cliff vest three years from the grant date (the starting date for the applicable vesting period is
referred to as the “Anniversary Date”). For grants prior to 2021, if the employee is terminated for any reason within the first two years
of the Anniversary Date, 100% of the time-vested RSUs granted will be forfeited. If we terminate the employment of a time-vested
RSU holder without cause two years after the Anniversary Date, or if the employee retires, the employee will become vested in the
number of time-vested RSUs as if the time-vested RSUs vested 20% for each year after the Anniversary Date. For grants prior to
2021, if the employee is terminated for any reason within the first three years of the Anniversary Date, 100% of the performance-
based RSUs granted will be forfeited. If we terminate the employment of a performance-based RSU holder without cause between
three and five years after the Anniversary Date, or if the employee retires, the employee will become vested in 50% of the
performance-based RSUs. For grants of time-vested RSUs beginning in 2021, if the employee is terminated for any reason prior to any
vesting date, the employee will forfeit all of the RSUs that are unvested at the time of termination. For grants of performance-based
RSUs beginning in 2021, if the employee is terminated within the first two years of the Anniversary Date, 100% of the performance-
based RSUs will be forfeited. If we terminate the employment of a performance-based RSU holder without cause two years after the
Anniversary Date, or if the employee retires, the employee will become vested in 67% of the performance-based RSUs that are earned
based on the performance criteria. An alternate ratable vesting schedule applies to the extent the participant ends employment by
reason of death or disability.

The following is a summary of time-vested RSUs and performance-based RSUs activity for the year ended December 31, 2021:

Time-vested RSUs Performance-based RSUs

Total Number of Weighted Average Total Number of Weighted Average
Shares Grant Date Fair Shares Grant Date Fair

(in 000’s) Value (in 000’s) Value
Outstanding at January 1, 2021 1,761 $ 49.99 4,869 $ 56.96
Granted 1,566 $ 60.97 425§ 57.60
Vested and settled (455) $ 39.54 (1,189) $ 38.07
Dividend equivalents granted 68 $ — 133§ —
Forfeited (176) $ 61.98 (343) $ 67.36
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 2,764 $ 57.47 3805 $ 62.09

The weighted-average grant date fair value of time-vested RSUs granted was $65.20 and $64.82 during 2020 and 2019,
respectively. The weighted-average grant date fair value of performance-based RSUs granted was $62.69 and $65.54 during 2020 and
2019, respectively. The total fair value, determined as of the date of vesting, of RSUs vested and converted to common shares of RBI
during 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $99 million, $21 million and $8 million, respectively.
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Note 15. Revenue Recognition

Contract Liabilities

Contract liabilities consist of deferred revenue resulting from initial and renewal franchise fees paid by franchisees, as well as
upfront fees paid by master franchisees, which are generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the underlying
agreement. We classify these contract liabilities as Other liabilities, net in our consolidated balance sheets. The following table reflects
the change in contract liabilities by segment and on a consolidated basis between December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2021 (in

millions):

Contract Liabilities TH BK PLK Consolidated
Balance at December 31, 2020 62 427 39 % 528
Recognized during period and included in the contract

liability balance at the beginning of the year 9) (44) @) (57)
Increase, excluding amounts recognized as revenue

during the period 12 40 21 73
Impact of foreign currency translation — (13) — (13)
Balance at December 31, 2021 65 $ 410 56 $ 531

The following table illustrates estimated revenues expected to be recognized in the future related to performance obligations that
are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) by segment and on a consolidated basis as of December 31, 2021 (in millions):

Contract liabilities expected to be recognized in TH BK PLK Consolidated
2022 10 $ 34 4 3 48
2023 33 4 46
2024 32 4 45
2025 32 4 44
2026 6 31 3 40
Thereafter 23 248 37 308
Total 65 $ 410 56 $ 531
Disaggregation of Total Revenues
Total revenues consist of the following (in millions):
2021 2020 2019

Sales $ 2,378 2,013  $ 2,362
Royalties 1,561 1,327 1,459
Property revenues 793 718 833
Franchise fees and other revenue 98 76 89
Advertising revenues 909 834 860
Total revenues $ 5,739 4968 $ 5,603
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Note 16. Other Operating Expenses (Income), net

Other operating expenses (income), net, consist of the following (in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Net losses (gains) on disposal of assets, restaurant closures and refranchisings $ 2 $ 6 $ 7
Litigation settlements and reserves, net 81 7 2
Net losses (gains) on foreign exchange (76) 100 (15)
Other, net — ) 4)
Other operating expenses (income), net $ 7 $ 105 § (10)

Net losses (gains) on disposal of assets, restaurant closures, and refranchisings represent sales of properties and other costs
related to restaurant closures and refranchisings. Gains and losses recognized in the current period may reflect certain costs related to
closures and refranchisings that occurred in previous periods.

Litigation settlements and reserves, net primarily reflects accruals and payments made and proceeds received in connection with
litigation and arbitration matters and other business disputes.

In early 2022, we entered into negotiations to resolve business disputes that arose during 2021 with counterparties to the master
franchise agreements for Burger King and Popeyes in China. Based on these discussions, we expect to agree to pay approximately
$100 million in 2022, including $72 million that is included in Litigation settlements and reserves, net for 2021. Remaining amounts
primarily will be recorded as an equity method investment when made.

Net losses (gains) on foreign exchange are primarily related to revaluation of foreign denominated assets and liabilities.

Note 17. Commitments and Contingencies

Letters of Credit

As of December 31, 2021, we had $12 million in irrevocable standby letters of credit outstanding, which were issued primarily
to certain insurance carriers to guarantee payments of deductibles for various insurance programs, such as health and commercial
liability insurance. Of these letters of credit outstanding, $2 million are secured by the collateral under our Revolving Credit Facility
and the remainder are secured by cash collateral. As of December 31, 2021, no amounts had been drawn on any of these irrevocable
standby letters of credit.

Purchase Commitments

We have arrangements for information technology and telecommunication services with an aggregate contractual obligation of
$33 million over the next three years, some of which have early termination fees. We also enter into commitments to purchase
advertising. As of December 31, 2021, these commitments totaled $194 million and run through 2025.

Litigation

From time to time, we are involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business relating to matters including,
but not limited to, disputes with franchisees, suppliers, employees and customers, as well as disputes over our intellectual property.

On October 5, 2018, a class action complaint was filed against Burger King Worldwide, Inc. (“BKW?”) and Burger King
Corporation (“BKC”) in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida by Jarvis Arrington, individually and on behalf of
all others similarly situated. On October 18, 2018, a second class action complaint was filed against RBI, BKW and BKC in the U.S.
District Court for the Southern District of Florida by Monique Michel, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated. On
October 31, 2018, a third class action complaint was filed against BKC and BKW in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District
of Florida by Geneva Blanchard and Tiffany Miller, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated. On November 2, 2018,
a fourth class action complaint was filed against RBI, BKW and BKC in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida by
Sandra Muster, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated. These complaints have been consolidated and allege that the
defendants violated Section 1 of the Sherman Act by incorporating an employee no-solicitation and no-hiring clause in the standard
form franchise agreement all Burger King franchisees are required to sign. Each plaintiff seeks injunctive relief and damages for
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himself or herself and other members of the class. On March 24, 2020, the Court granted BKC’s motion to dismiss for failure to state a
claim and on April 20, 2020 the plaintiffs filed a motion for leave to amend their complaint. On April 27, 2020, BKC filed a motion
opposing the motion for leave to amend. The court denied the plaintiffs motion for leave to amend their complaint in August 2020 and
the plaintiffs appealed this ruling. Oral arguments for the appeal were heard in September 2021 and the parties await a ruling on the
appeal. While we currently believe these claims are without merit, we are unable to predict the ultimate outcome of this case or
estimate the range of possible loss, if any.

In July 2019, a class action complaint was filed against The TDL Group Corp. (“TDL”) in the Supreme Court of British
Columbia by Samir Latifi, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated. The complaint alleges that TDL violated the
Canadian Competition Act by incorporating an employee no-solicitation and no-hiring clause in the standard form franchise agreement
all Tim Hortons franchisees are required to sign. The plaintiff seeks damages and restitution, on behalf of himself and other members
of the class. In February 2021, TDL filed and served an application to strike which was heard in May 2021. The court struck the
substantial points, including: the claim related to the Canadian Competition Act, the unlawful conspiracy claim, and the claim for
unjust enrichment. While we currently believe this claim is without merit, we are unable to predict the ultimate outcome of this case or
estimate the range of possible loss, if any.

On June 30, 2020, a class action complaint was filed against Restaurant Brands International Inc., Restaurant Brands
International Limited Partnership and The TDL Group Corp. in the Quebec Superior Court by Steve Holcman, individually and on
behalf of all Quebec residents who downloaded the Tim Hortons mobile application. On July 2, 2020, a Notice of Action related to a
second class action complaint was filed against Restaurant Brands International Inc., in the Ontario Superior Court by Ashley Sitko
and Ashley Cadeau, individually and on behalf of all Canadian residents who downloaded the Tim Hortons mobile application. On
August 31, 2020, a notice of claim was filed against Restaurant Brands International Inc. in the Supreme Court of British Columbia by
Wai Lam Jacky Law on behalf of all persons in Canada who downloaded the Tim Hortons mobile application or the Burger King
mobile application. On September 30, 2020, a notice of action was filed against Restaurant Brands International Inc., Restaurant
Brands International Limited Partnership, The TDL Group Corp., Burger King Worldwide, Inc. and Popeyes Louisiana Kitchen, Inc.
in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice by William Jung on behalf of a to be determined class. All of the complaints allege that the
defendants violated the plaintiff’s privacy rights, the Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act, consumer
protection and competition laws or app-based undertakings to users, in each case in connection with the collection of geolocation data
through the Tim Hortons mobile application, and in certain cases, the Burger King and Popeyes mobile applications. Each plaintiff
seeks injunctive relief and monetary damages for himself or herself and other members of the class. These cases are in preliminary
stages and we intend to vigorously defend against these lawsuits, but we are unable to predict the ultimate outcome of any of these
cases or estimate the range of possible loss, if any.

On October 26, 2020, City of Warwick Municipal Employees Pension Fund, a purported stockholder of Restaurant Brands
International Inc., individually and putatively on behalf of all other stockholders similarly situated, filed a lawsuit in the Supreme
Court of the State of New York County of New York naming RBI and certain of its officers, directors and shareholders as defendants
alleging violations of Sections 11, 12(a)(2) and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, in connection with certain offerings of
securities by an affiliate in August and September 2019. The complaint alleges that the shelf registration statement used in connection
with such offering contained certain false and/or misleading statements or omissions. The complaint seeks, among other relief, class
certification of the lawsuit, unspecified compensatory damages, rescission, pre-judgement and post-judgement interest, costs and
expenses. On December 18, 2020 the plaintiffs filed an amended complaint and on February 16, 2021 RBI filed a motion to dismiss
the complaint. The plaintiffs filed a brief in opposition to the motion on April 19, 2021 and RBI filed a reply in May 2021. The motion
to dismiss is scheduled to be heard in March 2022. RBI intends to vigorously defend. While RBI believe these claims are without
merit, RBI is unable to predict the ultimate outcome of this case or estimate the range of possible loss, if any.

Note 18. Segment Reporting and Geographical Information

As stated in Note 1, Description of Business and Organization, we manage four brands. Under the Tim Hortons brand, we
operate in the donut/coffee/tea category of the quick service segment of the restaurant industry. Under the Burger King brand, we
operate in the fast food hamburger restaurant category of the quick service segment of the restaurant industry. Under the Popeyes
brand, we operate in the chicken category of the quick service segment of the restaurant industry. Under the Firehouse Subs brand, we
operate in the specialty subs category of the quick service segment of the restaurant industry. Our business generates revenue from the
following sources: (i) franchise and advertising revenues, consisting primarily of royalties and advertising fund contributions based on
a percentage of sales reported by franchise restaurants and franchise fees paid by franchisees; (ii) property revenues from properties
we lease or sublease to franchisees; and (iii) sales at restaurants owned by us (“Company restaurants”). In addition, our TH business
generates revenue from sales to franchisees related to our supply chain operations, including manufacturing, procurement,
warehousing and distribution, as well as sales to retailers. We manage each of our brands as an operating segment and each operating
segment represents a reportable segment.
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Our management structure and financial reporting is organized around our four brands, including the information regularly
reviewed by our Chief Executive Officer, who is our Chief Operating Decision Maker. Therefore, we have four operating segments:
(1) TH, which includes all operations of our 7im Hortons brand, (2) BK, which includes all operations of our Burger King brand, (3)
PLK, which includes all operations of our Popeyes brand, and (4) FHS, which includes all operations of our Firehouse Subs brand.
Our four operating segments represent our reportable segments. FHS revenues and segment income for the period from the acquisition
date of December 15, 2021 through December 26, 2021 (the fiscal year end for FHS) are included in our consolidated statement of

operations for 2021.

The following tables present revenues, by segment and by country, depreciation and amortization, (income) loss from equity

method investments, and capital expenditures by segment (in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Revenues by operating segment:
TH $ 3342 § 2,810 3,344
BK 1,813 1,602 1,777
PLK 579 556 482
FHS 5 — —
Total $ 5,739 $ 4,968 5,603
Revenues by country (a):
Canada $ 3,035 § 2,546 3,037
United States 2,005 1,889 1,930
Other 699 533 636
Total $ 5,739 § 4,968 5,603
Depreciation and amortization:
TH $ 132§ 119 112
BK 62 62 62
PLK 7 8 11
Total $ 201§ 189 185
(Income) loss from equity method investments:
TH $ (13) $ “ (7
BK 17 43 4
Total $ 4 8 39 (11)
Capital expenditures:
TH $ 61 $ 92 37
BK 34 18 20
PLK 11 7 5
Total $ 106 $ 117 62
(a) Only Canada and the United States represented 10% or more of our total revenues in each period presented.
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Total assets by segment, and long-lived assets by segment and country are as follows (in millions):

Assets Long-Lived Assets
As of December 31, As of December 31,
2021 2020 2021 2020
By operating segment:
TH $ 13,995 $ 13,963 $ 1,963 $ 1,990
BK 4,946 5,334 1,137 1,128
PLK 2,563 2,525 141 131
FHS 1,103 — 4 —
Unallocated 639 955 — —
Total $ 23,246 $ 22,777 $ 3,245 $ 3,249
By country:
Canada $ 1,670 $ 1,685
United States 1,556 1,539
Other 19 25
Total $ 3,245 § 3,249

Long-lived assets include property and equipment, net, finance and operating lease right of use assets, net and net investment in
property leased to franchisees. Only Canada and the United States represented 10% or more of our total long-lived assets as of
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.

Our measure of segment income is Adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted EBITDA represents earnings (net income or loss) before
interest expense, net, loss on early extinguishment of debt, income tax (benefit) expense, and depreciation and amortization, adjusted
to exclude (i) the non-cash impact of share-based compensation and non-cash incentive compensation expense, (ii) (income) loss from
equity method investments, net of cash distributions received from equity method investments, (iii) other operating expenses (income),
net and, (iv) income/expenses from non-recurring projects and non-operating activities. For the periods referenced, this included (i)
non-recurring fees and expense incurred in connection with the Firehouse Subs acquisition consisting of professional fees and
compensation related expenses (“FHS Transaction costs™); (ii) costs from professional advisory and consulting services associated
with certain transformational corporate restructuring initiatives that rationalize our structure and optimize cash movements, including
services related to significant tax reform legislation, regulations and related restructuring initiatives (“Corporate restructuring and tax
advisory fees”); and (iii) costs incurred in connection with the centralization and relocation of our Canadian and U.S. restaurant
support centers to new offices in Toronto, Ontario, and Miami, Florida, respectively, (“Office centralization and relocation costs”).
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Adjusted EBITDA is used by management to measure operating performance of the business, excluding these non-cash and
other specifically identified items that management believes are not relevant to management’s assessment of our operating
performance. A reconciliation of segment income to net income consists of the following (in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Segment income:
TH $ 997 § 823 $ 1,122
BK 1,021 823 994
PLK 228 218 188
FHS 2 — —
Adjusted EBITDA 2,248 1,864 2,304
Share-based compensation and non-cash incentive compensation expense 102 84 74
FHS Transaction costs 18 — —
Corporate restructuring and tax advisory fees 16 16 31
Office centralization and relocation costs — — 6
Impact of equity method investments (a) 25 48 11
Other operating expenses (income), net 7 105 (10)
EBITDA 2,080 1,611 2,192
Depreciation and amortization 201 189 185
Income from operations 1,879 1,422 2,007
Interest expense, net 505 508 532
Loss on early extinguishment of debt 11 98 23
Income tax expense 110 66 341
Net income $ 1,253 $ 750§ 1,111

(a)  Represents (i) (income) loss from equity method investments and (ii) cash distributions received from our equity method
investments. Cash distributions received from our equity method investments are included in segment income.

Note 19. Supplemental Financial Information

1011778 B.C. Unlimited Liability Company (the “Parent Issuer”) and New Red Finance Inc. (the “Co-Issuer” and together with
the Parent Issuer, the “Issuers”) entered into an amended credit agreement, as amended from time to time, that provides for obligations
under the Credit Facilities. The Issuers entered into the 3.875% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture with respect to the 3.875% First
Lien Senior Notes due 2028. The Issuers entered into the 5.75% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture with respect to the 5.75% First Lien
Senior Notes due 2025. The Issuers entered into the 3.50% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture with respect to the 3.50% First Lien
Senior Notes due 2029. The Issuers entered into the 4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes Indenture with respect to the 4.375% Second
Lien Senior Notes due 2028. The Issuers entered into the 4.00% Second Lien Senior Notes Indenture with respect to the 4.00%
Second Lien Senior Notes Due 2030.

The agreement governing our Credit Facilities, the 3.875% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture, the 5.75% First Lien Senior Notes
Indenture, the 3.50% First Lien Senior Notes Indenture, the 4.375% Second Lien Senior Notes Indenture and the 4.00% Second Lien
Senior Notes Indenture allow the financial reporting obligation of the Parent Issuer to be satisfied through the reporting of
Partnership’s consolidated financial information, provided that the consolidated financial information of the Parent Issuer and its
restricted subsidiaries is presented on a standalone basis.

The following represents the condensed consolidating financial information for the Parent Issuer and its restricted subsidiaries
(“Consolidated Borrowers”) on a consolidated basis, together with eliminations, as of and for the periods indicated. The condensed
consolidating financial information of Partnership is combined with the financial information of its wholly-owned subsidiaries that are
also parent entities of the Parent Issuer and presented in a single column under the heading “RBILP”. The consolidating financial
information may not necessarily be indicative of the financial position, results of operations or cash flows had the Issuers and
Partnership operated as independent entities.
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RESTAURANT BRANDS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets
(In millions of U.S. dollars)

As of December 31, 2021
Consolidated
Borrowers RBILP Eliminations = Consolidated
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,087 $ — 3 — 3 1,087
Accounts and notes receivable, net 547 — — 547
Inventories, net 96 — — 96
Prepaids and other current assets 86 — — 86
Total current assets 1,816 — — 1,816
Property and equipment, net 2,035 — — 2,035
Operating lease assets, net 1,130 — — 1,130
Intangible assets, net 11,417 — — 11,417
Goodwill 6,006 — — 6,006
Net investment in property leased to franchisees 80 — — 80
Intercompany receivable — 241 (241) —
Investment in subsidiaries — 3,853 (3,853) —
Other assets, net 762 — — 762
Total assets $ 23,246 $ 4,094 § (4,094) $ 23,246
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts and drafts payable $ 614 § — § — § 614
Other accrued liabilities 706 241 — 947
Gift card liability 221 — — 221
Current portion of long term debt and finance leases 96 — — 96
Total current liabilities 1,637 241 — 1,878
Term debt, net of current portion 12,916 — — 12,916
Finance leases, net of current portion 333 — — 333
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion 1,070 — — 1,070
Other liabilities, net 1,822 — — 1,822
Payables to affiliates 241 — (241) —
Deferred income taxes, net 1,374 — — 1,374
Total liabilities 19,393 241 (241) 19,393
Partners’ capital:
Class A common units — 8,421 — 8,421
Partnership exchangeable units — (3,547) — (3,547)
Common shares 2,635 — (2,635) —
Retained earnings 2,239 — (2,239) —
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (1,024) (1,024) 1,024 (1,024)
Total Partners’ capital/shareholders’ equity 3,850 3,850 (3,850) 3,850
Noncontrolling interests 3 3 3) 3
Total equity 3,853 3,853 (3,853) 3,853
Total liabilities and equity $ 23,246 $ 4,094 § (4,094) $ 23,246
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RESTAURANT BRANDS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets
(In millions of U.S. dollars)

As of December 31, 2020
Consolidated
Borrowers RBILP Eliminations = Consolidated
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 1,560 $ — 3 — 3 1,560
Accounts and notes receivable, net 536 — — 536
Inventories, net 96 — — 96
Prepaids and other current assets 72 — — 72
Total current assets 2,264 — — 2,264
Property and equipment, net 2,031 — — 2,031
Operating lease assets, net 1,152 — — 1,152
Intangible assets, net 10,701 — — 10,701
Goodwill 5,739 — — 5,739
Net investment in property leased to franchisees 66 — — 66
Intercompany receivable — 239 (239) —
Investment in subsidiaries — 3,721 (3,721) —
Other assets, net 824 — — 824
Total assets 22,777 $ 3,960 $ (3,960) § 22,777
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts and drafts payable 464 § — § — § 464
Other accrued liabilities 596 239 — 835
Gift card liability 191 — — 191
Current portion of long term debt and finance leases 111 — — 111
Total current liabilities 1,362 239 — 1,601
Term debt, net of current portion 12,397 — — 12,397
Finance leases, net of current portion 315 — — 315
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion 1,082 — — 1,082
Other liabilities, net 2,236 — — 2,236
Payables to affiliates 239 — (239) —
Deferred income taxes, net 1,425 — — 1,425
Total liabilities 19,056 239 (239) 19,056
Partners’ capital:
Class A common units — 7,994 — 7,994
Partnership exchangeable units — (3,002) — (3,002)
Common shares 3,026 — (3,026) —
Retained earnings 1,966 — (1,966) —
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (1,275) (1,275) 1,275 (1,275)
Total Partners’ capital/shareholders’ equity 3,717 3,717 (3,717) 3,717
Noncontrolling interests 4 4 4 4
Total equity 3,721 3,721 (3,721) 3,721
Total liabilities and equity 22,777 $ 3,960 $ (3,960) § 22,777
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RESTAURANT BRANDS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations
(In millions of U.S. dollars)

Revenues:

Sales

Franchise and property revenues

Adpvertising revenues

Total revenues

Operating costs and expenses:

Cost of sales

Franchise and property expenses

Advertising expenses

General and administrative expenses

(Income) loss from equity method investments

Other operating expenses (income), net

Total operating costs and expenses

Income from operations
Interest expense, net
Loss on early extinguishment of debt
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense

Net income
Equity in earnings of consolidated subsidiaries
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net income (loss) attributable to common unitholders
Total comprehensive income (loss)

2021
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Consolidated
Borrowers RBILP Eliminations = Consolidated
$ 2,378 3 — 3 — § 2,378
2,452 — — 2,452
909 — — 909
5,739 — — 5,739
1,890 — — 1,890
489 — — 489
962 — — 962
508 — — 508
4 — — 4
7 — — 7
3,860 — — 3,860
1,879 — — 1,879
505 — — 505
11 — — 11
1,363 — — 1,363
110 — — 110
1,253 — — 1,253
— 1,253 (1,253) —
1,253 1,253 (1,253) 1,253
4 4 %) 4
$ 1,249 $ 1,249 § (1,249) $ 1,249
$ 1,504 $ 1,504 $ (1,504) $ 1,504
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RESTAURANT BRANDS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations
(In millions of U.S. dollars)

Revenues:

Sales

Franchise and property revenues

Adpvertising revenues

Total revenues

Operating costs and expenses:

Cost of sales

Franchise and property expenses

Advertising expenses

General and administrative expenses

(Income) loss from equity method investments

Other operating expenses (income), net

Total operating costs and expenses

Income from operations
Interest expense, net
Loss on early extinguishment of debt
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense

Net income
Equity in earnings of consolidated subsidiaries
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net income (loss) attributable to common unitholders
Total comprehensive income (loss)

2020
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Consolidated
Borrowers RBILP Eliminations = Consolidated
$ 2,013 $ — 3 — § 2,013
2,121 — — 2,121
834 — — 834
4,968 — — 4,968
1,610 — — 1,610
515 — — 515
870 — — 870
407 — — 407
39 — — 39
105 — — 105
3,546 — — 3,546
1,422 — — 1,422
508 — — 508
98 — — 98
816 — — 816
66 — — 66
750 — — 750
— 750 (750) —
750 750 (750) 750
2 2 2) 2
$ 748 S 748 $ (748) $ 748
$ 653 9 653 % (653) $ 653
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RESTAURANT BRANDS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations
(In millions of U.S. dollars)

Revenues:
Sales

Franchise and property revenues
Advertising revenues
Total revenues

Operating costs and expenses:

Cost of sales

Franchise and property expenses

Advertising expenses

General and administrative expenses

(Income) loss from equity method investments

Other operating expenses (income), net

Total operating costs and expenses

Income from operations
Interest expense, net
Loss on early extinguishment of debt
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense

Net income
Equity in earnings of consolidated subsidiaries
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net income (loss) attributable to common unitholders
Total comprehensive income (loss)

2019
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Consolidated
Borrowers RBILP Eliminations = Consolidated
$ 2,362 9§ — 3 — 3 2,362
2,381 — — 2,381
860 — — 860
5,603 — — 5,603
1,813 — — 1,813
533 — — 533
865 — — 865
406 — — 406
an — — (1D
(10) — — (10)
3,596 — — 3,596
2,007 — — 2,007
532 — — 532
23 — — 23
1,452 — — 1,452
341 — — 341
1,111 — — 1,111
— 1,111 (L,111) —
1,111 1,111 (1,111) 1,111
2 2 2) 2
$ 1,109 $ 1,109 $  (1,109) $ 1,109
$ 1,370 $ 1,370 $ (1370) $ 1,370
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RESTAURANT BRANDS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
(In millions of U.S. dollars)
2021

Consolidated
Borrowers RBILP Eliminations Consolidated

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 1,253  $ 1,253  $ (1,253) $ 1,253

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Equity in loss (earnings) of consolidated subsidiaries — (1,253) 1,253 —
Depreciation and amortization 201 — — 201
Premiums paid and non-cash loss on early extinguishment of debt 11 — — 11
Amortization of deferred financing costs and debt issuance discount 27 — — 27
(Income) loss from equity method investments 4 — — 4
Loss (gain) on remeasurement of foreign denominated transactions (76) — — (76)
Net (gains) losses on derivatives 87 — — 87
Share-based compensation and non-cash incentive compensation expense 102 — — 102
Deferred income taxes %) — — ©))
Other (16) — — (16)
Changes in current assets and liabilities, excluding acquisitions and dispositions:
Accounts and notes receivable 8 — — 8
Inventories and prepaids and other current assets 12 — — 12
Accounts and drafts payable 149 — — 149
Other accrued liabilities and gift card liability 67 — — 67
Tenant inducements paid to franchisees (20) — — (20)
Other long-term assets and liabilities (78) — — (78)
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,726 — — 1,726
Cash flows from investing activities:
Payments for property and equipment (106) — — (106)
Net proceeds from disposal of assets, restaurant closures and refranchisings 16 _ _ 16
Net payment for purchase of Firchouse Subs, net of cash acquired (1,004) — — (1,004)
Settlement/sale of derivatives, net 5 — — 5
Other investing activities, net (14) — — (14)
Net cash used for investing activities (1,103) — — (1,103)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from revolving line of credit and long-term debt 1,335 — — 1,335
Repayments of revolving line of credit, long-term debt and finance leases (889) — — (889)
Payment of financing costs 19) — — 19)
Distributions on Class A and Partnership exchangeable units — (974) — (974)
Distributions to RBI for repurchase of RBI common shares — (551) — (551)
Capital contribution from RBI 60 — — 60
Distributions from subsidiaries (1,525) 1,525 — —
(Payments) proceeds from derivatives (51) — — (51)
Other financing activities, net @) — — 4)
Net cash used for financing activities (1,093) — — (1,093)
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 3) — — 3)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (473) — _ (473)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 1,560 — — 1,560
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 1,087 $ — — 1,087
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RESTAURANT BRANDS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
(In millions of U.S. dollars)
2020

Consolidated
Borrowers RBILP Eliminations Consolidated

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 750 $ 750 $ (750) $ 750

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Equity in loss (earnings) of consolidated subsidiaries — (750) 750 —
Depreciation and amortization 189 — — 189
Premiums paid and non-cash loss on early extinguishment of debt 97 — — 97
Amortization of deferred financing costs and debt issuance discount 26 — — 26
(Income) loss from equity method investments 39 — — 39
Loss (gain) on remeasurement of foreign denominated transactions 100 — — 100
Net (gains) losses on derivatives 32 — — 32
Share-based compensation and non-cash incentive compensation expense 84 — — 84
Deferred income taxes (208) — — (208)
Other 28 — — 28
Changes in current assets and liabilities, excluding acquisitions and dispositions:
Accounts and notes receivable (30) — — (30)
Inventories and prepaids and other current assets (10) — — (10)
Accounts and drafts payable (183) — — (183)
Other accrued liabilities and gift card liability 6 — — 6
Tenant inducements paid to franchisees (22) — — (22)
Other long-term assets and liabilities 23 — — 23
Net cash provided by operating activities 921 — — 921
Cash flows from investing activities:
Payments for property and equipment (117) _ _ (117)
Net proceeds from disposal of assets, restaurant closures and refranchisings 12 — — 12
Settlement/sale of derivatives, net 33 — — 33
Other investing activities, net @) — — 7
Net cash used for investing activities (79) — — (79)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from revolving line of credit and long-term debt 5,235 — — 5,235
Repayments of revolving line of credit, long-term debt and finance leases (4,708) — — (4,708)
Payment of financing costs (43) — — (43)
Distributions on Class A and Partnership exchangeable units — (959) — (959)
Repurchase of Partnership exchangeable units — (380) — (380)
Capital contribution from RBI 82 — — 82
Distributions from subsidiaries (1,339) 1,339 — —
(Payments) proceeds from derivatives (46) — — (46)
Other financing activities, net ) — — 2)
Net cash used for financing activities (821) — — (821)
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 6 — — 6
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 27 — — 27
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 1,533 — — 1,533
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 1,560 $ — 3 — 1,560
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RESTAURANT BRANDS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
(In millions of U.S. dollars)
2019

Consolidated
Borrowers RBILP Eliminations Consolidated

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ LIl 3 L1t $ (1,111) § 1,111
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Equity in loss (earnings) of consolidated subsidiaries — (1,111) 1,111 —
Depreciation and amortization 185 — — 185
Premiums paid and non-cash loss on early extinguishment of debt 16 — — 16
Amortization of deferred financing costs and debt issuance discount 29 — — 29
(Income) loss from equity method investments an — — (1)
Loss (gain) on remeasurement of foreign denominated transactions 14 — _ (14)
Net (gains) losses on derivatives 49) — — (49)
Share-based compensation and non-cash incentive compensation expense 74 — — 74
Deferred income taxes 58 — — 58
Other 6 — — 6
Changes in current assets and liabilities, excluding acquisitions and dispositions:
Accounts and notes receivable (53) — — (53)
Inventories and prepaids and other current assets (15) — — (15)
Accounts and drafts payable 112 — — 112
Other accrued liabilities and gift card liability (57) — — (57)
Tenant inducements paid to franchisees (54) — — (54)
Other long-term assets and liabilities 138 — — 138
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,476 — — 1,476
Cash flows from investing activities:
Payments for property and equipment (62) — — (62)
Net proceeds from disposal of assets, restaurant closures and refranchisings 8 — — 8
Settlement/sale of derivatives, net 24 — — 24
Net cash used for investing activities (30) — — (30)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from revolving line of credit and long-term debt 2,250 — — 2,250
Repayments of revolving line of credit, long-term debt and finance leases (2,266) — — (2,266)
Payment of financing costs (50) — — (50)
Distributions on Class A and Partnership exchangeable units — (901) — (901)
Capital contribution from RBI 102 — — 102
Distributions from subsidiaries (901) 901 = =
(Payments) proceeds from derivatives 23 — — 23
Net cash used for financing activities (842) = = (842)
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 16 — — 16
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 620 — — 620
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 913 — — 913
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 1,533 $ — 3 — 3 1,533
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Note 20. Subsequent Events
Distributions/Dividends

On January 5, 2022, RBI paid a cash dividend of $0.53 per RBI common share to common shareholders of record on
December 21, 2021. Partnership made a distribution to RBI as holder of Class A common units in the amount of the aggregate
dividends declared and paid by RBI on RBI common shares and also made a distribution in respect of each Partnership exchangeable
unit in the amount of $0.53 per exchangeable unit to holders of record on December 21, 2021.

On February 15, 2022, we announced that the RBI board of directors had declared a cash dividend of $0.54 per RBI common
share for the first quarter of 2020. The dividend will be paid on April 6, 2022 to RBI common shareholders of record on March 23,
2022. Partnership will make a distribution to RBI as holder of Class A common units in the amount of the aggregate dividends
declared and paid by RBI on RBI common shares. Partnership will also make a distribution in respect of each Partnership
exchangeable unit in the amount of $0.54 per Partnership exchangeable unit, and the record date and payment date for such
distribution will be the same as the record date and payment date for the cash dividend per RBI common share set forth above.

sfeskeskeoskosk

56



GUARANTEE OF PERFORMANCE

For value received, Restaurant Brands International Limited Partnership, a limited partnership
organized under the laws of Ontario (the “Guarantor”), located at 226 Wyecroft Road, Oakville, Ontario, L6K
3X7, Canada, absolutely and unconditionally guarantees to assume the duties and obligations of Tim Hortons
USA Inc., located at 5707 Blue Lagoon Drive, Miami, Florida 33126 (the “Franchisor”), under its franchise
registration in each state as identified in Item 21 of this Franchise Disclosure Document, and under its Franchise
Agreement identified in its 2022 Franchise Disclosure Document, as it may be amended, and as that Franchise
Agreement may be entered into with franchisees and amended, modified or extended from time to time with
residents of, or for locations in, those states. This guarantee continues until all such obligations of the Franchisor
under such franchise registrations and the Franchise Agreement are satisfied or until the liability of Franchisor to
such franchisees under the Franchise Agreement has been completely discharged, whichever first occurs. The
Guarantor is not discharged from liability if a claim by a franchisee against the Franchisor remains outstanding.
Notice of acceptance is waived. The Guarantor does not waive receipt of notice of default on the part of the
Franchisor. This guarantee is binding on the Guarantor and its successors and assigns.

The Guarantor signs this guarantee at Miami, Florida on the 8 day of March, 2022.
GUARANTOR:

RESTAURANT BRANDS INTERNATIONAL
LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

By: Restaurant Brands International Inc.
Its: General Partner

By: / ﬂ/ ;
Name‘.’f\/la%v?‘ﬁﬁ?ﬁigan
Title: Chief Financial Officer
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TIM HORTONS FRANCHISE AGREEMENT (USA)

KEY CONTRACT DATA

RESTAURANT #___
Effective Date of Franchise Agreement: , 20
Franchisee: ,a [corporation][limited liability
company]

Franchised Restaurant Number and Location of Franchised Restaurant (Section 1.02):

Other Key Terms:

Development Agreement (Section 1.01): Applicable?

[[]Yes
[ ]No

If Yes, such agreement is that -certain
Development Agreement dated

amended, restated, modified, or supplemented

Agreement”)

between Franchisor and , as

from time to time (the “Development

Type of Franchised Restaurant: [ ] Standard Shop
(select one)

[ ] Drive-Thru Only (Single or Double)
[ ] Institutional Kiosk
[] Non-Institutional Kiosk

Form Type: [ ] New Tim Hortons shop
select one

( ) [ ] Transfer

[ ] Renovation

[ ] Renewal/Extension

Opening Date (Section 1.04), if applicable: | ® (the “Opening Date”)

Franchise Agreement TH#
Exhibit D (03/2022)
Page 1 of 96



Renewal/Transfer Start Date (Section
2.01), if applicable:

® (the “Renewal/Transfer Start Date”)

Term duration (Section 2.01):

® years, ® less a day, after the date on which
the Franchised Restaurant is first opened for
business to the public, subject to Section 2.03.

[or]

Approximately @  years, @  months,
commencing on ® [the date the premises re-
opens for business to the public after
completion of the renovation], subject to
Section 2.03.

[or]

® years, ® months, commencing on @, subject
to Section 2.03.

Initial Franchise Fee (Section 4.01):

[] $50,000 dollars (US)

[ ] Remodel Incentive Program (see Remodel
Addendum)

Rovalty (Section 4.03):
(select one)

[ ] Four and one-half percent (4.5%) of weekly
Gross Sales

[ ] Six percent (6%) of weekly Gross Sales

[ ] Remodel Incentive Program (see Remodel
Addendum)

Advertising Contribution (Section 4.04):

Four percent (4%) of monthly Gross Sales

Managing Owner (Section 13.04):

Managing Director (Section 13.01):

Address for Notice (Section 17.02): o
Early Renovation Date (Section 21.01) [
[or]

Not applicable.

Franchise Agreement
Exhibit D (03/2022)

TH#
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